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	 Ten-year summary K+S Group 1, 2�

� 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010  � 2009  � 2008  � 2007  � 2006  � 2005  � 2004
Profit and Loss
Revenues € million 3,950.4 3,935.3 3,996.8 4,632.7 3,573.8 4,794.4 3,344.1 2,957.7 2,815.7 2,538.6

– thereof Potash and Magnesium Products business unit € million 2,037.6 2,290.6 2,133.6 1,867.0 1,421.7 2,397.4 1,407.9 1,238.9 1,197.2 1,031.2
– thereof Salt business unit € million 1,751.4 1,484.8 1,710.1 1,728.8 1,014.6 618.6 545.1 485.8 398.0 357.8

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation  
and amortisation (EBITDA) € million 907.2 1,033.3 1,146.0 953.0 411.8 1,484.4 413.9 401.1 383.1 289.5

– thereof Potash and Magnesium Products business unit € million 667.5 867.2 833.8 567.1 317.2 1,286.3 255.1 235.7 236.1 —
– thereof Salt business unit € million 235.9 179.5 337.9 369.7 200.3 77.6 76.5 92.0 85.9 —

EBITDA margin % 23.0 26.3 28.7 20.6 11.5 31.0 12.4 13.6 13.6 11.4
Depreciation 3 € million 251.3 229.2 239.8 238.5 173.8 141.7 128.2 123.1 132.2 126.6
Operating earnings (EBIT I) € million 655.9 804.1 906.2 714.5 238.0 1,342.7 285.7 278.0 250.9 162.9

– thereof Potash and Magnesium Products business unit € million 552.5 770.9 739.5 475.9 231.7 1,203.2 177.9 158.6 151.8 71.2
– thereof Salt business unit € million 117.8 61.6 211.4 238.1 140.4 45.2 47.8 67.6 25.0 23.9

EBIT I margin % 16.6 20.4 22.7 15.4 6.7 28.0 8.5 9.4 8.9 6.4
– Potash and Magnesium Products business unit % 27.1 33.7 34.7 25.5 16.3 50.2 12.6 12.8 12.7 6.9
– Salt business unit % 6.7 4.1 12.4 13.8 13.8 7.3 8.8 13.9 6.3 6.7

Group earnings, adjusted 4, 5 € million 434.8 637.4 581.8 445.3 93.6 979.3 175.3 176.2 6 161.3 103.5
Group earnings from continued operations, adjusted 4 € million 437.1 538.1 625.6 453.8 93.6 979.3 175.3 176.2 6 161.3 103.5
Earnings per share, adjusted 4, 5 € 2.27 3.33 3.04 2.33 0.56 5.94 1.06 1.07 6 0.95 0.61
Earnings per share from continued operations, adjusted 4 € 2.28 2.81 3.27 2.37 0.56 5.94 1.06 1.07 6 0.95 0.61

Cash flow
Operating Cash flow € million 755.7 607.2 633.4 826.4 534.8 802.7 (108.3) 202.4 220.9 201.7
Capital expenditure 3 € million 742.5 465.5 293.1 188.6 177.6 197.5 171.6 130.5 107.1 131.9
Free Cash flow € million (53.6) (359.4) (233.7) 648.7 (811.1) 632.5 (249.1) (227.4) 126.5 (22.9)

Balance Sheet
Balance sheet total € million 7,498.2 6,596.6 6,056.9 5,573.7 5,217.1 3,473.8 2,964.8 2,830.9 2,259.1 2,147.7
Equity € million 3,396.6 3,393.9 3,084.6 2,651.6 2,094.6 1,718.3 931.8 1124.3 942.1 880.6
Equity ratio % 45.3 51.4 50.9 47.6 40.1 49.5 31.4 39.7 41.7 41.0
Net indebtedness as of 31 Dec. € million 1,037.0 827.3 610.8 732.5 1,351.3 570.0 1,085.1 718.3 321.4 340.5
Net indebtedness/EBITDA x 1.1 0.8 0.5 0.8 3.3 0.4 2.6 1.8 0.8 1.2
Working capital € million 844.9 1,025.7 840.9 959.4 970.5 962.3 570.6 603.1 456.4 333.1
Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) % 15.2 19.9 25.2 22.0 9.3 64.0 15.5 17.4 19.5 14.2
Employees
Employees as of 31 Dec. 7 number 14,421 14,362 14,338 14,186 15,208 12,368 12,033 11,873 11,012 10,988
Average number of employees 7 number 14,348 14,336 14,155 14,091 13,044 12,214 11,959 11,392 11,017 11,068
The Share
Book value per share € 17.75 17.73 16.12 13.85 10.94 10.41 5.65 6.81 5.54 5.18
Dividend per share 8 € 0.25 1.40 1.30 1.00 0.20 2.40 0.50 0.50 0.45 0.33
Dividend yield 8 % 1.1 4.0 3.7 1.8 0.5 6.0 1.2 2.4 3.5 3.3
Closing price as of 31 Dec. 9 XETRA, € 22.38 35.00 34.92 56.36 39.99 39.97 40.69 20.55 12.76 9.78
Market capitalisation € billion 4.3 6.7 6.7 10.8 7.7 6.6 6.7 3.4 2.1 1.7
Enterprise value as of 31 Dec. € billion 5.3 7.5 7.3 11.5 9.0 7.2 7.8 4.1 2.4 2.0
Average number of shares 10 million 191.40 191.40 191.33 191.34 166.15 164.95 164.94 164.96 169.24 170.00
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Units at a gl ance 1, 2

Ten-year summary K+S Group / Units at a glance

1	 �Unless stated otherwise, information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group. The discontinued operations of the 
COMPO business are also included up to 2009, and also the discontinued operations of the nitrogen business up to 2010.  
The balance sheet and therefore the key figures working capital, net indebtedness, net indebtedness/EBITDA and book value per 
share also include in 2010 the discontinued operations of the COMPO business and in 2011 also the discontinued operations  
of the nitrogen business.

2	 �The figures of the year 2012 were adjusted due to the change of IAS 19. Further information can be found in the Notes on page 143.
3	 �Investments in or depreciation on property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment properties as well as  

depreciation on financial assets.

4	 �The adjusted key figures only include the result from operating forecast hedges of the respective reporting period reported in 
EBIT I (see also ‘Notes to the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income’ on page 146). In addition, related 
effects on deferred and cash taxes are eliminated; tax rate for 2013: 28.6 % (2012: 28.5 %).

5	 �Earnings from continued and discontinued operations.
6	 �Without non-recurrent deferred tax income of € 41.9 million or € 0.25 per share.
7	 FTE: Full-time equivalents; part-time positions are weighted in accordance with their respective share of working hours. 
8	 The figure for 2013 corresponds to the dividend proposal; the dividend yield is based on the year-end closing price.
9	 �The price of the K+S share since the capital increase in December 2009 has been traded ex subscription right. Historical values 

were not adjusted. 
10	Total number of shares less the average number of own shares held by K+S. 

←	 Footnotes Ten-Year Summary

	S alt Business Unit�

� 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010  � 2009

in € million

Revenues 1,751.4 1,484.8 1,710.1 1,728.8 1,014.6

EBITDA 235.9 179.5 337.9 369.7 200.3

EBIT I 117.8 61.6 211.4 238.1 140.4

Capital expenditure 107.4 111.3 112.3 79.0 48.0

Employees (number) 5,091 5,092 5,230 5,235 5,279

Salt products of the highest purity and quality are used as food grade salt, industrial salt and salt for chemical use as well as de-
icing salt by winter road clearance services to ensure safety on the roads. They are produced in Germany and in other Western 
European countries as well as in North and South America.

1	 Information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group. 
2	The figures of the year 2012 were adjusted due to the change of IAS 19. Further information can be found in the Notes on page 143.

In this Financial Report rounding differences may arise in percentages and numbers.

	 Complementary Activities�

� 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010  � 2009

in € million

Revenues 159.4 153.7 150.4 134.0 120.7

EBITDA 31.7 28.3 29.0 27.7 21.7

EBIT I 24.7 21.1 17.9 21.2 15.2

Capital expenditure 3.4 6.3 4.3 4.2 4.6

Employees (number) 293 293 290 280 278

In addition to recycling activities and the disposal of waste at potash and rock salt mines as well as the granulation of CATSAN® 
and THOMAS®, the term ‘Complementary Activities’ bundles together further activities of importance to the K+S Group. With K+S 
Transport GmbH, Hamburg, the K+S Group possesses its own logistics service provider. Chemische Fabrik Kalk GmbH (CFK) trades 
in different basic chemicals.

	P otash and Magnesium Products business unit �

� 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010  � 2009

in € million

Revenues 2,037.6 2,290.6 2,133.6 1,867.0 1,421.7

EBITDA 667.5 867.2 833.8 567.1 317.2

EBIT I 552.5 770.9 739.5 475.9 231.7

Capital expenditure 606.5 332.9 162.1 96.9 107.4

Employees (number) 8,367 8,310 8,188 7,900 7,818

Potash and magnesium crude salts are extracted at six mines. We use them to produce a wide range of fertilizers and, in addition, we 
process our raw materials into products for industrial applications, high-purity potassium and magnesium salts for the pharmaceuti-
cal, cosmetics and food industries as well as elements for feed. We are currently making investments to develop the Legacy Project – a 
greenfield project in Saskatchewan, Canada. The commissioning is expected in summer 2016.
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To Our Shareholders
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The K+S Group faced many challenges in 2013. Thanks to our robust business model and  
the commitment displayed by our employees, we’ve nevertheless managed to post one of  
the best results in the history of our Company with operating earnings of 656 million euros. 

As we usually do at this time, we would like to review the events of the past year with an eye 
toward the future. On this occasion, we are holding a Q & A with questions we received  
from our investors in particular, where we can clarify what the future holds and how we are 
responding to changing market conditions.

On behalf of the Board of Executive Directors, I would like to thank our shareholders and all  
our customers and partners for the trust you’ve placed in the K+S Group by making us  
your partner of choice. We also thank our employees for their dedication to helping our busi-
ness succeed!

Thank you very much and all the very best! 
 
 
 
Norbert Steiner
Chairman of the board of executive directors

5

“�As a commodities company, we think  
and act long-term”
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Mr. Steiner, looking back at 2013, how would you rate it for K+S? 

In 2013, K+S again proved that we are a company capable of operationally and 
strategically adapting to an ever-changing business environment while ensuring 
our long-term success.

But the past year turned out differently than anticipated.

That’s true. We started out confidently in 2013. The de-icing salt business held 
strong due to favourable winter conditions in Europe and acceptable condi-
tions in the US. The potash business also had a promising start, with prices 
remaining level. On July 30th, Russian Uralkali issued a statement that they 
would cease cooperation with Belarusian Belaruskali and increase production 
while reducing prices. This announcement immediately gave rise to many ques-
tions – not just for the K+S Group. We carefully analysed the situation and drew 
our own conclusions, acting where appropriate. With our “Fit for the Future” 
programme, we are exercising an increased cost control and improved effi-
ciency strategy.

Before we come to the measures that have already been implemented, one 
more question about the current business environment: Has the market for 
potash products found itself in a state of upheaval for a long time to come?

It was surprising to experience how the statements made by one competitor 
could shake the market to such a degree. All the participants in the market saw 
themselves confronted with a situation of great uncertainty. This caused price 
pressure, of course. However, our experience shows that these kinds of market 
disruptions generally subside again. 

What strengths does K+S possess that will help the Group to hold its own in 
this difficult environment?

It’s not about holding our own. We are well prepared and our customers will con-
tinue to rely on us in the future! Our Company has been continuing to evolve in 
a systematic way. We are heavily investing in our future. Our two-pillar business 
strategy gives us a clear positioning, with robust business units providing good 
regional and product portfolio diversification. Unlike any of our competitors, the 
Salt business unit produces on three continents and is able to fulfil demand in 
numerous areas where salt is used by offering every grade of quality. The Potash 
and Magnesium Products business unit is close to its customers in Europe and is 
also a reliable supplier to selected overseas regions. And this doesn’t just apply 
to potassium chloride, the standard product. Thanks to fertilizer specialities and 
industrial products, our portfolio is far more diverse than that of our competitors. 

Interview With Norbert Steiner,  
K assel , 28 February 2014
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You mentioned a cost cutting programme that was announced in November. 
What progress are you making?

The “Fit for the Future” programme is about more than just cutting costs. We 
do, of course, want to reduce our costs to enhance the competitiveness of the 
K+S Group over the long term. However, we also see potential for greater effi-
ciency within and between our operating and administrative areas. That’s why 
we are also working to improve our organisational structure and processes. “Fit 
for the Future” is well underway. We are making good progress in further detail-
ing the initiatives and have already implemented first measures. 

Did the Uralkali announcement help explain why a programme of this kind 
was needed?

To some extent, yes. But K+S has always attached great importance to cost 
structures. That’s true for all our divisions. With “Fit for the Future”, we com-
bined programmes that were in play well before the Uralkali announcement 
with further optimisations that we judged were now necessary given the new 
challenges. Our employees are ready to be actively involved in proceeding down 
this path, and they understand why it matters. 

You are keeping firmly to two things: The Werra package of measures and the 
Legacy Project. Couldn’t you wait with the capital expenditure until the situ-
ation on the potash market clears up?

That would be a mistake. Firstly, the purpose of the Werra measures is to improve 
water protection and to reduce the negative externalities of potash mining. As 
a corporation we have given our word and we intend to keep it. However, this 
should not be dismissed as a matter of course given the significantly tougher 
business environment. I also don’t want to conceal that I personally have had 
my doubts about whether this is a proportionate ecological response, given that 
Werra and Weser are also affected by factors other than K+S. Regarding the Leg-
acy Project, it is vital to proceed with developing our plant in the Canadian prov-
ince of Saskatchewan. When completed, this project will ensure our participa-
tion in the growing potash market, and introduce greater flexibility into our cost 
base. To apply a farming image to Legacy: We are sowing now to reap a good 
harvest later.

So, are you making progress in Canada?

We are on schedule with the construction work and the preparations. Compre-
hensive engineering planning of the plant was completed in the autumn of 2013, 
so we can confirm the schedule and costs. Costs will total 4.1 billion Canadian 
dollars and the plant will become operational in the summer of 2016. Legacy will 
then provide benefits in the medium term and quickly begin to increase profit-
ability and reduce the indebtedness of the Group.
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have an iconic brand in our portfolio in the United States. Last but not least, 
for the extraction of raw materials underground or by solution means, there 
is scarcely any difference between potash and magnesium mining, and salt. 
So we profit very well from cross cutting technologies across our Potash and 
Magnesium Products and Salt business units.

Let’s talk about the shareholder structure of K+S Aktiengesellschaft. Why is 
the K+S share so popular among short sellers above all?

More than 40 % of our shares are held by private investors, about the same as 
institutional investors. Today, it’s possible to sell shares you don’t even have, to 
speculate on falling prices. For some, it’s even a business model. Regardless of 
an individual’s investment philosophy, we maintain a good relationship with 
all capital market participants. Our strategy gives our stakeholders long-term 
benefits. This might not appeal to everyone at a particular moment in time. 
However, you cannot follow every fashion, because your long-term strategy 
will suffer the consequences. 

Nevertheless, you want to reduce dividend payments despite your strong  
balance sheet?

This was a difficult decision as we are deviating significantly from our long 
standing dividend policy. However, we cannot only look back to 2013. Great 
challenges still lie ahead of us. The potash market is still fragile and it is 
uncertain whether it has really bottomed. As already mentioned, we have 
implemented “Fit for the Future” to react to that and this programme is an 

Critics say these types of projects are not worthwhile in a market where there 
is an imminent danger of overcapacity and low prices. What is your response?

As a commodities company, we think and act long term. The potash market 
rewards patience and we are not going to allow ourselves to be deflected from 
our path by temporary upheavals. The global population will continue to grow. 
There will be as many as 10 billion people living on our planet in 2050. This 
means that the demand for food will increase, while, at the same time, usable 
arable land per capita will decrease. New opportunities will evolve. Africa, for 
example, is a continent with great potential. We will also continue to profit 
from these trends, which remain relevant in other areas of everyday life. I would 
like to repeat that our Potash and Magnesium Products business unit produces 
more than just fertilizers. To provide just a few examples, we also supply prod-
ucts for the chemical industry, for oil and gas exploration, and for people’s 
health and nutrition.

The salt business gets more attention in the winter months in particular. What 
makes this business so attractive for K+S?

The number of applications for salt (sodium chloride) is enormous. You usu-
ally think of de-icing salt and food grade salt. What many people don’t know 
is that salt is just as essential for the production of glass and plastics as it is 
for water softening and for pharmaceutical industry purposes. If I tried to list 
every area there would be no time for further questions so I will stop here, 
but there are countless applications for sodium chloride and we deliver the 
base products for them in the form of salt. With our “Umbrella Girl”, we also 
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enormous effort for both the Company and our employees. Our bond investors 
– who invested 1.5 billion euros in the last two years – have placed their trust 
in us. By accepting a lower dividend our shareholders – the owners of the 
Company – would strengthen our balance sheet further and support the 
growth of the Group. We would still not be overcapitalised though. Our objec-
tive is quite clear, to return to our long-term oriented dividend policy as soon 
as possible, in other words to a payout ratio of 40 – 50 % of the adjusted Group 
earnings.

Let’s take a look at the future. What do you expect for 2014 in terms of reve-
nues and earnings?

In the case of prices in the Potash and Magnesium Products business unit, we 
started the year from a significantly lower price base than in 2013. For the Salt 
business unit, we’re projecting volumes that are on the high level of last year, 
but here too, prices have fallen, and not only for de-icing salt. Accordingly, the 
expectation for Group revenue is moderately below fiscal 2013. As a result of 
lower average prices and the proportion of fixed costs customary in mining, 
operating EBIT I should be significantly lower than in the preceding year, even 
after the savings to be achieved through the “Fit for the Future” programme 
have been factored in.

What capital expenditure is planned and how will it impact cash flow?

Group capital expenditures will see a strong increase. As planned, the largest 
amounts we are investing are in the development of our potash plant in Canada 

and in the Werra measures. In total, the capital expenditure should come to 
about 1.2 billion euros and will therefore result in highly negative free cash flow 
in 2014.

When you take a look into the future, how do you rate the prospects for the 
K+S Group?

Despite the great challenges that lie ahead of us, we remain confident. The 
K+S Group is an economically sound and robust company with a proven 
strategy for reliably serving our customers and for offering our employees 
an exciting and challenging environment. And that is something that our 
investors will profit from too! 
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1.1 V ision

Source  of Growth and  Life  through  
N utrients  and  Minerals 

To our shareholders



12 1.2  The Board of Executive Directors

1	� Please find the responsibilities of the Board of Executive Directors valid until  
31 December 2013 on page 30.

2	 �A member of the Board of Executive Directors since 1 September 2013.

was born in Siegen in 1954. After studying law in Heidel- 
berg and a legal traineeship within the district of the Higher  
Regional Court of Karlsruhe, he began his professional  
career in the tax department of BASF AG in 1983, whose sub-
department of customs and excise duties he headed from 
1988 onwards. In 1993, he became head of the legal affairs, tax 
and insurance department of K+S AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT.  
In May 2000, Norbert Steiner became a member of the Board 
of Executive Directors, in January 2006, Deputy Chairman  
and in July 2007, Chairman of the Board of Executive Directors 
of K+S AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT. He is responsible for the Cor- 
porate Communications, Corporate Development, Executive 
HR and Investor Relations as well as for Governance/Risk/
Compliance/Corporate Secretary.

was born in Essen in 1963. After completing his Business 
Administration studies at the University of Cologne, he joined 
Mannesmann AG in 1991. From 1993 onwards, he held vari- 
ous functions at Hochtief AG, Essen, including as member  
of the management of the Munich branch and as CFO of 
Hochtief Construction AG, Essen. In 2001, Burkhard Lohr 
obtained his Dr. rer. pol. degree from the Technical University  
of Braunschweig. As of 2006, as CFO of Hochtief AG, he was  
responsible for Finance, Investor Relations, Accounting, Con-
trolling and Taxes. In 2008, he also became Personnel Director.  
Since 1 June 2012, he has been a member of the Board of 
Executive Directors of K+S AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT, responsible 
for Corporate Controlling, Corporate Procurement, Corpo- 
rate Tax, Finance & Accounting and Internal Audit, as well as  
for Chemische Fabrik Kalk GmbH and all direct share-
holdings of K+S AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT, as far as they are not 
assigned to another area of responsibility.

was born in Dortmund in 1965. After studying mining in 
Clausthal-Zellerfeld and Aachen, he became a research assis-
tant at DMT GmbH in Essen; parallel to this, he obtained a 
doctorate in engineering. In 1995, he joined STEAG AG, where, 
after a spell at a power plant site, he worked at the com- 
pany’s head office in Essen. He then came to the US Enron 
group, for which he worked at various positions in London, 
Oslo and Frankfurt am Main from 1998. In 2002, he switched to 
RWE and was a member of the Board of Executive Directors  
of RWE Transgas a.s. in Prague. In 2003, he was appointed to  
the Board of Executive Directors of RWE Energy AG, before 
becoming CEO of RWE Turkey Holding A.S. in Istanbul in 2009. 
Since September 2013, Dr. Andreas Radmacher has been a 
member of the Board of Executive Directors of K+S AKTIENGE- 
SELLSCHAFT with responsibility for the Potash and Magnesi-
um Products business unit.

norbert steiner
Lawyer, Chairman of 
the Board of  
Executive Directors

Dr. andreas  
Radmacher2
Engineering  
Graduate

Dr. Burkhard Lohr 
Business  
Administration 
Graduate

1.2 T he Board of Executive Directors 1
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To our shareholders

was born in Freden in 1953. After studying mining at Clausthal 
Technical University, he worked in mining operations at vari- 
ous plants and in the mining division at the head office of Kali 
und Salz AG (now K+S AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT). Between 
1990 and 1996, he held several plant manager positions in the 
mining division. Between January 1997 and September 2001,  
Gerd Grimmig was managing director of Kali und Salz GMBH 
and responsible for the mining department. Since October 
2000, he has been a member of the Board of Executive Direc-
tors of K+S AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT. He is responsible for the 
Waste Management and Recycling business unit as well as K+S  
CONSULTING, MSW CHEMIE, the Technical Center (Mining, 
Geology, Technics/Energy, Research & Development, Environ- 
ment & Safety, Inactive Plants) and Animal Hygiene Prod- 
ucts.

was born in Neukirchen-Vluyn in 1958. After studying law and 
subsequently obtaining a doctorate from Münster Univer- 
sity, he completed his legal traineeship, inter alia in Düsseldorf  
and Montreal, Canada. In 1991, he started his professional  
career at RAG AG, where he held various positions. Subsequent- 
ly, in 1998, he was appointed member of the Board of Execu-
tive Directors of RAG SAARBERG AG and was responsible for 
personnel, legal affairs and IT management /organisation.  
Dr. Thomas Nöcker has been a member of the Board of Exec- 
utive Directors of K+S AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT since August 
2003. He is Personnel Director and is responsible for Corporate  
HR and Corporate IT as well as for the Business Center (HR 
Services, IT Services, Communication Services, Real Estate &  
Facility Management, Financial Accounting, Logistics Pro-
curement Europe, Project Management, Insurances, Legal and  
Procurement Europe) and K+S Transport GmbH. 

was born in New Jersey, USA, in 1963. He started his profes-
sional career at Victaulic Corporation of America, serving  
as a marketing manager. He joined Ashland Chemical  
Company in 1988 as a sales representative and national account 
manager. In 1992, he joined Potash Import & Chemical 
Corporation (PICC), the U.S. distribution company of K+S KALI,  
as a sales manager, and subsequently became its vice-pres- 
ident. In 2004, he became PICC’s President, and in April 2008, 
he was named CEO of International Salt Company (ISCO)  
in Clarks Summit, Pennsylvania, USA. On 1 October 2009, Mark  
Roberts became CEO of Morton Salt in Chicago, Illinois, 
USA. Since 1 October 2012, he has been a member of the Board 
of Executive Directors of K+S AKTIENGESELLSCHAFT with 
responsibility for the Salt business unit.

gerd grimmig
Engineering 
Graduate

dr. thomas nöcker
Lawyer

Mark Roberts
Bachelor of  
Science (Marketing)
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1.3 Su pervisory Board Report

The following report of the Supervisory Board informs you about the activities of the Super-
visory Board in financial year 2013 and the findings of the audit of the 2013 annual financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements. 

The focal points of our meetings and discussions included:
++ the business situation of the K+S Group,
++ the K+S Group strategy,
++ the progress in developing the potash deposits acquired in Canada (Legacy Project),
++ the selection of suitable candidates to replace those members of the Board of Executive 

Directors and the Supervisory Board whose terms of office are set to expire.

The K+S Group mourns the loss of Mr. Gerhard R. Wolf. The honorary chairman of the Super-
visory Board died on 24 October 2013 at the age of 77. For 19 years – from 1989 to 2008 – Mr. 
Wolf accompanied the Company’s fortunes as chairman of the Supervisory Board and the 
K+S Group is greatly indebted to him for his services in this capacity. Mr. Wolf had been 
honorary chairman of the Supervisory Board since 2008. The Supervisory Board, the Board 
of Executive Directors and the employees of K+S will honour his memory in appreciation.

Advice to the Board of Executive Directors and monitoring of management 
In financial year 2013, the Supervisory Board diligently performed the control and consultancy 
tasks imposed on it by law, the Articles of Association and its bylaws. A large number of mat-
ters were discussed in depth and resolutions were adopted regarding transactions requiring 
approval. We have advised the Board of Executive Directors on an ongoing basis on the man-
agement of the Company and monitored the latter’s executive management. We were con-
stantly involved in a timely and appropriate fashion in decisions of fundamental importance. 
The Board of Executive Directors informed us on a regular basis, promptly and comprehen-

sively about the course of business, the earnings and financial position, the employment situa-
tion, the progress of important investment projects, the planning and, in particular, the further 
strategic development of the Company. Deviations from planning were explained to the Super-
visory Board in detail. The risk situation and risk management were always carefully consid-
ered. The Supervisory Board was briefed by the Board of Executive Directors, including in con-
ference calls, on an ongoing basis and in detail, particularly following the events of 30 July 2013 
(departure of Uralkali from the BPC sales organisation). At the end of July 2013, the chairman 
of the Supervisory Board visited the Legacy Project in the province of Saskatchewan together 
with the chairman of the Board of Executive Directors and convinced himself on-site of the 
competence of the partially new management and the efficiency of the controlling system. 

The Supervisory Board regularly received written reports from the Board of Executive Direc-
tors for the preparation of meetings. Even outside meetings, the chairman of the Supervi-
sory Board maintained close contact with the Board of Executive Directors and discussed 
significant events and upcoming decisions with it. At relevant separate meetings prior to the 
meetings of the Supervisory Board, the shareholder and employee representatives discussed 
important matters on the agendas.

With regard to business transactions, which were of considerable importance to the Com-
pany, the Supervisory Board was also immediately and comprehensively informed in writ-
ing by the Board of Executive Directors between the regular meetings. 

The attendance of the 16 Supervisory Board members at the seven Supervisory Board meet-
ings during the period under review was, on average, 96 %. Four Supervisory Board mem-
bers respectively were unable to participate in a meeting. Thus, in 2013 too, no Supervisory 
Board member participated in fewer than half of the meetings. Committee meetings were 
fully attended.

Supervisory Board meetings
A total of five ordinary and two extraordinary Supervisory Board meetings were held during 
the course of financial year 2013.
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To our shareholders

At the meeting of 13 March 2013, the Supervisory Board, in the presence of the auditor, 
reviewed the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements and the 
management reports, approved the financial statements on the recommendation of the audit 
committee and agreed to the proposal of the Board of Executive Directors for the appropri-
ation of profits for financial year 2012. The business situation and the outlook for the cur-
rent year were discussed in depth and the proposed resolutions for the 2013 Annual General 
Meeting approved. The Supervisory Board also, upon a proposal of the personnel committee, 
appointed Dr. Andreas Radmacher to the Board of Executive Directors for the period from 
1 September 2013 to 31 August 2016. 

In the extraordinary meeting held on 22 April 2013, the Supervisory Board, after intensive 
discussion, approved the decision of the Board of Executive Directors, due to changed condi-
tions (including own investments in port facilities, higher labour costs than originally esti-
mated), to increase the corresponding capital expenditure budget for the new potash plant 
in Canada (Legacy) to CAD 4.1 billion (about € 3 billion). The original estimate of CAD 3.25 bil-
lion was based on a feasibility study prepared in November 2011.

At the meeting on 13 May 2013, the Board of Executive Directors provided comprehensive 
information about the results for and the business situation in the first quarter. Following 
the Annual General Meeting held on 14 May 2013, the meeting was continued with the first 
participation of the newly appointed members and Mr. Michael Vassiliadis was re-elected 
deputy chairman of the Supervisory Board; the committees were newly staffed in part. 

At the Supervisory Board meeting held on 20 and 21 August 2013, the Board of Executive Directors’ 
report on the strategic orientation of the Potash and Magnesium Products and Salt business units 
was extensively discussed. Other focal points were the reporting of the Board of Executive Direc-
tors on current developments on the potash markets after the departure of Uralkali from the 
BPC sales organisations on 30 July 2013 and the possible resulting consequences. The issue of the 
disposal of saline wastewater of the Werra and Neuhof-Ellers sites was also dealt with in detail. 

On 25 October 2013, a further extraordinary meeting of the Supervisory Board was held. At it, 
the Board of Executive Directors first explained the progress of the investigations concerning 
the causes of the tragic mining accident in Unterbreizbach on 1 October 2013. 

The Board of Executive Directors also reported on the current business situation of the K+S 
Group and on the content and objectives of the “Fit for the Future” project. The focus of fur-
ther discussions was on the intention of the Board of Executive Directors to take additional 
financing measures in the form of bonds, promissory notes or private placements in the next 
six months. The Supervisory Board agreed to this plan and authorised the Board of Executive 
Directors to determine how exactly the financing measures are to be organised within the 
given framework, subject to the respective current capital market conditions.

At the last ordinary meeting of the year, on 20 November 2013, the Board of Executive Direc-
tors first discussed the current business situation on the fertilizer and salt markets and pro-
vided a forecast of the anticipated revenues and earnings of the K+S Group in 2013. The 
Supervisory Board also dealt with the status and further action concerning the Legacy Pro-
ject, and was briefed on this by Dr. Lamp, the project manager working in Saskatoon. Plan-
ning for 2014, including the investment and financing framework conditions for the coming 
years, was examined in depth – also from the angle of conformity with strategic goals – and 
then approved. Furthermore, approval was given to the 2013/2014 joint declaration on con-
formity of the Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board concerning the Ger-
man Corporate Governance Code (see page 25). 

Committee meetings
In addition to the mediation committee required by law, the Supervisory Board has estab-
lished three further committees for the support of its responsibilities: the audit committee, 
the personnel committee and the nomination committee. An overview of the committees 
with their personnel composition can be found in the ‘Corporate Governance’ section on page 
25 and on the website of K+S Aktiengesellschaft under ‘Corporate Governance’.

The audit committee met three times in 2013. On 27 February 2013, in the presence of the 
auditor as well as the chairman of the Board of Executive Directors and the chief financial 
officer, the committee examined the annual financial statements 2012 of K+S Aktienge-
sellschaft, the consolidated financial statements 2012, the combined management report 
and the proposal of the Board of Executive Directors for the appropriation of profits. In addi-
tion, an in-depth examination was conducted of the hedging of translation risks, the out-
financing of pension obligations, liquidity and the provisions for mining obligations. It was 
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also decided to propose to the plenum that Deloitte & Touche GmbH should be proposed 
to the Annual General Meeting as auditor for fiscal year 2013. On 21 August 2013, the com-
mittee discussed in detail with the chairman of the Board of Executive Directors and the 
chief financial officer the K+S Group’s internal control system. Moreover, the committee 
acknowledged and approved the report delivered by the chairman of the Board of Executive 
Directors on the status of the compliance organisation and on the compliance programme 
of the K+S Group. Dr. Nöcker also reported on the subject of IT security in the K+S Group. 
At the meeting of the audit committee on 20 November 2013, the Board of Executive Direc-
tors reported on developments with respect to donations, consultancy fees and other non-
recurring costs. The committee also acknowledged and approved the report prepared by the 
chief financial officer on internal audit work within the K+S Group. Finally, the committee 
discussed the key areas of the 2013 audit. Outside the meetings, via conference calls held on 
4 May, 5 August and 8 November 2013, the respective quarterly reports awaiting publication 
were discussed between the members of the audit committee, the chairman of the Board of 
Executive Directors and the chief financial officer.

The personnel committee, which prepares the personnel decisions of the Supervisory Board 
and is responsible for other matters concerning the Board of Executive Directors, met a total of 
five times in 2013. During the meetings, it dealt in particular with the selection and recommen-
dation of suitable persons for the position of board member with responsibility for the Potash 
and Magnesium Products business unit, as well as with the structure and long-term succession 
planning of the Board of Executive Directors. It also dealt with the agreeing of goals and their 
attainment with the members of the Board of Executive Directors, as well as with the appro-
priateness of the remuneration of the Board of Executive Directors in relation to senior man-
agement and the total workforce. Moreover, based on its proposal the Supervisory Board has 
defined an upper threshold for benefits for the remuneration of the Board of Executive Direc-
tors. Detailed information about the level of remuneration of the Board of Executive Directors 
in 2013 as well as the structure of the remuneration system, which has not changed materially 
since its approval by the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2010, can be found on pages 34 – 43.

The members of the nomination committee met on two occasions in 2013. The subjects of 
discussions held mainly related to the reappointment or replacement of the six shareholder 

representatives whose terms of office were set to expire in 2013, as well as to long-term suc-
cession planning. 

No meeting of the mediation committee was called in the past financial year.

Conflicts of interest
No conflicts of interests involving members of the Board of Executive Directors or the Supervi-
sory Board, about which the Annual General Meeting needed to be informed, were disclosed 
to the Supervisory Board in the reporting period. 

Audit of the 2013 annual financial statements and consolidated financial 
statements 
Deloitte & Touche GmbH, Hanover, audited the annual financial statements of K+S 
Aktiengesellschaft, which were prepared by the Board of Executive Directors in accord-
ance with the rules of the German Commercial Code (HGB), and the consolidated finan-
cial statements, which were prepared on the basis of the IFRS International Financial 
Reporting Standards, as well as the combined management report and Group manage-
ment report for financial year 2013 and issued unqualified audit certificates in each case. The 
aforementioned documents, the Board of Executive Directors’ recommendation concerning 
the appropriation of the accumulated profit and the audit reports of Deloitte & Touche 
GmbH, each of which had been submitted to the members of the audit committee and the 
Supervisory Board on time, were, in the presence of the auditor on each occasion, dealt with 
comprehensively at the audit committee meeting held on 28 February 2014, as well as at the 
Supervisory Board meeting held on 12 March 2014. All questions raised at the meetings were 
answered satisfactorily by the Board of Executive Directors and the auditor. After itself exam-
ining the annual financial statements, the consolidated financial statements, the combined 
management report and Group management report, the Supervisory Board did not raise any 
objections. It agreed with the Board of Executive Directors in its assessment of the position of 
K+S Aktiengesellschaft and of the Group and, at the suggestion of the audit committee, 
approved the financial statements for financial year 2013. The 2013 annual financial state-
ments of K+S Aktiengesellschaft were thus ratified. The Supervisory Board also concurred 
with the proposal of the Board of Executive Directors for the Corporate Governance Report. 



1.3 S upervisory Board Report 17
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The resolution on the appropriation of profits proposed by the Board of Executive Directors 
was also examined, particularly with regard to the present and the future expected financial 
situation of the K+S Group. Following extensive discussion, the Supervisory Board approved 
the proposal made by the Board of Executive Directors.

The Supervisory Board expresses its thanks to the members of the Board of Executive Direc-
tors, all employees and employee representatives for their continued high level of commit-
ment and the successful work done despite dramatic events in the past financial year.

In silent mourning for the employees who lost their lives in 2013.

 
 

On behalf of the Supervisory Board

Dr. Ralf Bethke
Chairman of the Supervisory Board

Kassel, 12 March 2014
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K+S on the capital market

2.1  the share ﻿

K+S Share

Type of shares: no-par value shares
Total number of shares: 191,400,000 units
WKN /ISIN: KSAG88/DE000KSAG888
Market segment: Prime Standard
Prime industry: chemicals
Industrial group: chemicals, commodities
Listing: all stock exchanges in Germany
Bloomberg ticker symbol: SDF GY
Reuters ticker symbol: SDFG
ADR CUSIP: 48265W108

K+S bond (September 2014)

WKN /ISIN: A1A 6FV/DE000A1A6FV5
Stock exchange listing: 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange
Issue volume: € 750 million
Denomination: € 1,000
Issue price: 99.598 %
Interest coupon: 5.000 %
Due: 24 September 2014
Bond rating: S&P: BBB; Moody’s: Ba1

K+S bond (June 2022)

WKN /ISIN: A1P GZ8/DE000A1PGZ82
Stock exchange listing: 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange
Issue volume: € 500 million
Denomination: € 100,000
Issue price: 99.422 %
Interest coupon: 3.000 %
Due: 20 June 2022
Bond rating: S&P: BBB; Moody’s: Ba1

K+S bond (December 2018)

WKN/ISIN: A1Y CR4/ XS0997941199
Stock exchange listing: 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange
Issue volume: € 500 million
Denomination: € 1,000
Issue price: 99.777 %
Interest coupon: 3.125 %
Due: 6 December 2018
Bond rating: S&P: BBB

K+S bond (December 2021)

WKN/ISIN: A1Y CR5/ XS0997941355
Stock exchange listing: 
Luxembourg Stock Exchange
Issue volume: € 500 million
Denomination: € 1,000
Issue price: 99.539 %
Interest coupon: 4.125 %
Due: 6 December 2021
Bond rating: S&P: BBB

Company rating:

S&P: BBB (Outlook: negative)
Moody’s: Ba1 (Outlook: stable)

	 Capital Market Key Indicators� TAB: 2.0.1

� 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010  � 2009

Year-end closing price (XETRA) € 22.38 35.00 34.92 56.36 39.99

Highest price (XETRA) € 37.53 40.86 58.60 56.65 53.04

Lowest price (XETRA) € 15.92 30.40 33.35 35.94 29.85

Average number of shares 1 million 191.40 191.40 191.33 191.34 166.15

Year-end market capitalisation € billion 4.3 6.7 6.7 10.8 7.7

Average daily trading volume
million 

units 2.75 1.27 1.42 1.50 1.73

Enterprise Value (EV) as of 31 Dec. € billion 5.3 7.5 7.3 11.5 9.0

Enterprise value to revenues (EV/revenues) x 1.4 1.9 1.8 2.5 2.5

Enterprise value to EBITDA (EV/EBITDA) x 5.9 7.3 6.4 12.1 21.8

Enterprise value to EBIT I (EV/EBIT I) x 8.1 9.3 8.0 16.1 37.8

Book value per share €/share 17.75 17.73 16.12 13.85 10.94

Earnings per share, adjusted 2, 3 €/share 2.27 3.33 3.04 2.33 0.56

Dividend per share 4 €/share 0.25 1.40 1.30 1.00 0.20

Total dividend payment 4 € million 47.9 268.0 248.8 191.4 38.3

Payout ratio 4, 5 % 11.0 42.0 42.8 43.0 40.9

Dividend yield (closing price) 4 % 1.1 4.0 3.7 1.8 0.5

1	 �Total number of shares less the average number of own shares held by K+S. 
2	 �The adjusted key figures only include the result from operating forecast hedges of the respective reporting period reported in EBIT I, which eliminates 

effects from changes in the market value of the hedges (see also 'Notes to the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income' on 
page 146). Related effects on deferred and cash taxes are also eliminated; tax rate for 2013: 28.6 % (2012: 28.5 %).

3	 �Information refers to continued and discontinued operations of the K+S Group.
4	 �The figure for 2013 corresponds to the dividend proposal; the dividend yield is based on the year-end closing price.
5	 �Applied to the adjusted earnings per share.
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2.1  The Share

Low level of interest rates boosts share 
prices on international stock exchanges
In 2013, the international stock markets continued to 
profit from the extensive provision of liquidity by the 
central banks as well as from the economic recovery 
in the United States and in Europe. Speculation about 
the US central bank possibly tightening its loose mon-
etary policy and the US budget debate only weighed 
on the international stock exchanges temporarily. The  
German DAX index posted a sharp increase of 25.5 % in 
2013, reaching 9,552 points at the end of the year. The 
European stock index DJ STOXX Europe 600 rose by 
17.4 % to 328 points and the global MSCI World index 
by 24.1 % to 1,661 points.  / fig: 2.1.1

K+S share price under significant pres-
sure in the second half of the year
The K+S share posted a substantial decline in 2013, per-
forming significantly worse than the benchmark indices. 
The stock was particularly depressed by the announce-
ment of an aggressive volume policy by Uralkali at the 
end of July 2013, which resulted in a sharp drop in the 
share prices of all potash producers and subsequently 
caused the share prices to become highly volatile. In the 
following months, however, the K+S share recovered  
significantly from its low of € 15.92. This was due to spec-
ulation that the Russian/Belarusian BPC sales organisa-
tion might be revived along with the expectation that 
tensions on the potash market may ease as well as – in 
the context of K+S’ salt business – the start of winter 
weather in North America.  / fig: 2.1.2

/ You can find the current share price and  
further information  about the share  at  
www.k-plus-s.com/en/ks-aktie 

Because of the turbulence on the potash market, the 
value of the share fell significantly over a 5-year com-

	P erformance of the K+S share in Comparison to DAX, DJ STOXX Europe 600 and MSCI World� fig: 2.1.1
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  K+S        DAX        DJ STOXX Europe 600        MSCI World �� Source: Bloomberg

	 Monthly highest, lowest and average price of K+S share� fig: 2.1.2
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K+S on the capital market

At the end of February, the share prices of our competi-
tors were slightly higher year-to-date, with the excep-
tion of Uralkali (about (15 %)).

Shareholder structure 
There were no significant changes in our shareholder 
structure in 2013. Under the free float definition applied 
by Deutsche Börse AG, the free float is about 90 %.

parative period, losing some 24 % including dividends. 
/ Tab: 2.1.1

Performance of the K+S share since the 
start of the year in relation to 
competitors
We are also following the performance of our share 
compared with our publicly traded competitors. They 
include, above all, the North American fertilizer pro-
ducers PotashCorp and Mosaic, the Russian potash  
producer Uralkali as well as the salt manufacturer 
Compass from the United States.  / Fig: 2.1.1

Down some 36 %, the K+S share closed the year signifi-
cantly lower than a year ago. The share prices of com-
petitors Uralkali, PotashCorp and Mosaic also fell 
substantially, declining by 30 %, 19 % and 17 % respec-
tively. Only salt producer Compass was able to post a 
gain of some 7 %.

K+S share price recovering at the begin-
ning of 2014
In January, positive newsflow from the potash sector 
as well as continuing strong de-icing salt sales volumes 
in North America resulted in a tangible increase of the 
K+S share price to more than € 25. In the further course, 
the share price stabilised at about € 24. The renewal of  
contracts of Russian and North American producers 
for potash shipments to China were perceived as a first 
indication of stabilisation in the sector. On 28 February 
2014, the share price closed at about € 24 or roughly 9 % 
above the closing price of 2013.

	P erformance� TAB: 2.1.1

1 year 
� 2013

5 years 
 � 2009 – 2013

10 years 
 � 2004 – 2013

in %

K+S share (excluding dividends) (36.1) (40.9) + 334.0

K+S share (including dividends) (32.1) (24.3) + 495.6

DAX (performance index) + 25.5 + 98.6 + 140.9

DJ STOXX Europe 600 + 17.4 + 65.5 + 43.2

MSCI World + 24.1 + 80.5 + 60.3

	P erformance of the K+S share in relation to peers � fig: 2.1.3
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Shareholders with a share of over 5 % are: 
++ Meritus Trust Company Limited via EuroChem 

Group SE: 9.88 % (notification of 12 July 2011)
++ Blackrock Inc.: 5.08 % (notifications of 11 May 2012)

/ fig: 2.1.4

According to a shareholder survey carried out by an 
external provider in October 2013, free-float was held 
in equal parts by institutional investors and retail 
investors. In terms of geographical distribution, about 
53 % of our shares were held by investors in Germany,  
followed by Russia (8 %), the United States (7 %) and 
Great Britain (7 %).

American Depositary Receipts for trading 
in North America 
In North America, we offer an American Depositary 
Receipts (ADR) programme to assist investors there in 
trading in K+S securities and thus to expand the inter-
national shareholder basis. As the ADRs are quoted in 
US dollars and the dividends are also paid in US dollars, 
their form is essentially similar to that of US stocks. Two 
ADRs are based on one K+S share. The ADRs are traded 
on the OTC (over-the-counter) market in the form of a 
“level 1” ADR programme. The K+S ADRs are listed on the 
OTCQX trading platform.
/ More information   is available on our website at 
www.k-plus-s.com under ‘Investor Relations/Share/ADR Programme’ 
and on the website of the OTCQX trading platform www.otcqx.com

2.2 Bon ds and R ating

The K+S bonds
For the purposes of securing long-term financing and for 
optimising the maturity profile, the K+S Group issued 
two new bonds on 6 December 2013, each with a volume 
of € 500 million and with maturities of five and eight 
years respectively. The new issues were oversubscribed 
several times and were placed on attractive financing 
terms. The five-year bond has an interest coupon of 

3.125 % p. a. and the interest coupon for the eight-year 
bond is 4.125 % p. a. The proceeds from the bond issues 
are designated for the financing of capital expenditure 
in the Legacy Project, the refinancing of existing liabili-
ties and for general corporate purposes.

As a result of the continued high provision of liquidity 
by the ECB and other major central banks in the year 
under review, the bond prices of obligors with good 
credit ratings remained on a high level on the capi-

	 Bond prices and yields� TAB: 2.2.1

in % 

� 28.02.2014  � 31.12.2013

Price Yield Price Yield

K+S bond (September 2014) 102.4 0.7 102.9 0.8

K+S bond (June 2022) 99.3 3.1 95.3 3.6

K+S bond (December 2018) 105.3 2.0 102.8 2.5

K+S bond (December 2021) 108.9 2.8 104.4 3.5

	S hareholder structure as at 28 February 2014� fig: 2.1.4

� 2013  � 2012

in %

1 Freefloat 90.1 90.1
2 Meritus Trust  

Company Limited 9.9 9.9

2

1



23

K+S on the capital market

2.2  bonds and rating  /  2.3 I nvestor Relations

tal market with yields remaining comparatively low. 
However, the statements by Uralkali triggered a rise 
in the yield and a related substantial price decrease 
in the case of the bond maturing in June 2022. The 
prices and yields of the K+S bonds as of the respective 
reporting date are presented in table 2.2.1.  / Tab: 2.2.1  
/ fig: 2.2.1

Rating
Since the start of 2009, we have been submitting our-
selves to an external rating process. The uncertainties 
in the potash market in the second half of the year led 
to credit rating adjustments. On 6 November 2013, the  
rating agency Moody’s set the rating to “Ba1” with a 

“stable” outlook. On 18 November 2013, Standard & 
Poor’s rated us “BBB” with a “negative” outlook.

2.3  Investor Relations

Research coverage of K+S 
The very extensive research coverage of K+S remained 
almost unchanged compared with the previous year. 
The banks regularly analysing us range from an invest-
ment boutique with regional expertise to major banks 
with an international approach. In financial year 2013, 31 
banks analysed us on a regular basis.

According to the most recent of the regularly conducted 
research surveys, 4 banks gave us a “buy/accumulate” 
recommendation, 7 a “hold/neutral” recommendation 
and 9 banks a “reduce/sell” recommendation. The aver-
age target share price was at about € 20. The Investor 
Relations section of our website carries a constantly 
updated overview of current research recommenda-
tions as well as consensus forecasts for revenues and 
earnings. 
/ More information   on this is available on our website at 
www.k-plus-s.com under ‘Investor Relations/K+S Share’.

K+S investor relations offers a compre-
hensive range of information
In the past year, we have responded to the ever greater 
need for information on the part of the capital mar-
ket by offering 44 road shows and conference days. We 
held investor meetings in Europe, North America, Asia 
and Australia. We also organised numerous one-on-one 
meetings and conference calls. We intensified our con-
tact with private shareholders through participation in 
retail roadshows in Germany. The aim of our Investor 
Relations work is transparent and fair financial com-
munication with all market participants, in order to 
maintain and strengthen confidence in the quality and 
integrity of our management, and provide comprehen-
sive, fast and optimally objective information about our 
strategy as well as about all events relevant to the capi-
tal markets that concern the K+S Group.

	 price development of the k+s bonds� fig: 2.2.1
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corporate governance

3.1 D eclaration on corporate governance and corporate governance report

K+S pursues the goal of responsible and transparent 
corporate governance and control, oriented towards 
the creation of long-term value. This principle forms 
the basis of our internal decision-making and control 
processes.

In accordance with Sec. 289a of the German Commercial 
Code (Handelsgesetzbuch – HGB), the Board of Executive 
Directors issues the following declaration on corporate 
governance; with this statement, a report by the Board  
of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board in 
accordance with Item 3.10 of the German Corporate  
Governance Code (Code) is also provided:

3.1 Declaration    on  
corporate  governance and 
corporate  governance report

Declaration on conformity 2013/14

In December 2013, the Board of Executive Directors and 
the Supervisory Board of K+S Aktiengesellschaft sub-
mitted the following joint declaration on conformity in 
accordance with Sec. 161 of the German Stock Corporation 
Act (Aktiengesetz – AktG):

“We declare that the recommendations of the Govern-
ment Commission on the German Corporate Governance 
Code, published by the German Ministry of Justice in the 
official part of the German Federal Gazette on 15 June 

2012, was complied with in 2013 except for the recom-
mendations in item 5.1.2 paragraph 2 sentence 3 (Deter-
mination of an age limit for the members of the Board of 
Executive Directors) and item 5.4.1 paragraph 2 sentence 1  
(to the extent that an age limit is to be determined for 
Supervisory Board members) and that the recommen-
dations of the Government Commission on the German 
Corporate Governance Code, published by the German 
Ministry of Justice in the official part of the German  
Federal Gazette on 13 May 2013, will be complied with in 
2014 with the same exception. We do not believe that it 
is necessary or practicable to determine strict age limits 
for the members of the Board of Executive Directors and 
the Supervisory Board, since the ability to carry out the 
work of the respective corporate body does not necessar-
ily end when a certain age is reached, but depends solely 
on the respective individual capabilities. Also considering 
particularly the demographic developments, age limits 
therefore conflict with the general interest of the Com-
pany to staff its corporate bodies in the best possible way. 

Kassel, December 2013”
 
/ This and all earlier declarations   on conformity  
are carried on the Internet at www.k-plus-s.com in the ‘Corporate 
Governance’ section.

Only the following of the numerous suggestions contained 
in the Code have not been fully implemented by K+S: 

++ The Annual General Meeting has not as yet been car-
ried live on the Internet in its full length (Code Item 
2.3.4), but was only carried up to the end of the speech 
by the chairman of the Board of Executive Directors. 

++ The suggestion of Item 3.7 paragraph 3 is – as hither- 
to – only taken up if, in the event of a takeover bid, an 
extraordinary General Meeting were to be convened 
only in the cases indicated.

Governing bodies of the Company

The governing bodies of the Company are the Annual 
General Meeting, the Board of Executive Directors and 
the Supervisory Board. The powers vested in these  
bodies are governed by the German Stock Corporation 
Act, the Articles of Association and the bylaws of the 
Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board.

Shareholders and the Annual  
General Meeting
The shareholders assert their rights at the Annual 
General Meeting and decide on fundamental matters 
affecting K+S Aktiengesellschaft by exercising their 
voting rights. Each share carries one vote (one share, 
one vote principle). All documents of decision-making 
importance are also made available to the sharehold-
ers on our website. The Annual General Meeting is also 
carried live on the Internet until the end of the speech 
by the chairman of the Board of Executive Directors. 
Shareholders can exercise their voting rights by means 
of an authorised representative of their choice and can 
issue instructions to them or can also vote by absentee 
ballot. The granting of a power of attorney and the issu-
ance of instructions are also possible through an elec-
tronic power of attorney and voting instruction system 
on the K+S website. Shortly after the end of the Annual 
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/ Further information  about the composition of the 
Board of Executive Directors and the distribution 
of responsibilities can be found on page 12 as well as on our 
website under ‘Corporate Governance’.

The main instrument of the Board of Executive Directors 
for the exercise of its managerial responsibility and its 
duty of supervision is the internal control system (ICS). 
The ICS includes principles, regulations, measures and 
procedures, which are oriented towards the organisa-
tional preparation and implementation of management 
decisions. It consists of the components “internal con-
trol system” and “internal monitoring system” and is 
reviewed on a regular basis. 

Control of the K+S Group is exercised through regular dis-
cussions between the Board of Executive Directors and the 
corporate departments. Meetings of the Board of Executive 
Directors take place on a regular basis every two weeks. 
The starting point for the management of the Group as a 
whole and the corporate departments are the targets of 
the Board of Executive Directors, which are derived from 
the vision and overall strategy of the K+S Group. An 
essential instrument for the implementation of the goals 
and targets is the totality of internal regulations of the K+S 
Group. A number of controlling instruments are available 
to the management. Furthermore, the risk and compli-
ance management system as well as the internal audit 
are important elements of the internal control system.

The internal monitoring system is intended to ensure 
attainment of the planned corporate goals and com-

General Meeting, we publish details of attendance and 
the results of the voting also on the Internet.
/ Further information  about the Annual General  
Meeting  can be found at www.k-plus-s.com/en/hv

Operations of the Board of Executive 
Directors 
The Board of Executive Directors manages the Company 
at its own responsibility in accordance with the law, 
the Articles of Association and its bylaws, taking into 
account the resolutions adopted by the Annual General 
Meeting. The Board of Executive Directors represents the 
Company in its dealings with third parties. Pursuant to 
Art. 5 Para. 1 of the Articles of Association, the Board of 
Executive Directors comprises at least two members. 
The number of members is determined by the Super-
visory Board. At the end of 2013, the Board of Executive 
Directors consisted of six members. The bylaws govern 
their cooperation and the allocation of business respon-
sibilities. The affected members of the Board of Execu-
tive Directors are required to be informed about matters 
concerning more than one business unit or department; 
measures which also concern other segments or depart-
ments or deviate from the usual day-to-day business are 
required to be agreed with the other members of the 
Board of Executive Directors. If possible, such matters 
are to be discussed at meetings of the Board of Executive  
Directors and measures are to be resolved there, if nec-
essary. A resolution should always be passed concerning 
important business transactions and measures.
/ The byla ws of the Board of Executive Directors 
can be found on our website under ‘Corporate Governance’.

pliance with the rules of the internal control system.  
It consists of process-integrated as well as process- 
independent monitoring measures. 
/ Further information  about the internal control 
system and its components  can be found in the ‘Enterprise 
Management and Supervision’ section on page 57, and about the risk 
management system on page 94 in the Risk Report. 

Operations of the Supervisory Board
Pursuant to Art. 8 Para. 1 of the Articles of Association, the 
Supervisory Board’s composition is governed by manda-
tory statutory provisions. It currently consists of 16 mem-
bers and is subject to co-determination in accordance with 
the German Co-Determination Act (Mitbestimmungs
gesetz). The Supervisory Board members are thus elected 
as representatives of the shareholders by the Annual 
General Meeting and as employee representatives by the 
employees of the K+S Group in Germany on a 50-per-
cent basis. An election is held every five years. The term of 
office of the chairman ends at the close of the Annual Gen-
eral Meeting 2017, that of Mr. Cardona at the close of the 
Annual General Meeting 2015 and those of the remaining 
members at the close of the Annual General Meeting 2018.
/ Further information  about the composition of 
the Supervisory Board and its committees   can be found 
on page 31 as well as on our website under ‘Corporate Governance’.

The Supervisory Board oversees and advises the Board 
of Executive Directors in connection with the carrying 
on of business. It is involved in all decisions of funda-
mental importance in sufficient time and appropri-
ately. The Board of Executive Directors informs it on a 
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regular basis, promptly and comprehensively about the 
course of business, the earnings and financial position, 
the employment situation, as well as the planning and 
further development of the Company. The Supervisory 
Board regularly receives written reports from the Board 
of Executive Directors for the preparation of meetings. 
After thorough review and discussion, the Supervisory 
Board adopts resolutions on the reports and propos-
als, where necessary. In the case of particular business 
transactions of great importance to the Company, the 
Supervisory Board is also provided with immediate and 
extensive information by the Board of Executive Direc-
tors between regular meetings. The Supervisory Board 
regularly carries out an efficiency review in the form of 
a questionnaire in order to obtain pointers for the future 
work of the Supervisory Board and its committees. 
/ Further details on the Supervisory Board’s activ-
ities in financial year 2013 can be found in the ‘Supervisory 
Board Report’.

The Supervisory Board has imposed bylaws on itself 
and formed four committees from among its members: 

++ The audit committee performs the tasks arising from 
the German Stock Corporation Act as well as from 
Item 5.3.2 of the German Corporate Governance Code. 
It is particularly involved in monitoring the account-
ing process and the effectiveness of the internal con-
trol system, the risk management system, the inter-
nal audit system, and the compliance as well as in 
the audit of the financial statements. It also discusses 
the quarterly and half-yearly financial reports with 
the Board of Executive Directors prior to publication. 

neously the chairman of this committee. The four mem-
bers of the committee include an equal number of rep-
resentatives of the shareholders and of the employees.

/ The byla ws of the Supervisory Board  can be found on 
our website under ‘Corporate Governance’.

Objectives for the composition of the 
Supervisory Board
It can be seen from the most recent declaration on con-
formity of the Company that, among others, the recom-
mendation under Item 5.4.1 of the German Corporate 
Governance Code is being followed, according to which 
the Supervisory Board should name specific objectives 
for its composition. In this regard, it should be noted 
that the Supervisory Board does not itself decide on 
its own composition and can therefore only work to 
achieve the realisation of the objectives it pursues by 
suggesting correspondent candidates to be proposed to 
the Annual General Meeting. As a corporate body, it is 
not entitled to influence proposals for the nomination 
of employee representatives. 

Mindful of this, the Supervisory Board resolved the  
following 1:

“The Supervisory Board shall ensure that its members 
are persons of integrity, associated with the social mar-
ket economy, and have competence and many years of 

On the basis of his professional experience as former 
head of the Central Legal Affairs, Tax and Insurance 
Department and as former Chief Compliance Officer 
of BASF SE, Dr. Sünner (independent financial expert), 
chairman of the audit committee, possesses compre-
hensive knowledge and experience with respect to 
the application of accounting principles and internal 
control procedures. The audit committee consists of 
six members and includes an equal number of repre-
sentatives of the shareholders and of the employees.

++ The personnel committee is responsible for prepar-
ing the appointment of members of the Board of 
Executive Directors, including long-term succession 
planning. With regard to determining the total remu-
neration of the individual members of the Board of 
Executive Directors, the committee submits pro-
posals for resolutions to the plenary meeting of the 
Supervisory Board. The chairman of the Supervisory 
Board is simultaneously the chairman of this com-
mittee. The personnel committee consists of four 
members and includes an equal number of repre-
sentatives of the shareholders and of the employees. 

++ The nomination committee recommends suitable 
Supervisory Board candidates to the Supervisory 
Board to be proposed to the Annual General Meet-
ing. The chairman of the Supervisory Board is simul-
taneously the chairman of this committee. The com-
mittee consists of four members, all of whom are 
representatives of the shareholders.

++ The mediation committee performs the tasks set forth 
in Sec. 31 Para. 3 Sent. 1 of the German Co-Determination 
Act. The chairman of the Supervisory Board is simulta-

1	 �The age limit for members of the Supervisory Board previously contained in the 
objectives for the composition of the Supervisory Board has been removed for the 
reasons cited in the declaration on conformity concerning the German Corporate 
Governance Code.
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experience in the management of and/or consulting 
services to commercial enterprises or business-oriented 
institutions. Experience and specific knowledge of the 
main fields of activity of the Company are desirable.  
At least one independent financial expert must belong 
to the Supervisory Board.

On the basis of his or her nationality or professional 
experience, at least one member of the Supervisory 
Board should take particular account of the increased 
internationality of the Company. Experience in relation 
to the regions in which the K+S Group has a particular 
presence is especially desirable.

Within this framework, the aim is for the Supervisory 
Board to include a percentage share of female mem-
bers that corresponds at least to the percentage share 
of women in the total number of employees of the K+S 
Group. 

A further aim is that at least half of the shareholder 
representatives on the Supervisory Board are independ-
ent. This assumes in particular that the persons con-
cerned do not hold a governing or advisory position 
with significant customers, suppliers, lenders, other 
business partners or main competitors and also other
wise do not have a significant business or personal 
relationship to the Company or its Board of Executive 
Directors. Potential conflicts of interests on the part of 
the persons proposed for election to the Supervisory 
Board should be prevented, wherever possible.” 

The Supervisory Board considers that at present the 
aforementioned objectives are fulfilled. 

Board of Executive Directors and  
Supervisory Board cooperation
The Supervisory Board is kept informed by the Board 
of Executive Directors at regular intervals in a timely 
and comprehensive manner about all issues relevant to 
the Company as a whole concerning corporate strategy, 
planning, business development and the financial and 
earnings position as well as about any particular busi-
ness risks and opportunities. In addition, the Chairman 
of the Supervisory Board is in close contact with the 
Chairman of the Board of Executive Directors about all 
relevant topics. Important business transactions and 
measures require the consent of the Supervisory Board; 
more information on this can be found in Sec. 12 of the 
bylaws of the Supervisory Board.

Conflicts of interests 
No conflicts of interests involving members of the Board 
of Executive Directors or of the Supervisory Board, 
about which the Annual General Meeting needed to be 
informed, were disclosed to the Supervisory Board in 
the reporting period.

D&O insurance
K+S has taken out D&O insurance, among other things, 
in case, on the basis of statutory third-party liability 
provisions, a claim for compensation is raised against 
members of the Board of Executive Directors or of the 
Supervisory Board because of a breach of duty commit-

ted in the exercise of their activity. The deductible is 10 % 
of the respective damage up to a maximum of 1.5 times 
the fixed annual remuneration. The D&O insurance also 
applies to managers. 

Share transactions of members of  
the Supervisory Board and of the Board 
of Executive Directors
In accordance with Sec. 15a of the German Securities 
Trading Act (Wertpapierhandelsgesetz – WpHG), mem-
bers of the Board of Executive Directors and of the 
Supervisory Board must disclose purchases and dispos-
als of K+S shares to K+S Aktiengesellschaft.

In 2013, K+S Aktiengesellschaft issued the following 
notifications concerning directors’ dealings:
/ TAB: 3.1.1, 3.1.2

/ A constantly updated table  can be found on our website 
at www.k-plus-s.com/en/meldungen/directors-dealings

On 31 December 2013, the members of the Board of Execu-
tive Directors and of the Supervisory Board held less than 
1 % of the shares of K+S Aktiengesellschaft and related 
financial instruments. 

Compliance 

Our compliance system creates the organisational 
prerequisites for applicable law, our internal regula-
tions, and the regulatory standards recognised by the 
Company to be known throughout the Group and for 
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compliance with them to be monitored. We thus want 
not only to avoid the risks of liability, culpability and 
fines as well as other financial disadvantages for the 
Company, but also ensure a positive reputation for 
the Company, its corporate bodies and employees in 
the public eye. We regard it as a matter of course that 
breaches of compliance are pursued and punished.

The Board of Executive Directors has entrusted a chief 
compliance officer, who reports directly to the chair-
man of the Board of Executive Directors, with coor-

dinating and documenting a group-wide compliance 
system. He heads the central compliance committee 
to which the compliance representatives as well as the 
heads of departments of K+S Aktiengesellschaft 
belong, who perform compliance-relevant tasks (e. g. 
internal audit, legal affairs, personnel, environmental 
protection, occupational safety, quality management). 

Over and above the legal obligations, we have defined 
for ourselves core values and principles (the Code of 
Conduct) which form a compulsory framework for our 

conduct and our decisions as well as provide orienta-
tion for our corporate actions. Our core values and prin-
ciples are published on our homepage at www.k-plus-s.
com in the ‘About K+S’ section. Every employee is made 
familiar with these core values and principles that apply 
throughout the Group, as well as with the Company 
guidelines derived from them. Obligatory training ses-
sions for potentially affected employees are held in rela-
tion to specific issues (e. g. anti-trust law, anti-corruption 
measures, money laundering and terrorism financing, 
environmental protection, work safety). The employees 
have the possibility of seeking advice internally in com-
pliance-related matters. Moreover, we have set up exter-
nal hotlines (ombudspersons) for the notification of com-
pliance breaches, anonymously if desired.  / Fig: 3.1.1

	 k+s compliance System� FIG: 3.1.1

Chairman of the Board of Executive Directors (CEO)

K+S Compliance Committee

Chief Compliance  
Officer (CCO) 

Representatives of 
compliance-relevant tasks

+ �Coordination and  
documentation of the 
compliance system

+ �Head of compliance 
committee

+ �Compliance representatives 
of important corporate 
departments

+ �Heads of departments with 
compliance-relevant tasks

	D irectors’ dealings of members of the Board of Executive Directors� TAB: 3.1.1

� Date  � Transaction  � Number  � Price in €  � Volume in €

Dr. Thomas Nöcker 14.08.2013 Share purchase 3,000 18.3268 54,980.40

Dr. Burkhard Lohr 13.08.2013 Share purchase 6,000 18.16269 108,976.14

Dr. Thomas Nöcker 28.06.2013 Share purchase 2,000 28.45 56,900.00

Dr. Susanne Nöcker/Dr. Thomas Nöcker 14.05.2013 Share purchase 30 32.88 986.40

Dr. Susanne Nöcker/Dr. Thomas Nöcker 14.05.2013 Share purchase 100 31.98 3,198.00

Dr. Thomas Nöcker 14.05.2013 Share purchase 2,000 35.9625 71,925.00

	D irectors’ dealings of members of the Supervisory Board� TAB: 3.1.2

� Date  � Transaction  � Number  � Price in €  � Volume in €

Dr. Eckart Sünner 15.08.2013 Share purchase 6,000 18.10 108,600.00

Dr. Karl Heidenreich 15.03.2013 Share purchase 1,000 35.32 35,320.00

Heide Heidenreich/Dr. Karl Heidenreich 15.03.2013 Share purchase 1,000 35.325 35,325.00

Heide Heidenreich/Dr. Karl Heidenreich 09.01.2013 Share purchase 500 33.42 16,710.00
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Accounting and audits

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) are 
applied in preparing the consolidated financial state-
ments of K+S Aktiengesellschaft. The audits for 
2013 were conducted by Deloitte & Touche GmbH, 
Hanover, which has issued a declaration of independ-
ence pursuant to Item 7.2.1 of the German Corporate 
Governance Code. The auditor is appointed by the 
Supervisory Board, acting on a recommendation sub-
mitted by the audit committee, after the main top-
ics to be covered by the audit and the fees have been 
agreed with the auditor elected by the Annual General 
Meeting. The chairman of the Supervisory Board and 
the chairman of the audit committee are advised by 
the auditor without delay of any reasons giving rise 
to exclusion or partiality that may arise during the 
audit if they cannot be eliminated immediately. Fur-
thermore, the auditor should immediately advise of all 
findings and occurrences of relevance to the tasks of 
the Supervisory Board that may arise during the audit. 
In addition, the auditor is required to advise the Super-
visory Board or make an appropriate note in the audit 
report if, during the course of the audit, he ascertains 
any facts suggesting incompatibility with the declara-
tion on conformity issued by the Board of Executive  
Directors and the Supervisory Board in accordance 
with Sec. 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act.

Transparency

It is our goal to provide information about the posi-
tion of the Company and about all significant changes 
in business to shareholders, shareholder associations, 
financial analysts, the media and the interested general 
public by means of regular, open and current commu-
nications simultaneously and in an equal manner. We 
publish all important information such as information 
on the Annual General Meeting, press releases, ad hoc 
disclosures and notifications of voting rights, all finan-
cial reports, corporate/sustainability reports, but also 
analysts’ recommendations and consensus forecasts as 
well as Company presentations from roadshows and 
investors’ conferences on our website. 

The financial calendar can be found in the Financial 
Report, in the half-yearly and quarterly financial reports 
as well as on the Company’s website. The Company’s 
Articles of Association and the bylaws of the Board of 
Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board can also 
be viewed on this website as well as detailed informa-
tion on the implementation of the recommendations 
and suggestions contained in the German Corporate 
Governance Code. An e-mail newsletter provides infor-
mation about new developments in the Group.

3.2  Members of the Board of 
Executive Directors 

As of 31 December 2013

Norbert Steiner (born in 1954), lawyer, Chairman
++ Corporate Development/Legal affairs/Compliance
++ Investor Relations
++ Corporate Communications
++ Executive Staff Matters/International HR Co- 

ordination

In office until 11 May 2015
First appointed: 12 May 2000

Supervisory Board appointments:
++ Talanx AG, Hanover 
++ HDI V.a.G., Hanover
++ K+S KALI GmbH (chairman), Kassel 1

Gerd Grimmig (born in 1953), engineering graduate 
++ Mining 
++ Geology
++ Engineering/Energy 
++ Research and Development
++ Environment, Occupational Safety, Quality Manage-

ment
++ Inactive Plants
++ Waste Management and Recycling
++ Animal Hygiene Products
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++ K+S Consulting GmbH
++ MSW Chemie GmbH

In office until 30 September 2014
First appointed: 1 October 2000

Supervisory Board appointments: 
++ K+S KALI GmbH, Kassel 1

Dr. Burkhard Lohr (born in 1963),  
business administration graduate

++ Finance and Accounting 
++ Group Controlling
++ Taxes 
++ Internal Audit
++ Global Governance and Materials Management 
++ Insurance 
++ Data Protection

In office until 31 May 2015
First appointed: 1 June 2012

Dr. Thomas Nöcker (born in 1958),  
lawyer, Personnel Director

++ Personnel (incl. Health Management)
++ IT
++ Organisation and Project Management
++ Real Estate Management
++ Knowledge Management
++ Global Logistics Strategy

++ Logistics Purchasing 
++ K+S Transport GmbH 
++ CFK GmbH (Trading)

In office until 31 July 2016
First appointed: 1 August 2003

Supervisory Board appointments: 
++ K+S KALI GmbH, Kassel 1

Dr. Andreas Radmacher (born in 1965),  
engineering graduate

++ Potash and Magnesium Products

In office until 31 August 2016
First appointed: 1 September 2013

Supervisory Board appointments: 
++ K+S KALI GmbH, Kassel (since 24 April 2013) 1

Mark Roberts (born in 1963),  
Bachelor of Science (Marketing)

++ Salt

In office until 30 September 2015
First appointed: 1 October 2012

Supervisory Board appointments: 
++ Salt Institute, Alexandria, Virginia, USA

 
/ CVs of the members of the Board of Executive 
Directors  can be found on our website at www.k-plus-s.com/en/
vorstand

3.3 M embers of the  
Supervisory Board

As of 31 December 2013

Dr. Ralf Bethke (born in 1942),  
business administration graduate, Chairman  
Shareholder representative
Entrepreneur (as member of the Supervisory Boards 
mentioned below)

Supervisory Board chairman since 14 May 2008
In office until the end of the 2017 AGM
First appointed: 1 July 2007

Further Supervisory Board appointments: 	
++ Benteler International AG, Salzburg (vice-chair-

man) 
++ DJE Kapital AG, Pullach (chairman)
++ Süddeutsche Zuckerrübenverwertungs-

Genossenschaft eG, Stuttgart-Ochsenfurt
++ Südzucker AG Mannheim/Ochsenfurt,  

Mannheim1	 Group appointment. 



32 3.3  Members of the Supervisory Board

Michael Vassiliadis (born in 1964),  
chemical laboratory assistant, Vice-Chairman 
Employee representative
Chairman of the Mining, Chemicals and Energy Trade 
Union, Hanover 

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM 
First appointed: 7 May 2003

Further Supervisory Board appointments: 
++ BASF SE, Ludwigshafen
++ Evonik AG, Essen (vice-chairman)
++ STEAG GmbH, Essen (vice-chairman)
++ RAG Stiftung, Essen

Ralf Becker (born in 1960), trade union secretary 
Employee representative
State District Manager North of the Mining, Chemicals 
and Energy Trade Union, Hanover

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 1 August 2009

Further Supervisory Board appointments: 
++ Continental Reifen Deutschland GmbH, Hano-

ver (vice-chairman)
++ Deutsche Shell Holding GmbH, Hamburg
++ Deutsche Shell GmbH, Hamburg
++ Shell Deutschland Oil GmbH, Hamburg

Jella S. Benner-Heinacher (born in 1960), lawyer 
Shareholder representative
Deputy General Manager of the Deutsche Schutz-
vereinigung für Wertpapierbesitz e.V., Düssel-
dorf

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM 
First appointed: 7 May 2003

Further Supervisory Board appointments: 
++ A.S. Création Tapeten AG, Gummersbach

George Cardona (born in 1951), economist 
Shareholder representative
Entrepreneur (as member of the supervisory bodies 
mentioned below)

In office until the end of the 2015 AGM 
First appointed: 9 October 2009

Other supervisory bodies:
++ Board of Donalink Ltd., Cyprus
++ Board of Erglis Ltd., Cyprus 
++ Board of EuroChem Group SE, Cyprus 
++ Board of Hamilton Art Ltd., Isle of Man 
++ Board of Hamilton Jets Ltd., Bermuda 
++ Board of Harewood House Ltd., Jersey, Channel 

Islands 
++ Board of Linea Ltd., Bermuda 

++ Board of Linetrust PTC Ltd., Bermuda 
++ Board of Madake Ltd., Cyprus
++ Board of Sibenergy plc., Cyprus
++ Board of Strategic Minerals plc., Great Britain
++ Board of Suek plc., Cyprus
++ Board of Valise Ltd., Bermuda 
++ Board of Valton Ltd., Bermuda 
++ Board of Westline PTC Ltd., Bermuda
++ Board of Wishborne Gold plc., Gibraltar

Wesley Clark (born in 1951),  
master’s degree in business administration 
Shareholder representative 
Operating Partner of Advent International Pri-
vate Equity Group, Boston, Massachusetts, USA

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 14 May 2013

Further Supervisory Board appointments: 
++ Board of Patriot Supply Holdings, Inc., Fort 

Worth, Texas, USA (non-executive chairman)
++ Board of Morrison Supply Corporation, Fort 

Worth, Texas, USA (non-executive chairman)
++ Board of ABC Supply Corporation, Beloit, Wiscon-

sin, USA
++ Board of Clarcor Inc., Franklin, Tennessee, USA
++ Board of Stanford University Graduate 

School of Business, California, USA 
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Harald Döll (born in 1964),  
energy facility electrical expert 
Employee representative 
Chairman of the Works Council of K+S KALI GmbH’s 
Werra plant

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 1 August 2009

Dr. Rainer Gerling (born in 1958), engineering graduate 
Employee representative 
Head of K+S KALI GmbH’s Werra plant

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 14 May 2008

Axel Hartmann (born in 1958), foreign trade merchant 
Employee representative
Vice-chairman of the Collective Works Council of the 
K+S Group
Chairman of the Works Council of K+S KALI GmbH’s 
Neuhof-Ellers plant

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 14 May 2013

Rüdiger Kienitz (born in 1960), mining technologist 
Employee representative
Member of the Works Council of K+S KALI GmbH’s  
Werra plant

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 26 March 1998

Klaus Krüger (born in 1954), mining technologist 
Employee representative
Chairman of the Collective Works Council of the  
K+S Group 
Chairman of the Works Council of K+S KALI GmbH’s  
Zielitz plant

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 9 August 1999

Dieter Kuhn (born in 1958), mining engineer 
Employee representative
First vice-chairman of the Collective Works Council of 
the K+S Group 
Chairman of the Works Council of the Bernburg plant 
of esco GmbH & CO. KG

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 7 May 2003

Dr. Bernd Malmström (born in 1941), lawyer 
Shareholder representative
Solicitor

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 7 May 2003

Further Supervisory Board appointments:
++ IFCO-Systems N.V., Amsterdam (chairman)
++ Lehnkering GmbH, Duisburg (vice-chairman)
++ VTG AG, Hamburg

Other appointments to supervisory bodies: 
++ DAL – Deutsche-Afrika-Linien GmbH & Co. KG, 

Hamburg
++ time:matters GmbH, Neu-Isenburg (chairman)
++ Colada Acquico S.à.r.l, Luxembourg

Dr. Annette Messemer (born in 1964), political scientist 
Shareholder representative
Divisional director of Commerzbank AG

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 14 May 2013
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Dr. Rudolf Müller (born in 1943),  
agricultural engineering graduate  
Shareholder representative
Pensioner (former member of the Board of Executive 
Directors of Südzucker AG Mannheim/Ochsenfurt, 
Mannheim)

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 7 May 2003

Dr. Eckart Sünner (born in 1944), lawyer 
Shareholder representative
Solicitor (Of Counsel, Allen & Overy LLP, Mannheim 
office)

In office until the end of the 2018 AGM
First appointed: 28 April 1992

Further Supervisory Board appointments: 
++ Infineon Technologies AG, Neubiberg 

 
/ CVs of the members of the Supervisory Board  can 
be found on our website at www.k-plus-s.com/en/aufsichtsrat 

Supervisory Board Committees 

Audit Committee
++ Dr. Eckart Sünner (chairman)
++ Ralf Becker 
++ Dr. Ralf Bethke 
++ Klaus Krüger
++ Dr. Annette Messemer 
++ Michael Vassiliadis

Nomination Committee
++ Dr. Ralf Bethke (chairman)
++ George Cardona
++ Dr. Bernd Malmström
++ Dr. Rudolf Müller

Personnel Committee
++ Dr. Ralf Bethke (chairman)
++ Jella S. Benner-Heinacher
++ Klaus Krüger
++ Michael Vassiliadis

Mediation Committee
++ Dr. Ralf Bethke (chairman)
++ Klaus Krüger
++ Dr. Eckart Sünner
++ Michael Vassiliadis

3.4 R emuner ation Report

In the following, we explain the basic features of the 
remuneration systems for the Board of Executive 
Directors and the Supervisory Board of K+S Aktien
gesellschaft, together with the concrete design of 
the individual components.

Remuneration of the Board of  
Executive Directors

Remuneration structure
The criteria for the appropriateness of the remuneration 
include especially the responsibilities of each member 
of the Board of Executive Directors, his individual per-
formance, the performance of the Board of Executive 
Directors as a whole, the comparison with executives 
worldwide and the total workforce, as well as the eco-
nomic position, the success and the future prospects of 
the Company, taking into consideration its comparative 
environment.

The remuneration for the members of the Board of Exec-
utive Directors consists of annual elements and those 
with a long-term incentive character. The annual remu-
neration elements include both components not related 
to performance and performance-related components. 
The components not related to performance consist 
of the fixed remuneration as well as in-kind and other 
benefits; the bonus is the performance-related part. 
There is also a variable remuneration component, based 
on key figures, with a long-term incentive (LTI) charac-
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ter. Furthermore, the members of the Board of Executive 
Directors have received pension commitments. 

The fixed remuneration as basic remuneration not related 
to performance is paid monthly. In addition to this, the 
members of the Board of Executive Directors receive 
benefits, in particular contributions to pension, health 
and long-term care insurance as well as in-kind benefits, 
which consist mainly of the use of company cars.

In order to harmonise the interests of shareholders to a 
high degree with those of the Board of Executive Direc-
tors, a part of the bonus is determined on the basis of 
the return on total investment of the Group. Moreover, 
the personal performance of the members of the Board 
of Executive Directors is taken into consideration when 
calculating the bonuses; the payment is made in the fol-
lowing financial year.
/ Further inform ation about the c alcul ation of the 
cost of capital and the return on total investment 
can be found on page 80.

The structure of the annual remuneration in a normal 
year provides for a fixed remuneration of 40 % and vari-
able, short-term performance-related components of 60 %. 
Of the variable component, 80 % is linked to the perfor-
mance of the Company, i. e. to the return on total invest-
ment achieved; the remaining 20 % is dependent on per-
sonal performance. Variable remuneration of 100 % is 
reached if, on the one hand, the return on total investment 
achieved reaches at least 115 % of the respective cost of 
capital rate and, on the other hand, personal performance 
was assessed as being 100 %. Remuneration on the basis 

of the return on total investment is capped at a value of 21 
percentage points above the minimum return. The ranges 
for target accomplishment of the two variable remunera-
tion components are between 0 and about 150 %. Moreo-
ver, benefits have also been capped since 2013. The chief 
financial officer receives 1.1 times the remuneration, and 
the chairman of the Board of Executive Directors 1.5 times. 

In addition, it is possible to obtain income from a long-
term incentive programme based on key figures as a 
variable component of remuneration with a long-term 
incentive and risk character. It is based on a multi-annual 
assessment in accordance with the value contributions 
achieved. The Company’s success is thus determined on 
the basis of two four-year periods. The value contribu-
tion is derived as follows:

Operating earnings (EBIT I)
+ 	 Interest income of the financial year
− 	 Cost of capital (before taxes) of the financial year
= 	 Value contribution

There is a cap for the value contribution at ± € 500 million 
per financial year.

To determine the result of a LTI tranche, two four-year 
periods are compared (a “reference period” and a “per-
formance period”). The reference period covers the 
four years before the commencement of the particu-
lar LTI, while the performance period covers the four 
years of the particular LTI term. The following diagram 
shows the time periods of the LTI programme. 
/ FIG: 3.4.1

	 LTI-Programme� FIG: 3.4.1

Reference period  Performance period
Value contributions 
in € million year −4 year −3 year −2 year −1 year 1 year 2 year 3 year 4

∅

Beginning of 
programme

End of 
programme

∅
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At the beginning of an LTI, the average of the four value 
contributions of the reference period is computed, and 
after the expiry of the programme, the average of the 
four value contributions of the performance period is 
determined. The difference between these average value 
contributions is reflected as a percentage on a scale from 
€ (200) million to € +200 million. A stable development, 
i. e. a difference of € 0 million, corresponds to 100 % and 
is defined as a normal year. In such a normal year, the 
variable component of remuneration with a long-term 
incentive character for an ordinary member of the Board 
of Executive Directors is € 350,000. In the case of under-

performance, the payment decreases on a straight-line 
basis to 0 % in line with the percentage deviation. In the 
case of overperformance, the payment increases corre-
spondingly up to an upper limit of 200 % (= € 700,000). 
For the chief financial officer, the component of remu-
neration is 1.1 times, and for the chairman of the Board 
of Executive Directors it is 1.5 times.

Payment is made in April of the year following the end 
of the programme. In the event of termination of the 
employment contract or reaching retirement age, a 
discounted payment on a pro rata basis of all current 

tranches is normally made in April of the following 
year.  / FIG: 3.4.2

The presented system of remuneration of the Board of 
Executive Directors was approved by a large majority 
at the Annual General Meeting of 2010 and honoured 
by Euroshareholders, the organisation of European 
shareholder associations, as a particularly shareholder-
friendly remuneration system.

The LTI programme replaces the system in place 
between 1999 and 2009 with the possibility for income 
to be obtained by exercising stock options as a variable 

	 LTI-Programmes 2010 to 2013� FIG: 3.4.2

in € million 2006 2007 2008 1 2009 2010 2011 1 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Result

 
LTI 2010 Difference = 198 € million   

114 68 500 (32) 334 500 384 222 — — — Payment ² = 696.5 € thousand
 
LTI 2011 —

— 68 500 (32) 334 500 384 222 — — —
 
LTI 2012 — —

— — 500 (32) 334 500 384 222 — — —
 
LTI 2013 — — —

— — — (32) 334 500 384 222 — — —

  Reference period         Performance period

1	 In the years 2008 and 2011, the cap limit was reached due to very good value contributions.
2	 �For an ordinary member of the Board of Executive Directors; payment is made in April of the year following the end of the programme.

 

 

 

 

Ø 162

Ø 217

Ø 326

Ø 297

Ø 360

not yet complete (Ø to date 369)

not yet complete (Ø to date 303)

not yet complete (Ø to date 222)
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component of remuneration with a long-term incen-
tive and risk character. As part of a virtual stock option 
programme, whose structure is identical to that for 
the remaining stock option programme participants, 
members of the Board of Executive Directors were for 
the last time in 2009 able to use 30 % of their perfor-
mance-related remuneration for own investments in 
K+S shares. By acquiring such basic shares, the partici-
pants received virtual options that trigger a cash pay-
ment when exercised. The amount of the cash payment 
is determined according to the relative performance of 
the K+S share in relation to the DAX benchmark. The 
basic prices of the K+S share and the DAX decisive for 

the calculation of performance correspond to the aver-
age share price during the 100 trading days until the 
respective base reference date (the third from last Fri-
day before the Ordinary Annual General Meeting). A 
subsequent change of the success targets or comparison 
parameters is impossible.

The options granted up to 2009 expire after a total 
period of five years, after which the unexercised 
options expire without compensation. After a lock-
up period of two years, it is possible to exercise the 
options within two time windows per year, in May 
and November, following the publication of the quar-

terly figures. In order to be able to exercise the options, 
the basic shares must be held in succession until the 
day the option is exercised. In the event of a change of 
control, a special window opens up for the exercise of 
all still outstanding options.

In the event of withdrawal or resignation, those virtual 
options that have not yet been exercised by that time 
expire.

Table 3.4.1 shows a sample calculation of the annual 
remuneration of a member of the Board of Executive 
Directors.  / TAB: 3.4.1

Amount of Remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the Board of Executive 
Directors for the financial year 2013 are provided in indi-
vidualised form.  / TAB: 3.4.2, 3.4.3

On average, the salary of the Board of Executive Directors 
in the previous year was 5.3 times that of senior manage-
ment worldwide and 30.4 times that of total workforce. 

The total remuneration of the Board of Executive Direc-
tors related to six members, five of whom were in office 
all-the-year. The term of office of Dr. Andreas Radmacher 
commenced on 1 September 2013. In the previous year, 
the Board of Executive Directors consisted of six mem-
bers, three of whom were in office all-the-year. All the 
components of the remuneration of the Board of Execu-
tive Directors are regularly reviewed every three years. 

	I llustrative Calculation of the Annual Remuneration of a Member  
	 of the Board of executive Directors� tab: 3.4.1

Achievement of 
target 100 %

Achievement 
of target 0 %

Maximum achieve-
ment of target 

in € million

Fixed remuneration: 40 % 400,000 400,000 400,000

Bonus: 60 % 600,000 1 0 2 905,000 3

– of which performance of the Company: 80 % 480,000 0 725,000

– of which personal achievement of target: 20 % 120,000 0 180,000

Annual remuneration 1,000,000 400,000 1,305,000

LTI programme 350,000 4 0 5 700,000 6

Total remuneration 1,350,000 400,000 2,005,000

1	 Return on total investment =̂ minimum return; personal achievement of target =̂ 100 %.
2	Return on total investment =̂ 0 %; personal achievement of target =̂ 0 %.
3	 	Return on total investment ≥ minimum return + 21 percentage points; personal achievement of target =̂ about 150 %.
4	Difference of the average value contributions of reference and performance period = € 0 million =̂ 100 %.
5	 Difference of the average value contributions of reference and performance period ≤ € (200) million =̂ 0 %.
6	Difference of the average value contributions of reference and performance period ≥ € +200 million =̂ 200 %.
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In 2013, the remuneration of the Board of Executive 
Directors was not raised. As shown in figure 3.4.2 on 
page 36, the value contributions generated in the four-
year performance period were higher than those of the 
reference period. Consequently, the 2010 LTI programme 
attained a value of 196.7 %. 

The values of the stock options acquired but not yet 
exercised in the framework of the option programme 
offered for the last time in 2009 are shown in table 3.4.4 

(value had they been exercised on 31 December 2013).  
/ TAB: 3.4.4

In 2013, one member of the Board of Executive Directors 
(Mr. Felker) exercised virtual options of the still ongoing 
2009 option programme.

Pension Commitments
The pensions of the active members of the Board of 
Executive Directors are based on a modular system, i. e. 

for each year of service as a member of the Board of 
Executive Directors, a pension module is created.

The pension modules are calculated on the basis of 
40 % of the fixed annual remuneration of the respec-
tive member of the Board of Executive Directors. The 
annual total pension under this modular system is lim-
ited upwards, in order to avoid unreasonable pensions 
in the case of long-standing appointments (>15 years). 
The amount is computed in accordance with actuarial 
principles and put aside for retirement; the factors for 

	R emuneration of the Board of Executive Directors (Granted allowances)� TAB: 3.4.2

Norbert Steiner, CEO
Member of the Board of Executive 

Directors since 05/2000

Dr. Burkhard Lohr, CFO 
Member of the Board of Executive 

Directors since 06/2012

Gerd Grimmig 
Member of the Board of Executive 

Directors since 10/2000

Dr. Thomas Nöcker 
Member of the Board of Executive 

Directors since 08/2003

Mark Roberts 2, 3
	 Member of the Board of Executive 
	 Directors since 10/2012

Dr. Andreas Radmacher 
Member of the Board of Executive 

Directors since 09/2013
Joachim Felker 

10/2005 – 09/2012

2012 2013
2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max)

in € thousand

Fixed remuneration 620.0 620.0 620.0 620.0 256.7 440.0 440.0 440.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 100.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 — 133.3 133.3 133.3 300.0 — — —

Benefits 1 25.4 26.3 26.3 50.0 14.6 23.9 23.9 50.0 31.1 31.1 31.1 50.0 24.6 24.5 24.5 50.0 14.0 35.5 35.5 50.0 — 22.3 7.3 50.0 16.3 — — —

Total 645.4 646.3 646.3 670.0 271.3 463.9 463.9 490.0 431.1 431.1 431.1 450.0 424.6 424.5 424.5 450.0 114.0 435.5 435.5 450.0 — 155.6 140.6 183.3 316.3 — — —
One-year variable 
remuneration 1,180.0 967.5 — 1,354.5 481.3 687.5 — 995.5 750.0 625.0 — 905.0 750.0 625.0 — 905.0 187.5 625.0 — 905.0 — 208.0 — 301.7 562.5 — — —
Multi-year variable
remuneration 4 792.8 1,044.8 — 1,050.0 — — — — 528.5 696.5 — 700.0 528.5 696.5 — 700.0 — 112.4 — 122.4 — — — — 1,366.1 — — —

LTI 792.8 1,044.8 — 1,050.0 — — — — 528.5 696.5 — 700.0 528.5 696.5 — 700.0 — 112.4 — 122.4 — — — — 1,366.1 — — —

Deferral — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

Total 2,618.2 2,658.6 646.3 3,074.5 752.6 1,151.4 463.9 1,485.5 1,709.6 1,752.6 431.1 2,055.0 1,703.1 1,746.0 424.5 2,055.0 301.5 1,172.9 435.5 1,477.4 — 363.6 140.6 485.0 2,244.9 — — —

Service costs 378.7 481.6 481.6 481.6 255.4 425.0 425.0 425.0 258.8 314.6 314.6 314.6 252.2 337.1 337.1 337.1 107.1 376.3 376.3 376.3 — 146.9 146.9 146.9 244.3 — — —

Total remuneration 2,996.9 3,140.2 1,127.9 3,556.1 1,008.0 1,576.4 888.9 1,910.5 1,968.4 2,067.2 745.7 2,369.6 1,955.3 2,083.1 761.6 2,392.1 408.6 1,549.2 811.8 1,853.7 — 510.5 287.5 631.9 2,489.2 — — —

1	 Benefits have been capped at € 50,000 since 2013.
2	A US dollar rate is stipulated for translation of the remuneration. Because disbursements are first translated at current rates, this might need to be compensated at the end of the year.
3	 Transfer of the residual terms of claims from LTI programmes which Mr. Roberts received as CEO of MORTON SALT.
4	All claims from LTI programmes are paid proportionately up to 30 September 2012 in April 2013.
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the creation of the modules for 2013 for the members 
of the Board of Executive Directors are between 9.0 and 
15.0 %, depending on their age; these factors decrease 
with increasing age. The individual pension modules 
earned during the financial years are totalled and, when 
the insured event occurs, the respective member of the 
Board of Executive Directors or, if applicable, his sur-
vivors, receives the benefit he is entitled to. The upper 
limit for an ordinary member of the Board of Executive 
Directors is € 225,000, and for the chairman of the Board 
of Executive Directors it is € 300,000. The figures will be 

reviewed in a three-year cycle – beginning with finan-
cial year 2014 – and adjusted if necessary. 

Only on payment are pension benefits adjusted in line 
with changes in the “consumer price index for Ger-
many”. Claims on the modules acquired are vested.

If a Board of Executive Directors mandate ends, the 
retirement pension starts on completion of the 65th 
year of life, unless it is to be paid on the basis of an 

occupational or a general disability or as a survivor’s 
pension in the event of death. In the event of an occu-
pational or general disability of a member of the Board 
of Executive Directors before pension age has been 
reached, that member receives a disability pension in 
the amount of the pension modules created by the 
time that such disability occurs. If the disability occurs 
before the 55th year of life has been reached, modules 
are fictitiously created on the basis of a minimum value 
for the years that are missing before the 55th year of 
life. In the event of death of an active or a former mem-

	R emuneration of the Board of Executive Directors (Granted allowances)� TAB: 3.4.2

Norbert Steiner, CEO
Member of the Board of Executive 

Directors since 05/2000

Dr. Burkhard Lohr, CFO 
Member of the Board of Executive 

Directors since 06/2012

Gerd Grimmig 
Member of the Board of Executive 

Directors since 10/2000

Dr. Thomas Nöcker 
Member of the Board of Executive 

Directors since 08/2003

Mark Roberts 2, 3
	 Member of the Board of Executive 
	 Directors since 10/2012

Dr. Andreas Radmacher 
Member of the Board of Executive 

Directors since 09/2013
Joachim Felker 

10/2005 – 09/2012

2012 2013
2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max) 2012 2013

2013 
(min)

2013 
(max)

in € thousand

Fixed remuneration 620.0 620.0 620.0 620.0 256.7 440.0 440.0 440.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 100.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 — 133.3 133.3 133.3 300.0 — — —

Benefits 1 25.4 26.3 26.3 50.0 14.6 23.9 23.9 50.0 31.1 31.1 31.1 50.0 24.6 24.5 24.5 50.0 14.0 35.5 35.5 50.0 — 22.3 7.3 50.0 16.3 — — —

Total 645.4 646.3 646.3 670.0 271.3 463.9 463.9 490.0 431.1 431.1 431.1 450.0 424.6 424.5 424.5 450.0 114.0 435.5 435.5 450.0 — 155.6 140.6 183.3 316.3 — — —
One-year variable 
remuneration 1,180.0 967.5 — 1,354.5 481.3 687.5 — 995.5 750.0 625.0 — 905.0 750.0 625.0 — 905.0 187.5 625.0 — 905.0 — 208.0 — 301.7 562.5 — — —
Multi-year variable
remuneration 4 792.8 1,044.8 — 1,050.0 — — — — 528.5 696.5 — 700.0 528.5 696.5 — 700.0 — 112.4 — 122.4 — — — — 1,366.1 — — —

LTI 792.8 1,044.8 — 1,050.0 — — — — 528.5 696.5 — 700.0 528.5 696.5 — 700.0 — 112.4 — 122.4 — — — — 1,366.1 — — —

Deferral — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

Total 2,618.2 2,658.6 646.3 3,074.5 752.6 1,151.4 463.9 1,485.5 1,709.6 1,752.6 431.1 2,055.0 1,703.1 1,746.0 424.5 2,055.0 301.5 1,172.9 435.5 1,477.4 — 363.6 140.6 485.0 2,244.9 — — —

Service costs 378.7 481.6 481.6 481.6 255.4 425.0 425.0 425.0 258.8 314.6 314.6 314.6 252.2 337.1 337.1 337.1 107.1 376.3 376.3 376.3 — 146.9 146.9 146.9 244.3 — — —

Total remuneration 2,996.9 3,140.2 1,127.9 3,556.1 1,008.0 1,576.4 888.9 1,910.5 1,968.4 2,067.2 745.7 2,369.6 1,955.3 2,083.1 761.6 2,392.1 408.6 1,549.2 811.8 1,853.7 — 510.5 287.5 631.9 2,489.2 — — —

1	 Benefits have been capped at € 50,000 since 2013.
2	A US dollar rate is stipulated for translation of the remuneration. Because disbursements are first translated at current rates, this might need to be compensated at the end of the year.
3	 Transfer of the residual terms of claims from LTI programmes which Mr. Roberts received as CEO of MORTON SALT.
4	All claims from LTI programmes are paid proportionately up to 30 September 2012 in April 2013.

	V irtual stock option  
	 programme 2009� TAB: 3.4.4

� Option programme 2009

Number of  
options

Value in € 
thousand as  

of 31.12.2013

Norbert Steiner 2013 190,000 0.0

2012 190,000 0.0

Joachim Felker 2013 0 0.0

2012 152,900 0.0

Gerd Grimmig 2013 153,060 0.0

2012 153,060 0.0

Dr. Thomas Nöcker 2013 152,900 0.0

2012 152,900 0.0

Total 2013 495,960 0.0

2012 648,860 0.0
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ber of the Board of Executive Directors, the surviving 
spouse receives 60 %, each orphan 30 % and each half-
orphan 15 % of the benefit. The maximum amount for 
the benefit for surviving dependants must not exceed 
100 % of the benefit. If this amount is reached, the bene-
fit is reduced proportionately. If a member of the Board 
of Executive Directors departs after completing his 
60th year of life, claims can already be asserted accord-
ing to the benefit commitment. 

For members of the Board of Executive Directors, the 
following amounts were allocated to the pension pro-
visions in 2013.  / TAB: 3.4.5

The pension module earned by each of the members 
of the Board of Executive Directors in 2013 results in 
pension expenses, which are calculated in accordance 
with actuarial principles. The increase in fair values in 
comparison to the previous year’s figure is attributable 
to the fact that the period until the assumed start of 
the pension is one year shorter. 

Early termination of Board of Executive 
Directors’ contracts
In the event of a recall of the appointment as board mem-
ber, a member of the Board of Executive Directors receives, 
at the time of the termination, a severance payment of 
1.5 times the fixed remuneration, however, up to a maxi-
mum amount of the total remuneration for the remaining 
period of the contract of service. For all Board of Executive 
Directors’ contracts concluded since 2012, only the upper 
limit for severance payments is 1.5 times the annual fixed 
remuneration for all remuneration components. 

	R emuneration of the Board of Executive Directors (Funds inflow)� TAB: 3.4.3

Norbert Steiner , CEO 
Member of the Board  
of Executive Directors 

since 05/2000

Dr. Burkhard Lohr, CFO  
Member of the Board  
of Executive Directors 

since 06/2012

Gerd Grimmig 
Member of the Board  
of Executive Directors 

since 10/2000

Dr. Thomas Nöcker 
Member of the Board  
of Executive Directors 

since 08/2003

Mark Roberts 1
	 Member of the Board  
	 of Executive Directors 
	 since 10/2012

Dr. Andreas Radmacher 
Member of the Board  
of Executive Directors 

since 09/2013
Joachim Felker 

10/2005 – 09/2012

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

in € thousand

Fixed remuneration 620.0 620.0 440.0 256.7 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 100.0 133.3 — — 300.0

Benefits 26.3 25.4 23.9 14.6 31.1 31.1 24.5 24.6 35.5 14.0 22.3 — — 16.3

Total 646.3 645.4 463.9 271.3 431.1 431.1 424.5 424.6 435.5 114.0 155.6 — — 316.3

One-year variable remuneration 1,180.0 1,102.0 481.3 — 750.0 720.0 750.0 720.0 187.5 — — — — 720.0

Multi-year variable remuneration 792.8 1,050.0 — — 528.5 700.0 528.5 700.0 7.8 — — — — 700.0

Plan description (Term of the plan) 2009 – 2012 2008 – 2011 — — 2009 – 2012 2008 – 2011 2009 – 2012 2008 – 2011 2008 – 2011 — — — — 2008 – 2011

Other — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

Total 2,619.1 2,797.4 945.2 271.3 1,709.6 1,851.1 1,703.0 1,844.6 630.8 114.0 155.6 — — 1,736.3

Pension expenses 481.6 378.7 425.0 255.4 314.6 258.8 337.1 252.2 376.3 107.1 146.9 — — 244.3

Total remuneration 3,100.7 3,176.1 1,370.2 526.7 2,024.2 2,109.9 2,040.1 2,096.8 1,007.1 221.1 302.5 — — 1,980.6

1	 All claims arising from LTI programmes were paid proportionately up to 30 September 2012 in April 2013.
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In the event of an early dissolution of a Board of Exec-
utive Directors’ contract as the result of a takeover 
(“change of control”), the payment of the fixed remu-
neration and bonuses outstanding until the end of 
the original term of appointment is made plus a com-
pensatory payment if there is no reason that justifies 
a termination without notice of the contract of the 
person concerned. The bonus is calculated in accord-
ance with the average of the preceding two years. The 
compensatory payment is 1.5 times the annual fixed 
remuneration. In addition, there is an upper limit on 

severance payments, in keeping with which claims 
arising from the “change of control” clause may not 
exceed the value of the combined annual remunera-
tion for three years. In the event of a change of control, 
the members of the Board of Executive Directors enjoy 
no extraordinary right of termination. 

Miscellaneous
In the year under review, with regard to their activity as 
members of the Board of Executive Directors, the mem-
bers were not promised or granted benefits by third par-

ties. Apart from the service contracts mentioned, there 
are no contractual relationships between the Company 
or its Group companies with members of the Board of 
Executive Directors or persons closely related to them.

The total remuneration of the previous members of 
the Board of Executive Directors and their surviving 
spouses came to € 1.5 million (previous year: € 1.1 mil-
lion) during the year under review. The increase is due 
to a waiting allowance with duration until September 
2014 for Mr. Felker.

	P ensions 1� TAB: 3.4.5

Age  � Fair value as of 1.1.  � Pension expenses 2  �Fair value as of 31.12.

in € thousand
Norbert Steiner 2013 59 4,684.2 645.6 5,331.6

2012 3,225.2 536.7 4,684.2
Joachim Felker 2013 61 — — —

2012 2,060.6 345.3 2,991.2
Gerd Grimmig 2013 60 3,837.2 448.9 4,063.3

2012 2,918.5 401.8 3,837.2
Dr. Thomas Nöcker 2013 55 2,881.5 437.9 3,308.3

2012 1,863.7 343.5 2,881.5
Dr. Burkhard Lohr 2013 50 255.4 434.0 665.7

2012 — 255.4 255.4
Mark Roberts 2013 50 107.0 380.0 464.7

2012 — 107.0 107.0
Dr. Andreas Radmacher 2013 47 0.0 146.9 146.9

2012 — — —
Total 2013 11,765.3 2,493.3 13,980.4

2012 10,068.0 1,989.7 14,756.5 3

1	 According to IFRS.
2	 Including interest expenses.
3	 Including the fair value of the former member of the Board of Executive Directors Mr. Joachim Felker.

	R emuneration of the Board of Executive Directors (Funds inflow)� TAB: 3.4.3

Norbert Steiner , CEO 
Member of the Board  
of Executive Directors 

since 05/2000

Dr. Burkhard Lohr, CFO  
Member of the Board  
of Executive Directors 

since 06/2012

Gerd Grimmig 
Member of the Board  
of Executive Directors 

since 10/2000

Dr. Thomas Nöcker 
Member of the Board  
of Executive Directors 

since 08/2003

Mark Roberts 1
	 Member of the Board  
	 of Executive Directors 
	 since 10/2012

Dr. Andreas Radmacher 
Member of the Board  
of Executive Directors 

since 09/2013
Joachim Felker 

10/2005 – 09/2012

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

in € thousand

Fixed remuneration 620.0 620.0 440.0 256.7 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 400.0 100.0 133.3 — — 300.0

Benefits 26.3 25.4 23.9 14.6 31.1 31.1 24.5 24.6 35.5 14.0 22.3 — — 16.3

Total 646.3 645.4 463.9 271.3 431.1 431.1 424.5 424.6 435.5 114.0 155.6 — — 316.3

One-year variable remuneration 1,180.0 1,102.0 481.3 — 750.0 720.0 750.0 720.0 187.5 — — — — 720.0

Multi-year variable remuneration 792.8 1,050.0 — — 528.5 700.0 528.5 700.0 7.8 — — — — 700.0

Plan description (Term of the plan) 2009 – 2012 2008 – 2011 — — 2009 – 2012 2008 – 2011 2009 – 2012 2008 – 2011 2008 – 2011 — — — — 2008 – 2011

Other — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

Total 2,619.1 2,797.4 945.2 271.3 1,709.6 1,851.1 1,703.0 1,844.6 630.8 114.0 155.6 — — 1,736.3

Pension expenses 481.6 378.7 425.0 255.4 314.6 258.8 337.1 252.2 376.3 107.1 146.9 — — 244.3

Total remuneration 3,100.7 3,176.1 1,370.2 526.7 2,024.2 2,109.9 2,040.1 2,096.8 1,007.1 221.1 302.5 — — 1,980.6

1	 All claims arising from LTI programmes were paid proportionately up to 30 September 2012 in April 2013.
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Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

Remuneration structure
The remuneration of the Supervisory Board is regu-
lated in Sec. 12 of the Articles of Association. A member 
of the Supervisory Board receives fixed annual remu-
neration of € 100,000. The chairman of the Supervisory 
Board receives twice this amount and the Vice-Chair-
man 1.5 times the amount of this remuneration. 
/ Further information  about the calculation  of the 
cost of capital and the return on total investment 
can be found on page 80.

The members of the audit committee each receive annual 
remuneration of € 15,000, and the members of the per-
sonnel committee of € 7,500. For his or her activity on the 
nomination committee, each member receives annual 
remuneration of € 7,500 if at least two meetings have 
taken place in the respective year. The chairmen of these 
committees shall receive twice this amount and a vice-
chairman 1.5 times the amount of this remuneration. 
Finally, for participation in a meeting of the Supervisory 
Board or one of its committees to which he or she belongs, 
each member of the Supervisory Board receives an 
attendance allowance of € 750; in the case of more than 
one meeting on the same day, however, a maximum of  
€ 1,500 per day. The members of the Supervisory Board are 
entitled to the reimbursement from the Company of any 
expenses necessary and reasonable for the performance 
of their duties, as well as to the reimbursement of any 
value added tax (VAT) to be paid as a consequence of their 
activities in the capacity of Supervisory Board members.

	R emuneration of the Supervisory Board 1� TAB: 3.4.6

Fixed 
remu

neration
Audit 

committee
Personnel 

committee
Nomination 

committee
Attendance 

allowance
 

 � Total

in €
Dr. Ralf Bethke
(Chairman)

2013 200,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 12,000 257,000

2012 200,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 12,000 257,000
Michael Vassiliadis
(Vice-Chairman)

2013 150,000 15,000 7,500 — 9,000 181,500

2012 150,000 15,000 7,500 — 8,250 180,750
Ralf Becker 2013 100,000 15,000 — — 5,250 120,250

2012 100,000 15,000 — — 6,000 121,000
Jella S. Benner-Heinacher 2013 100,000 — 3,750 2 3,750 3 7,500 115,000

2012 100,000 — — 7,500 6,000 113,500
George Cardona 2013 100,000 — — 3,750 2 5,250 109,000

2012 100,000 — — — 3,000 103,000
Wesley Clark  
(since 14.5.2013)

2013 63,014 — — — 3,000 66,014

2012 — — — — — —
Harald Döll 2013 100,000 — — — 5,250 105,250

2012 100,000 — — — 3,000 103,000
Dr. Rainer Gerling 2013 100,000 — — — 5,250 105,250

2012 100,000 — — — 3,000 103,000
Axel Hartmann  
(since 14.5.2013)

2013 63,014 — — — 3,000 66,014

2012 — — — — — —
Rainer Grohe
(until 14.5.2013)

2013 36,986 — 3,750 — 4,500 45,236

2012 100,000 — 7,500 — 5,250 112,750
Dr. Karl Heidenreich
(until 14.5.2013)

2013 36,986 7,500 — — 3,000 47,486

2012 100,000 15,000 — — 6,000 121,000
Rüdiger Kienitz 2013 100,000 — — — 5,250 105,250

2012 100,000 — — — 3,000 103,000
Klaus Krüger 2013 100,000 15,000 7,500 — 11,250 133,750

2012 100,000 15,000 7,500 — 8,250 130,750
Dieter Kuhn 2013 100,000 — — — 5,250 105,250

2012 100,000 — — — 3,000 103,000
Dr. Bernd Malmström 2013 100,000 — — 7,500 6,750 114,250

2012 100,000 — — 7,500 4,500 112,000
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Amount of Remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the Supervisory Board 
for the financial year 2013 are provided in individualised 
form by table 3.4.6.  / TAB: 3.4.6

Additionally, in 2013, members of the Supervisory Board 
were reimbursed expenses totalling € 58.5 thousand 
(previous year: € 16.8 thousand). The increase can be 
attributed in particular to increased travel activities by 
Supervisory Board members to sites of the K+S Group. 
In financial year 2013, no remuneration was paid for 
activities on the Supervisory Board of subsidiaries; nei-

ther were benefits for personally performed services, 
in particular consultancy or brokerage services, – with 
one exception – granted to the members of the Super-
visory Board.

	R emuneration of the Supervisory Board 1� TAB: 3.4.6

Fixed 
remu

neration
Audit 

committee
Personnel 

committee
Nomination 

committee
Attendance 

allowance
 

 � Total

in €
Dr. Annette Messemer
(since 14.5.2013)

2013 63,014 7,500 — — 4,500 75,014

2012 — — — — — —
Dr. Rudolf Müller 2013 100,000 — — 7,500 6,750 114,250

2012 100,000 — — 7,500 6,000 113,500
Renato De Salvo
(until 14.5.2013)

2013 36,986 — — — 2,250 39,236

2012 100,000 — — — 3,000 103,000
Dr. Eckart Sünner 2013 100,000 30,000 — — 6,750 136,750

2012 100,000 30,000 — — 6,000 136,000

Total 2013 1,750,000 105,000 37,500 37,500 111,750 2,041,750

2012 1,750,000 105,000 37,500 37,500 86,250 2,016,250

1	 Without reimbursement for the value added tax (VAT) to be paid by the members of the Supervisory Board as a consequence of their activities.
2	Member of the committee since 14.5.2013.
3	 Member of the committee until 14.5.2013.

(continued)
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4.1  Group structure and  
business operation s

Group legal structure

K+S Aktiengesellschaft acts as the holding com-
pany for the K+S Group. Its economic development is 
influenced to a substantial degree by direct and indi-
rect subsidiaries located in Germany and abroad. In 
addition to K+S Aktiengesellschaft, all significant 
affiliated companies in which K+S Aktiengesell- 
schaft holds, directly or indirectly, the majority of the 
voting rights, have been consolidated. Subsidiaries of 
minor importance are not consolidated.
/ Details regarding subsidiaries, equit y interests 
and rel ated companies can be found in the list of shareholdings 
in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements on page 177.

Significant subsidiaries are the directly held K+S KALI 
GmbH, K+S Salz GmbH and K+S Finance Belgium 
BVBA. K+S Salz GmbH groups together esco – euro-
pean salt company GmbH & Co. KG and K+S Nether
lands Holding B.V., which, amongst others, hold 
shares in subsidiaries in Canada, Brazil and Chile. K+S 
Finance Belgium BVBA, together with K+S Nether
lands Holding B.V., holds the shares in Morton Salt, 
Inc. through subsidiaries. K+S KALI GmbH and K+S 
Salz GmbH essentially hold their foreign subsidiaries 
through their own intermediate holding companies. The 
Complementary Activities too are largely related to K+S 
Aktiengesellschaft through subsidiaries. 

In comparison to 31 December 2012, the scope of consoli-
dation changed as follows: UBT See- und Hafen- Spe-
dition GmbH Rostock was merged into K+S Trans-
port GmbH as of 1 January 2013. In addition, SPL Péru 
S.A.C. was consolidated for the first time as of 1 January 
2013, while K+S Mining Argentina S.A. is no longer 
consolidated as of 1 January 2013. K+S Kali Atlantique 
S.A.S. was dissolved as of 3 July 2013. In connection with 
internal Group restructuring, K+S CZ a.s. was merged 
into Solné Mlýny a.s. (SMO) and then renamed K+S 
Czech Republic a.s. In addition, the following compa-

nies were established and consolidated for the first time: 
1786987 Alberta Ltd., K+S North America Asset 
Management GmbH as well as K+S North America 
Salt Asset Management GmbH & Co. KG. The forma-
tion of these companies is related to a reorganisation in 
2013 with the objective of bundling our Canadian activi-
ties in the potash and salt segment in the company K+S 
Netherlands Holding B.V.

	 organisational structure� FIG: 4.1.1

 K+S Goup

Potash and Magnesium 
Products Business Unit Salt Business Unit Complementary Activities

Potash and Magnesium Products Salt Waste Management and Recycling

CFK (Trading)

K+S Transport GmbH

K+S Chile Animal Hygiene Products
K+S Potash Canada
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Organisational Structure 

The reporting of the K+S Group is divided into three 
business units that are interlinked in terms of strategic, 
technical and economic aspects. Enterprise manage-
ment and supervision are exercised by K+S Aktien
gesellschaft in Kassel.  / FIG: 4.1.1

/ Supplementary information  about the products 
and services of the K+S Group can be found in the Corporate/ 
Sustainability Report and on our website www.k-plus-s.com 

 

Potash and Magnesium Products  
business unit
The Potash and Magnesium Products business unit 
extracts potash and magnesium crude salts at six mines 
in Germany, which are further processed there and at 
a former mining site to create end products or inter-
mediate products. Furthermore, three processing sites 
in France belong to the business unit. The annual pro-
duction capacity of the business unit is up to 7.5 mil-
lion tonnes of potash and magnesium products. As 
a result of the acquisition of the Canadian company  
Potash One – today’s K+S Potash Canada GP – in 2011, 
the business unit will in future have the possibility of 
increasing the annual production capacity with the Leg-
acy Project by at least 2.86 million tonnes over the long 
term. A broad distribution network facilitates the sale 
of the products in Europe and overseas. The Potash and 

Magnesium Products business unit is predominantly 
reflected in K+S KALI GmbH, its subsidiaries and K+S 
Potash Canada GP.
/ Further information  about the Legacy Project  can 
be found on our website at k-plus-s.com/en/legacy-project

Important Products and Services
The Potash and Magnesium Products business unit offers 
its customers fertilizers, products for industrial appli
cations, high-purity potassium and magnesium salts for 
the pharmaceutical, cosmetics and food industries as 
well as intermediate products for the production of feed. 
Potassium chloride is the best-selling product group. The 
natural mineral fertilizer with universal areas of appli-
cation is used globally, in particular for important crops, 
such as cereals, corn, rice and soy beans. Potassium chlo-
ride is directly spread on fields as a granulate or mixed 
first with other straight fertilizers in bulk blenders to pro-
duce what are known as “bulk blends”. We also supply 
potassium chloride as a fine-grain “standard” product to 
the fertilizer industry, which processes it along with other 
nutrients to produce complex fertilizers. The fertilizer spe-
cialities of the business unit differ from classic potassium 
chloride either because they are chloride-free or because 
of different nutrient formulas with magnesium, sulphur 
and trace elements. 

These products are used for crops which have a greater 
need for magnesium and sulphur, such as rape or pota-
toes, as well as for chloride-sensitive special crops, such 
as citrus fruits, wine or vegetables. In addition, the busi-
ness unit offers a wide range of high-quality potassium 

and magnesium products for industrial applications, 
available in different degrees of purity and in specific 
grain sizes. These are used, for example, in chlorine-alka-
line electrolysis in the chemical industry, in the produc-
tion of glass and synthetic materials, in the mineral oil 
industry, in metallurgical processes, in the textile indus-
try, in biotechnology, in oil and gas exploration, as well 
as in the recycling of synthetic materials. Furthermore, 
the Potash and Magnesium Products business unit pro-
vides a product portfolio meeting the especially high 
demands of the pharmaceutical, cosmetics, food and 
animal feed industries. Customer orientation and spe-
cialist consulting are key elements in the range of ser-
vices offered by the business unit. A team of consultants, 
consisting of regional consultants as well as globally 
active agriculturalists, provides important information 
and suggestions for innovations regarding the use of 
plant nutrients in agriculture. Technical application con-
sulting for industrial products is available worldwide. 
/ Supplementary information  about the products 
and services of the Potash and M agnesium Prod -
ucts Business unit can be found in the Corporate/Sustainabil-
ity Report and on our website www.k-plus-s.com

Important sales regions and  
competitive positions
The business unit achieves a good half of its revenues 
in Europe. Here it benefits from the logistically favour-
able proximity of the production sites to European  
customers. In South America, particularly in Brazil,  
as well as in Asia, the business unit also holds note
worthy competitive positions.  / FIG: 4.1.2

K+S Potash Canada
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The Potash and Magnesium Products business unit 
is the world’s fifth-largest and in Western Europe the 
largest producer of potash products and, in 2013, had an 
approximately 10 % share in the global sales volume of 
potash. Important competitors are the North American 
companies PotashCorp, Mosaic and Agrium, which 
operate the joint sales organisation Canpotex, Russian 
Uralkali and Belarusian Belaruskali which acted 
together through the sales organisation BPC, Israel’s 
ICL, Jordan’s APC and Chile’s SQM. In addition to potas-
sium chloride – and in contrast to its key competitors 
– the business unit offers fertilizer specialities contain-
ing potassium, sulphur and magnesium and occupies 
the leading position worldwide in this market segment. 
With its products for industrial, technical and pharma-
ceutical applications too, K+S is among the most com-
petitive manufacturers worldwide and is by far the larg-
est supplier in Europe. 

      

Salt business unit
In the Salt business unit, the K+S Group extracts and 
markets food grade salt, industrial salt, salt for chemi-
cal use and de-icing salt. With an annual production 
capacity of about 30 million tonnes of salt, K+S is the 
world’s largest supplier of salt products. The business 
unit comprises the sub-units esco – european salt 
company GmbH & Co. KG (esco), Hanover, whose 
activities are mainly focused on Europe, Chilean K+S 
Chile S.A. (formerly Sociedad Punta de Lobos S.A. 
(SPL)), Santiago de Chile, with activities in South Amer-
ica and the United States, as well as Morton Salt, 
Inc., Chicago, one of the largest salt producers in North 
America. esco operates three rock salt mines, two 
brine plants, as well as several plants processing evap-
orated salt in Germany, France, the Netherlands, Por-

tugal and Spain, and has numerous distribution sites 
in Europe. To strengthen its market position, esco took 
over the Czech salt processing company Solné Mlýny 
A.S. (SMO), an important supplier of salt products in 
the Czech Republic and other European regions, at the 
start of 2012. The annual production capacity of esco is 
about 8.0 million tonnes of crystallised salt and 1.7 mil-
lion tonnes of salt in brine. K+S Chile extracts rock salt 
in Salar Grande de Tarapacá by means of cost-effective 
open-cast mining. In 2013, the production capacity was 
expanded to about 8 million tonnes per year. Moreover, 
Salina Diamante Branco operates a sea salt facil-
ity with an annual capacity of 0.5 million tonnes in 
the north-eastern part of Brazil. In the United States, 
K+S Chile distributes its salt products via the Inter-
national Salt Company (ISCO). Furthermore, Chil-
ean shipping company Empremar S.A., with a fleet 
of two ships of its own as well as additional chartered 
ships providing maritime logistics for the salt busi-
ness in South America, also forms part of the Salt busi-
ness unit. Morton Salt operates six rock salt mines, 
seven solar salt plants and nine plants processing 
evaporated salt in the United States, in Canada and in 
the Bahamas. The annual production capacity is about  
13 million tonnes of salt. The Salt business unit is rep-
resented in Europe as well as North America and 
South America with its own distribution units and via  
platform companies of the K+S Group. Furthermore, 
the business unit exports salt products to Asia and 
other regions of the world. 

	 Potash and Magnesium Products – Sales Volumes by Region� FIG: 4.1.2

� 2013  � 2012

in %

1 Europe 52.6 50.6

– of which Germany 14.0 14.9

2 North America 2.1 2.4

3 South America 21.5 21.3

4 Asia 20.1 21.6

5 Africa, Oceania 3.7 4.12

3

4

1

5�
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Important Products and Services
The Salt business unit offers its customers food grade 
salt, industrial salt, salt for chemical use and de-icing 
salt, which are all based on sodium chloride (com-
mon salt). Depending on the particular applications, 
the products differ primarily in terms of their grain 
size, the degree of purity, the form in which they are 
supplied and possible additives. In the food grade salt 
product segment, the K+S Group produces both salt 
for the foodstuff industry as well as food grade salt 
for end users, to which also premium products such 
as kosher salt or low-sodium salt belong. Industrial 
salts are used by dyeing works, in the textile industry, 
in the production of foodstuffs for animals, for the pre-
serving of fish, in drilling fluids used for the extraction 
of oil and natural gas, as well as in many other indus-
trial areas. Pharmaceutical salts are a key element in 
infusion and dialysis solutions. In the industrial salt 
segment too, products for end users such as water-
softening salts are manufactured. Salt for chemical 
use is one of the most important raw materials for 
the chemical industry. In electrolysis plants, it is split 
into chlorine, caustic soda and hydrogen. It reaches 
the end user in the form of, for example, a compo-
nent of various synthetics. Winter road clearance  
services, public and private road authorities, road 
maintenance depots and commercial bulk custom-
ers procure de-icing agents from the K+S Group, and 
household packages for end users round off the prod-
uct range. In addition, de-icing salts are on offer, which, 
through the addition of calcium chloride, create more 

heat when in contact with ice and snow than conven-
tional products and thus work more quickly, especially 
at very low temperatures.
/ Further information  about products, services 
and areas of application of the Salt business unit 
can be found in the Corporate/Sustainability Report.

Important sales regions and  
competitive positions
The key sales regions of the Salt business unit in Europe 
include Germany, the Benelux countries, France, Scandi-
navia, the Iberian Peninsula, the Czech Republic, Poland 
and the Baltic states, while the United States, Canada, 
Brazil, and Chile are markets of particular importance 
on the American continent. The de-icing salt business is 
strongly dependent on weather conditions. Thanks to its 
unique network of production facilities in Europe, North 
America and South America, K+S can, however, respond 

more flexibly to fluctuations in demand for de-icing salt 
than the local competitors. In the other segments, owing 
to the limited possibility for substitution in most appli-
cations, the demand situation is relatively stable. While 
the market with respect to salt is comparatively mature 
in Western Europe and only exhibits slight growth rates, 
a trend towards a stronger increase in demand is being 
observed in the emerging market countries.  / FIG: 4.1.3

esco is Europe’s leading producer of salt products for 
the food sector, salts for chemical and industrial use, and 
de-icing salts, in addition to the competitors Südsalz, 
Salins du Midi and Akzo Nobel. With K+S Chile, 
South America’s largest salt producer, the K+S Group 
has gained access to the growing South and Central 
American regions. Morton Salt is one of the largest 
salt producers in North America, together with Cargill 
and Compass.

	S alt – Sales Volumes by Region� fig: 4.1.3

� 2013  � 2012

in %

1 Europe 25.5 24.4

– of which Germany 11.1 9.1

2 North America 64.5 61.1

3 South America 7.7 11.0

4 Asia 1.6 3.4

5 Africa, Oceania 0.7 0.1

2

3
1

4, 5�
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Complementary Activities
In addition to disposal activities for underground dis-
posal and reutilisation of waste in potash and rock salt 
mines, and the salt slag and building material recy-
cling (waste management and recycling) as well as the 
granulation of animal hygiene products such as CAT-
SAN® and THOMAS®, at the Salzdetfurth site, the term 
“Complementary Activities” bundles further smaller, 
though attractive, activities for the K+S Group. K+S 
Transport GmbH, Hamburg, acts as the K+S Group’s 
own logistics service provider. Chemische Fabrik 
Kalk GmbH (CFK) trades in a greater number of basic 
chemicals.

Important Products and Services
The Waste Management and Recycling business unit 
uses the underground caverns created as a result of the 
extraction of crude salts for the long-range safe dis-
posal of waste and for waste recycling while employ-
ing the available infrastructure of active potash and 
rock salt mines. The business unit operates two under-
ground storage sites. The waste stored there is isolated 
permanently from the biosphere. Additionally, the K+S 
Group operates five underground reutilisation plants 
for waste. Officially approved waste is used here to fill 
caverns. Flue gas cleaning residues, for example, are 
suitable for underground reutilisation. The salt deposits 
used by the K+S Group for the disposal of waste and 

for waste recycling are impervious to gas and liquids 
as well as securely separated from the layers carry-
ing groundwater. A combination of geological and arti
ficial barriers thus ensures the highest possible degree 
of safety. For the secondary aluminium industry, the 
segment offers smelting salts and the recycling of salt 
slag. Building material recycling also belongs to the 
range of services.

The operation of the “Kalikai” in Hamburg, with a stor-
age capacity of about 400,000 tonnes one of Europe’s 
largest transshipment facilities for bulk goods, is K+S 
Transport GmbH’s core business and of strategic 
importance for the Potash and Magnesium Products 
business unit at the same time. The K+S Group’s con-
tainer business is also directed from Hamburg, includ-
ing pre-shipment from the production sites to the 
loading terminals. 

At the Salzdetfurth site, a way has been found to suc-
cessfully continue to use existing plants and exten-
sive sections of the infrastructure of a disused potash 
plant economically, preserving jobs and even again 
significantly expanding operations. Here we granulate, 
for example, the well-known brand products CATSAN® 
and THOMAS® for Mars GmbH. 

CFK’s product range comprises a selection of basic 
chemicals. They include caustic soda, nitric acid, 
sodium carbonate (soda) as well as calcium chloride 
and magnesium chloride. 

Important sales regions and  
competitive positions
The main area of activity for the Waste Management 
and Recycling business unit is Western and Central 
Europe. Moreover, the Eastern European countries, pri-
marily Poland, the Czech Republic and the Baltic states, 
offer growth potential as the demand for EU-compliant 
underground waste management solutions for waste 
disposal is increasing there. The market for underground 
waste disposal is very competitive, but the K+S Group 
offers specific added value for the customer with its 
full-service solutions. In the case of recycling salt slag 
from the secondary aluminium industry too, the K+S 
Group is a leading provider in Germany and in the rest 
of Europe. CFK’s customers include many well-known 
European chemical companies, glassworks, metal pro-
cessing companies, detergent producers and breweries 
as well as cities and local authorities, which use calcium 
chloride or magnesium chloride for winter road clear-
ance services.

Key Sites 

At the end of 2013, the K+S Group employed more than 
14,000 people in Germany and abroad. Figures 4.1.4 and  
4.1.5 indicate the most important K+S Group sites and 
the number of staff employed by them.  / FIG: 4.1.4, 4.1.5
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	Imp ortant Sites IN Europe� FIG: 4.1.4

 

Site
Employees 

(FTE) 1
K+S sites in Kassel, Germany  
(K+S AG/K+S KALI /K+S Entsorgung/  
K+S IT Services) H 877
Kaliverbundwerk Werra, Germany  
(Heringen/Merkers/Philippsthal/ 
Unterbreizbach) K1 2	 4,391

Zielitz potash plant, Germany K2 2	 1,823

Sigmundshall potash plant, Germany K3 2	 761

Neuhof-Ellers potash plant, Germany K4	 751
Bergmannssegen-Hugo 
potash plant, Germany K5 2 137

Bernburg salt mine, Germany S1 2	 469

Borth salt mine, Germany S2	 328

Braunschweig-Lüneburg salt mine, Germany S3	 184

esco headquarters, Hanover, Germany S4 89
Frisia Zout B.V. brine plant, 
Harlingen, The Netherlands S5 86

K+S Transport GmbH, Hamburg, Germany E1 126
Granulation of animal hygiene products,  
Bad Salzdetfurth, Germany E2 119

1	 �FTE = Full-time equivalents; part-time 
positions are weighted in accordance 
with their respective share of working 
hours; including trainees.

2	 �Site with waste management activities.

H	=	Holding
K	=	Potash and Magnesium Products
S	 =	Salt
E	 =	Complementary Activities 

	P otash and rock salt mining
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	Imp ortant Sites IN America� FIG: 4.1.5
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S28 S17
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S22+ S19

S11
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Site
Employees 

(FTE) 1
K+S Potash Canada GP (Legacy Project),  
Saskatchewan, Canada K6	 157

Morton Salt headquarters, Chicago, USA S6 232
Salina Diamante Branco sea 
salt facility, Natal, Brazil S7 231

Rittman evaporated salt facility, USA S8 225

Ojibway salt mine, Canada S9	 214

Grand Saline salt mine, USA S10	 200
K+S Chile open-cast salt mining opera-
tions, Tarapacá Desert /Patillos, Chile S11	 169

Fairport salt mine, USA S12	 156

Weeks Island salt mine, USA S13	 155

Pugwash salt mine, Canada S14	 153

Hutchinson evaporated salt facility, USA S15 152

Silver Springs evaporated salt facility, USA S16 150

Mines Seleine salt mine, Canada S17	 146

Inagua sea salt facility, Bahamas S18 145
K+S Chile headquarters, 
Santiago de Chile, Chile S19 141

Grantsville solar salt facility, USA S20 134

Manistee evaporated salt facility, USA S21 115
Empremar shipping company, 
Santiago de Chile, Chile S22 105

Windsor evaporated salt facility, Canada S23 96
ISCO distribution company, 
Clarks Summit, USA S24 80
Newark evaporated salt and 
sea salt facility, USA S25 69

Port Canaveral processing site, USA S26 52

Lindbergh brine plant, Canada S27 52
Canadian Salt headquarters, 
Montreal, Canada S28 38

Glendale evaporated salt facility, USA S29 31

��1	 ��FTE = Full-time equivalents; part-time 
positions are weighted in accordance 
with their respective share of working 
hours; including trainees.

K	=	Potash and Magnesium Products
S	 =	Salt

	P otash and rock salt mining
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Management and Control

Declaration on corporate governance
The Declaration on Corporate Governance in accordance 
with Sec. 289a of the German Commercial Code (Han-
delsgesetzbuch – HGB) is shown in the ‘Corporate Gov-
ernance’ section on page 25. It forms an integral part of 
the combined Management Report of K+S Aktienge-
sellschaft and the K+S Group. With this declaration, 
the Board of Executive Directors and the Supervisory Board 
also provide a report in accordance with Item 3.10 of the 
German Corporate Governance Code. It includes the dec-
laration pursuant to Sec. 161 of the German Stock Corpora-
tion Act (AktG), the description of how the Board of Execu-
tive Directors and the Supervisory Board function, as well 
as the composition and procedures of the committees and 
further information regarding corporate governance.

Basic Features of the Remuneration System
The information to be disclosed in accordance with Sec. 289 
Para. 2 No. 5 and Sec. 315 Para. 2 No. 4 of the German Com-
mercial Code (HGB) and Items 4.2.4, 4.2.5 and 5.4.6 Para. 3 
of the German Corporate Governance Code is contained 
in the Remuneration Report of the ‘Corporate Governance’ 
section on page 25; the Remuneration Report constitutes 
an integral part of the combined Management Report of 
K+S Aktiengesellschaft and the K+S Group.

Legal Influencing Factors 

/ Information  on risks arising from changes in 
legal frame  work conditions  can be found in the Risk 
Report on page 101.

Information pursuant to Sec. 289 
Para. 4 and Sec. 315 Para. 4 of the Ger-
man Commercial Code (HGB) as well  
as explanatory report of the Board 
of Executive Directors in accordance 
with Sec. 176 Para. 1 Sent. 1 of the Ger-
man Stock Corporation Act (AktG)

Item 1: Composition of Subscribed Capital
The share capital amounts to € 191,400,000 and is di- 
vided into 191,400,000 shares. The bearer shares of the 
Company are no-par value shares. There are no other 
classes of shares.

Item 2: Restrictions on Voting Rights  
or on the Transfer of Shares
Each share carries one vote; no restrictions apply to vot-
ing rights or to the transfer of shares. No correspond-
ing shareholder agreements are known to the Board of 
Executive Directors.

Item 3: Direct or Indirect Interests in  
the Capital Exceeding 10 %
No direct or indirect interests in the share capital 
exceeding 10 % were reported to us.

Item 4: Holders of Shares with Special 
Rights Conferring Control Powers
There are no shares with special rights conferring  
control powers.

Item 5: Voting Right Control in the Event 
of Employee Ownership of Capital
No voting right controls apply.

Item 6: Statutory Regulations and  
Provisions of the Articles of Association 
Concerning the Appointment and Dis-
missal of Members of the Board of Execu-
tive Directors and Amendments to the 
Articles of Association

The appointment and dismissal of the Board of Exec-
utive Directors are governed by Sec. 84 AktG. Accord-
ingly, the members of the Board of Executive Directors 
are appointed by the Supervisory Board for a maxi-
mum term of five years. In accordance with Art. 5 of the 
Articles of Association, the Board of Executive Direc-
tors of K+S Aktiengesellschaft comprises at least 
two members. The number of members is determined 
by the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board can 
appoint a member of the Board of Executive Direc-
tors chairman of the Board of Executive Directors. The 
Supervisory Board can rescind the appointment of 
a member of the Board of Executive Directors or the 
appointment of the chairman of the Board of Execu-
tive Directors for important reasons.

Amendments to the Articles of Association can be 
resolved by the Annual General Meeting by a simple 
majority of the share capital represented (Sec. 179 Para. 2 
AktG in conjunction with Art. 17 Para. 2 of the Articles of 
Association) unless statutory provisions impose larger 
majority requirements. 
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Item 7: Board of Executive Directors’ 
Authorisations Concerning the Possibil-
ity of Issuing or Buying Back Shares
The Board of Executive Directors is authorised to acquire 
own shares representing no more than 10 % of the no-
par value shares comprising the share capital of K+S 
Aktiengesellschaft until 10 May 2015. At no time may 
the Company hold more than 10 % of the total number 
of no-par value shares comprising its share capital. Pur-
chases may be made on a stock exchange or by means 
of a public purchase offer directed to all shareholders. In 
the event of a purchase effected on a stock exchange, the 
purchase price paid per share must not exceed or under-
cut the relevant stock exchange price by more than 10 %, 
being the price of the K+S share in the XETRA com-
puterised trading system determined by the opening  
auction on the day of purchase of the shares. In the 
event of a purchase effected by means of a public pur-
chase offer directed to all shareholders, the purchase 
price offered per share must not exceed or undercut the 
relevant stock exchange price by more than 10 %, being 
the weighted average exchange price of the K+S share 
in the XETRA computerised trading system during the 
last ten exchange trading days preceding the publica-
tion of the purchase offer. 

The Board of Executive Directors is furthermore 
authorised, with the approval of the Supervisory 
Board, to dispose of shares in the Company which were 
acquired on the basis of an authorisation in accordance 
with Sec. 71 Para. 1 No. 8 AktG on a stock exchange or 
by means of a public offer directed to all shareholders. 

In the following cases, the shares may be disposed of 
by other means and thus with the subscription rights 
of the shareholders excluded: 

++ Disposal against consideration comprising payment 
of a cash sum that does not significantly undercut the 
relevant stock exchange price; 

++ Issuance of shares as consideration for the purpose 
of acquiring companies, parts of companies or inter-
ests in companies;

++ Servicing of convertible bonds and bonds with 
warrants, which have been issued on the basis of 
authorisation granted by the Annual General Meet-
ing. Currently, such an authorisation does not exist. 

The authorisation to exclude subscription rights applies 
in respect of all shares representing a proportionate 
amount of the share capital that is not greater than 10 % 
of the share capital at the time of the adoption of the 
resolution or at the time of exercising the authorisation, 
depending on when the amount of the share capital is 
the smaller amount. The maximum limit of 10 % of the 
share capital is reduced by the proportionate amount 
of the share capital corresponding to those shares that 
are issued in connection with a capital increase from 
authorised capital or from conditional capital excluding 
subscription rights while this authorisation is in effect. 

The Board of Executive Directors is finally authorised, with 
the approval of the Supervisory Board, to cancel shares in 
the Company which were acquired on the basis of an 
authorisation in accordance with Sec. 71 Para. 1 No. 8 AktG 
and with no additional resolution of the Annual General 

Meeting being required to effect such cancellation. The 
shares have to be cancelled in accordance with Sec. 237 
Para. 3 No. 3 AktG without a capital decrease in such a 
way that, as a result of the cancellation, the proportion of 
the remaining no-par value shares in the share capital is 
increased pursuant to Sec. 8 Para. 3 AktG. 

The authorisations to purchase own shares as well as to 
dispose of and cancel them may be exercised in whole 
or in part each time and several times in the latter case.

The authorisation granted by the Annual General Meet-
ing to the Board of Executive Directors to purchase own 
shares of the Company to a limited extent is a common 
instrument available in many companies. By being able 
to resell own shares, the Company is placed in a position 
to, for example, gain long-term investors in Germany 
and abroad or to finance acquisitions flexibly. The con-
tinued possibility of cancelling own shares is also a com-
mon alternative the use of which lies in the interest of 
the Company and its shareholders. 

Item 8: Significant Agreements That  
Apply in the Event of a Change of Control 
Resulting from a Takeover Bid
In 2013, K+S concluded a syndicated credit line for € 1 bil-
lion. All bank advances made within the framework of the 
credit line will become due and payable immediately and 
the entire credit line will become redeemable in accord-
ance with the conditions set out in this agreement if one 
person acting alone or more persons acting in concert 
acquire control over K+S Aktiengesellschaft. In the 
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case of the four bonds issued by K+S Aktiengesell
schaft in 2009, 2012 and 2013 too, the bond holders, in 
the event of a change of control, have the right to termi-
nate debentures that have not yet been redeemed.

The provisions that credit agreements and bond con-
ditions contain for the event of a change of control are 
customary and reasonable from the perspective of pro-
tecting the legitimate interests of the creditors. 

Item 9: Agreements Concluded with the 
Board of Executive Directors or Employees 
Concerning Compensation in the Event  
of a Takeover Bid
Agreements of this type exist with the members of the 
Board of Executive Directors of K+S Aktiengesell
schaft and are explained in detail in the Remunera-
tion Report on page 34. The stock option programme 
for the Board of Executive Directors and for senior man-
agement, granted for the last time in 2009, provides for 
the opening of a special time window for the exercise 
of all still outstanding options in the event of a change 
of control. The exact form of this programme, which is 
identical for the Board of Executive Directors and for 
senior management, is also explained in the Remunera-
tion Report (see page 34). The programme with a long-
term incentive character (LTI), introduced in 2010 for 
the Board of Executive Directors and for senior manage-
ment, includes no compensation agreements. 

The existing compensation agreements with the mem-
bers of the Board of Executive Directors and the special 

time window of exercise governed by the stock option 
programme for the Board of Executive Directors and for 
senior management in the event of a takeover bid, which 
was granted for the last time in 2009, take into appropri-
ate consideration both the legitimate interests of those 
concerned and of the Company and its shareholders.

4.2  Corporate  Strateg y

Vision and Mission

Our vision and mission provide the framework for our 
operations and for the strategic orientation of the Group 
and are to explain and better convey the basis for our 
thinking and actions to our employees, shareholders, 
lenders, customers, suppliers and the public.
/ Our vision  can be found on page 11 of this Financial Report, 
while further information is also available in the Corporate/Sustain-
ability Report.

Growth strategy 

We consistently pursue our two-pillar strategy. With 
the purchase of Potash One and Morton Salt as well 
as the divestment of COMPO and K+S Nitrogen, we 
have focussed our management resources and financial 
means on the Potash and Magnesium Products as well 
as Salt business units over the past few years. Our goal 
is to continue growing in both pillars. The components 

of the K+S growth strategy are shown in figure 4.2.1 and 
subsequently discussed. The sustainable growth of the 
enterprise value in the form of a premium on the cost 
of capital before taxes of at least 15 % is central to our 
financial objectives.  / FIG: 4.2.1 

/ Further information  about discontinued opera -
tions  can be found on page 134 of the Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Differentiation and Sustainable Margin 
Growth through Specialisation
The K+S Group aims to consolidate and expand mar-
ket positions in its strategic business units, in particular 
through marketing its diverse speciality products. The 
refinement strategy makes it possible to achieve higher 
margins in the Potash and Magnesium Products and 
Salt business units and a business that is more resilient 
to market fluctuations. 
/ Detailed information regarding our market posi-
tion can be found in the ‘Organisational Structure’ section on page 46.

Increasing efficiency and  
exploiting synergies
With regard to the competitiveness of the Potash and 
Magnesium Products and Salt business units, the cost 
position is a key success factor. Our focus in this regard 
is on the consistent pursuit of cost-cutting and flexibi-
lisation initiatives throughout the process chains. For 
this reason, 2013 saw us launch the “Fit for the Future” 
programme, which is to make a lasting contribution to 
improving our cost and organisational structures. Our 
goal is to achieve cost savings of the order of € 500 mil-
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lion in total by 2016 on the current budget for the period 
in question. K+S expects to reduce costs by a good € 150 
million in 2014. In this regard, the optimisation of the 
international production network as well as the associ-
ated volume flows and logistics costs will play an impor-
tant role. The broadly comparable mining processes 
make the realisation of synergies between the Potash 
and Magnesium Products and Salt business units possi-
ble in the exchange of technical, geological and logistics 
know-how as well as economies of scale in the procure-
ment of machines and auxiliary materials.

Expansion of a balanced regional 
portfolio
Worldwide, both potash and salt markets are character-
ised by seasonal and regional fluctuations in demand. 
The strategy of the K+S Group is aimed at a balanced 
regional portfolio, which makes a balance of weather-
related fluctuations and a cushioning of cyclical market 
trends possible. 

Setting standards for quality,  
reliability and service
The goal of the K+S Group is to be its customers’ pre-
ferred partner in the market. High product quality and 
consistent customer orientation are decisive precondi-
tions for this. In addition to the specialisation strategy, 
better and innovative services are promoted. Individual 
advice to customers makes it possible to identify needs-
based solutions. 

Strategic Direction of the Business Units
With the Potash and Magnesium Products and Salt 
business units, the K+S Group has two complemen-
tary areas, linked by synergies in many parts of the 
value added chain, with attractive growth prospects 
at its disposal. 

In addition to organic growth, we also strive to achieve 
growth via acquisitions and cooperations in the estab-
lished business units.

Potash and Magnesium Products
The Potash and Magnesium Products business unit 
is seeking to attain a balanced market presence in 
the important agricultural regions of Europe, South 
America and Asia to facilitate the levelling out of sea-
sonal differences as well as to reduce cyclical regional 
demand effects. Expanding the market presence in 
important overseas regions and tapping into new 
attractive sales areas in future growth regions will 
therefore be pursued further.

An important contribution to this will be made by the 
Legacy Project in Canada. We expect commissioning 
in the summer of 2016. After that, the annual produc-
tion capacity is to be gradually expanded to 2.86 million 
tonnes in 2023. Until then, 1,500 temporary and more 
than 300 permanent jobs for potash production will be 
created during the construction phase. The Legacy Pro-
ject will supplement the existing German production 
network of K+S with an important North American site.

Optimising our production structures is a further 
key focus. We want to make the best possible of the 
resources available to us. With our “package of measures 
on water protection”, our goal is to reduce the occur-
rence of saline waste water in comparison to 2006 by 
about 50 % to 7 million m³ by the end of 2015 through 
changes in the production processes and through new 
process technology too. 

The strategic fields of action arising for the future of the 
Potash and Magnesium Products business unit are as 
shown in figure 4.2.2.  / FIG: 4.2.2 

Salt
The Salt business unit particularly aims to achieve further 
growth in selected regions and product segments. At the 
same time, the efficiency of existing structures will be 
constantly optimised by means of continuous improve-
ment. With the purchase of the Czech salt processing com-
pany Solné Mlýny a.s. (SMO) in 2012, our subsidiary esco 
came an important step closer towards realising its goal of 

	 components of the  
	 K+S growth strategy� FIG: 4.2.1

Differentiation and 
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Expansion of Strategic 
Business Units through 
Acquisitions and Cooperations

Expansion of a 
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Portfolio
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for Quality, Reliability 
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Increasing 
Efficiency and 
Exploiting 
Synergies
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expanding its market position in Eastern Europe. After its 
successful integration, the further expansion of business 
in the growth regions of Eastern Europe will be contin-

ued. In the important de-icing salt product segment, sales 
volumes are to be increased over the coming five years.

In addition, the Salt business unit aims to advance its 
expansion into Asia. As well as growing deliveries of salt 
for chemical industry application, Morton Salt is to 
be established there in selected regions and segments. 
By means of on-site personnel, not only is the strate-
gic goal of increasing sales volumes and strengthening 
customer loyalty to be achieved in the product and cus-
tomer segments already served, but new segments are 
also to be tapped into. 

In the region of North America, the expansion of the 
chemical industry salt business is a strategic focal point. 
As a result of lower energy prices, the local chlorine-alka-
line industry is growing. Morton Salt’s aim is to par-
take of this development to a particular degree on the 
basis of its extensive production network. 

In Latin America, the Salt business unit intends to 
launch the very successful Chilean retail brands Lobos 
and Biosal in Peru within the next two years.

For the Salt business unit, we see the strategic fields of 
action for the future as shown in figure 4.2.3.  / FIG: 4.2.3

Strategy for dealing with  
sustainability issues
As a commodities company, we must think and act 
in long terms. For us, sustainable development means 
future viability. We will only be economically success-
ful in the long term if, in our corporate actions, which 
are aimed at achieving sustainable economic success, 

	S trategy salt� FIG: 4.2.3
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Optimisation of 
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international network

	S trategy potash and magnesium products� FIG: 4.2.2

	 Strategic Focus
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+ 	� Global development of new low-cost 
production possibilities

+ 	 Development of new sales regions
+ 	E xpansion of existing high-margin product segments

Optimisation of 
Market Approaches

+ 	� Focus on selected high-margin regions and customers
+ 	� Focus on high-margin niches through differentiated 

marketing concepts
+ 	C ooperations in high-growth regions

Optimisation of Current 
Production Structures

+ 	�O ptimal resource utilisation by constantly 	
optimising the existing production system
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we also take ecological and social aspects into consid-
eration appropriately. An early and systematic identi-
fication and evaluation of these issues as well as social 
trends and their inclusion in our management processes 
help us to boost our current business, seize new busi-
ness opportunities and minimise risks.

Strategic Group Structure 
As regards the shaping of the Group structure in terms 
of company law, the optimisation of Group financing 
and tax optimisation are the main focuses. 

Strategic Financing Measures
Essentially, we pursue the following goals with our 
financial measures: 

++ Ensuring solvency at all times
++ Ensuring a balanced capital structure
++ Limiting refinancing risks through diversification of 

the financing sources and instruments as well as the 
maturity profile 

++ Cost optimisation through capital procurement on 
sustainably favourable terms

/ Information  about the goals of financial manage -
ment  can be found in the ‘Financial Position’ section on page 81.

As part of these objectives, we renewed the existing syn-
dicated credit line in financial year 2013. The new credit 
line in the amount of € 1 billion runs until June 2018 
and can be extended twice until June 2020 by one year 
each time. In addition, a corporate bond with a matu-
rity of ten years (issue volume: € 500 million; interest 

coupon: 3.0 % p. a.) was already issued in 2012. At the 
end of 2013, we placed a further two bonds with matur-
ities of five years (issue volume: € 500 million; interest 
coupon: 3.125 % p. a.) and eight years (issue volume: € 
500 million; interest coupon: 4.125 % p. a.). These meas-
ures, the other liquidity and future cash flows serve the 
repayment of the corporate bond due in September 2014 
(issue volume: € 750 million; interest coupon: 5.0 % p.a.), 
the financing of the Legacy Project in Canada as well as 
general corporate purposes. 

Liquidity is managed by the central treasury depart-
ment. We strive for a constant liquidity reserve for the 
K+S Group of at least € 300 million. With investments, 
we pursue the goal of optimising the income earned 
from liquid funds at low risk.
/ Information  about future financing measures  can 
be found in the Forecast Report on page 114. 

4.3  Enterprise M anagement 
and Supervision 

The internal control system (ICS) of the K+S Group is 
the chief instrument for the Board of Executive Direc-
tors to exercise its managerial responsibility and its 
oversight duty. The ICS includes principles, regulations, 
measures and procedures, which are oriented towards 
the organisational preparation and implementation of 
management decisions. It serves in particular: 

++ the achievement of established corporate goals;

++ to secure the effectiveness and economic efficiency 
of business operations;

++ the adequacy and reliability of internal and external 
accounting procedures;

++ the purpose of compliance with laws, internal regula-
tions and instructions of the management;

++ the promotion of correct, economic, purposeful and 
effective processes, and

++ to secure assets against fraud, waste, abuse and  
mismanagement. 

The ICS of the K+S Group consists of the components 
“internal management system” and “internal monitor-
ing system”. The continuous monitoring of the effec-
tiveness of the systems established across the Group 
constitutes a key element of the ICS.  / FIG: 4.3.1

	T he INTERNAL CONTROL system  
	 of the K+S Group� fig: 4.3.1
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Internal control system of  
the K+S Group

Control of the K+S Group is exercised through regu-
lar discussions between the Board of Executive Direc-
tors and the Company’s departments. Meetings of the 
Board of Executive Directors take place on a regular 
basis every two or three weeks. The internal control 
system covers all areas of the Company. Thus, short 
response times to changes in all areas and on all deci-
sion-making levels of the K+S Group can be guaran-
teed. In the event of significant changes of relevance 
to earnings, this is immediately reported to the man-
agement and the Board of Executive Directors.

Vision, mission, strategy and goals  
as the starting point for the management 
of the Group as a whole
The starting point for the management of the Group 
as a whole or the Company’s departments are the tar-
gets determined by the Board of Executive Directors, 
which are derived from the vision, mission and overall 
strategy of the K+S Group. 

Controlling Tools 
The following controlling tools are available to the man-
agement:

Rolling Forecasts
For the current financial year and the two subsequent 
years, a generally monthly rolling forecast of earnings 
and liquidity is established, which can be accessed by 
authorised employees via an internal electronic portal.

Monthly Reporting
The corporate departments report on a monthly basis 
on current developments and variances with respect 
to output, sales, revenues, personnel, capital expendi-
ture as well as other financial indicators. This informa-
tion is also available via the above-mentioned portal. 
Furthermore, operational early indicators are continu-
ously analysed. For instance, the price development of 
futures for agricultural raw materials permits a rough 
estimate of the earnings prospects of the agricultural 
sector and provides, among other things, indications of 
the demand for potash and magnesium products, the 
sales volume and the possible capacity utilisation. In 
the Salt business unit, the tendering process for de-icing 
salts provides an indication of the development of mar-
ket shares and prices. Across the Group, the develop-
ment of gas and oil prices is an important indicator of 
how energy costs could develop in future, and the devel-
opment of freight costs on the transport routes relevant 
to us is an early indicator of future freight costs and of 
our regional portfolio.

Quarterly Management Dialogue
A so-called management dialogue takes place every 
quarter between the Board of Executive Directors and 

the heads of the Potash and Magnesium Products and 
Salt business units as well as other units. At each meet-
ing, an overview of the respective current market situ-
ation and a rolling forecast is given. Furthermore, dur-
ing the course of the year, key issues such as the defini-
tion of the strategy and its systematic implementation 
within annual and medium-term planning and the set-
ting of goals and their achievement are discussed.

Bodies/Committees
To support the management, cross-business-unit com-
mittees regularly examine topics concerning, among 
others, personnel, compliance and information technol-
ogy. Special committees have been established to review 
and assess capital expenditure projects and acquisi-
tions/divestments. Special committees in the area of 
procurement, so-called procurement councils, support 
the Group-wide transfer of approved methods as well as 
the use of synergies between the regionally already very 
well established procurement departments. In addition, 
a sustainability committee systematically monitors 
issues of relevance to sustainability in order to identify 
social, ecological and also economic trends early on and 
to prepare recommendations for their inclusion in the 
management processes.

Non-financial Performance Indicators and 
Financial Performance Indicators
In addition to the financial performance indicators 
described below, the non-financial performance indica-
tors, which are relevant for our economic position, are 
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described on page 60 in the ‘Important Non-financial 
Performance Indicators’ section. 

For the financial performance indicators, our focus is on 
the continuous monitoring and optimisation of the fol-
lowing variables:

++ EBITDA and operating earnings EBIT I
++ Capital expenditure
++ Free cash flow
++ Return on capital employed (ROCE)
++ Adjusted Group earnings after taxes

/ Definitions of the indicators used here  can be found 
on page 180.

The management of the activities of our operating 
units is exercised on the basis of the aforementioned 
performance indicators, with particular importance 
attributed to EBITDA and EBIT I, as these are, in our 
opinion, the appropriate variables for assessing earn-
ings capacity. EBITDA also forms the basis for deter-
mining the level of Group indebtedness, which, among 
other things, is a target variable of the capital struc-
ture. Further key figures for the management of the 
capital structure, its target figures and its actually 
achieved values can be found on page 74. The capital 
expenditure is also an important management var-
iable both at the operating unit and Group level to 
achieve a targeted allocation of our financial resources. 
In considering cash flow figures, the free cash flow is 
of particular relevance due to the high capital expendi-
ture over the coming years.

/ The comparison of the actual and forecast 
course of business  on page 74 includes the key indicators  
EBIT I, EBITDA and adjusted Group earnings after taxes. 

To monitor this financial objective, we use the perfor-
mance indicator ‘Return on capital employed (ROCE)’ 
and, with the aid of the weighted average cost of capital 
rate before taxes, derive the value added. We also con-
tinually monitor the key figure of ‘adjusted Group earn-
ings after taxes’, the basis for the dividend proposals. 
/ A presentation and description of the development 
of earnings figures in the l ast five years  can be found 
in the ‘Earnings Position’ section on page 81 and that of cash flow and 
capital expenditure in the Financial Position section on page 85. 

Compliance
It is self-evident that compliance is the fundamental 
attitude for all activities of the K+S Group. The compli-
ance system is oriented towards ensuring that behav-
iour conforms to the rules. 
/ Further information  about the subject of  
compliance  can be found in the ‘Corporate Governance’ section 
on page 25.

Risk Management
The main task of risk management is to identify, eval-
uate, manage and communicate risks. The identified 
risks form the basis from which management meas-
ures are derived. 
/ Further information  on the risk management  
system  can be found in the Risk Report on page 94.

Opportunity management
The principal task of opportunity management is to 
identify, evaluate, manage and communicate oppor-
tunities. 
/ Further information  on the opportunit y manage -
ment system  can be found in the Opportunity Report on page 109.

Internal Monitoring System of  
the K+S Group

The internal monitoring system is intended to ensure 
attainment of the planned corporate goals and com-
pliance with the rules of the internal control system. It 
consists of process-integrated as well as process-inde-
pendent monitoring measures. 

Process-integrated Monitoring Measures
Process-integrated monitoring measures are used to 
manage operational risks. These include loss risks, which 
have their origin in inappropriate or incorrect internal 
processes, actions or systems. Their identification, eval-
uation and control are key aspects of the process-inte-
grated monitoring measures. When designing processes, 
risks for the achievement of process goals must always 
be analysed and corresponding controls established. 
Controls should reveal the probability of errors occurring 
in work processes and errors that have actually occurred. 
Thus, upstream controls comprise measures intended to 
prevent errors. These measures are integrated into both 
our structural and procedural organisation. Downstream 
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controls are used to identify errors that have already 
occurred early on, in order to intervene in a corrective 
way and thus to ensure correct process management.

Process-independent Monitoring Measures
Process-independent monitoring measures are neither 
integrated into the work process nor are they respon-
sible for the result of the monitored process. In the 
K+S Group, they are carried out by the internal audit 
department. The annual assessment of the operational 
functionality of the ICS is supported by the results of 
audits performed. 

4.4  Important non-financial 
performance  indicators 

In keeping with our “Core Values and Principles”, our 
actions are oriented towards achieving sustainable eco-
nomic success while taking account of the associated 
social and ecological aspects. We are convinced that 
sustainable corporate management pays off: It opens 
up opportunities, avoids risks and makes an important 
contribution to the successful further development of 
the Company.
/ More information   can be found at www.k-plus-s.com/en/
vision-und-werte/grundwerte.html

A cross-business-unit and interdisciplinary sustainabil-
ity committee meets regularly and is dedicated to the 
early, systematic identification and prioritisation of sus-
tainability matters and initiatives. Many aspects of sus-
tainability at K+S are integrated into the core business 
across business units and departments. As part of our 
sustainability management, we draw up recommen-
dations and decision papers for the Board of Executive 
Directors. Basing on the approaches developed in previ-
ous years, the Board of Executive Directors resolved the 
adoption of a sustainability road map in July 2013. The 
road map is a concrete action plan for the Company and 
defines, in nine consecutive steps, how material issues 
under our sustainability strategy are identified and eval-
uated in a systematic process. Sustainability at K+S is 
understood as a management task. We will continue 
along the road we have started out on, and so 2014 will 
see new processes defined and implemented and group 
wide management supported.
/ Our sustainabilit y reporting is based on the Global 
Reporting Initiative (GRI). Further information can be 
found in our Corporate/Sustainability Report.

Below, we will look at three of the issues that are 
described in depth in our Corporate/Sustainability 
Report:

++ Employees
++ Water and water protection
++ Energy efficiency and climate protection

Employees 

Key areas of personnel management 
Due to the expansion of our business in North and 
South America, we have become more international. 
Consequently, other corporate cultures and modes of 
thinking have enriched the Company. The task of our 
personnel management was and is to accompany this 
change process and to further integration. We are cur-
rently developing an integrated personnel management 
system to also support our employees group wide and 
to deploy them in the best possible manner. 

Alongside these global objectives, individual companies 
belonging to our Group also have regional focal points. 
In Germany, for example, the focus is on recruiting 
new employees in good time because of demographic 
change. The central challenge for K+S Potash Canada 
is to recruit and train employees for the upcoming, spe-
cific challenges posed by the Legacy Project.  / tab: 4.4.1

Number of employees stable 
The number of K+S Group employees reported includes 
the core workforce, trainees and temporary employees 
(without students and interns). The number of employ-
ees is computed on a full-time equivalent (FTE) basis, 
i. e., part-time positions are weighted in accordance with 
their respective share of working hours. 
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As of 31 December 2013, the K+S Group employed a total 
of 14,421 employees (FTE). Compared with 31 December 
2012 (14,362 FTE), the number thus remained roughly 
the same. In the Potash and Magnesium Products busi-
ness unit, there was a slight increase in the number of 
employees in order to maintain the volume of crude 
salt extracted, for intensifying activities in the area of 
environmental protection as well as for the Legacy Pro-
ject in Canada. 

In terms of averages, the picture was a similar one: In 
the year under review, an average of 14,348 people were 
employed at K+S (2012: 14,336).

As a result of the increasing internationalisation of the 
K+S Group, in the meantime, 30 % of employees are 
located outside Germany and more than a quarter out-
side Europe.  / FIG: 4.4.1

Diversity and equality of opportunity 
The diversity of our employees is a factor in our com-
mercial success. We respect internationally recognised 
human rights and act in accordance with the laws of 
the countries in which we operate. We reject all forms 
of child and forced labour. The granting of equality of 
opportunity and the rejection of all forms of discrimi-
nation are self-evident for us. We have laid this down in 
our Core Values and Principles. 

Proportion of women in management 
positions
In 2011, K+S signed up to a voluntary commitment on 
the part of the 30 DAX-listed companies to increase the 
proportion of women in management positions. We set 
ourselves the goal of increasing the number of female 
managers in Germany by about 30 % by 2020. The pro-
portion of women in management positions would 
then be around 10 % and correspond to the proportion 
of women in the total workforce of K+S in Germany. 

However, we do not consider a ratio to be the meas-
ure of all things. In principal, we fill vacancies with 
the most suitable candidates. A strictly gender-neutral 
recruitment, selection and appointment process is a 
matter of course for K+S.

In 2013, the proportion of female employees in the 
K+S Group was 11.7 % (2012: 11.7 %), in Germany 9.1 % 
(2012: 8.9 %) and at administrative sites on average 
37.9 % (2012: 40.4 %). The proportion of female manag-

	Emp loyees by unit 1� TAB: 4.4.1

� 2013  � 2012  � %

in full-time Equivalents (FTE) as of 31 December 2

Potash and Magnesium Products business unit 8,367 8,310 + 0.7

Salt business unit 5,091 5,092 — 

Complementary Activities 293 293 — 

Departments of K+S Aktiengesellschaft 670 667 + 0.5
K+S Group 14,421 14,362 + 0.4

1	 Information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group. 
2	FTE: Full-time equivalents; part-time positions are weighted in accordance with their respective share of working hours.

	Emp loyees by region� fig: 4.4.1

� 2013  � 2012

in %

1 Germany 70 70

2 Rest of Europe 3 3

3 North America 21 21

4 South America 6 6

3

4

2
1
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Parenting absence and promotion  
of reintegration
We support our employees with family-friendly meas-
ures. These include individual part-time working mod-
els, additional release periods possible for cases when 
employees have to provide urgently needed care, 
advanced education available to employees during par-
enting absences and, last but not least, our own chil-
dren’s day-care facility at the Kassel site.

Training 
For K+S, vocational training is an important investment 
in the future. Our training activities are also a commit-
ment to Germany as a location, which, as a competitive 
industrial base, needs new generations of well-trained 
specialists. As of 31 December 2013, 602 (2012 : 607) young 
people at 11 sites prepared themselves to start their 
careers in 17 training professions at K+S in Germany, of 
whom 167 trainees were taken on in 2013 (2012: 177). At 
the end of the year, the training ratio was, at 5.9 %, at the 
high level of the previous year. In total, we have invested 
€ 14.7 million in training (2012: € 15.3 million). 

Personnel development
Our goal is to develop and use the potential of our 
employees in the best possible manner. We want to 
fill specialist and managerial positions primarily from 
within our own ranks and thus to enable our employ-
ees to have long-term and attractive careers. To ensure 
group wide succession planning in Germany and abroad 

ers across the Group was 13.0 % (2012: 11.3 %) and in Ger-
many 11.2 % (2012: 10.0 %). Thus, with respect to the vol-
untary commitment, we are on track. 

Age structure and turnover
At present, the average age of our employees is 42 years. 
There are significant differences internationally. While 
K+S Chile has a relatively young workforce – average 
age: 39 – the employees of Morton Salt have an aver-
age age of 48. For esco, the average age is 42, and for 
K+S KALI, 41.

On average, our employees are employed by us for 16 
years. The turnover rate – i. e., the ratio of departures 
to the average staff level – is 4.3 %. These figures docu-
ment the high level of loyalty of our employees towards 
the Company.

Promoting integration
In 2013, severely handicapped employees accounted for 
7.0 % of the workforce in Germany (2012: 7.5 %). We are 
thus significantly above the German national average. 
In close cooperation with the authorities and our repre-
sentatives for severely handicapped persons, we reserve 
workplaces adapted for handicapped persons, thus fos-
tering the integration of these employees. In total twelve 
persons in a position of trust represent the interests of 
severely handicapped employees at the German sites.

across all business units, we initiate the measures nec-
essary to achieve this in good time. 

By seconding employees to Group companies in other 
countries, we promote collaboration as well as the trans-
fer of knowledge within the K+S Group and strengthen 
the specialist and intercultural skills of our employees. 

Since 2009, we have gradually been expanding our grad-
uate trainee programmes and by now offer around 25 
places per year, primarily in the technical area. Last year, 
we launched an international trainee programme that 
systematically prepares employees at sites in Germany, 
Chile and the United States for responsible tasks in our 
international Group. 

Further training and advanced education
We provide selected employees from the technical and 
mining areas of our German companies with further 
training at the Technical College for Economy and Tech-
nology in Clausthal-Zellerfeld (Fachschule für Wirtschaft 
und Technik – FWT) in order to become a technician 
or gain a more advanced qualification bringing with 
it the prospect of a management career. At present, 
60 employees are completing their two-year technical 
training, and 13 employees are qualifying as engineers.

Moreover, we award grants to our employees for full-
time bachelor’s or master’s studies. These employees 
can complete the necessary internships or working stu-
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dent activities at our sites. They continue to belong to 
the Company throughout their studies. The number of 
grants is based on the needs of the Company. At present, 
19 employees are participating in “K+S StudiumPlus”.

Our companies in the United States, in Canada and Chile 
reimburse, in full or in part, the tuition fees of employ-
ees, with whom it has been agreed that the training 
being received by them at a university recognised by 
the Company is relevant to their profession.

In addition to advanced education measures that are 
required by law, the K+S Group also offers specialised, 
interdisciplinary, IT and language training as well as 
special seminars for managers. Employees receive direct 
support for new and complex tasks by means of accom-
panying training measures. In the annual or employee 
interviews, employees and their supervisors jointly 
determine possible advanced education requirements.

In 2013, our employees completed a total of 7,540 ad- 
vanced education measures (2012: 8,646). Thus, the aver-
age number of training hours per year and employee 
was 10.4 hours. 

Expenditure on personnel development in Germany 
totalled about € 13.1 million and thus fell by 12 % (2012: 
€ 14.9 million). Of this, € 9.3 million was attributable to 
advanced education measures (2012: € 11.2 million) and € 
3.4 million to further training measures (2012: € 3.4 mil-

lion). We spent € 0.3 million (2012: € 0.3 million) on per-
sonnel marketing. Morton Salt invested € 1.8 million 
in personnel development, K+S Potash Canada € 0.16 
million, and K+S Chile € 0.3 million.

Personnel expenses 
In 2013, the personnel expenses of the K+S Group were 
€ 968.2 million and, thus, slightly below the level of the 
previous year (2012: € 986.2 million). While expenditure 
arising from pay settlements under collective bargain-
ing agreements rose and personnel expenses increased 
due to a higher average number of employees, costs 
declined as a result of exchange rate factors and accru-
als for performance-related remuneration fell. Without 
provision effects, pure personnel costs rose in compar-
ison with the previous year for the same reasons by 
€ 19.9 million or 2 % to € 974.3 million. In the previous 
year, the share of variable remuneration in personnel 
expenses was € 40.1 million or about 4 % (2012: € 71.4 
million or about 7 %). 

In 2013, expenditure on wages and salaries totalled € 
738.6 million ((2)%) and expenses for social security 
contributions € 200.3 million ((2)%). Our expenditure on 
company pensions amounted to € 29.3 million in the 
year under review and was thus € 0.1 million above the 
level of the previous year. 

During the year under review, personnel expenses per 
employee amounted to € 67,483 (previous year: € 68,492) 

and thus fell by a good 1 %. This is attributable in particu-
lar to lower variable remuneration. 

Work safety 
Our goal is to ensure the greatest possible degree of 
occupational safety for our employees. Protecting our 
employees from possible dangers is always a priority. All 
K+S companies have drawn up occupational safety pro-
grammes in line with their site-specific challenges and 
in compliance with local legislation. Our internal rules 
and regulations are currently being reviewed to make 
our group-wide processes more uniform. We review 
the effectiveness of our occupational safety measures 
by means of internal audits. Corrective measures such 
as training or repairs are derived from any deviations 
from standards and documented. Our audit procedure 
is based on “Guidelines for auditing management sys-
tems” (DIN ISO 19011:2011).

In 2013, at our sites, 879 injuries (2012: 975) occurred, as 
did 210 accidents at work (2012: 214) with working hours 
lost. The average number of working hours lost per acci-
dent at work was 16 calendar days (2012: 21). The “acci-
dents at work with working hours lost per one million 
working hours” key ratio was 8.5 (2012: 8.6). 

Unfortunately, we had to record the accidental deaths of 
five employees in 2013. On 1 October 2013, three miners 
lost their lives as a result of an outburst of carbon dioxide 
triggered by extraction blasting at our Unterbreizbach 
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mine. We did not consider the occurrence of an outburst 
with such effects to be possible. We want to optimise the 
nature and scope of our safety measures, which will only 
be possible after the causes of the outburst have been 
carefully evaluated. The results of the investigations con-
ducted by public authorities were not available at the 
time this report went to press. The accident shows that 
despite constant advances in the safety technology used 
in mining, there can be no absolute safety, especially not 
in the case of carbon dioxide outbursts. 

In addition to the three miners who lost their lives 
underground, two more people died while travelling 
on business by car outside the plant site. In addition, an 
employee of an external company died in an accident.
/ Additional information  about work safet y, pre-
vention and other employee issues  can be found in our 
Corporate/Sustainability Report.

Water and water protection

Use of water
We are working continuously to reduce the use of 
water in our production plants and to lower our waste-
water volumes still further.

Due to the nature of the deposits, the mining and pro-
cessing of potassium-containing crude salts in Ger-
many is technically, in part, more demanding than in 
the case of our competitors in other countries. How-

ever, in addition to potassium (13 to 27 % potassium 
chloride), our deposits also contain magnesium and 
sulphur (11 to 27 % magnesium sulphate). This enables 
us to produce not only potassium chloride but also a 
series of high-grade speciality products for agriculture 
and industry.

Because the crude salt also contains non-recyclable 
salts and other solid elements, these must be sepa-
rated from the valuable substances and disposed of. 
Depending on the quality of the crude salt, for the 
refinement we use processes such as thermal dissolu-
tion, flotation or, in combination with these two, elec-
trostatic separation (ESTA process). While the first two 
processes, which are internationally standard, require 
the use of water, electrostatic separation, developed 
by K+S, is a “dry” process. Depending on the process, 
residues from production therefore arise either in solid 
form or dissolved in water. The amount of production 
residues from potash mining is determined by the 
composition of the crude salt and can therefore not 
be avoided.

In salt mining, we distinguish between rock salt, which 
is extracted from the mine and then ground into the 
desired grain size, and evaporated salt, which is pro-
duced from saturated brine. The brine is obtained by 
feeding freshwater into a salt dome via drill holes, as a 
result of which the salt dissolves and is then extracted 
as saturated brine. The water of the brine is vapor-
ised and in this way the salt which is first dissolved is 

extracted as evaporated salt. No production residues 
occur.

In 2013, we used 134.2 million m³ of water (previous year: 
146.8 million m³ of water). Seawater withdrawal amounted 
to 272.9 million m³. Specific water use amounted to 4.7 m³/
tonne of product (previous year: 5.2 m³/tonne of product). 
We set ourselves the target of lowering this specific key 
figure by the end of 2014 to below 4 m³/tonne of product.  
/ F IG: 4.4.2 

Wastewater
We distinguish between saline wastewater, wastewa-
ter from production and wastewater from sanitary 
facilities which we either discharge into freshwater or 
saline water or inject into plate dolomite.

Wastewater management in potash mining
On the basis of existing permits and in compliance 
with threshold values, we dispose of wastewater from 
production processes and saline water arising due to 
precipitation onto our tailing piles by discharging it 
into river waters and by injecting it into deeper rock 
strata. We either heap up the solid residues or bring 
them back into the mines underground. 

At the Werra plant, we have already been steering the 
discharge of saline wastewater into the Werra via a 
computer system since 2000. As a result, we are suc-
ceeding in keeping to the officially set threshold value 
of 2,500 mg of chloride/ litre of water. The steering pro-
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cess also takes account of factors such as fluctuating 
pre-existing harmful substances and variations in the 
flow of water in the river.

Water-law permits
In order to be able to continue orderly local disposal by 
means of injection and discharge and, thus, continue 
the production of the Werra plant, we have applied 
for the necessary water-law permits. After we had 
received a new injection permit in 2011, valid until the 
end of November 2015, in November 2012, we were also 
granted a permit for the discharge of saline wastewater 
into the Werra for a further eight years until the end 
of December 2020. It is based on the discharge volumes 
applied for by us together with a step-by-step plan 
effective from December 2015 to lower the currently 
valid threshold values. 

Measures on water protection at  
the Werra plant
The implementation of the “package of measures on 
water protection” at the Werra plant was started in 
2011. All production sites of the Verbund plant – Hattorf 
and Wintershall in Hesse as well as Unterbreizbach 
in Thuringia – are included with construction meas-
ures, further process optimisation measures and plant 
expansions. By the end of 2015, we will thus lower the 
volume of saline wastewater to an average of 7 mil-
lion m³ per year.

With our measures, we are approaching the limits of 
what is technically meaningful and economically viable. 
This should or will improve the prospects for not only 
our sites and their employees, but also for very many 
people in the region. A description of possible risks aris-
ing from a change in, refusal or court withdrawal of 

permits issued by public agencies in relation to the dis-
posal of saline wastewater and solid production resi-
dues, which would result in a persistent and material 
adverse effect on the earnings, financial and asset posi-
tion of the K+S Group, can be found in the Risk Report 
on page 94.

In 2013, the volume of saline wastewater discharged 
into waters or injected totalled 12.1 million m³ or 0.43 
m³/tonne of product (previous year: 12.1 million m³ 
or 0.43 m³/tonne of product). Of this, we discharged 
8.8 million m³ or 0.31 m³/tonne of product into waters 
(previous year: 7.2 million m³ or 0.26 m³/tonne of prod-
uct) and injected 3.3 million m³ or 0.12 m³/tonne of 
product (previous year: 4.9 million m³ or 0.17 m³/tonne 
of product).  / FIG: 4.4.3

In 2013, a total of € 117.8 million was invested in water 
protection (2012: € 80.4 million). The operating costs 
for water protection amounted to € 110.9 million (2012:  
€ 103.5 million).

Energy efficiency and climate 
protection

The K+S Group wants to reduce its energy input further 
in the long term and is working continuously to improve 
energy efficiency. For our competitiveness, it is impor-
tant to lower energy costs despite constantly increasing 
energy prices. We have introduced energy management 

	Sp ecific water consumption 1� FIG: 4.4.2
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1	 �Information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group; the year 2009 as well as the years 2009 until 2010 also include the discontinued operations  
of the COMPO business and the nitrogen business, respectively.
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systems to achieve greater transparency with respect to 
both energy input and energy costs. 

Group-wide we are using modern power plant tech-
nology, improving the energy input in production pro-
cesses, utilising waste heat in production facilities and 
power plants, and reducing the energy input in the 
entire value chain.

Energy management system in accordance 
with DIN ISO 50001
In December 2013, the energy management system for 
the German Group companies was certified in accord-
ance with DIN ISO 50001. This is the prerequisite for 
us, an energy-intensive company with highly efficient 
plants, to obtain a refund of part of the energy tax paid 
in Germany.

Energy consumption
In 2013, total energy consumption amounted to 9,236 
GWh. In contrast to the previous reporting period, this 
amount includes all fuels. Without fuels, energy con-
sumption came to 8,934 GWh (previous year: 8,747 
GWh). Specific energy consumption per tonne of man-
ufactured product was 321 kWh/tonne of product, with-
out fuels, it was 311 kWh/tonne of product (previous 
year: 309 kWh). A total of 208 GWh of electricity was fed 
into the public network.

As a result, total energy consumption has increased. This 
applies to absolute consumption and specific consump-
tion per tonne of manufactured product. Up to now, we 

were therefore not able to achieve our objective of low-
ering energy consumption by 2014 to below 270 kWh/
tonne of product.  / FIG: 4.4.4

Emissions 
CO2 emissions from the consumption of natural gas, 
(light) fuel oil and electricity in 2013 amounted to 1.5 
million tonnes and were therefore at the previous year’s 

	S aline wastewater injection and discharge 1� FIG: 4.4.3
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level (2012: 1.5 million tonnes). Carbon dioxide emissions 
per tonne of manufactured product were 52 kg/tonne 
of product (2012: 53 kg/tonne of product). Our objective 
is to lower specific CO2 emissions to 45 kg/tonne by the 
end of 2014.  / FIG: 4.4.5

Emissions trading 
Emissions trading is one of the three instruments for a 
sensible handling of climate gases within the Kyoto Pro-
tocol, which was adopted in 1997 under the international 
Framework Convention on Climate Change. In 2005, the 
European Emissions Trading System (EU ETS) for regu-
lating greenhouse gas emissions in energy-intensive 
industries entered into force. Companies emitting more 
CO2 than allowed under the emission rights allocated to 
them can choose whether to invest in projects to reduce 
emissions or to buy emission certificates on the market. 

After the divestment of COMPO, 13 plants1 of the K+S 
Group are still obliged to engage in emissions trading. 
This involves power plants and drying plants. 

4.5  Research and Development

Research and development activities

Goals and main focuses of  
our R&D activities
In principle, we pursue the following three equivalent 
goals with our research and development activities:

++ Increasing customer benefit
++ Deploying raw materials, capital, energy and person-

nel as effectively and efficiently as possible
++ Conserving the environment through the sustainable 

use of resources and the constant reduction of solid 
and liquid production residues

Within the framework of developing new fertilizers and 
improving those we already offer, we promote prac-
tice-oriented research in the sphere of plant nutrition. 
We work out solutions in order to meet the increased 
demand for food and feed due to a growing global pop-
ulation as well as changing dietary habits. Our agricul-
tural application consulting, which puts results from 
research and development into practice, supports cus-
tomers in the use of our products on site and creates 
a transfer of knowledge to less developed regions.  
The cooperation with the “Sasakawa Africa Association”, 
a non-governmental organisation (NGO), in the “Growth 
for Uganda” project is an example of that. The project, 
which is set to run for three to five years, aims to reach 
about 50,000 farming households in our target regions 
and to make a contribution to improving the degree 

1 �We calculate our emissions on the basis of EU monitoring guidelines from 2007. 
The emissions of the plants are verified by external audit organisations.

	Sp ecific carbon dioxide emissions 1� FIG: 4.4.5
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1	 �Information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group; the year 2009 as well as the years 2009 until 2010 also include the discontinued operations  
of the COMPO business and the nitrogen business, respectively.
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of self-sufficiency among and the income situation of 
smallholders by means of both agricultural advice as 
well as the granting of small loans by 15 banks. K+S has, 
among other things, provided a truck with laboratory 
equipment as a mobile training unit for conducting soil 
analyses. In addition, we are further developing, in appli-
cation-orientated agricultural research, the project port-
folio of our research institute, which is operated jointly 
with the University of Göttingen. 

The constant review and further development of the 
production methods and processes used by us also serve 
to achieve the goals referred to. In 2013, the research and 
development activities for the Legacy Project were the 
main focus. As part of this project, we have undertaken 
extensive activities in solution mining and in the treat-
ment of brine that will be extracted in the future. Fur-
ther focus areas of the research on process technology 
are, both in the Potash and Magnesium Products and 
Salt business units, the continuous improvement of the 
production processes as well as the flexibilisation of the 
processes for adapting to changed raw material, produc-
tion and market conditions. To meet these challenges 
in the future, a new centre for analysis and research is 
being established in the vicinity of our Unterbreizbach 
site. At this centre, our environmental and process ana-
lytics will be further developed and K+S research insti-
tutions from Heringen, with a focus on analytical and 
process technology, will be integrated. It is to start oper-
ating in 2015. 

Use of external R&D know-how
The research strategy of the K+S Group comprises inter-
nal and external research activities. An important ele-
ment is cooperation, which causes knowledge to be 
effectively transferred from research into practice and 
facilitates access to an international network and the 
exploitation of synergies. 

The funds used focused on the following themes, 
selected examples of which are: 

++ Solution mining: Having examined the available solu-
tion mining methods together with Canadian and 
German specialists, our experts are continually evolv-
ing them in respect of their applicability for the spe-
cific deposit circumstances of the Legacy Project. 

++ International field tests: We assign global field tests to 
specialised and experienced agricultural testing insti-
tutes, which are accompanied on a scientific basis by 
our employees. This approach enables us to obtain 
valuable knowledge in various climatic zones, on local 
soils as well as in relation to a diverse range of crops 
and to further develop our products accordingly. 

++ Institute of Applied Plant Nutrition (IAPN): 
Since 2012, K+S KALI GmbH has been cooperating 
with the Georg-August-University of Göttingen 
under a public-private partnership in the Institute 
of Applied Plant Nutrition. The IAPN has estab-
lished itself as an interface between science and 
industry. The focus is on practice-oriented research 
in the area of plant nutrition. A rapid integration 

into practice of the knowledge gained by the K+S 
application advisers is thus guaranteed.

++ Cooperation with universities: In natural science-
technical and economic areas, we cooperate with 
numerous universities in Germany and abroad and, 
in doing so, also support their graduates financially 
at the bachelor’s, master’s and doctoral levels in 
those areas that are the focus of our R&D activities.  
This allows us to identify talent early on and to 
recruit a new generation of qualified employees for 
our Company. In Germany, we are concentrating on 
our long-term cooperation partners in the area of 
mining and treatment technology.

Research figures 

Research costs and development-related 
capital expenditure 
In the period under review, research costs totalled € 13.9 
million and were thus down on the level of the previ-
ous year (2012: € 19.4 million), which was determined by 
projects in the solution mining area connected with the 
Legacy Project. The optimisation of production processes 
for minimising solid and liquid production residues in 
potash production remained a focal point.  / TAB: 4.5.1

In the year under review, capitalised development-
related capital expenditure was, at € 5.0 million (2012: € 
14.2 million), significantly below the exceptionally high 
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level of the previous year and was incurred in the Pot-
ash and Magnesium Products business unit once again 
largely in connection with the development of the first 
cavern of the Legacy Project. Capitalisation will result in 
corresponding depreciation charges for development-
related capital expenditure over the coming years.  
/ TAB: 4.5.2

Selected research and development 
projects and results

Mining and geology
++ The laser-based measurement of CO2 in mine air: 

Along with the Fraunhofer-Heinrich-Hertz-Institut 
in Goslar, we are developing a laser-aided measuring 
device for mobile deployment underground, so that 
the presence of CO2 in mine air can already be ascer-
tained at a great distance. 

++ Continuous mining technology: As part of the “con-
tinuous mining technology” project, issues relating 
to the occurrence of dust when operating a contin-
uous miner and a road header were examined in 
2013. To evaluate the effectiveness of our de-dusting 
measures, a laser aerosol spectrometer was tested 
and found to be suitable.

Process technology
++ Solution mining: We have used the methods intro-

duced in 2012 in connection with the Legacy Project 
to examine the release kinetics of the salt rock at var-
ious locations in the deposit using drill core samples 
and synthetic test samples to which various leaching 
solutions were applied. The results are used directly 
in the plant’s Detail Engineering in Saskatchewan. 

++ Evaporation process: At our central research institute 
in Heringen, the solid production residues occurring 
in the site-specific various evaporation processes were 

examined to determine their traceability and reusabil-
ity in the production of potassium sulphate. The aim 
is to recover additional reusable substances that can 
serve as an intermediate product. In this context, we 
also employed a software for process simulation and 
the theoretical computation of mineral phases.

++ Automating analytics: To promote the further rapid 
expansion of online analytics, a working group has 
been formed. In close cooperation with plants, it will 
introduce and monitor appropriate methods and 
instruments for managing the production process 
all the way to the point of loading. At our research 
institute, the operation of a fully automated device 
chain for mineral phase analysis has been success-
fully launched.

++ Density separation: The research institute also com-
bined density separation, which otherwise are used 
in the mineral treatment of ore, with our flotation 
process. The aim was to use the mechanical separa-

	R esearch costs 1� TAB: 4.5.1

� 2013  � 2012

in € million
Potash and Magnesium 
Products business unit 7.1 12.4

Salt business unit 3.0 3.3

Other research costs 3.8 3.7

Total 13.9 19.4

1	 �Information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group.

	R esearch figures 1� TAB: 4.5.2

� 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010  � 2009

in € million

Research costs 13.9 19.4 17.0 13.8 18.7

Research intensity (research costs/revenues) 0.4 % 0.5 % 0.4 % 0.3 % 0.5 %

Capitalised development-related capital expenditure 5.0 14.2 1.6 0.7 1.8

Employees (number) 86 87 77 73 78

1	 �Information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group; the year 2009 as well as the years 2009 until 2010 also include the discontinued operations of the COMPO 
business and the nitrogen business, respectively. 
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tion process also in the case of slighter differences in 
the density of the salt minerals.

++ Processing for Siegfried-Giesen: The potential opera-
tional capability of our ESTA technology was evaluated 
in the context of planning a processing method for 
Siegfried-Giesen to reduce liquid production residues.

Plant cultivation
++ Research into abiotic stress factors affecting culti-

vated crops: The “Institute of Applied Plant 
Nutrition” (IAPN) is conducting research into 
drought tolerance and the efficient use of water 
in the case of cultivated crops as well as the trans-
fer of knowledge in the area of plant nutrition. This 
includes a further training stay at the IAPN for an 
employee of the “Growth for Uganda” project to ena-
ble the employee to conduct plant and soil analyses 
on site in Uganda and provide informed advice on 
fertilization.

++ Development-orientated agricultural research: 
Together with the International Potato Research 
Centre CIP in Peru and the Deutsche Gesellschaft für 
Internationale Zusammenarbeit (GIZ), we are work-
ing on combating poverty through the promotion of 
potato cultivation in the partner countries of German 
development cooperation in Asia and Africa as well 
as Central and Latin America. In 2014, the project will 
be extended to the countries of Ethiopia and Kenya 
in cooperation with the IAPN to make a sustainable 
contribution to soil fertility and, thus, to increasing 
the output of agriculture there too.

Product development
++ Further development in the industrial potash sec-

tor: K+S Kali GmbH developed a compacted product 
with significantly coarser graining than the custom-
ary granules. By compacting, the product’s storage 
and transport properties were able to be considera-
bly improved. With this product innovation, we will 
meet the growing demands of our customers and 
strengthen our position in this segment.

++ Specialities for the US food grade salt market: In order 
to enable food manufacturers in the United States to 
fulfil local guidelines on nutrition, Morton Salt is 
further developing low-sodium products.

At regular intervals, all research projects are examined 
jointly with the clients in relation to their progress, 
applicability, framework conditions, the probability of 
realisation and return opportunities. 

Brand portfolio and patents 

The K+S brand portfolio increased by 138 industrial prop-
erty rights in 2013. As umbrella brands, the K+S Group 
uses, among others, Cérébos®, Kali-Stier®, Morton®, 
SPL®, Umbrella Girl®, Vatel® and Windsor®. As 
product brands, for example, AXAL®, Regenit®, Sal-
doro®, Action Melt®, Season-All®, System Saver®, 
Korn-Kali®, Patentkali® and KaliSel® are used. 
Further brands are LOBOS® and the low-sodium prod-

uct range BIOSAL LIGHT® for food grade salt in Chile 
as well as BLIZZARD WIZARD® for de-icing salt in the 
United States. On the reporting date, the K+S Group 
held 2,460 national proprietary rights (2012: 2,322) deriv-
ing from 556 basic trademarks. The K+S Group’s global 
patent portfolio currently numbers 56 patent families, 
which are protected by 256 national rights (2012: 264). 
The patents are used, for example, in the areas of elec-
trostatic preparation processes, granulate production 
and flotation. The patent portfolio remained almost the 
same in 2013. A small amount of licence revenues were  
generated.

4.6  Overview of the Course  
of Business

Macroeconomic environment

Global GDP rose by 2.9 % in 2013 and grew rather more 
slowly than a year ago, on account of a weak phase at the 
beginning of the year (2012: 3.2 %). In the industrial coun-
tries, growth rates were weighed down as compared with 
the previous year, especially because of tangibly weaker 
economic performance in the United States. In the euro-
zone, the recession was overcome in the middle of the 
year, but economic activity remained restrained never-
theless. By contrast, the developing and emerging market 
countries experienced an economic upturn.  / TAB: 4.6.1
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In the European Union, total economic output rose 
again in the second quarter of 2013, after having been 
in decline for about a year and a half. Nevertheless, the 
recovery was insufficient to increase annual GDP. While 
the economies of Germany, Spain and Belgium grew 
slightly, output in France and Italy declined. In those 
regions experiencing more robust growth, domestic 
demand stabilised and capital expenditure also grad-
ually began to increase again. Monetary policy was 
strongly expansionary and, against this backdrop, 
November saw the European Central Bank (ECB) 
lower its key interest rate once again to a historically 
lowest level of between 0 and 0.25 %.

Economic activity in the United States rose moderately 
in 2013, but was still affected by the after-effects of the 
financial and property crises. As a result, GDP rose by 
just 1.6 %. The Federal Reserve Bank (FED) contin-
ued its low interest rate policy in 2013, in order to revive 
the economy. However, private consumer spending and 

capital expenditure only grew slowly. But, investment 
in property development increased significantly. The 
situation on the labour market also improved, with the 
result that the number of people in employment rose 
slightly year on year.

The emerging market countries were able to post mod-
erate economic growth. However, the lack of demand 
from the industrial countries as well as extensively 
weak domestic demand depressed growth.

In 2013, the oil price remained almost stable despite 
increased volatility compared with the level for the pre-
vious year. Higher prices in late summer as a result of 
a supply shortage on the part of OPEC countries could 
only be maintained temporarily. At the end of the year, 
the oil price stood at US$ 111 per barrel. The average price 
over the year for a barrel of oil was about US$ 109 and 
therefore down slightly on the previous year’s figure 
of US$ 112. 

As a result of revised harvest forecasts and more favour-
able supply prospects, prices declined significantly for 
some agricultural commodities in the middle of the year 
and volatility increased. In particular, global corn har-
vests reached record levels, with the result that the price 
of corn fell sharply over the course of the year. 

The Dow Jones-UBS Agriculture Subindex, which 
tracks futures prices for corn, soy beans, sugar, wheat, 
soya oil, cotton and coffee, fell by about 14 % in the year 
under review.  / FIG: 4.6.1

In 2013, developments on the international foreign 
exchange markets were again influenced by the vol-
atile US dollar exchange rate versus the euro. After 
standing at about EUR/USD 1.32 at the start of the 
year, it rose in the middle of the year to about EUR /
USD 1.30, and, at the end of December, finally stood at 
EUR/USD 1.37, down about 4 % on the previous year  
(31 December 2012: EUR/USD 1.32). In terms of the aver-
age for the year, the US dollar stood at EUR/USD 1.33 
and was therefore about 3 % weaker compared with 
the average for the previous year (2012: EUR/USD 1.29). 
The strengthening of the euro against the US dollar 
was particularly attributable to the continued easing 
of the European sovereign debt crisis and to improved 
economic data for the eurozone.  / FIG: 4.6.2

Impact on K+S
The changes in the macroeconomic environment 
impacted on the course of business for K+S as follows:

	 Percentage change in Gross Domestic Product� TAB: 4.6.1

� 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010  � 2009

in %; real
Germany + 0.5 + 0.9 + 3.4 + 3.9 (5.0)

EU-28 0.0 (0.3) + 1.7 + 2.0 (4.4)

World + 2.9 + 3.2 + 3.9 + 5.2 (0.4)

Source: IMF
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++ The energy costs of the K+S Group are particularly 
affected by the costs of obtaining gas. Since a major 
part of the gas procurement is correlated with the price 
of crude oil, this has effects on our cost accounting.

++ As a result of the hedging instruments used for the 
Potash and Magnesium Products business unit, the 
exchange rate was on average EUR/USD 1.30 incl. 
costs and thus, more favourable than in the pre-
vious year (2012 exchange rate incl. hedging costs: 
EUR/USD 1.32).

++ In addition to the EUR/USD currency relationship, a 
relative comparison of the euro and the currencies 
of our competitors each in relation to the US dollar 
is also of importance for us. A strong US dollar has 
a positive impact on the earnings capacity of most 

of the world’s potash producers in their respective 
local currency; this is due to the fact that the bulk of 
the global potash output lies outside the US dollar 
zone, while almost all sales (exception: business in 
the eurozone) are invoiced in US dollars. Figure 4.6.2 
shows that the performance of the US dollar against 
the euro had a positive impact on the K+S Group’s 
revenues in the spring of 2013 and a negative impact 
in the second half of the year. Compared with the 
currencies of the competitors from Russia and Can-
ada, the US dollar rose moderately over the course 
of the year.

Industry-specific framework 
conditions

Potash and Magnesium Products  
business unit
The assessment by farmers to encounter a stable level 
of prices for fertilizers caused the demand for potash 
fertilizers to rise significantly in time with the start of 
the spring season in Europe and North America as well 
as in South America and South East Asia. However, the 
international prices for potassium chloride over the 
course of the first three months were below those of 
the same quarter of the previous year. In the second 
quarter too, demand continued to remain on a good 
level, while prices remained stable overall.

At the end of July, the announcement issued by Rus-
sian Uralkali that it would leave the BPC sales organ-
isation operated jointly with Belarusian Belaruskali 
and its associated statements saying it would expand 
its own capacity and the utilisation of that capac-
ity regardless of the price level created considerable 
uncertainty about future volume and price trends on 
the potash market. In the third quarter, this initially 
resulted in significant buying restraint on the part 
of potash customers and subsequently in a tangible 
reduction in the price level in some international mar-
kets as compared with the preceding quarter. 

	D evelopment of prices for agricultural products and crude oil� FIG: 4.6.1

in % Jan. 13 Feb. Mar. April May June July Aug. Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. Jan. 14 Feb.

120

110

100

90

80

70

60

50
Index: 31 December 2012

  Wheat       C orn       S oybeans       P alm Oil       C rude Oil (Brent)        Dow Jones-UBS Agriculture Subindex� Source: Bloomberg 



73

combined management report

4.6 O verview of the Course of Business 

Despite good demand for potash products in Brazil 
and Europe in the run-up to the 2014 spring season, 
the uncertainty over the future price development 
continued. In particular, the above-mentioned state-
ments issued by Uralkali, as well as the failure to 
conclude contracts with Chinese customers, contin-
ued to lead to further declining potash prices in the 
fourth quarter.

Salt business unit
De-icing salt – Western Europe
At the beginning of 2013, the continuing winter 
weather caused an above-average demand compared 
with the previous year. In the further course of the 
year, this also led to an increased demand in the early 
stocking-up business for the 2013/14 winter season. 

Despite relatively mild weather conditions in the 
fourth quarter, the demand for de-icing salt in West-
ern Europe was far above the level of the same quarter 
of the previous year.

Overall, prices were relatively stable on the high level of 
a year ago, with slight price pressure being noticeable 
in some regions of Western Europe.

De-icing salt – North America
In the North American regions, the tender price lev-
els for the winter season 2013/14 came under pres-
sure because, as a result of the winter 2012/13 being 
generally mild, users still had high stocks. In many 
regions, the winter weather that set in with snow-
fall in December caused an above-average demand 
for de-icing salt.

Industrial salt
While the demand for industrial salt in most South 
American regions remained practically unchanged, it 
increased slightly in some regions of Europe. In par-
ticular, the improvement in the economic trend in the 
eurozone contributed to this. In North America, a rela-
tively stable demand situation arose for water soften-
ing products. 

Food grade salt
In financial year 2013, the demand for food grade salt 
increased slightly in Europe, whereas prices were on the 
level of the previous year. In the North American food 
grade salt market, slight price decreases were noted.

Salt for chemical use
The market segment for salt for chemical use for the 
chemical industry in Europe continued to be character-
ised by oversupply in the year under review, whereas 
the demand situation improved in the North American 
regions. In Asia, the market was stable despite weak eco-
nomic development.

Key events affecting the course  
of business

++ The business with potash and magnesium prod-
ucts was negatively affected, especially as a result of 
the withdrawal of Russian Uralkali from the BPC 
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sales organisation operated jointly with Belarusian 
Belaruskali. The associated statements issued by 
Uralkali saying it would expand its own capac-
ity and the utilisation of that capacity regardless 
of the price level created considerable uncertainty 
about future volume and price trends on the pot-

ash market. This initially resulted in significant buy-
ing restraint on the part of potash customers, caus-
ing international prices for potassium chloride to 
come under pressure as a result. The failure of North 
American and Russian producers to conclude con-

tracts with Chinese customers for the second half of 
the year placed further pressure on prices. 

++ Sales volumes of de-icing salt considerably depend 
on the wintry weather during the first and fourth 
quarters. The severe winter with its heavy snowfalls 
in Western Europe at the beginning of 2013 created 

	A ctual vs. Forecast comparison 2013� TAB: 4.6.2

Forecast 
Financial

Report 2012 Forecast Q1/13 Forecast H1/13  Forecast Q3/13
Actual 

2013
Actual 

2012  � %

K+S Group

Revenues € million slight increase slight increase —
at previous 
year’s level 3,950.4 3,935.3 + 0.4

EBITDA € million slight increase slight increase — — 902.7 1,033.3 (12.2)

Operating earnings (EBIT I) € million slight increase slight increase — > 600 655.9 804.1 (18.4)

Financial result € million stable stable — — (76.3) (78.9) + 3.3

Group tax rate, adjusted ¹ % 26 – 27 26 – 27 — — 24.6 25.8 —

Group earnings after taxes, adjusted ¹, 2 € million slight increase slight increase — just below 400 434.8 637.4 (31.8)

Earnings per share, adjusted ¹, 2 € slight increase slight increase — — 2.27 3.33 (31.8)

Dividend €
below previous 

year’s level
below previous 

year’s level — — 0.25 1.40 (82.1)

Capital expenditure 3 € million just below 1,100 a good 800 about 800 about 800 742.5 465.5 + 59.5

Depreciation and amortisation 3 € million 240 230 240 – 250 230 251.3 229.0 + 9.7

EUR /USD exchange rate EUR/USD 1.33 1.30 — 1.33 1.33 1.28 + 3.9

Potash and Magnesium Products business unit

Sales volume t million about 7 about 7 — about 6.8 6.94 6.95 (0.3)

Salt business unit

Sales volume crystallised salt t million a good 22 a good 22 — a good 22 22.81 17.56 + 22.9

– of which de-icing salt t million 12 – 13 just below 13 — a good 13 13.79 8.33 + 65.5

1	 �The adjusted key figures only include the result from operating forecast hedges of the respective reporting period reported in 
EBIT I (see also ‘Notes to the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income’ on page 146). In addition, related 
effects on deferred and cash taxes are eliminated; tax rate for 2013: 28.6 % (2012: 28.5 %).

2	Earnings from continued and discontinued operations.
3	 �Capital expenditure in or depreciation on property, plant and equipment, intangible and investment properties as well as  

depreciation on financial assets.
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above-average demand, while the mild weather in 
North America put pressure on tender prices for the 
2013/14 winter season. However, the cold spell at the 
end of December caused demand there to pick up 
again appreciably.

Trend in share price

/ A detailed description of the K+S share price, 
including price trends, ratio s and further  
important information  about the K+S share  can  
be found in the section ‘K+S on the Capital Market’ on page 19.

Comparison of actual and projected 
course of business

Revenue forecast
The revenue forecast formulated by us on 28 Febru-
ary 2013 in the Financial Report 2012 assumed a slight 
revenue increase for 2013 compared with the preced-
ing period. This statement also applied in the quarterly 
financial report Q1/13. In the context of the H1/13 half-
yearly financial report published in August, it was no 
longer possible to adhere to this outlook on account of 
the considerable uncertainty over future volume and 
price developments on the market for potash fertiliz-
ers. In November 2013, we assumed, in the context of 
the quarterly financial report Q3/13, that revenues for 
the year as a whole would be on about the same level 
as in the previous year. 

The revenues of the K+S Group in 2013, at € 3.95 billion, 
reached this forecast figure. 

Earnings forecast
The forecast in the Financial Report published in March 
2013 assumed slightly increased operating earnings EBIT I 
in financial year 2013 compared with the previous year as 
a result of the normalisation of the de-icing salt business. 
This statement was affirmed in the quarterly financial 
report Q1/13, as a tangible increase in global potash sales 
volumes could be assumed in the Potash and Magnesium 
Products business unit for 2013. In the half-yearly financial 
report H1/13, we could no longer maintain the forecast for 
reasons of commercial prudence. In the quarterly finan-
cial report Q3/13, operating earnings EBIT I of over € 600 
million for 2013 as a whole could be forecast.

At € 656 million, operating earnings EBIT I of the K+S 
Group in 2013 affirmed this forecast. 

Capital expenditure forecast
In the Financial Report 2012, we had still reckoned with 
capital expenditure of a good € 1.1 billion for 2013, of which 
about € 625 million should be used for the Legacy Project. 
In the quarterly report Q1/13, this statement was adjusted 
to a good € 800 million, of which about € 375 million was 
for the Legacy Project, because particularly shifts in the 
timing of expenditures were foreseeable here. We affirmed 
this forecast in both the half-yearly financial report H1/13 
as well as in the quarterly financial report Q3/13. 

The volume of capital expenditure for the K+S Group in 
2013 amounted to € 743 million.  / TAB: 4.6.2

Unless stated otherwise, the earnings, financial and 
asset position refers to the continued operations of the 
K+S Group. Since the reporting on the third quarter of 
2012, the nitrogen business was stated as a “discontin-
ued operation” in accordance with IFRS 5 as a result of 
its divestment on 2 July 2012. 
/ Detailed information  regarding the discontinued 
operation s  can be found on page 134 of the Notes. 

The previous year’s figures were adjusted because of the 
change in IAS 19. 
/ Further information   can be found in the Notes on page 143.

4.7  Earnings position

Revenues at previous year’s level

In financial year 2013, revenues amounted to € 3,950.4 
million and were therefore at the previous year’s level 
(€ 3,935.3 million). A certain seasonality can gener-
ally be recognised from the quarterly revenue figures 
posted during the course of the year; thus, the first and 
fourth quarters tend to be stronger, and the second 
and third quarters somewhat weaker. In terms of vol-
umes, the first quarter for the Potash and Magnesium 
Products business unit usually profits from the start of 
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Development of orders

Most of the business of the K+S Group is not covered 
by longer-term agreements concerning fixed volumes 
and prices. 

The share of the backlog of orders in relation to revenues 
is, at less than 10 % at the end of the year, low in the Pot-
ash and Magnesium Products business unit. This is cus-
tomary in the industry. The business is characterised by 
long-term customer relationships as well as revolving 
framework agreements with non-binding volume and 
price indications. 

In the Salt business unit, de-icing salt contracts for the 
public sector in Europe, Canada and the United States 
are normally issued in the form of public tenders. Usu-
ally, we take part in these in the second quarter for the 
upcoming winter season, but also for following winter 
seasons. The contracts include both price and maxi-
mum volume agreements. Since the actual volumes 

spring fertilizing in Europe. The de-icing salt business 
is normally focused on the first and fourth quarter of 
a year.  / TAB: 4.7.1, 4.7.2

/ A detailed expl anation of the revenues of the 
individual segments  can be found on page 89.

In the first half of the year, the high sales volumes in 
both business units in particular had a positive effect. 
Whereas the Potash and Magnesium Products busi-
ness unit recorded a decrease in revenues due to over-
all lower average prices, revenues increased signifi-
cantly in the Salt business unit; a main reason for this 
was the wintry weather at the beginning of the year 
in Europe. 

The second half of 2013 was impacted by market devel-
opments after the statements by Russian Uralkali 
that it would increase its own capacity and the utili-
sation of that capacity regardless of the price level, and 

especially the associated buying restraint on the part 
of potash customers. As a result, revenues in the Potash 
and Magnesium Products business unit decreased. How-
ever, the increase in revenues in the Salt business unit 
due to the good early stocking-up business in Europe 
and a strong fourth quarter in North America was able 
to make up for this decline.

The Potash and Magnesium Products business unit 
posted the highest revenues of all K+S Group’s busi-
ness units, accounting for 51.6 % of the total revenues, 
and was followed by the Salt business unit and Com-
plementary Activities.  / FIG: 4.7.1

In Europe, we achieved revenues of a good € 1.7 bil-
lion, this accounted for 44 % of total revenues. North 
America achieved a revenue share of 30 % and South 
America of 14 %. Of total revenues, 9 % was accounted 
for by Asia.  / FIG: 4.7.2

	R evenues by unit� TAB: 4.7.1

� Q1/13  � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013  � 2012  � %

in € million
Potash and Magnesium 
Products business unit 625.5 548.3 456.7 407.1 2,037.6 2,290.6 (11.0)

Salt business unit 614.5 285.2 321.0 530.7 1,751.4 1,484.8 + 18.0

Complementary Activities 39.7 40.4 39.6 39.7 159.4 153.7 + 3.7

Reconciliation 0.6 0.6 0.4 0.4 2.0 6.2 (67.7)

K+S Group 1,280.3 874.5 817.7 977.9 3,950.4 3,935.3 + 0.4

Share of total revenues (%) 32.4 22.1 20.7 24.8 100.0 — —

	 Variance analysis TAB: 4.7.2

� 2013

in %

Change in revenues + 0.4

– volume/structure + 8.3

– prices/price-related (5.8)

– exchange rates (2.1)

– consolidation —
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depend on the weather conditions and are subject to 
legally permissible fluctuations, they cannot be clas-
sified as backlog of orders as such. This also applies if 
volumes can be carried forward to the following win-
ter in the case of weak demand in a season. 

For the above-mentioned reasons, the disclosure of the 
backlog of orders of the K+S Group is of no relevance for 
assessing the short- and medium-term earnings capacity.

Development of the cost base

Gross margin slightly below previous year
At 43 %, the gross margin remained slightly below the 
level of the previous year (2012: 45 %). The cost of sales 
increased primarily because of the higher sales vol-
ume in the Salt business unit; savings in energy costs 
were able to lessen this development somewhat. 

Selling expenses increase tangibly
In the year under review, the selling expenses of the 
K+S Group amounted to € 835.6 million (2012: € 734.2 
million); more than half of this was accounted for by 
freights, which increased tangibly above all in the Salt 
business unit as a result of volume factors. The other 
costs for sales personnel, marketing and supply chain 
management rose for the same reason. 

General and administrative expenses 
decreased
In 2013, general and administrative costs fell by € 5.1 mil-
lion or about 3 % to € 191.7 million. Apart from adjust-
ments for short and long-term performance-related 
remuneration, the decrease can be attributed to cur-
rency-related effects. 

Earnings development in the past  
financial year 
Operating earnings EBITDA and EBIT I fell
In the year under review, earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) fell tangibly to  
€ 907.2 million (2012: € 1,033.3 million).  / TAB: 4.7.3

The operating earnings EBIT I fell in 2013 by € 148.2 mil-
lion or 18.4 % to € 655.9 million (2012: € 804.1 million). 
These include depreciation of € 251.3 million, which 
increased by € 22.1 million in comparison to the previ-
ous year. At 16.6 %, the EBIT margin still reached a good 
level (2012: 20.4 %).  / TAB: 4.7.4

/ A detailed expl anation of the results of the  
individual segments  can be found on page 89.

	R evenues by unit� FIG: 4.7.1

� 2013  � 2012

in %
1 Potash and Magnesium 

Products business unit 51.6 58.3

2 Salt business unit 44.4 37.8

3 Complementary Activities 4.0 3.9

2 1

3�

	R evenues by region� FIG: 4.7.2

� 2013  � 2012

in %

1 Europe 44.2 41.9

– of which Germany 16.0 14.8

2 North America 30.3 25.9

3 South America 13.8 17.2

4 Asia 9.2 12.0

5 Africa, Oceania 2.5 3.0
2

3

4

1

5�



78 4.7 E arnings position

Whereas the sales volume in the Potash and Magne-
sium Products business unit in the first half of 2013 
remained basically stable, lower prices led to declining 
earnings. A volume-related increase in earnings in the 
Salt business unit mitigated the decrease.

The second half of the year was impacted by market 
developments after the statements by Russian Ural-
kali that it would expand its own capacity and the uti-
lisation of that capacity regardless of the price level, thus 
putting further pressure on international prices. This 
had a negative influence on operating earnings EBITDA 
and EBIT I. Especially an increase in earnings in the Salt 
business unit, due to good early stocking-up of de-icing 
salt, countered this development.

Financial result improved
The financial result consists of net interest income and 
other financial result. At € (75.8) million (2012: € (84.8) 
million), net interest income improved in 2013. This is pri-
marily due to lower interest expenses from compound-
ing interest of provisions for mining obligations. In the 
previous year the change in the discount factor for pro-
visions for mining obligations resulted in higher interest 
expenses. Additionally, increased interest income had a 
positive effect. Alongside interest expenses for pension 
provisions (2013: € (5.9) million; 2012: € (6.4) million), inter-
est expenses for other non-current provisions, essentially 
provisions for mining obligations (2013: € (26.2) million; 
2012: € (38.9) million) are disclosed in the financial result; 
both are non-cash. Overall, the financial result was € (76.3) 
million against € (78.9) million in the previous year.

Group earnings and adjusted group earn-
ings from continued operations dropped
In the year under review, Group earnings after taxes from 
continued operations amounted to € 415.1 million (2012: 
€ 565.3 million). The tax expense amounted to € 133.2 
million (2012: € 197.4 million); this amount comprises a 

deferred and thus non-cash tax income of € 61.1 million 
(2012: deferred tax income of € 33.6 million). The reason 
for the decrease in income taxes was mainly lower oper-
ating earnings. The anticipated income tax expense was 
calculated based on a domestic Group income tax rate of 
28.6 % (previous year: 28.5 %). 

	EBITDA  by Unit� TAB: 4.7.3

� Q1/13  � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013  � 2012  � %

in € million
Potash and Magnesium 
Products business unit 236.0 209.8 134.8 86.9 667.5 867.2 (23.0)

Salt business unit 100.2 18.6 37.0 80.1 235.9 179.5 + 31.4

Complementary Activities 8.6 8.0 6.9 8.2 31.7 28.2 + 12.4

Reconciliation 1 (8.5) (9.4) (3.1) (6.9) (27.9) (41.6) + 32.9

K+S Group 336.3 227.0 175.6 168.3 907.2 1,033.3 (12.2)

Share of total EBITDA (%) 37.1 25.0 19.4 18.6 100.0 — —

1	 Expenses and income that cannot be allocated to business units and complementary activities are recorded separately and shown under ‘Reconciliation’.

	EBIT  I by Unit� TAB: 4.7.4

� Q1/13  � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013  � 2012  � %

in %
Potash and Magnesium 
Products business unit 209.2 182.0 107.0 54.3 552.5 770.9 (28.3)

Salt business unit 73.1 (13.5) 9.2 49.0 117.8 61.6 + 91.3

Complementary Activities 6.8 6.2 5.3 6.4 24.7 21.0 + 17.6

Reconciliation 1 (11.2) (12.1) (5.7) (10.2) (39.2) (49.4) + 20.6

K+S Group 277.9 162.6 115.8 99.6 655.9 804.1 (18.4)

Share of total EBIT I (%) 42.4 24.8 17.7 15.2 100.0 — —

1	 �Expenses and income that cannot be allocated to business units and complementary activities are recorded separately and shown under ‘Reconciliation’.
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To enhance comparability, we additionally report adjusted 
Group earnings from continued operations, which elimi-
nate the effects from operating forecast hedges. Further-
more, the effects on deferred and cash taxes resulting from 
the adjustment are also eliminated. We compute adjusted 
Group earnings as shown in table 4.7.5.  / TAB: 4.7.5

Adjusted Group earnings from continued operations fell 
by € 101.0 million or just under 19 % to € 437.1 million (2012: 
€ 538.1 million). The main reason for this was the declin-
ing operating earnings. The adjusted Group tax rate was 
24.6 % in the year under review, after having been 25.8 % 

in the previous year. This decrease was especially due to a 
higher deferred tax income compared to the previous year. 

The return on revenues at 11.1 % was at an attractive level 
also compared to previous years.  / FIG: 4.7.3

Earnings per share and adjusted earnings 
per share from continued operations below 
previous year’s figure 
For the year under review, earnings per share from con-
tinued operations reached € 2.17. They were down about 
27 % on the previous year’s figure of € 2.96. Adjusted for 
the effects of market value fluctuations of the operating 
forecast hedges, adjusted earnings per share from con-
tinued operations for the year under review were € 2.28, 
which represents a decrease of just under 19 % (2012: € 
2.81). The current computation was performed on the 
basis of 191.40 million no-par value shares, being the 
average number of shares outstanding (previous year: 
191.40 million no-par value shares). 

As of 31 December 2013, we held no shares of our own. 
At the year’s end, the total number of shares outstand-
ing of the K+S Group was therefore 191.40 million no-
par value shares.

Undiluted, adjusted earnings per share are computed by 
dividing adjusted Group earnings after taxes and minor-
ity interests by the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding. As none of the conditions resulting in the 
dilution of earnings per share exist in the case of K+S 

	C omputation of the adjusted Group earnings  
	 from continued operations� TAB: 4.7.5

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Group earnings from continued operations 415.1 565.3

Income (−)/expenses (+) from market value changes of operating forecast hedges still outstanding 15.5 (9.5)

Neutralising of market value changes of realised operating forecast hedges recognised in previous periods 10.3 (28.5)

Elimination of resulting deferred and cash taxes (8.8) 10.8

Realised income (−)/expenses (+) of currency hedging for capital expenditure in Canada 5.0 —

Adjusted Group earnings from continued operations 437.1 538.1

	R eturn on revenues � FIG: 4.7.3

in % 5 10 15 20

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

    11.1

    13.7

    15.7

    9.8

    2.6
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at the present time, undiluted earnings per share corre-
spond to diluted earnings per share.  / TAB: 4.7.6

Adjusted Group earnings and adjusted 
earnings per share 
Group earnings (including discontinued operations) 
reached € 412.8 million (2012: € 665.3 million). Adjusted 
Group earnings amounted to € 434.8 million (2012:  
€ 637.4 million). In the previous year, € 100.0 million 
was still attributable to discontinued operations of the 
nitrogen business. 

Earnings per share (including discontinued operations) 
reached € 2.16 (2012: € 3.48), adjusted earnings per share 
were € 2.27 (2012: € 3.33). In the previous year, € 0.52 
was still attributable to discontinued operations of the 
nitrogen business. 
/ Detailed information  about the divestment of 
the nitrogen business can be found in the Notes to 
the consolidated financial statements  on page 134.

Key figures on earnings position

Margin key figures
The margin key figures were below the previous year’s 
level as a result of the decline in earnings already 
described above. The earnings before interest, taxes, 
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) of € 907.2 million 
resulted in an EBITDA margin of 23.0 % (2012: 26.3 %), and 
the EBIT margin reached 16.6 % after having been 20.4 % 
in 2012. The return on revenues was 11.1 % (2012: 13.7 %).
/ Definitions of the key figures used can be found in the 
‘Further Information’ section on page 180.

Yield key figures
The yield key figures also declined sharply as a result 
of the weaker earnings contribution: In the report-
ing year, the return on equity after taxes amounted to 
12.8 % (2012: 19.6 %) with the return on total investment 
amounting to 10.9 % (2012: 16.1 %). Especially as a result 
of higher expenditure in the Potash and Magnesium 
Products business unit, the return on capital employed 
(ROCE) fell and was 15.2 % for the year under review, 
compared with 19.9 % for the previous year. It is thus sig-
nificantly above our cost of capital of 8.2 % before taxes. 
As a result, the K+S Group created an added value of  
€ 302.3 million during the past financial year.  / TAB: 4.7.7

/ A detailed expl anation of the financial perfor-
mance  indicators can be found on page 59.

Computation of the cost of capital
The weighted average cost of capital rate for the K+S 
Group is derived from the aggregate of the expected 

	G roup earnings and earnings per share� TAB: 4.7.6

� Q1/13  � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013  � 2012  � %

in € million

Group earnings from continued operations 187.5 102.0 70.9 54.7 415.1 565.3 (26.6)
Earnings per share from 
continued operations (€) 0.98 0.53 0.37 0.29 2.17 2.96 (26.6)

Group earnings 1 187.5 102.0 70.9 52.4 412.8 665.3 (38.0)

Earnings per share (€) 1 0.98 0.53 0.37 0.27 2.16 3.48 (38.0)

Average number of shares (million) 191.40 191.40 191.40 191.40 191.40 191.40 —
Group earnings from continued 
operations, adjusted 2 190.2 105.9 71.6 69.4 437.1 538.1 (18.8)
Earnings per share from continued 
operations, adjusted (€) 2 0.99 0.55 0.37 0.36 2.28 2.81 (18.8)

Group earnings, adjusted 1, 2 190.2 105.9 71.6 67.1 434.8 637.4 (31.8)

Earnings per share, adjusted (€) 1, 2 0.99 0.55 0.37 0.35 2.27 3.33 (31.8)

1	 �Earnings from continued and discontinued operations.
2	 �The adjusted key figures only include the result from operating forecast hedges of the respective reporting period reported in EBIT I (see also ‘Notes to the income statement 

and the statement of comprehensive income’ on page 146). In addition, related effects on deferred and cash taxes are eliminated; tax rate for 2013: 28.6 % (2012: 28.5 %).
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yield to which a contributor of equity would be enti-
tled in respect of his equity share as well as the interest 
on debt in respect of the share of interest-bearing debt 
in total capital. As this is considered from an after-tax 
perspective, the average interest on debt is reduced by 
the corporate tax ratio.

The expected yield to which a contributor of equity 
would be entitled is derived from a risk-free interest 
rate plus a risk premium. The average of the yields of 
government bonds denominated in euros with a matu-
rity of 1 to 30 years was assumed as the risk-free inter-
est rate; at the end of 2013, this was 2.8 % (previous year: 
2.2 %). The risk premium has been computed using a 

market risk premium of 5.5 % (2012: 5.5 %) as well as 
with the beta factor of 0.98 (previous year: 1.04) appli-
cable to K+S in relation to the MSCI Europe bench-
mark index. This means that a contributor of equity 
would be entitled to a notional yield of 8.2 % (previ-
ous year: 7.9 %). 

The average interest on debt before taxes amounts 
to 3.0 % (previous year: 2.7 %) and is derived from the 
weighted average for the interest on the financial liabili-
ties of K+S as well as the interest on pension and mining 
provisions. After taking into account the adjusted Group 
tax ratio of 24.6 %, this results in an average cost of debt 
after taxes of 2.3 % (previous year: 2.0 %).

In 2013, the average market value of the equity amounted 
to about € 5.5 billion and the average debt was about  
€ 2.7 billion. The share of equity in total capital was 67 % 
and of debt 33 %.

In total, this results in a weighted average cost of capi-
tal rate for the K+S Group of 6.2 % (previous year: 6.4 %) 
after taxes. On the basis of an average capital tied up of 
€ 5,544.1 million (of which operationally tied up: € 4,318.4 
million), this gives a cost of capital of € 343.7 million for 
2013. This corresponds to a cost of capital rate before 
taxes of 8.2 % (previous year: 8.7 %).

4.8  Financial position

Principles and goals of financial 
management of the K+S Group

Financial management is centrally 
controlled 
The overriding goals of the financial management of the 
K+S Group include:

++ securing liquidity and controlling it efficiently across 
the Group, 

++ maintaining and optimising the financial capability 
of the Group as well as

++ reducing financial risks also by means of financial 
instruments.

	 Multiperiod overview of margin and yield key figures 1� TAB: 4.7.7

� 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010  � 2009

Figures in %

Gross margin 43.2 45.1 45.4 38.1 34.4

EBITDA margin 23.0 26.3 28.7 20.6 11.5

EBIT margin 16.6 20.4 22.7 15.4 6.7

Return on revenues 2 11.1 13.7 15.7 9.8 2.6

Return on equity after taxes 2, 3 12.8 19.6 20.2 18.7 8.4

Return on total investment 2, 3 10.9 16.1 16.4 14.7 6.9

Return on Capital Employed (ROCE) 15.2 19.9 25.2 22.0 9.3

Weighted average cost of capital before taxes 8.2 8.7 8.6 9.5 9.9

Value Added (€ million) 302.3 452.4 597.3 406.1 (16.2)

1	 �Information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group; the year 2009, as well as the years 2009 until 2010 also include the discontinued operations of the COMPO 
business and the nitrogen business, respectively.

2	 �The adjusted key figures only include the result from operating forecast hedges of the respective reporting period reported in EBIT I (see also ‘Notes to the income statement 
and the statement of comprehensive income’ on page 146). In addition, related effects on deferred and cash taxes are eliminated; tax rate for 2013: 28.6 % (2012: 28.5 %).

3	 Information refers to the continued and discontinued operations of the K+S Group. 
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Through a centralised cash management, we con-
trol our liquidity and optimise the payment streams 
within the Group. In order to maintain the financial 
capability of the Group and to attain a low cost of 
capital for borrowed capital and for equity, we aim 
to achieve a capital structure for the K+S Group in 
a long-term and sustainable manner, which is orien-
tated to the usual criteria and indicators for an “invest-
ment grade” rating. This does not rule out a temporary 
deviation from this approach. The management of the 
capital structure is undertaken on the basis of the fol-
lowing key figures:  / TAB: 4.8.1

Group currency and interest rate management is per-
formed centrally for all Group companies. Derivative 
financial instruments are only entered into with top-
rated banks and are spread across several banks and 
regularly monitored so as to reduce the risk of default.

Foreign currency hedging system 
Exchange rate fluctuations can lead to the value of the 
service performed not matching the value of the con-
sideration, because income and expenditure arise at dif-
ferent times in different currencies (transaction risks). 
Exchange rate fluctuations, especially in relation to the 
US dollar, play a particular role for the Potash and Mag-
nesium Products business unit in relation to the levels 
of its proceeds and receivables. Within the framework 
of transaction hedging, key net positions per currency 
are hedged through derivatives, normally options and 

futures. Furthermore, currency effects arise at subsidi-
aries whose functional currency is not the euro (transla-
tion risks): On the one hand, the earnings of these com-
panies determined in a foreign currency are translated 
into euros at average rates and recognised in profit or 
loss, and on the other hand, their net assets are trans-
lated into euros at spot rates. This can result in currency-
related fluctuations in the equity of the K+S Group. 
Translation effects from the conversion of US dollars at 
present mainly appear in the Salt business unit and will 
in the future also play an increasingly important role 
in the Potash and Magnesium Products business unit. 

Within the framework of transaction hedging, options 
and futures are utilised to hedge the worst case, but at 
the same time, the opportunity is retained for part of 
the foreign currency position to participate in a more 
favourable exchange rate development. 

For 2013, the realised price of the US dollar in the Pot-
ash and Magnesium Products business unit was EUR/

USD 1.30 including costs (previous year: EUR/USD 1.32). 
The hedging measures therefore led to an improved 
exchange rate in comparison to the average EUR/USD 
spot rate after premiums.  / TAB: 4.8.2

For the construction of the new potash plant in Canada 
(Legacy Project), during the primary investment phase 
until 2016, payments will be made in the Canadian dol-
lar and the US dollar. The Canadian dollar investments 
are partly aided by a natural hedge arising from sur-
pluses in the salt business in Canada. Futures or options, 
which lock in a worst-case scenario, are used to hedge 
the remaining CAD net position. The US dollar invest-
ments are included in the USD net position of the Pot-
ash and Magnesium Products business unit; during the 
investment phase, this leads to a reduction of the total 
US dollar volume requiring hedging. In the subsequent 
operating phase, the hedge volume will increase given 
the anticipated additional USD revenues.
/ Further information  about the Legacy Project  can 
be found on our website at www.k-plus-s.com 

	 Key figures for the management of the capital structure� TAB: 4.8.1

Target 
corridor  � 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010  � 2009

Net indebtedness/EBITDA 1.0 to 1.5 1.1 0.8 0.5 0.8 2.4

Net indebtedness/Equity (%) max. of 100 30.5 24.4 19.8 27.6 64.5

Equity ratio (%) 40 to 50 45.3 51.4 50.9 47.6 40.1
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Financing analysis 

With the successful issue of two bonds in Decem-
ber 2013, each with a volume of € 500 million, the K+S 
Group again proved its attractiveness as a bond issuer. 
Besides, already in July 2013 our syndicated credit line 
was extended early with favourable conditions and 
raised to € 1 billion. 

The financing structure of the K+S Group continues to 
be stable compared to the end of 2012. As of 31 December 

2013, 81 % of the financing resulted from equity and from 
non-current debt, which itself consists of bond payables 
and provisions.  / FIG: 4.8.1

Equity share down due to issuance  
of two bonds
At € 3,396.6 million, equity was basically stable (2012:  
€ 3,393.9 million). At 45.3 % of the balance sheet total, the 
equity ratio continued to be at a high level, although the 
figure was down on that of the previous year due to the 
issuance of two bonds (2012: 51.4 %). 

Debt share increases
In 2013, the debt of the K+S Group increased from  
€ 3,202.7 million to € 4,101.6 million. As of 31 December 
2013, it consisted of 30 % provisions, 55 % financial liabil-
ities, 7 % accounts payable trade, and 6 % tax liabilities 
from income taxes and deferred taxes. 

As of 31 December 2013, non-current debt, including non-
current provisions, totalled € 2,686.8 million; the increase 
compared to the previous year’s figure (€ 2,555.3 million) 
is largely attributable to the issuing of two bonds. This 
was countered by an opposing effect from the reclas-
sification of the bond due in September 2014, which is 
now recognised as current debt. The proportion of non-
current debt was reduced to 35.8 % of the balance sheet 
total (31 December 2012: 38.8 %). 

Current debt increased in the course of the reclassification 
from € 647.4 million at the end of 2012 to € 1,414.8 million as 
of 31 December 2013. The proportion of current debt in rela-
tion to the balance sheet total thus increased from 9.8 % in 
the previous year to 18.9 % as of 31 December 2013. 
/ Further details of the change in individual bal-
ance sheet items  can be found in the Notes to the consolidated 
financial statements on page 151. 

Financial liabilities
As of 31 December 2013, financial liabilities amounted 
to € 2,255.2 million. The majority of non-current debt is 
attributable to the corporate bonds issued in June 2012 
as well as in December 2013. 

	E quity and liabilities� FIG: 4.8.1

in % 20 40 60 80 100
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 E quity       N on-current debt       C urrent debt

 

 

45.3 35.8 18.9

51.4 38.8 9.8

	H edging of exchange rate risks – Potash and magnesium products business Unit TAB: 4.8.2

� 2012  � Q1/13   � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013 

EUR /USD exchange rate after premiums 1.32 1.31 1.28 1.29 1.34 1.30

Average EUR /USD spot rate 1.28 1.32 1.31 1.32 1.36 1.33
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Financial liabilities in foreign currencies are predomi-
nantly denominated in US dollar. As of 31 December 
2013, they amounted to just € 17.9 million after con-
version. 

Provisions 
The main non-current provisions of the K+S Group are 
provisions for mining obligations as well as for pensions 
and similar obligations.

The provisions for non-current mining obligations 
amounted to € 743.9 million after having been € 706.6 
million in the previous year. The increase is largely 
attributable to the annual accumulation of provisions, 
the recognition of additional provisions for mining risks 
and the revaluation of existing provisions. An increase 
in the average discount factor (currently: 4.3 %) of half a 
percentage point for provisions for mining obligations 
would result in a reduction of the carrying amount by 
about € 80 million. Conversely, a reduction in the dis-
count factor of half a percentage point would cause 
provisions for mining obligations to rise by about € 109 
million. It is important to note in this regard that the 
described changes in provisions resulting from a change 
in the discount rate do not result in a corresponding 
impact on earnings. For a material part of the provisions 
for mining obligations the adjustments on the basis of 
the change in valuation parameters must be carried out 
under the provisions of IFRIC 1. A balance sheet reduc-
tion or extension would therefore basically result for 

the corresponding items of the provisions. Furthermore, 
effects arising from the adjustment of other valuation 
parameters (e.g. the rate of inflation) can counteract the 
effect of a change in the discount rate. 

The non-current provisions for pensions and similar 
obligations amounted to € 102.6 million after having 
been € 160.1 million in the previous year; the decline 
is mainly attributable to increased discount rates. The 

	 Multiperiod overview of financial position 1� TAB: 4.8.3

� 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010  � 2009

in € million

Equity 3,396.6 3,393.9 3,084.6 2,651.6 2,094.6

Equity ratio (%) 45.3 51.4 50.9 47.6 40.1

Non-current debt 2,686.8 2,555.3 1,953.6 1,919.1 2,235.7
– �thereof provisions for pensions 

and similar obligations 102.6 160.1 95.3 184.8 194.3

– thereof provisions for mining obligations 743.9 706.6 580.6 528.4 419.2

Non-current provisions as share of balance sheet (%) 12.9 15.1 13.6 15.5 16.0

Current debt 1,414.8 647.4 1,018.7 1,003.0 886.8

– thereof accounts payable – trade 271.5 289.2 613.8 511.2 346.9

Financial liabilities 2,255.2 1,265.8 770.6 786.6 1,266.9

Net financial liabilities 190.5 (39.4) (65.1) 19.3 737.8

Net indebtedness 1,037.0 827.3 610.8 732.5 1,351.3

Level of indebtedness I (%) 66.4 37.3 25.0 29.7 60.5

Level of indebtedness II (%) 30.5 24.4 19.8 27.6 64.5

Working Capital 844.9 1,025.7 840.9 959.4 970.5

Cash flow from operating activities 2 755.7 607.2 633.4 826.4 534.8

Free cash flow 2 (53.6) (359.4) (233.7) 648.7 (811.1)
Cash flow for/from financing activities 2 721.3 243.0 (261.7) (439.7) 1,168.1

1	 �Information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group; the years until 2010 as well as the years until 2011 also include the discontinued operations of the COMPO 
business and the nitrogen business, respectively.

2	 Information for the years 2010 until 2013 refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group.
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average weighted discount factor for pensions and simi-
lar obligations rose to 4.2 % as of 31 December 2013 after 
having been 3.8 % in the previous year. The actuarial 
measurement of pension provisions is performed by 
applying the projected unit credit method in accordance 
with IAS 19.  / TAB: 4.8.3

/ An expl anation can be found in the Notes to the 
consolidated financial statements  on page 159.

Significance of off-balance-sheet 
financing instruments for the finan-
cial and the asset position 

We primarily use operating leases in respect of, for 
example, company vehicles, storage capacities and IT 
equipment; their extent has no material bearing on the 
economic position of the K+S Group.

Capital expenditure analysis

In 2013, the K+S Group invested € 742.5 million, represent-
ing an increase of € 277.0 million or 60 %. Of this, € 362.0 
million was accounted for by investments under our Leg-
acy Project in Canada. In addition, the increase is attribut-
able to the implementation of the package of measures 
on water protection in the Hesse-Thuringia potash dis-
trict and the construction of the saline wastewater pipe-
line from the Neuhof site to the Werra plant.  / TAB: 4.8.4

	C apital expenditure by unit 1� TAB: 4.8.4

� Q1/13  � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013  � 2012  � %

in € million
Potash and Magnesium 
Products business unit 85.4 173.2 159.5 188.5 606.5 332.9 + 82.2

Salt business unit 10.9 15.8 23.3 57.4 107.4 111.3 (3.5)

Complementary Activities 0.3 0.5 0.8 1.8 3.4 6.3 (46.0)

Other capital expenditure 14.2 1.8 2.9 6.3 25.2 15.0 + 68.0

K+S Group 110.8 191.3 186.4 254.0 742.5 465.5 + 59.5

Share of capital expenditure (%) 14.9 25.8 25.1 34.2 100.0 — —

1	 Capital expenditure of continued operations in property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment properties.

	C apital expenditure compared with depreciation/�
	 amortisation and cash flow from operating activities 1� FIG: 4.8.2

in € million 200 400 600 800 1,000

2013

2012

2011

2010

2009

 C apital expenditure 2        Depreciation/Amortisation 2       C ash flow from operating activities

1	 �Information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group; the year 2009, as well as the years 2009 until 2010 also include the discontinued operations of the COMPO 
business and the nitrogen business, respectively.

2	 Investments in or depreciation/amortisation on property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment properties as well as depreciation on financial assets.

    742.5
    251.3 

    755.7
    465.5

    229.2 
    607.2

    293.1
    239.8 

    633.4
    188.6

    238.5 
    826.4

    177.6
    173.8 

    534.8
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At the end of the year, there were capital expenditure 
obligations totalling € 382.4 million, which relate to as 
yet uncompleted investment undertakings from 2013.
/ FIG: 4.8.2

Potash and Magnesium Products  
business unit
In the Potash and Magnesium Products business unit, 
we invested € 606.5 million, i. e. € 273.6 million or 82 % 
more than in the previous year. The major part of capital 
expenditure (€ 362.0 million) was accounted for by infra-
structure, water supply, drilling operations and engi-
neering works under the Legacy Project in Canada. We 
additionally invested just under € 80.0 million for the 
package of measures for water protection in the Hesse-
Thuringia potash district as well as about € 36.0 million 
for the construction of the saline wastewater pipeline 
from the Neuhof site to the Werra plant. There was also 
a focus on projects for improving the exploitation of 
raw material. 

Salt business unit
At € 107.4 million, capital expenditure in the Salt busi-
ness unit in 2013 was more or less stable in relation to 
the previous year (2012: € 111.3 million). The optimisation 
of the mining process at the rock salt site in Fairport, 
USA, measures for the development of a deeper extrac-
tion level at the rock salt site of Weeks Island, USA, as 
well as the expansion of the brine field at Frisia in Har-
lingen, the Netherlands, were among the most impor-
tant projects in the year under review. 

Complementary Activities
During the year under review, capital expenditure on 
Complementary Activities amounted to € 3.4 million, a 
decrease of € 2.9 million in relation to the previous year’s 
figure (2012: € 6.3 million). In the waste management 
and recycling segment, further progress was made on 
the development of a further field for underground re-
utilisation at the German Bernburg site. 

Liquidity analysis

Cash flow provided by operating activities (exclud-
ing out-financing of pension obligations) increased 
by about 19 % to € 771.6 million during the year under 

review (2012: € 650.6 million). Due to business activi-
ties, the year under review saw a reduction in working 
capital. In the Potash and Magnesium Products busi-
ness unit, receivables fell as a result of price and vol-
ume factors, especially in the overseas business. In the 
Salt business unit, there was also a significant decrease 
in receivables and a significant reduction in invento-
ries due to in part above-average wintry weather in 
the first quarter. In addition, a good winter in the USA 
at the end of the year led to a further reduction in 
stocks.  / TAB: 4.8.5

During the year under review, cash flow for investment 
activities (excluding purchases/sales of securities and 
other financial investments) amounted to € (707.0) mil-

	C ash flow review 1� TAB: 4.8.5

� Q1/13  � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013  � 2012  � %

in € million

Cash flow from operating activities 314.0 230.1 73.5 138.1 755.7 607.2 + 24.5

Cash flow for investing activities (179.2) (31.3) (142.3) (456.5) (809.3) (966.6) + 16.3

Free cash flow 134.8 198.8 (68.8) (318.4) (53.6) (359.4) + 85.1
Cash flow from operating activities without 
out-financing of pension obligations 2 319.8 234.3 77.3 140.2 771.6 650.6 + 18.6
Cash flow for investing activities without 
investments in/sales of securities and 
other financial investments 3 (107.6) (166.0) (184.4) (249.0) (707.0) (408.1) (73.2)

Adjusted free cash flow 212.2 68.3 (107.1) (108.8) 64.6 242.5 (73.4)

1	 Information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group.
2	Q1/13: € (5.8) million, Q2/13: € (4.2) million, Q3/13: € (3.8) million, Q4/13: € (2.1) million, 2013: € (15.9) million, 2012: € (43.4) million.
3	 Q1/13: € (71.6) million, Q2/13: € 134.7 million, Q3/13: € 105.2 million, Q4/13: € (270.6) million, 2013: € (102.3) million, 2012: € (558.5) million.
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lion and was thus below the level of the previous year 
(2012: € (408.1) million). The main reasons for this were 
particularly higher disbursements for the Legacy Project 
as well as for the package of measures for water protec-
tion. Adjusted free cash flow (excluding out-financing of 
pension obligations as well as purchases/sales of securi-
ties and other financial investments) totalled € 64.6 mil-
lion (2012: € 242.5 million). 

The cash flow from financing activities for the year 
under review was € 721.3 million (2012: € 243.0 mil-
lion). The change is mainly attributable to the success-
ful placement of two bonds in December 2013 with a 
nominal amount totalling € 1 billion. As of 31 Decem-
ber 2013, net cash and cash equivalents amounted to  
€ 1,005.0 million (31 December 2012: € 345.0 million). 
These concerned investments mainly relating to time 
deposits, money market instruments as well as compa-
rably short-term securities, which continued to remain 
available as cash reserves.

4.9  Asset position

Analysis of asset structure

The balance sheet total of the K+S Group increased by 
13.7 % to € 7,498.2 million as of 31 December 2013. The 
ratio of non-current to current assets, at 55:45, continues 
to be balanced.  / FIG: 4.9.1

Property, plant and equipment increased to € 2,933.2 
million (31 December 2012: € 2,527.4 million). This is 
particularly attributable to capital expenditure in the 
Potash and Magnesium Products business unit. Due 
to a reclassification of non-current to current assets 
essentially conditioned by residual terms, non-current 
financial assets as well as securities and other financial 
investments decreased to € 193.2 million (31 December 
2012: € 515.4 million). In addition, the proceeds from 
the issue of two bonds in December 2013 partly flowed 
temporarily into assets with a maturity of less than 
twelve months, so that current securities and other 
financial investments almost doubled to € 856.2 million 
(31 December 2012: € 435.0 million). In particular due to 
the above-average de-icing salt business, inventories 
decreased significantly to € 552.6 million (31 Decem-
ber 2012: € 687.9 million). As a result of the proceeds 
from the bond issue at the end of the year, cash and 
cash equivalents increased sharply to € 1,011.3 million  
(31 December 2012: € 351.8 million).

Including cash and cash equivalents (€ 1,011.3 million), 
the non-current and current securities and other finan-
cial investments (€ 1,035.5 million), the non-current pro-
visions for mining obligations and pensions (€ 743.9 
million and € 102.6 million, respectively) as well as the 
financial liabilities (€ 2,255.2 million), and after taking 
into account claims for reimbursement in connection 
with a bond at Morton Salt (€ 17.9 million), this results 
in net indebtedness for the K+S Group of € 1,037.0 mil-
lion (31 December 2012: € 827.3 million) as of 31 Decem-
ber 2013.  / TAB: 4.9.1

/ Definitions of the key figures used can be found in the 
‘Further Information’ section on page 180.

Earmarked plan assets 

In 2005, we started on the out-financing of obligations 
for pensions and partial retirement of the domestic 
companies through a Contractual Trust Arrangement 
(CTA) model. By making allocations to the CTA model, 

	A ssets� fig: 4.9.1

in % 20 40 60 80 100
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2012

 N on-current assets       C urrent assets

 

 

55.4 44.6

62.9 37.1
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the corresponding financial resources are earmarked 
for the purpose of settling pension obligations and early 
retirement arrangements. The same applies to plan 
assets which serve the financing of the pension obliga-
tions of the Morton Group. There are also pledged rein-
surance arrangements which are also to be classified as 
plan assets according to IFRS. In accordance with IFRS, 
the obligations for pensions and partial retirement and 
the associated plan assets are recorded on a net basis in 
the balance sheet. The assets earmarked in connection 
with personnel obligations increased by € 10.2 million in 

2013 to a total of € 425.7 million mainly as a result of fur-
ther allocations as well as positive performance. Details 
on the composition of these plan assets as well as on 
the out-financing performed in 2013 can be found in the 
Consolidated Notes under note (21) ‘Provisions for pen-
sions and similar obligations’ as well as under note (23) 
‘Non-current obligations to employees’. 

Off-balance sheet assets 

Other financial obligations totalled € 595.7 million as 
of 31 December 2013 (31 December 2012: € 299.2 million) 
and concern both obligations arising from as yet uncom-
pleted capital expenditure projects as well as from oper-
ating leases for items of factory and office equipment 
(e. g. printers, photocopiers and IT peripherals). In addi-
tion, vehicles and storage capacities are leased. Due to 
the chosen contractual structures, these items are not to 
be carried under fixed assets. Information about other 
intangible, unrecognised assets in the sense of customer 
and supplier relationships as well as organisational and 
procedural advantages can be found in our Company/
Sustainability Report; investors and capital market rela-
tionships are explained in the section ‘K+S on the Capi-
tal Market’ on page 23.

Comments on acquisitions and  
disposals of companies 

Acquisitions and disposals of companies were not 
effected in the year under review. In accordance with our 
two-pillar strategy, we want to grow in the Potash and 
Magnesium Products and Salt business units and to focus 
our management resources and financial means on this. 
/ Further information  can be found in the Notes to the con-
solidated financial statements on page 134. 

	 Multiperiod overview of net asset position 1� TAB: 4.9.1

� 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010  � 2009

in € million

Property, plant and equipment, intangible assets 3,868.9 3,528.2 3,247.9 2,803.3 2,658.0
Financial assets, non-current securities 
and other financial investments 193.2 515.4 74.4 24.1 22.4

Inventories 552.6 687.9 730.0 740.2 680.4

Accounts receivable – trade 737.9 770.3 928.8 949.8 849.6
Cash and cash equivalents, current  
securities and other financial investments 1,867.5 786.8 757.8 748.4 529.1

Net financial liabilities 190.5 (39.4) (65.1) 19.3 737.8

Net indebtedness 1,037.0 827.3 610.8 732.5 1,351.3

Equity/fixed assets ratio I (%) 87.5 95.8 94.5 93.8 78.2

Equity/fixed assets ratio II (%) 156.7 167.9 154.4 161.8 161.7

Liquidity ratio I (%) 132.0 121.5 74.4 74.6 59.7

Liquidity ratio II (%) 195.0 266.2 180.3 186.7 172.6

Liquidity ratio III (%) 236.2 378.1 256.1 262.9 252.7

1	 �Information refers to the continued operations of the K+S Group; the years 2009 until 2010 as well as the years 2009 until 2011 also include the discontinued operations of 
the COMPO business and the nitrogen business, respectively.
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4.10 Segment  presentation

Potash and Magnesium products  
Business unit

Revenues tangibly lower than a year ago
In financial year 2013, revenues of the business unit 
decreased by € 253.0 million or 11 % to € 2,037.6 million; 
this is attributable to a tangible decrease in the average 
price of our product range as well as an adverse devel-
opment of the EUR/USD exchange rate. Sales volumes 
in 2013 totalled 6.94 million tonnes and were on a par 
with the high level of the previous year (2012: 6.95 mil-
lion tonnes).  / taB: 4.10.1, 4.10.2, 4.10.3

/ A description of the market  environment in the 
Potash and M agnesium Products business unit  can 
be found on page 72 in the ‘Industry-specific framework conditions’ 
section.

	 Variance analysis TAB: 4.10.1

� 2013
in %

Change in revenues (11.0)

– volume/structure + 1.3

– prices/price-related (10.8)

– exchange rates (1.5)

– consolidation —

Potassium chloride (19.1)

Fertilizer specialities (1.5)

Industrial products (5.6)

	 Potash and Magnesium Products business unit� TAB: 4.10.2

� Q1/13  � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013  � 2012  � %

in € million

Revenues 625.5 548.3 456.7 407.1 2,037.6 2,290.6 (11.0)
Earnings before interest, taxes,  
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 236.0 209.8 134.8 86.9 667.5 867.2 (23.0)

Operating earnings (EBIT I) 209.2 182.0 107.0 54.3 552.5 770.9 (28.3)

Capital expenditure 85.4 173.2 159.5 188.5 606.5 332.9 + 82.2

Employees as of reporting date (number) 8,310 8,258 8,382 — 8,367 8,310 + 0.7

	R evenues by region� FIG: 4.10.1

� 2013  � 2012

in %

1 Europe 54.7 48.9

– of which Germany 13.6 12.9

2 North America 3.2 2.8

3 South America 20.5 23.5

4 Asia 17.1 19.8

5 Africa, Oceania 4.5 5.0

5�

3

4

1

2

	R evenues by product group� FIG: 4.10.2

� 2013  � 2012

in %

1 Potassium chloride 46.5 51.1

2 Fertilizer specialities 40.4 36.5

3 Industrial products 13.1 12.4

3

2

1
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The proportion of the revenues generated in Europe 
in the year under review amounted to almost 55 %; 
this revenue share is largely free of any direct foreign 
exchange risk. The large part of the remaining revenues 
was generated in South America and Asia.

In the case of our most important product in terms 
of volumes, potassium chloride, revenues in the year 
under review fell by € 224.2 million or about 19 % to  
€ 947.6 million. While the sales volume remained basi-
cally stable, there was a tangible decrease in prices, 
particularly overseas. In Europe, we sold 1.08 million 
tonnes of potassium chloride; this figure was up about 
5 % on the previous year (2012: 1.03 million tonnes). 

Overseas sales volumes amounted to 2.13 million 
tonnes and were thus 4 % down on the previous year 
(2012: 2.22 million tonnes).  / FIG: 4.10.1

The fertilizer specialities were influenced by the 
uncertainties on the potash market to a lesser extent, 
due to their plant nutrients containing a low amount 
of potash or none at all. Here, we achieved revenues of  
€ 822.8 million during the past financial year, a 
decrease of only 2 % (2012: € 835.6 million). While 
the European sales volume, at 2.04 million tonnes, 
increased by as much as 3 %, the sales volume over-
seas, at 0.95 million tonnes, was just under 5 % lower 
than in the previous year.

In the industrial products area, revenues decreased by 
about 6 % to € 267.2 million (2012: € 283.2 million); nega-
tive price and currency effects could not be made up 
for by a positive volume development. Sales volumes 
amounted to 0.53 million tonnes (+3 %) in Europe and to 
0.21 million tonnes ((6)%) overseas.  / Fig: 4.10.2

EBITDA and operating earnings EBIT I down
For the year under review, earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) of the 
business unit amounted to € 667.5 million and were 
down € 199.7 million, or 23 %, year on year (2012: € 867.2 
million). 

Operating earnings EBIT I decreased by € 218.4 million, 
or about 28 %, to € 552.5 million (2012: € 770.9 million). 
This includes depreciation charges of € 115.0 million, 
which increased by € 18.7 million in comparison to 
those for the previous year. The decrease in earnings 
is particularly due to the lower average proceeds for 
potash fertilizers. 

Salt business unit

Revenues up significantly on previous year
In the year under review, revenues generated by the 
Salt business unit amounted to € 1,751.4 million and 
were thus up € 266.6 million or 18 % on the low previ-
ous year’s figure. The decisive factor for this was mainly 
the positive volume development in the de-icing salt 
business. Negative currency and structural effects con-

	D evelopment of revenues, sales volumes and average prices by region 1� TAB: 4.10.3

� Q1/13  � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013  � 2012  � %

Revenues  € million 625.5 548.3 456.7 407.1 2,037.6 2,290.6 (11.0)

Europe € million 354.4 276.3 233.1 250.1 1,113.9 1,118.7 (0.4)

Overseas US$ million 358.0 355.3 296.5 216.9 1,226.7 1,503.7 (18.4)

Sales volumes t eff. million 2.03 1.77 1.63 1.51 6.94 6.95 (0.2)

Europe t eff. million 1.11 0.89 0.77 0.88 3.65 3.52 + 3.7

Overseas t eff. million 0.92 0.88 0.86 0.63 3.29 3.43 (4.3)

Average Prices €/t eff. 308.0 309.4 280.4 270.7 293.8 329.4 (10.8)

Europe €/t eff. 318.8 311.7 301.3 284.8 305.2 317.8 (4.0)

Overseas US$/t eff. 389.5 401.0 346.3 346.8 373.3 437.9 (14.7)

1	 �Revenues include prices both inclusive and exclusive of freight costs and, in the case of overseas revenues, are based on the respective 
EUR/USD spot rates. For most of these revenues, hedging transactions have been concluded. The price information is also affected by  
the respective product mix and is therefore to be understood as providing a rough indication only.
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trasted with this. Sales volumes of crystallised salt dur-
ing the year under review totalled 22.81 million tonnes 
and were almost 30 % above the level of the previous 
year (17.56 million tonnes), given a normalising demand 
for de-icing salt.  / taB: 4.10.4, 4.10.5, 4.10.6

/ A description of the market  environment in the 
Salt business unit  can be found on page 73 in the ‘Industry-
specific framework conditions’ section.

Last year, a good 25 % of the revenues of the Salt busi-
ness unit were generated in Europe and were there-
fore largely free of any direct foreign exchange risk. 
The largest share of revenues was achieved in North 
America at about 65 %; in South America, the share 
was a good 7 %.  / FIG: 4.10.3

	 Variance analysis TAB: 4.10.4

� 2013

in %

Change in revenues + 18.0

– volume/structure + 20.0

– prices/price-related + 1.0

– exchange rates (3.1)

– consolidation + 0.1

Food grade salt (3.9)

Industrial salt (0.6)

Salt for chemical use (9.8)

De-icing salt + 65.2

Other (4.6)

	R evenues by region� FIG: 4.10.3

� 2013  � 2012

in %

1 Europe 26.8 24.9

– of which Germany 12.6 10.3

2 North America 64.7 64.3

3 South America 7.4 9.4

4 Asia 0.7 1.3

5 Africa, Oceania 0.4 0.1

3

2

1

4, 5�

	R evenues by product group� FIG: 4.10.4

� 2013  � 2012

in %

1 Food grade salt 18.6 22.9

2 Industrial salt 28.5 33.8

3 Salt for chemical use 6.1 7.9

4 De-icing salt 43.0 30.7

5 Other 3.8 4.7

5

4

1

2

3

	S alt business unit� TAB: 4.10.5

� Q1/13  � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013  � 2012  � %

in € million

Revenues 614.5 285.2 321.0 530.7 1,751.4 1,484.8 + 18.0
Earnings before interest, taxes,  
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 100.2 18.6 37.0 80.1 235.9 179.5 + 31.4

Operating earnings (EBIT I) 73.1 (13.5) 9.2 49.0 117.8 61.6 + 91.3

Capital expenditure 10.9 15.8 23.3 57.4 107.4 111.3 (3.5)

Employees as of reporting date (number) 5,015 5,028 5,123 — 5,091 5,092 —
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Revenues in the salt for chemical use business came 
to € 105.9 million; this corresponds to a decrease by  
€ 11.5 million or 10 %. This development is attributable 
to negative volume and currency effects. The sales vol-
ume amounted to 2.50 million tonnes and was down 
by about 13 % year on year (2012: 2.87 million tonnes). 

De-icing salt revenues amounted to € 753.4 million in the 
year under review and were therefore € 297.4 million or 
65 % above the previous year’s low figure (2012: € 456.0 
million). In particular, the continued winter weather in 
Europe at the beginning of the year as well as the good 
early stocking-up business in the further course of the 
year were decisive factors for the positive revenue devel-
opment. In addition to this, good sales volumes could be 
achieved in North America in the fourth quarter. The 

sales volume increased to 13.79 million tonnes year on 
year (2012: 8.33 million tonnes).  / FIG: 4.10.4

EBITDA and operating earnings EBIT I sig-
nificantly up on previous year’s results
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amorti-
sation (EBITDA) increased by around 31 % to € 235.9 mil-
lion (2012: € 179.5 million). 

At € 117.8 million, operating earnings EBIT I of the Salt 
business unit in 2013 were up € 56.2 million or about 
91 % on the figure for the preceding year (2012: € 61.6 
million). Operating earnings EBIT I include deprecia-
tion and amortisation of € 118.1 million (2012: € 117.9 mil-
lion). The increase in earnings is primarily attributable 
to significantly higher revenues as a result of volume 
factors due to the above-average de-icing salt business 
in Europe. This was countered by one-time effects at 
Morton Salt connected with the transition to SAP, the 
planned closure of a production site and the sale of a 
transport and supply ship as part of the transition to a 
more cost-effective external enterprise. Besides, catch-
ing-up effects related to maintenance activities and the 
currency result had a negative effect. 

Complementary Activities

Revenues reach € 159.4 million (+ 3.7 %)
At € 159.4 million, revenues for Complementary Activi-
ties were almost 4 % above the level of the previous 
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At € 326.2 million, food grade salt revenues were down  
€ 13.3 million, or just under 4 %, for the year under 
review. Whereas in Europe they could be increased as 
a result of a positive volume development, in North and 
South America, lower prices as well as negative currency 
effects jointly led to a decrease in revenues. The sales 
volume remained basically stable at 1.43 million tonnes 
(2012: 1.42 million tonnes).  / FIG: 4.10.3

Revenues for industrial salts, e. g. fishery, feed and high-
purity pharmaceutical salts, were robust at € 499.5 mil-
lion for the past financial year, having amounted to  
€ 502.4 million in the previous year. In North Amer-
ica negative price effects could be compensated by 
increased sales volumes. The sales volume amounted 
to 5.09 million tonnes and were therefore slightly up on 
the previous year’s figure (4.94 million tonnes). 

	D evelopment of revenues, sales volumes and average prices 1� TAB: 4.10.6

� Q1/13  � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013  � 2012  � %

De-icing salt

Revenues € million 359.4 40.4 73.3 280.3 753.4 456.0 + 65.2

Sales volumes t million 6.53 0.77 1.41 5.07 13.79 8.33 + 65.5

Average prices €/t 55.1 52.1 51.9 55.2 54.6 54.7 (0.1)
Industrial salt, salt for chemical 
use and food grade salt

Revenues € million 236.5 233.2 233.6 228.4 931.6 959.2 (2.9)

Sales volumes t million 2.38 2.19 2.24 2.21 9.02 9.23 (2.3)

Average prices €/t 99.5 106.5 104.4 103.2 103.3 104.0 (0.7)

1	 �Revenues include prices both inclusive and exclusive of freight costs. The price information is also affected by changes of the exchange 
rates and the respective product mix and is therefore to be understood as providing a rough indication only.
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year. In accordance with IFRS, internal revenues deriv-
ing from services rendered to K+S Group companies 
are not included in these figures. If these internal rev-
enues are included, total revenues for the year under 
review amounted to € 192.6 million (2012: € 187.1 million).
/ taB: 4.10.7, 4.10.8

/ An overview of the individual areas of activit y 
can be found on page 46.

In the waste management and recycling segment, rev-
enues remained almost constant at € 89.6 million (2012:  
€ 88.7 million), while in CFK Trading they rose to € 17.8 
million (2012: € 15.0 million). Revenues in the animal 
hygiene products segment rose to € 39.0 million (2012:  
€ 36.9 million) mainly as a result of volume factors, while 
revenues at K+S Transport GmbH remained fairly sta-
ble at € 13.0 million (2012: € 13.1 million).  / FIG: 4.10.5, 4.10.6

	 Variance analysis TAB: 4.10.7

� 2013

in %

Change in revenues + 3.7

– volume/structure + 1.6

– prices/price-related + 2.1

– exchange rates —

– consolidation —

Waste Management and Recycling + 1.0

K+S Transport GmbH (0.8)

Animal hygiene products + 5.7

CFK Trading + 18.7

	C omplementary activities� TAB: 4.10.8

� Q1/13  � Q2/13  � Q3/13  � Q4/13  � 2013  � 2012  � %

in € million

Revenues 39.7 40.4 39.6 39.7 159.4 153.7 + 3.7
Earnings before interest, taxes,  
depreciation and amortisation (EBITDA) 8.6 8.0 6.9 8.2 31.7 28.3 + 12.0

Operating earnings (EBIT I) 6.8 6.2 5.3 6.4 24.7 21.1 + 17.1

Capital expenditure 0.3 0.5 0.8 1.8 3.4 6.3 (46.0)

Employees as of reporting date (number) 295 293 293 — 293 293 —

	R evenues by region� fig: 4.10.5

� 2013  � 2012

in %

1 Germany 82.7 82.4

2 Rest of Europe 16.9 17.3

3 Asia 0.4 0.3

2

1

3�

	R evenues by segment� fig: 4.10.6 

� 2013  � 2012

in %
1 Waste Management 

and Recycling 56.2 57.7

2 K+S Transport GmbH 8.1 8.5

3 Animal hygiene products 24.5 24.0

4 CFK Trading 11.2 9.8

4

3

2

1
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EBITDA and operating earnings EBIT I
The earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA) for Complementary Activi-
ties in the year under review amounted to € 31.7 mil-
lion and were thus up € 3.4 million, or 12 %, year on 
year (2012: € 28.3 million). Operating earnings EBIT I 
rose to € 24.7 million (2012: € 21.1 million). At € 7.0 mil-
lion, depreciation and amortisation in 2013 remained 
almost on the previous year’s level (2012: € 7.2 million). 
While the segments K+S Transport GmbH, animal 
hygiene products as well as waste management and 
recycling segments were able to achieve higher con-
tributions to earnings as a result of positive volume 
effects, the segment CFK Trading posted an earnings 
decrease.

4.11  Risk Report

The following Risk Report describes the risk policy, risk 
management, and internal control and risk manage-
ment system with regard to the Group accounting pro-
cess and the corporate risks of the K+S Group. The risks 
for K+S Aktiengesellschaft do not, in essence, result 
from its own operating activities, but rather from those 
of its affiliated companies. A risk event there could have 
direct or indirect effects on the earnings, financial and 
asset position of the K+S Group.

Risk policy

The business policy of the K+S Group is geared towards 
sustainably securing the existence of the Company, per-
manently generating risk-adequate returns as well as 
systematically and continuously increasing enterprise 
value. To achieve this objective, our global business 
activities require effective risk management as an inte-
gral part of corporate management.

Risk management

We define risks as the possible occurrence of internal 
and external events, which may adversely affect the 
achievement of our short- and medium-term as well 
as strategic goals. Our risk management encompasses 
the totality of all organisational rules and measures 
enabling risks to be identified and handled in a struc-
tured manner. Its goal is to recognise and assess risks 

	R isk management system of the K+S Group� FIG: 4.11.1

Board of Executive Directors

Guideline on risk management organisation

Unit Governance, Risk & Compliance

Risk profile of the Group 

Risk profiles of the corporate departments

Persons responsible for risk management of the corporate departments
Holding Potash and Magnesium 

Products business unit
Salt business unit Complementary Activities

Risk manager responsible for the corporate departments

Identification Assessment and quantification

Control Aggregation and reporting

Target agreement

Target agreement
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as well as to prevent and limit potential losses and dis-
advantages by means of appropriate measures as early 
as possible. This is intended to prevent the Company’s 
continued existence from being jeopardised and create 
long-term value. 

Organisation and tools of the risk  
management system
The Board of Executive Directors has defined group-wide 
rules for systematic and effective risk management of 
the K+S Group, in which all Group subsidiaries in Ger-
many and abroad are integrated. The group-wide risk 
management system consists of the following elements:

++ the guideline on risk management organisation in 
the K+S GROUP,

++ the governance, risk, compliance department (the risk 
management department until 31 December 2013),

++ the persons responsible for risk management in the 
corporate departments,

++ standardised risk profiles specific to business units,
++ a comprehensive presentation of the quantified risks 

in goal-setting talks (including those held between 
the Board of Executive Directors and the managers 
responsible for the corporate departments),

++ regular, uniform risk reporting as well as
++ immediate reporting in urgent cases.

The guideline on risk management organisation in the 
K+S Group includes principles for dealing with risks. It 
governs the tasks and authorisations of those involved 
in the risk management process. The requirements for 

risk reporting, which include the reportable thresholds 
for risks, are defined as mandatory. The governance, risk, 
compliance department coordinates the risk manage-
ment process and is supported by persons responsible 
for risk management in the corporate departments.

The proper functioning of the risk management system 
of the K+S Group is regularly reviewed by our internal 
audit department. The functionality and effectiveness 
of the early risk detection system of K+S Aktienge-
sellschaft is a subject of the annual audit.  / FIG: 4.11.1

The risk management process comprises the elements 
risk identification, risk assessment and quantification, 
risk control as well as risk aggregation and reporting:

Risk identification
The regular identification of risks is decentralised and 
is carried out in the corporate departments through the 
use of various tools. The methods used for risk determi-
nation range from analyses of markets and competition 
through the analysis of information from customers, 

suppliers and institutions to observing risk indicators 
from the economic and political environment.

Risk assessment and quantification
Identified risks are assessed according to a uniform meth-
odology. For each risk, we quantify its likelihood of materi-
alisation as well as, in addition to the gross loss potential, 
also the net loss potential. The latter includes effects from 
countermeasures. If the gross loss potential can be reli-
ably reduced by effective and appropriate measures, the 
focus of consideration will be on the net loss potential rec-
ognised in profit or loss. This approach makes it possible 
to understand which influence individual risk-reducing 
measures have. Additionally, a so-called ‘expected value’ 
of the effect on earnings is determined by multiplying 
the net loss potential by the likelihood of materialisation 
measured as a percentage. With regard to time, risks are 
assessed both for the current year and for a time horizon 
of three and ten years. Risks with a likelihood of materi-
alisation of over 50 % are fully taken into consideration 
in the annual forecast and medium-term planning with 
a corresponding deduction from earnings.  / TAB: 4.11.1

	E xample for gross-/net risk assessment� TAB: 4.11.1

Risk Effect
Likelihood of 

materialisation

Gross loss potential € 50 million 10 %

Effect from countermeasures € (20) million

Net loss potential € 30 million × 10 %

Expected value = € 3 million
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Risk control
One building block of risk management is the develop-
ment of suitable countermeasures for risk avoidance 
or risk reduction taking account of alternative risk sce-
narios with the aim of lowering the loss potential and 
the likelihood of materialisation. Risks can also be trans-
ferred to a third party (e. g. by taking out insurance). The 
decision regarding the implementation of correspond-
ing measures also takes into consideration the costs 
related to the effectiveness of possible measures.

Risk aggregation and reporting
Our risk management system is intended to ensure a 
transparent presentation of the risk situation. The net 
loss potential from the corporate departments is there-
fore grouped at the Group level. The risk reporting is 
based on a threshold concept. This involves the corpo-
rate departments reporting risks independently of their 
likelihood of materialisation if defined thresholds for the 
gross or net loss potential are reached. At Group level, 
we observe risks starting from a net loss potential of at 
least € 10 million. 

Every quarter, the Board of Executive Directors receives an 
overview of the current risk situation via a standardised 
reporting system. Significant risks that arise in the short 
term are, if urgent, immediately communicated directly to 
the Board of Executive Directors. The Supervisory Board is 
briefed by the Board of Executive Directors in just as regu-
lar and timely a manner and, if urgent, immediately.

Risk management in relation to the utili-
sation of financial instruments (IFRS 7)
One objective of the K+S Group is to limit financial risks 
(e. g. exchange rate risk, interest rate risk, risk of default 
and liquidity risk) through systematic management. To 
this end, a centralised financial management has been 
established in K+S Aktiengesellschaft. Furthermore, 
the K+S Group manages its capital structure, in order 
to secure the financing of the operating business and 
the investing activities of the Company over the long 
term at any point.
/ A MORE DETAILED EXPL ANATION OF THE M ANAGEMENT 
OF THE CAPITAL STRUCTURE  can be found in the ‘Financial Posi-
tion’ section on page 82.

Our international business activities can give rise to cur-
rency-related market price risks, which we counteract 
under our currency management system by hedging 
transactions. Internal rules regulate the permitted hedg-
ing strategies as well as hedging instruments, responsi-
bilities, processes and control mechanisms. Other mar-
ket price risks may result from changes in interest rates. 
To the extent that derivative financial instruments are 
used in a targeted way for this, comparable rules apply. 
Financial transactions are only concluded with appro-
priate banks. Through regular monitoring, the suitabil-
ity of partners and compliance with position limits are 
constantly reviewed. To further limit the risk of default, a 
balanced distribution of derivative financial instruments 
across various banking institutions is prescribed. The 

selected instruments are used exclusively to secure the 
underlying transactions, but not for trading or specula-
tion. Hedging transactions are entered into, firstly, in the 
case of already existing underlying transactions; in this 
way, we want to largely avoid exchange rate risks aris-
ing from recognised underlying transactions (normally 
receivables). Secondly, we enter into hedging transac-
tions for future business, which can be anticipated with 
a high level of probability on the basis of empirically 
reliable findings (forecast hedges). Forecast hedges are 
intended to reduce the exchange rate risks of future 
financial years.
/ A MORE DETAILED EXPL ANATION OF HEDGING TR ANS
ACTIONS  can be found in the presentation of exchange rate risks on 
page 107 and in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
on page 142.

Description of the internal control 
and risk management system with 
regard to the Group accounting pro-
cess (Sec. 289 Para. 5 and Sec. 315  
Para. 2 No. 5 of the German Commer-
cial Code – HGB)

The internal control system in the K+S GROUP encom-
passes the principles, procedures and measures designed 
to ensure the effectiveness, economic efficiency and ade-
quacy of accounting procedures. 
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The guidelines for the accounting and reporting of the 
K+S GROUP in accordance with IFRS stipulate the uni-
form accounting and valuation principles for the Ger-
man and foreign companies included in the consoli-
dated financial statements. In addition, there are rules 
for the consolidated financial statements as well as 
detailed and formalised requirements for the report-
ing of the companies included. New external rules 
for the accounting are analysed on a timely basis for 
their effects and are, if these are relevant to us, imple-
mented by internal regulations in the accounting 
processes. The accounting and valuation rules for the 
separate financial statements of K+S Aktiengesell
schaft and its domestic subsidiaries are documented 
in additional guidelines and accounting instructions, 
in accordance with commercial law and supplemen-
tary provisions.

We have a groupwide IT platform for all significant com-
panies, a uniform Group chart of accounts and automat-
ically standardised accounting processes. As a result of 
this harmonisation, proper and timely reporting of key 
business transactions is ensured. Binding regulations 
are in place for additional manual recording of business 
transactions. Valuations on the balance sheet, such as 
the review of the impairment of goodwill or the calcu-
lation of mining obligations, are carried out by internal 
Group experts. In individual cases, such as the evalua-
tion of pension obligations, the evaluation is carried out 
by external experts. 

To prepare the consolidated financial statements of the 
K+S GROUP, the financial statements of those compa-
nies whose accounting is done on the IT platform of 
the K+S GROUP are imported directly into an IT consol-
idation system. In the case of the remaining companies 
included, the data of the financial statements are trans-
ferred through an Internet-based interface. Through 
system-technical controls, the validity of the trans-
ferred data of the financial statements is reviewed. In 
addition, the financial statements submitted by the 
companies included are reviewed centrally with due 
consideration being given to the reports prepared by 
the auditors. Information relevant to the consolida-
tion process is automatically derived and obtained in 
a formalised manner by the system, thus ensuring that 
intragroup transactions are properly and completely 
eliminated. All consolidation processes for the prep-
aration of the consolidated financial statements are 
carried out and documented in the IT consolidation 
system. The components of the consolidated financial 
statements, including key information for the Notes, 
are developed from this. 

Process-integrated and process-independent monitor-
ing measures are building blocks of the internal con-
trol system. Automatic IT process controls are a key 
element of the process-integrated measures. Alongside 
non-mechanical process controls such as, for example, 
the “four-eye principle”, there is an organisational sep-
aration of administrative, executive, settlement and 

approval functions. Further monitoring tasks are car-
ried out by central departments. The internal audit 
department supplements the internal control system 
with process-independent audit activities.

The annual financial statements of companies subject 
to mandatory audit and the consolidated financial state-
ments are audited by independent auditors. This is the 
key process-independent monitoring measure with 
regard to the Group accounting process. The annual 
financial statements of those German companies not 
subject to mandatory audits are audited by the internal 
audit department.

Corporate risks

In the following sections, risks that could impact the 
earnings, financial and asset position of the K+S GROUP 
and have not yet been taken into account due to a prob-
ability of occurrence of more than 50 % in planning are 
listed and described. This is based on a Group perspec-
tive and relates to the period of medium-term planning 
(three years).

The assessment of the likelihood of these risks materi-
alising is based on the criteria

++ unlikely (likelihood of materialisation: < 5 %)
++ possible (likelihood of materialisation: 5 – 50 %)
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The assessment of the possible financial impact is based 
on the following criteria

++ moderate (net loss potential: € 10 – 200 million)
++ significant (net loss potential: > € 200 million) 

A change in the framework conditions in comparison 
to the assumptions made in our medium-term plan-
ning may result in a reassessment of our estimates in 
the course of time, which is then communicated corre-
spondingly in our interim reporting. 

However, some of our risks also represent opportunities 
in the event of a countervailing trend in external frame-
work conditions and drivers. 
/ A MORE DETAILED EXPL ANATION OF THE OPPORTUNITIES 
can be found on page 109.

Significant changes against the  
comparison period
The tables 4.11.2 and 4.11.3 on pages 99 and 105 give 
an overview of risks for the K+S GROUP, their likeli-
hood of materialisation and possible financial effects 
on the earnings, financial and asset position of the 
K+S GROUP as well as changes against the compari-
son period.

The risks due to the loss of anti-dumping protection 
described on page 122 of the Financial Report 2012 
referred solely to a possible crowding out supply-side 

competition in Europe. This risk resulted from the expiry 
of trade policy measures on 13 July 2011 which affected 
imports of potassium chloride originating in Russia and 
Belarus. However, the Potash and Magnesium Products 
business unit not only competes with producers from 
Russia and Belarus, but also, for example, with produc-
ers from Canada, the Middle East and Chile. As a result 
of changed market conditions, the risk scenario for 
risks arising from increased supply or lower demand 
was reassessed and includes risks from crowding out 
supply-side competition worldwide. The risk potential 
due to the loss of anti-dumping protection is (in certain 
circumstances only temporarily) no longer listed as an 
individual risk.

The risks arising from fluctuations in demand due 
to changed inventory management by customers 
described in the Financial Report 2012 on page 120 
were reassessed. Currently, the thresholds for gross 
or net loss potential defined for risk reporting are not 
reached.

In connection with the updating of the risk position, 
the likelihood of materialisation was reassessed with 
respect to personnel risks, risks arising from a change 
in the general interest rate level as well as risks aris-
ing from a downgrading of the company rating. Fur-
thermore, the financial effects of risks from a weather-
related decrease in demand were reassessed. 

For the remaining corporate risks, there are no changes 
in the likelihood of materialisation and/or in the pos-
sible financial effects compared with the previous year.

Overview of corporate risks with  
significant financial effects

A detailed description of the cause of risk, countermeas-
ures and an assessment of the impact under current 
framework conditions is provided solely for risks with 
“significant” financial effects which could affect the deci-
sions of an informed target reader of the Group Manage-
ment Report.  / TAB: 4.11.2

External and sector-specific risks

Risks arising from macroeconomic 
developments
Cause of risk 
The demand for potash and magnesium products is 
influenced by economic growth and the associated 
improving living standards in the regions relevant to us.

The international prices for agricultural products 
should, according to our estimation, remain at a level 
that is lucrative for the agricultural sector. Conse-
quently, an incentive for farmers to increase the yield 
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per hectare also through the optimal use of fertilizers 
should be given. However, the risk exists both that the 
growth of the emerging market countries will weaken 
and that the sovereign debt crisis in the eurozone will 
intensify once again. If this should, despite the persis-
tent shortfall of agricultural products, lead to agricul-

tural prices falling to a level that triggers uncertainty 
among farmers about their future income situation, 
it could negatively impact their demand behaviour in 
relation to fertilizers. 

Measures 
We would respond to such a situation, where appro-
priate, with a needs-based steering of production. 
Moreover, the expansion of our sales areas reduces our 
dependence on regional developments.

Impact
Depending on its duration and intensity, this possible 
scenario may have a significant impact on the earn-
ings, financial and asset position of the K+S GROUP. 
The impact of the general economic situation on the 
demand for de-icing, food grade and industrial salts is, 
by contrast, of minor importance, since the business is 
largely independent of economic conditions.

Risks arising from increased supply/
lower demand
Cause of risk
Primarily products of our Potash and Magnesium busi-
ness unit may, due to external influences, be threatened 
by considerable decreases in demand.

On the supply side, negative changes may arise as a 
result of capacity expansion. Due to the estimate of 
long-term growth in demand on the global potash mar-
ket, existing producers have begun to expand their pro-
duction capacities or have already done so. Should the 
market not be ready to absorb all of these additional vol-
umes, this could increase competitive pressure. 

	Ov erview of Corporate risks I� TAB: 4.11.2

Likelihood of 
materialisation

Possible 
financial effects

External and sector-specific risks

Risks arising from macroeconomic developments possible significant

Risks arising from fluctuations in supply and demand possible significant

Risks arising from a weather-related decrease in demand possible significant

Changes in the legal environment
Risks arising from the change or refusal as well as from a court annulment  
of official approvals for the disposal of saline wastewater possible significant
Risks arising from the change or refusal as well as from a court annulment  
of official approvals for the disposal of solid production residues possible significant

Operational and strategic risks

Risks arising from acquisitions and investments unlikely significant

Risks arising from the Legacy Investment Project possible significant

Risks arising from damage due to rock bursts unlikely significant

Risks arising from water ingress unlikely significant

Compliance risks unlikely significant

Financial risks

Liquidity risks unlikely significant
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new potash capacities is very capital-intensive, there 
would be an incentive for the producers to obtain a pre-
mium on the high cost of capital.

Impact
These possible events may, depending on their duration 
and intensity, have a significant impact on the earnings, 
financial and asset position of the K+S GROUP. However, 
we consider a permanent disturbance of the market for 
potash fertilizers unlikely. We see the long-term drivers 
as retaining their relevance, as the demand for agricul-
tural products and thus for fertilizers depends on mega- 
trends such as the growing world population, a rising 
standard of living in the emerging market countries and 
the development of the bioenergy sector, and as fertiliz-
ers, which increase yields and enhance quality, thus play 
a key role in agricultural production.

Risks arising from a weather-related 
decrease in demand
Cause of risk 
A considerable sales volume risk for the Potash and 
Magnesium Products as well as Salt business units can 
arise in particular from the seasonality of demand, espe-
cially due to the dependence on weather conditions. 
Prolonged cold and wet weather conditions during 
the spring season, which is particularly important for 
Europe, can, for example, result in shifts or even declines 
in sales volumes of fertilizers. Likewise, mild winters in 

Similar effects could arise on the demand side as a result 
of a further consolidation of significant buyers or of 
deliberate buying restraint on the part of our customers. 

Both, major changes in capacity and its utilisation as 
well as decreases in demand may substantially affect 
pricing and/or sales possibilities. This can disrupt the 
existing structure of the entire fertilizer market appreci-
ably, even resulting in crowding out supply-side compe-
tition. Such changes in supply, demand and prices have 
become more evident due to the conduct of the Rus-
sian potash producer Uralkali, which in summer 2013 
left the sales organisation operated jointly with Belaru-
sian producer Belaruskali, announcing that it would 
increase its own capacities and their utilisation with-
out regard to the price level. This development caused 
considerable uncertainty among customers with regard 
to the future price development on the market for pot-
ash fertilizers, resulting in temporary buying restraint. 
Despite the first signs of stabilisation, there is no cer-
tainty about how long this period of uncertainty will 
last. Consequently, a further decline in potash prices 
cannot be ruled out.

Measures 
To boost competitiveness, we are working among oth-
ers to further improve our cost and organisational struc-
tures. We react to volatile market conditions with needs-
based production management. As the development of 

the main sales regions of de-icing salt (Europe, North 
America) may considerably reduce the sales volumes 
for this product group. 

Measures 
We are responding to this susceptibility to fluctuations 
with regional diversification, needs-based production 
management and flexible working hour models. We are 
not using special derivatives to hedge this risk so far 
because of what we still consider to be unattractive mar-
ket terms for these instruments. 

Impact
Such possible adverse effects due to the influence of the 
weather may have a moderate impact on the expected 
earnings when viewed over a year and make it more 
difficult to compare the quarterly financial statements. 
Should such for us negative weather conditions repeat 
themselves within the medium-term period, this could 
have a significant adverse effect on the earnings, finan-
cial and asset position of the K+S Group.

Changes in the legal environment

For all activities requiring approval, there is a danger 
that third parties will appeal against granted approvals 
and that these will be annulled by courts. Furthermore, 
extensions of existing approvals or new approvals may 
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temporarily or permanently be changed or withheld. 
The importance of “legislative approval frameworks” 
will further increase in future. 

Risks arising from a change or refusal  
as well as from a court annulment  
of official approvals for the disposal of 
saline wastewater
Cause of risk 
Public and political debate about the existing or in 
future even higher requirements of environmental com-
patibility of the production processes for the production 
of potash and magnesium products may impact on the 
issuing and retaining of operating licences and planning 
decisions approving public works, as well as on water 
permits. In the Potash and Magnesium Products busi-
ness unit, among others, liquid residues (saline waste-
water) arise both from current production and through 
rainfall on the tailing piles. On the basis of existing per-
mits, some of the saline wastewater is discharged into 
rivers and some is injected into underground layers of 
rock (plate dolomite). 

For the Hattorf, Unterbreizbach and Wintershall (Werra 
potash plant) sites located on the Werra, whose share of 
the total potash production capacity of the Potash and 
Magnesium Products business unit amounts to about 
45 %, an injection permit was granted and is limited 
to 30 November 2015. Discharge of saline wastewater 

into the Werra is approved until the end of December 
2020. There can be no assurance that the permits will be 
extended unchanged or newly granted. The possibility 
cannot therefore be ruled out that further investments 
in these sites might become necessary, that production 
costs might continue to rise, and that under certain cir-
cumstances even the closure of these production sites 
due to sustainable inefficiency might be required.

Measures 
By means of a comprehensive package of measures, 
which is to be implemented by the end of 2015, the 
injection and the discharge of saline wastewater will be 
reduced significantly once again. In addition, an agree-
ment was concluded with the states of Hesse and Thur-
ingia, in which the parties to the agreement jointly com-
mitted themselves to sustainable economic action, to 
secure jobs and to treat nature with the utmost respect 
for the next 30 years. The reduction of solid and liquid 
production residues from potash production will con-
tinue to be among the focal points of our research and 
development activities. As permanent local disposal is 
being called into question by some parties, a long-term 
approval of the present local concept cannot be regarded 
as certain. This is why the Potash and Magnesium Prod-
ucts business unit, parallel to the implementation of 
the local measures, has decided to also prepare applica-
tions for the approval of remote means of disposal, i. e. 
pipelines to the Upper Weser and to the North Sea. This 

is being done regardless of the fact that, in the view of 
the Company, the test criteria for pipelines are not cur-
rently being fulfilled: There must be a shared political 
will at the state and federal level, the construction and 
operation of the pipeline and the discharge of saline 
solutions must be capable of being approved over the 
long term, the measure must be ecologically meaning-
ful and the construction and operation of the pipeline 
must be economically viable and proportionate before a 
decision on the construction of a pipeline can be made. 
Such a decision is therefore not related to the prepara-
tion of the applications.

Impact
If, against expectations, circumstances arise that give 
cause to fear an adverse effect on drinking or usable 
groundwater resources, or appeals against existing per-
mits were to be successful, this could lead to existing 
permits being restricted or withdrawn. The resultant 
consequences may lead to significant additional costs 
and/or considerable production cuts at the affected 
sites of the Werra potash plant. We consider it possible 
that expiring permits will not be extended or granted 
only to a limited extent; in the worst case, this could 
result in the cessation of production and possibly in the 
closure of the sites concerned, with considerable nega-
tive staffing consequences. This would result in a long-
term significant adverse effect on the earnings, financial 
and asset position of the K+S GROUP.



102 4.11 R isk Report

Risks arising from a change or refusal  
as well as from a court annulment  
of official approvals for the disposal of 
solid production residues
Cause of risk 
At the exploitation sites of the Potash and Magnesium 
Products business unit, solid residues are heaped up 
within the framework of existing approvals. If approv-
als for residues heaped up are revoked or necessary pro-
jects for the expansion of tailing piles are not approved 
or only approved subject to unreasonably high require-
ments, there is no possibility for these residues to be 
disposed of. 

Measures 
We are transferring a part of the residues to mine cav-
erns that are suitable for the purpose. However, this is 
only possible to a limited extent, since a far lower den-
sity is achieved than that of crude salt in the deposit. 

Impact 
We consider the complete refusal or the withdrawal of 
all existing approvals for the heaping up of solid resi-
dues to be unlikely, as there is political support for the 
preservation of potash mining in Germany. We assess 
the possible effects on the earnings, financial and asset 
position of the K+S GROUP as significant.

Operational and strategic risks

Corporate strategy risks may result chiefly from a mis-
judgement of future market developments and, derived 
from this, lead to a misalignment of corporate goals and 
of the associated M&A activities, equity interests, as well 
as investments and divestitures. Our vision and mission 
provide the framework for our business activities and 
for the strategic orientation of the K+S GROUP. To that 
end, the Board of Executive Directors, together with the 
heads of the corporate departments, regularly discuss 
the strategic orientation. No fundamental changes in 
strategy are to be expected.

Risks arising from acquisitions and 
investments
Cause of risk
When it appears advantageous from a strategic and 
economic perspective, we acquire or dispose of compa-
nies or parts of companies. Across the Group, the target 
exists in relation to returns for every acquisition and 
expansion investment to earn a reasonable premium 
on our cost of capital. 
/ FURTHER INFORM ATION  can be found in the ‘Enterprise Man-
agement and Supervision’ section on page 59 under ‘Financial Perfor-
mance Indicators’. Risks may arise from the integration of employees, 
processes, technologies and products and from changes in legal obli-
gations and from political restrictions.

Measures
Of central importance are careful company valuations 
carried out in advance, incorporating the findings of a due 
diligence review and further analyses. The so-called “due 
diligence” denotes the “necessary care” exercised ahead 
of an acquisition and encompasses the performance of a 
detailed analysis of an acquisition target, particularly its 
geological, technical, (environmentally) legal, fiscal and 
financial framework conditions. In the process, analysis 
results from the corporate data made available by the tar-
get company are employed. The aim is to expose or limit 
risks related to the acquisition. Moreover, where neces-
sary, in the auditing, decision-making and implementa-
tion phases, external specialists support our economic 
feasibility calculations, which also include risk assess-
ments with different scenarios. Once made, acquisitions 
are intensively accompanied by integration teams.

Impact
Unexpectedly high integration costs may jeopardise the 
achievement of planned goals and synergies. Moreover, 
acquisitions may negatively impact the level of indebt-
edness and the financing structure. Amortisation of 
goodwill that has arisen in connection with acquisitions 
may result in negative effects due to unforeseen busi-
ness developments. Here, we regard significant adverse 
effects as unlikely. 
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Risks arising from the Legacy Investment 
Project
Cause of risk
K+S Potash Canada holds several potash exploration 
licences in the Canadian province of Saskatchewan, 
including for the construction of a solution mine (Leg-
acy). The production facilities are being constructed in 
a phase lasting several years and involving many dif-
ferent risks. All assumptions and estimates made for 
the project are subject to potential business, economic, 
legal, political and social uncertainties over time. Factors 
which could have a serious effect in the construction 
phase would lead, among others, to increases in costs 
and delays in project implementation.

Measures
With support from external specialists too, a compre-
hensive basic and in part already also detail engineer-
ing was carried out. In doing so, the execution of the 
project was continuously optimised and remaining risks 
recorded. Project transparency and control as well as 
local risk management are guaranteed and supported 
by a comprehensive monitoring system. 

Impact
If, as the project progresses, significant deviations in 
relation to the assumptions made in the basic and detail 

engineering should arise, this could significantly increase 
the capital requirement. A higher capital requirement 
would initially lead to higher payment outflows and 
bring about higher depreciation and amortisation in the 
future. A deterioration in economic efficiency would be 
conceivable if the increase in the capital requirement 
would not be compensated for by savings in the oper-
ating costs or by an improved operating business. Fur-
thermore, in the construction phase, a delay or legislative 
approval influences may lead to the expected production 
volume only being available at a later point in time. Inso-
far as both these risk factors materialise in combination 
with each other and depending on the length of the delay 
and the amount of the additionally needed capital, this 
could have a significant effect on the earnings, financial 
and asset position. A materialisation of the risk cannot be 
ruled out on the basis of the project size, and is therefore 
possible. Negative effects of a delay would materialise for 
the first time in 2017.

Risks arising from damage due to  
rock bursts
Cause of risk
At active and inactive mining sites, there is the specific 
risk of a suddenly occurring subsidence of the earth’s 
surface over a large area that could, in certain circum-
stances, be powerful (rock burst). 

Measures
Our professional dimensioning of the safety pillars 
in the mine works based on comprehensive research 
works contributes to securing the earth’s surface, to a 
stability that is secure in the long term, and therefore 
to the prevention of such rock bursts at active sites. 
After the closure of a site, preservation measures are 
carried out, for which corresponding provisions have 
been created. A constant monitoring of the mine works 
supplies, if necessary, timely indications of whether 
additional measures for the protection of the mine 
works and the prevention of damage resulting from 
mining are necessary.

Impact
If a rock burst occurs, it could also result, in addition 
to the partial or complete loss of the mine and dam-
age to equipment, in considerable damage to the prop-
erty of third parties and in personal injury or death. 
Such negative factors would have a significant impact 
on the earnings, financial and asset position of the 
K+S GROUP, but, in our opinion, they are neverthe-
less unlikely.
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Risks arising from water ingress
Cause of risk
Hydrogeological risks generally exist in underground 
mines.

Measures
To secure mines, extensive exploration occurs by means 
of seismology, drilling and ground-penetrating radar. 
The preservation of protective layers and the adequate 
dimensioning of the safety pillars ensure the best pos-
sible safety in a mine. Constant scheduled maintenance 
activities on the shafts ensure that the risk of ground-
water flowing over a shaft extension can virtually be 
ruled out. Because the top of a shaft is in a high position, 
surface water is not expected to gain access to the mine 
complex even if flooding occurs. 

Impact
The hydrogeological risks could, if uncontrollable, cause 
significant damage. However, on the basis of our exten-
sive precautionary measures, we consider the materiali-
sation of that risk to be unlikely.

Compliance risks
Cause of risk
The risk exists that organs or employees of the K+S 
Group companies may violate laws, internal regula-
tions or regulatory standards recognised by the Com-
pany, with the consequence that the Company suffers 
asset and/or image losses.

Measures
We have established a groupwide compliance organi-
sation and a compliance programme, which counters 
breaches of compliance, including through training with 
respect to significant risk fields (e. g. anti-trust law and 
competition law, corruption and money laundering).

Impact
We consider compliance breaches with significant 
effects on the earnings, financial and asset position to 
be unlikely.
/ A DETAILED PRESENTATION OF OUR COMPLIANCE SYSTEM 
can be found in the ‘Corporate Governance’ section on page 25.

Financial risks

Due to the global nature of its business operations, the 
K+S GROUP is exposed to different financial risks. If 
derivative financial instruments are used to hedge the 
respective risks, these are explained in more detail in the 
description of risk management in relation to the utili-
sation of financial instruments on page 96.

Liquidity risks 
Cause of risk
A liquidity risk consists in the failure to procure the 
funds needed to meet payment obligations or in not 
being able to do so in a timely manner. For this reason, 

the main goal of our liquidity management consists 
in ensuring the ability to pay at any time. The liquid-
ity requirement is determined by our liquidity plan-
ning and is to be covered by liquid funds and commit-
ted credit lines. 

External factors, especially a general financial crisis, 
could result in it not being possible to replace credit 
lines or bonds on acceptable commercial terms if such 
need should arise. There would then be a risk that the 
costs associated with procuring liquidity would rise. 

Measures
Liquidity is managed via a largely groupwide cash pool 
system by the central treasury department. As of 31 
December 2013, the available liquidity amounted to € 
2,047 million, and consisted of short-term investments 
with maturities of up to one year and liquid funds of 
€ 1,868 million, as well as investments with maturities 
greater than one year of € 179 million. In addition, there 
is also an undrawn syndicated credit line of € 1 billion 
running until 2018. In addition, we have placed several 
bonds on the capital market. The available liquidity was 
therefore significantly above our targeted minimum 
reserve of € 300 million. With investments, we pursue 
the goal of optimising the income earned from liquid 
funds at low risk. To this end, the suitability of partners 
is monitored. There is no particular dependency on any 
individual lenders. 
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Impact
With regard to the maturity profile of our liabilities, we 
regard a significant liquidity or financing risk for the K+S 
GROUP as unlikely. 
/ More about the mat urit y profile of our financial 
liabilities  can be found in the Notes on the consolidated financial 
statements under note (25) ‘Financial liabilities’ on page 167.

Overview of corporate risks with 
moderate financial effects

The description of the risks with “moderate” financial 
effects is shortened in contrast to risks with significant 
financial effects. However, a detailed description is pro-
vided if derivative financial instruments are used as a 
countermeasure.  / TAB: 4.11.3

Changes in the legal environment

Risks arising from collateral security
The requirement for insolvency-proof collateral security 
for possible “infinity costs” of maintaining tailing piles 
and for the Company’s own landfill sites cannot be ruled 
out for the future. Currently, the necessary expenditure 
for the scheduled maintenance of tailing piles is being 
provided for in the balance sheet via provisions. If, in 
addition to the creation of provision, collateral security 

would have to be deposited, funds would be tied up and 
this could limit the financial leeway of the Company.

Risks arising from the change in  
workplace limits
The implementation of considerations of the EU Com-
mission on setting indicative workplace limits for nitro-

gen monoxide (NO), nitrogen dioxide (NO2) and carbon 
monoxide (CO) could pose risks to our mining activities 
in Germany, if these do not sufficiently account for the 
underground production situation. If limits were low-
ered significantly, capital expenditure to comply with 
the limits could become necessary.

	Ov erview of Corporate risks II� TAB: 4.11.3

Likelihood of 
materialisation

Possible 
financial effects

Changes in the legal environment

Risks arising from collateral security possible moderate

Risks arising from the change in workplace limits possible moderate

Operational and strategic risks

Risks arising from a loss of suppliers and supply bottlenecks unlikely moderate

Risks arising from energy costs and energy supply possible moderate

Risks arising from freight costs and availability of transport capacity possible moderate

Production-related risks possible moderate

Risks arising from carbon dioxide pockets in deposits possible moderate

Personnel risks  possible moderate

IT security risks unlikely moderate

Financial risks

Currency risks possible moderate

Risks arising from a change in the general interest rate level possible moderate

Risks arising from the default of payment by customers unlikely moderate

Risk of default in financial transactions unlikely moderate

Risks arising from a downgrading of the company rating possible moderate
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Operational and strategic risks

Risks arising from a loss of suppliers and 
supply bottlenecks
The number of suppliers for raw materials, consumables 
and supplies is limited. Supply bottlenecks, non-delivery 
or delivery boycotts, on which we only have very little 
or no influence at all, could result in the limited avail-
ability of raw materials, consumables and supplies, as 
well as of technical equipment and spare parts specific 
to mining, and thus to a considerable increase in costs 
or to adverse effects in production.

Risks arising from energy costs and 
energy supply
The energy costs of the K+S GROUP are determined 
in particular by the consumption of natural gas. This 
applies in varying degrees to all corporate departments. 
Energy prices are frequently subject to sharp fluctua-
tions. Significant energy price rises in comparison to 
the current price level cannot be ruled out in the future. 

The procurement of electricity from third parties only 
plays a minor role because of the large amount of elec-
tricity we generate ourselves. A further increase in the 
EEG surcharge (German Renewable Energy Act – EEG) 
as well as the impending, logically incomprehensible, 
first-time levying of the EEG surcharge on self-gener-
ated electricity could, in the event that amendments are 
introduced into the EEG, result in cost increases. Further-
more, the EU has initiated state aid proceedings regard-

ing the EEG and the exemptions granted to electricity-
intensive enterprises in Germany. This could also have 
adverse effects.

Risks arising from freight costs and 
availability of transport capacity
Our total costs are also influenced by freight costs to a 
considerable degree. While the products of our Potash 
and Magnesium Products business unit are extracted 
from our mines in Germany, last year, we achieved 
about 85 % of the corresponding revenues outside Ger-
many. In the Salt business unit, on the other hand, we 
have production sites in Europe as well as North and 
South America. A quantitatively considerable proportion 
of our products has, in some cases, to be transported to 
the customer over long distances. A reduced availability 
of freight capacity could result in higher costs. Further-
more, considerable additional costs arise in the event of 
increases in mineral oil prices. Moreover, the high level 
of transport intensity of our business operations makes 
us considerably dependent on the respective infrastruc-
ture facilities such as ports, roads, railway lines and load-
ing stations. A failure or a bottleneck could restrict the 
production or sales possibilities.

Production-related risks
The production facilities of the K+S GROUP are char-
acterised by a high level of performance. As a result 
of operational and accident risks to which facilities, 
production plants, storage and loading facilities are 
exposed, business interruptions may occur and personal 

injury, damage to property and impacts on the environ-
ment may arise.

Risks arising from carbon dioxide  
pockets in deposits
Carbon dioxide pockets in certain mines constitute a 
latent potential danger. As the tragic accident at our 
Unterbreizbach site in 2013 showed, carbon dioxide can 
still escape from these pockets in an uncontrolled man-
ner despite our extensive safety measures. In material 
terms, apart from the risk of damages there is also that 
of possible cuts or losses of production. 

Personnel risks
The competence and commitment of our employees 
are important factors in our successful development. 
Competition for qualified managers and specialists is 
intensive in all regions in which we operate. This cur-
rently also applies to the expansion of our business 
activities in Canada for the development of new pro-
duction capacities. The loss of important employees in 
strategic positions could constitute a risk. Our future 
success partly depends on the extent to which we suc-
ceed in the long term in engaging and integrating spe-
cialist personnel (e. g., engineers) and permanently bind-
ing them to the Company, and in adequately filling man-
agement positions. In future, moreover, we will be facing 
demographic challenges, especially in Europe and North 
America. This increases the risk that suitable applicants 
for vacancies will not be found or that it will take time 
to find them. 
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Further classic personnel risks exist in the area of collec-
tive bargaining and works constitutional agreements. The 
focus in this respect is on the remuneration and pension 
rules established by collective bargaining agreements. 
Long-term agreements with company- and performance-
related components for the Group and its employees are 
intended to ensure predictability and security as well as 
appropriate participation in commercial success. Despite 
an intensive dialogue with tariff and works council part-
ners, disputes over pay, which might even result in indus-
trial action, cannot be ruled out.

IT security risks
To a high degree, our IT systems support almost all Com-
pany functions. The risk of information security lies in 
the loss of the availability, integrity, confidentiality and 
authenticity of data due to external attacks (e. g. hackers, 
viruses) and internal risks (e. g. technical failure, sabo-
tage) and could lead to serious interruptions of busi-
ness. We consider a longer failure of the IT systems to be 
unlikely because of our precautionary measures.

Financial risks

Currency risks
Cause of risk
A currency risk results from transactions which are not 
effected in the currency of our Group reporting (the 
euro). With this risk, we draw a distinction between 
transaction and translation risks.

In 2013, the proportion of revenues invoiced in euros and 
in the US dollar was fairly balanced. In addition to this, 
revenues of a secondary magnitude were also generated 
in other national currencies (e. g. Canadian dollar, Chil-
ean peso and pound sterling). Our earnings are there-
fore exposed to exchange rate fluctuations. This can 
lead to the value of the service performed not matching 
the value of the consideration received in transactions, 
because income and expenditure arise at different times 
in different currencies (transaction risks). Exchange rate 
fluctuations, especially in relation to the US dollar, so far 
affect the Potash and Magnesium Products business 
unit, in particular in relation to the level of revenues 
and receivables. As a result of the capital expenditure of 
our subsidiary K+S Potash Canada in the Legacy Pro-
ject, the US dollar net position is temporarily reduced. 
At the same time, however, this gives rise to appreciable 
exchange rate risks from the Canadian dollar.

Furthermore, currency effects arise in relation to subsid-
iaries whose functional currency is not the euro (transla-
tion risks), since the earnings of these companies deter-
mined in a foreign currency are translated into euros at 
average rates and recognised in profit or loss. However, 
the net assets of these companies are translated into 
euros at spot rates. This can result in currency-related 
fluctuations in the equity of the K+S GROUP. Currently, 
these translation effects mainly appear in the Salt busi-
ness unit. As the capital expenditure at K+S POTASH 
CANADA progresses, this will also more strongly affect 
the Potash and Magnesium Products business unit. 

Measures
In order to counter exchange rate risks arising from 
transactions, we use derivative financial instruments. 
Within the framework of transaction hedging, key net 
positions per currency are hedged through derivatives, 
normally options and futures. These ensure an absolute 
worst-case exchange rate. The net positions are deter-
mined on the basis of revenue and cost planning and 
expected capital expenditure using safety margins and 
are updated on an ongoing basis in order to avoid excess 
hedging or hedging shortfalls. 
/ More information  and expl anations about the 
foreign currency hedging system  can be found in the 
‘Financial Position’ section on page 82, as well as within the framework 
of risk management in relation to financial instruments in the Risk 
Report on page 96 and the note (18) ‘Derivative Financial Instruments’ 
in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements on page 155. 

Impact
Changes in exchange rates may have an adverse effect 
on the earnings, financial and asset position of the K+S 
GROUP. We evaluate the possible exchange rate risk as 
moderate.

Risks arising from a change in the general 
interest rate level
Interest risks arise from changes in the general interest 
rate level. On the one hand, changes in market inter-
est rates have an effect on future interest payments for 
liabilities with variable interest, as well as on interest 
income for investments with variable interest; on the 
other hand, the market values of financial instruments 
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are affected. However, due to the current financing 
structure, no negative effects are to be expected.
/ INFORMATION REGARDING THE CHANGE IN GROUP EARN-
INGS depending on the change in interest rate s can be 
found in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements on page 171.

Risks arising from the default of payment 
by customers 
We maintain intensive business relationships with 
many customers. If one or more major customers is/
are not in a position to fulfil their contractual payment 
obligations towards us, this could result in correspond-
ing tangible losses for us, which could have an adverse 
effect on the financial position of the K+S GROUP. 
/ FURTHER INFORM ATION ABOUT IMPAIRMENTS AND 
OVERDUE RECEIVABLES  can be found in the Notes on page 154.

Risk of default in financial transactions
Default risks also exist with regard to partners with 
which we have concluded hedging transactions, with 
respect to which credit lines exist or money was 
invested. A potential failure of a bank or another part-
ner could have an adverse effect on the financial posi-
tion of the K+S GROUP.

Risks arising from a downgrading of  
the company rating 
Ratings are used to assess the creditworthiness of com-
panies and are normally issued by external rating agen-
cies. Particularly for credit institutions and institutional 

investors, the rating provides indications of the ability 
of companies to pay. It cannot be ruled out that the rat-
ing agencies might downgrade the K+S GROUP’s credit 
rating. A downgrade could impact negatively on the 
costs of (re-)financing for the K+S GROUP. At present, the 
K+S GROUP is rated differently by the rating agencies 
Standard & Poor’s and Moody’s Investor Service 
(Standard & Poor’s issuer rating: BBB, negative outlook, 
Moody’s issuer rating: Ba1, stable outlook).  / TAB: 4.11.4

/ Further information  about strategic  financing 
measures can be found on page 59, and the goals of the financial 
management on page 81.

Assessment of the overall risk  
situation by the Board of Executive 
Directors

Overall risk is assessed on the basis of the risk manage-
ment system in combination with the planning, man-
agement and control systems in place. The overall risk 
situation of the K+S GROUP is largely unchanged from 
last year. The main risks to the future development of 
the K+S GROUP particularly include risks arising from 
increased supply or lower demand, causing, among other 
things, the price level for potash to come under consider-
able pressure, risks stemming from a change, refusal or 
withdrawal of approvals granted by public agencies for 
the disposal of saline wastewater and solid production 
residues, and risks arising from the Legacy Project. 

With regard to the respective likelihood of materialisa-
tion and the potential financial effects of the risks dis-
cussed, and on the basis of the findings of our medium-
term planning, the Board of Executive Directors, at the 
present time, does not expect on the future development 
risk, whether individually or in conjunction with other 
risks, have a lasting and adverse influence on the earn-
ings, financial and asset position of the K+S GROUP that 
could jeopardise its existence. Future opportunities have 
not been considered in assessing the overall risk. In terms 
of organisation, we have fulfilled all the conditions for 
being able to recognise possible risks early on and to act 
correspondingly.

	D evelopment of credit ratings� TAB: 4.11.4

Date Rating Outlook

Standard & Poor’s

18 November 2013 BBB negative

5 August 2013 BBB+ negative

26 April 2013 BBB+ stable

30 April 2012 BBB+ stable

8 September 2011 BBB+ stable

Moody’s

6 November 2013 Ba1 stable

26 April 2013 Baa2 negative

29 November 2010 Baa2 stable

31 March 2010 Baa2 stable

4 September 2009 Baa2 negative
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4.12 O pportunity Report

4.12  Opportunit y Report

The following opportunity report describes opportunity 
management in the K+S Group, especially the man-
ner and way in which opportunities are identified and 
assessed as well as measures for their realisation. Essen-
tially, “opportunities” are viewed as possible future inter-
nal and external developments or events resulting in a 
positive variance versus planning for the K+S Group. 

Opportunity management
Opportunity management and risk management are 
closely interlinked within the K+S Group. For this rea-
son, the corresponding processes are largely similar. We 
essentially derive our opportunity management from 
the strategies and goals of our corporate departments. 
Direct responsibility for the early and regular identifica-
tion, analysis and utilisation of opportunities rests with 
the management of the corporate departments. Oppor-
tunity management is an integral part of the group-
wide planning and control systems. Under our “Con-
tinuous Improvement Programme” (CIP), all employ-
ees can participate in improving the quality and prof-
itability of our processes and products. The consistent 
utilisation of opportunities is the basis for sustainable 
growth on the part of the K+S Group and, consequently, 
for its value creation. We are working intensively with 
market and competition analyses, relevant revenue and 
cost elements and other key success factors, including 
those in the political environment in which the Com-

pany operates. Based on this, we derive concrete and 
specific opportunity potential, which could result in a 
positive variance versus our planning. 

Significant opportunities of relevance to the K+S Group 
are described in the following sections, but no conclu-
sions should be drawn from their sequential order 
regarding their likelihood of materialisation or possible 
financial effect. The evaluation of the opportunities is 
carried out from a Group perspective and refers to EBIT I  
for the medium-term planning period (three years). If an 
opposite trend emerges, opportunities could also turn 
into risks. 
/ A MORE DETAILED EXPL ANATION OF THE RISKS  can be 
found on page 94.

The assessment of the likelihood of an opportunity 
materialising is based on the criteria

++ unlikely (likelihood of materialisation: < 5 %)
++ possible (likelihood of materialisation: 5 – 50 %)

The assessment of a possible financial effect is based 
on the criteria

++ moderate (financial effect: < € 200 million)
++ significant (financial effect: ≥ € 200 million)

The following table provides an overview of relevant 
opportunities. Afterwards, the “significant” opportuni-
ties for the business development of the K+S Group are 
discussed.  / TAB: 4.12.1

Opportunities arising from macro
economic developments
The “Future macroeconomic situation” described on 
page 111 of this report has a bearing on our business, 
our financial and earnings position as well as our cash 
flow. The medium-term planning of the K+S Group is 
based on the expectations stated in the forecast report 
and therefore, the assessment of the future macroeco-
nomic situation is channelled directly into the forecast 
for 2014. Should the global economy develop better than 
expected and growth prove to be above average, espe-
cially in our main sales regions of Europe, North Amer-
ica, Brazil and South East Asia, this could result in a posi-
tive variance versus planning.

Opportunities arising from a weather-
related increase in demand 
In the Salt business unit, the weather in the de-icing salt 
regions of Europe and North America is of particular rel-
evance. Our planning in this respect is based on the roll-
ing average for the past ten years. Above-average severe 
winters in the de-icing salt regions of the K+S Group for 
the medium-term planning period could have a signifi-
cant financial effect on the development of Company 
revenues and earnings.
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Opportunities from a demand-related 
price increase
The historically relatively low ratio of stocks of impor-
tant agricultural products to annual consumption 
could be sustainably reflected in a relatively high price 
level for agricultural products. This in turn can encour-
age farmers worldwide to both utilise any additional 
available uncultivated land and to increase the inten-
sity of existing cultivation. Both these elements require 
greater use of fertilizers and could in future result in 
global demand for potash fertilizers rising faster than 
forecasted. This could result in a price increase for prod-

ucts containing potassium and thus in a positive vari-
ance versus our planning. 

Summary of opportunity situation
For the K+S Group, in particular, opportunities aris-
ing from trends in the macroeconomic situation that 
are better than expected, opportunities arising from 
weather-related high demand in the salt business as 
well as opportunities arising from a demand-driven 
increase in the price of potash are significant. An 
unexpectedly positive development of freight and 
energy costs also presents an opportunity for K+S, 

although we would not rate the financial effect as 
significant.

Moreover, for the K+S Group, the EUR/USD currency 
relationship is fundamentally of significance, since par-
ticularly potash sales, with the exception of the Euro-
pean market and a few overseas regions, are invoiced in 
US dollars. Our planning for the year 2014 is based on a 
US dollar exchange rate of EUR/USD 1.35. During the pri-
mary investment phase of the Legacy Project, until 2016, 
greater importance will also be given to the EUR/CAD 
exchange rate. Our planning for the year 2014 is based 
on an exchange rate of EUR/CAD 1.50.

We consider the opportunity of a change in the gen-
eral interest rate level as well as of an improvement 
in the Company’s rating to be possible but not sig-
nificant.

4.13 S ubsequent Events

Under the “Fit for the Future” programme for the sus-
tainable improvement of the cost and organisational 
structures, K+S as of 1 January 2014 undertook compre-
hensive structural changes in the Company’s headquar-
ters in Kassel. From now on, central functions work in 
accordance with a centre concept. The aim is to increase 
the effectiveness and efficiency of workflows. As a result, 

	O VERVIEW OF OPPORTUNITIES� TAB: 4.12.1

Likelihood of 
materialisation

Possible  
financial effects

External and sector-specific opportunities

Opportunities arising from macroeconomic developments possible significant

Opportunities arising from a weather-related increase in demand possible significant

Opportunities from a demand-related price increase possible significant

Operational opportunities

Opportunities arising from a reduction in energy costs possible moderate

Opportunities arising from a reduction in freight costs possible moderate

Financial opportunities

Opportunities due to exchange rate fluctuations possible moderate

Opportunities arising from a change in the general interest rate level possible moderate

Opportunities arising from an improvement in the Company rating possible moderate
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the responsibilities within the Board of Executive Direc-
tors have changed. 
/ Further information  about the new responsibili-
ties of the Board of Executive Directors  can be found 
on page 12.

On 21 January 2014, Russian Uralkali announced that 
a contract had been concluded with Chinese buyers 
concerning the delivery of potassium chloride standard 
including freight at a price of US$ 305 per tonne and a 
term of six months. In the weeks that followed, other 
potash producers and sales organisations agreed deliver-
ies on similar terms. After a phase of considerable uncer-
tainty, this development could lead to a stabilisation on 
the market for products containing potash. 

No further significant changes have occurred in the eco-
nomic environment or in the position of the industry since 
the end of the financial year. No other events of material 
importance for the K+S Group or K+S Aktiengesell
schaft requiring disclosure have occurred.

4.14  Assessment of the current 
economic situation by the 
Board of Executive Directors1

The year 2013 was associated with great challenges for 
the K+S Group. Thanks to our robust business model, 
we were nevertheless able to achieve good results. 
Both the high sales volumes in the Salt business unit 
as well as a satisfactory volume and price level in the 
case of potash and magnesium products had a posi-
tive influence on the revenues of the K+S Group in the 
first six months of 2013. However, in the second half of 
the year, the market conditions in the potash market 
changed considerably after the announcements by Rus-
sian Uralkali and led to great uncertainty. As a conse-
quence, prices for potassium chloride came under strong 
pressure and depressed the revenue development in the 
Potash and Magnesium Products business unit. A good 
early stocking-up business in Europe and a strong fourth 

quarter in North America in the Salt business unit were, 
however, able to compensate for the revenue decline. At 
€ 3.95 billion, the total revenues generated by the K+S 
Group in 2013 reached the same level as in the previous 
year (2012: € 3.94 billion). Following € 804.1 million in the 
previous year, the operating earnings of € 655.9 million 
were in line with the last forecast that we published. 
Adjusted earnings per share reached € 2.27 after having 
been € 3.33 in the previous year. 

After the end of the financial year, new contracts con-
cluded by the major potash producers with China led to 
first signs of a stabilisation in the potash market. In the 
Salt business unit, the start of the de-icing salt business 
in North America was above average due to weather con-
ditions, so that stocks there were considerably reduced.

4.15  Forecast Report

Future macroeconomic situation

The following discussion about the future macroeco-
nomic situation is based on the assessments of the 
International Monetary Fund (World Economic Outlook, 
October 2013; World Economic Outlook Update, January 
2014) and of the Kiel Institute for the World Econ-
omy (Kiel Discussion Papers: Weltkonjunktur im Winter 
2013, December 2013).  / TAB: 4.15.1

	 Percentage change in Gross Domestic Product� TAB: 4.15.1

� 2014e  � 2013  � 2012  � 2011  � 2010

in %; real

Germany + 1.6 + 0.5 + 0.9 + 3.4 + 3.9

European Union (EU-28) + 1.0 0.0 (0.3) + 1.7 + 2.0

World + 3.7 + 2.9 + 3.2 + 3.9 + 5.2

Source: IMF

1 As of 28 February 2014.
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According to these assessments, the global economic 
growth will accelerate slightly in 2014. For the eurozone 
it is assumed that the structural adaptation measures 
are taking effect and that in the case of private house-
holds and companies, confidence in the future economic 
development is gradually increasing again. In the devel-
oping and emerging market countries too, the economic 
momentum should continue in 2014. Against this back-
drop, the International Monetary Fund in its forecasts 
assumes growth in the global gross domestic product 
of 3.7 % for 2014. 

After the stagnation in 2013, the Kiel Institute for the 
World Economy is forecasting an increase of macro-
economic production for the eurozone, which, however, 
should still be moderate. Above all, economic activity 
should remain muted due to a weak domestic demand 
and high unemployment in several countries. In these cir-
cumstances, the International Monetary Fund assumes a 
growth rate in the gross domestic product of 1.0 % for 2014.

For the United States, the Kiel Institute for the 
World Economy is expecting a strengthening of pri-
vate consumption and domestic demand, which should 
mainly be traced back to impulses from monetary policy 
measures and an understanding in US budgetary policy. 
In addition, the significant increase in capital expenditure 
in the property sector, which already began to emerge at 
the end of 2013, and the improvement in the labour mar-
ket situation, should further continue. In light of these 

framework conditions, the International Monetary Fund 
is expecting a growth rate of 2.8 % for production. 

In the emerging market countries, economic growth 
should increase moderately due to a growing demand 
from the developed economies. The expansive economic 
policy and existing stimulus programmes should also 
provide support. In some emerging market countries, 
however, the relative weakness of the domestic currency 
could have a negative effect. 

Future industry situation

Potash and Magnesium Products  
business unit 
A global population that – according to the Food and 
Agricultural Organization of the United Nations (FAO) – 
is growing by about 80 million people every year as well 
as changes in eating habits that are moving towards 
greater consumption of meat and, not least, the growing 
importance of renewable raw materials for the genera-
tion of bioenergy are all increasing the global demand 
for agricultural raw materials. Especially against the 
backdrop of a shortage of agricultural land per capita, 
this poses a great challenge for the agricultural sector: In 
the past 30 years, the world’s population has increased 
from about 4.5 to over 7.0 billion people. The amount of 
available agricultural land in the world has, however, 
remained almost constant. This trend will continue.

The fact that cereal production was nonetheless roughly 
able to keep up with the increased demand over that 
period is in part attributable to the higher and more bal-
anced use of mineral fertilizers. This will also remain a 
decisive factor in the future in countering the increasing 
need for agricultural raw materials by means of inten-
sifying farming on the land available. 

Despite great efforts made on the production side, over 
the past few decades, frequently more cereals have 
been consumed than produced. For the current financial 
year 2013/14, the US Department of Agriculture (USDA) 
expects a higher cereal production due to above-average 
harvests and at the same time an increase in demand 
at a similar rate.

Against this backdrop, prices for agricultural products 
in 2013 continued to be at a relatively high level. Also 
in 2014, the resulting income prospects for the agricul-
tural sector should provide a sufficient incentive to raise 
yields per hectare through the greater use of fertilizers.

After the announcements by Uralkali had led to consid-
erable uncertainty about future volume and price devel-
opments in the potash market, at the beginning of 2014 
a stabilising of prices began to emerge, although annual 
average prices should be tangibly lower than in 2013.
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Salt business unit
Over the coming years, the situation of the industry and 
competition in Europe will be shaped by competitive 
pressure in the salt industry. A below-average winter 
season 2013/14 could exacerbate the highly competitive 
market situation for European producers. As Europe’s 
largest salt producer, we are well prepared to meet the 
challenges arising in this market environment.

With our production sites in Chile and Brazil, we are 
in a very good starting position to participate in the 
growth in South and Central America. The sales volume 
of food grade salt in South America and also the price 
level should not be subject to any significant fluctua-
tions in 2014. In the case of industrial salt, the sales vol-
ume in Chile should remain almost unchanged. In Bra-
zil, increased competition and also a weaker Brazilian 
real against the US dollar could take their toll on indus-
trial salt prices. In the salt for chemical use segment, 
we are expecting a stable volume and price level. In the 
medium term, however, new possibilities for growth 
should emerge in Brazil and demand increase accord-
ingly. Asia too is displaying attractive growth rates for 
salt consumption. 

With Morton Salt, the largest salt producer in North 
America in terms of production capacity, we have in the 
de-icing salt business wide access to markets in North 
America. In the industrial salt and food grade salt seg-
ments too, North America is among the most impor-

tant sales regions. With the brands Umbrella girl® 
and Windsor Castle®, Morton Salt has brands in 
the United States and in Canada that are very well posi-
tioned in the consumer business, which enable us to 
achieve stronger sales volumes of higher-margin spe-
ciality products. The severe winter weather in North 
America at the end of the year under review as well 
as at the beginning of 2014 reduced de-icing salt stocks 
considerably in some regions. The consumption of food 
grade and industrial salts should continue to remain 
stable. However, the demand of the chemical industry 
for salt for should rise. 

Expected development of revenues 
and earnings

The following forecasts relate to the expected organic 
revenue and earnings development of the K+S Group. 

Our assessment for 2014 as a whole is largely based on 
the following assumptions:

++ Increase in global potash sales volumes to about  
59 million tonnes (2013: about 56 million tonnes), 
including about 3 million tonnes of potassium  
sulphate and potash grades with lower mineral 
content. 

++ Average prices in the Potash and Magnesium Prod-
ucts business unit to decrease tangibly compared 
with 2013 as a whole (2013: € 293.8 per tonne).

++ In particular, due to production constraints in the first 
months relating to the accident at the site of Unter-
breizbach the theoretically possible capacity in 2014 
is not fully available. Thus, the sales volume for pot-
ash and magnesium products should be at the previ-
ous year’s level (2013: 6.9 million tonnes).

++ Crystallised salt sales volumes roughly at the level of 
2013 (22.8 million tonnes), of which de-icing salt approx-
imately 14 million tonnes (2013: 13.8 million tonnes).

++ An average exchange rate for the year of EUR/USD 
1.35 (2013: EUR/USD 1.33) as well as EUR/CAD 1.50 for 
the Canadian dollar (2013: EUR/CAD 1.37).

Revenues and earnings forecast
The revenues of the K+S Group for financial year 2014 
should be moderately below the figure of the previous 
year (2013: € 3,950.4 million). In particular, the revenues 
in the Potash and Magnesium Products business unit 
should, on account of the expectation of lower annual 
average prices, be tangibly down (2013: € 2,037.6 million).

To make sustainable improvements to cost and organ-
isational structures, K+S is implementing the “Fit for 
the Future” programme with the aim of increasing effi-
ciency of the production as well as of administrative and 
sales functions. The Company is striving to save a total of 
about € 500 million over the next three years in compari-
son to the previous cost planning for the same period. In 
2014, a cost reduction of a good € 150 million compared 
with the previous planning is to be achieved. 
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Due to the revenue decrease in the Potash and Magne-
sium Products business unit, operating earnings EBITDA 
and EBIT I of the K+S Group should be significantly 
lower than a year ago (2013: € 907.2 million and € 655.9 
million, respectively).

Adjusted Group earnings after taxes should follow the 
trend in operating earnings and thus also be signifi-
cantly lower than in the previous year (2013: € 434.8 
million). 

Anticipated financial position and 
planned capital expenditure

Increase in capital expenditure as planned
The K+S Group’s anticipated volume of capital expendi-
ture for 2014 amounts to about € 1.2 billion. Outlays con-
nected with the Legacy Project should account for about 
€ 800 million of this figure. Part of the capital expendi-
ture is also intended for the implementation of the pack-
age of measures on water protection in the Hesse-Thur-
ingia potash district. In total, we expect a volume for the 
Potash and Magnesium Products business unit which 
will significantly exceed that of the previous year (2013: 
€ 606.5 million). Capital expenditure in the Salt business 
unit should be at the previous year’s level (2013: € 107.4 
million). As a result of the increasing volume of capital 
expenditure, free cash flow (2013: € (53.6) million) should 
be significantly negative. The return on capital employed 
(ROCE) should also fall sharply (2013: 15.2 %), due to  
EBIT I being significantly down on the previous year and 

a higher amount of tied-up capital as a result of increas-
ing capital expenditure.

Future number of employees

Future number of employees 
As for the end of 2014, we expect the number of employ-
ees (full-time equivalents) to be more or less the same 
compared with the previous year (31 December 2013: 
14,421). This is also the case for the average number of 
employees (2013: 14,348). 

The anticipated increase in the number of personnel 
for the implementation of the Legacy Project, for inten-
sified activities in the area of environmental protection 
and for maintaining the extracted volumes of crude salt 
in the Potash and Magnesium Products business unit 
should be compensated for by the implementation of 
the “Fit for the Future” programme. 

Expected development of dividends

Dividend proposal for financial year 2013 
We are pursuing an essentially earnings-based divi-
dend policy. According to this, a dividend payout ratio 
of between 40 % and 50 % of adjusted Group earnings 
after taxes (including discontinued operations) forms 
the basis for the amount of future dividend recommen-
dations to be determined by the Board of Executive 
Directors and the Supervisory Board. However, the Board 

of Executive Directors regards a temporary deviation 
from this dividend policy as being necessary, due to the 
not yet fully overcome uncertainties in the market for 
potash and magnesium products and the considerable 
capital expenditure in the upcoming years, and there-
fore intends to propose to the Annual General Meeting 
to pay a dividend of € 0.25 per share and to transfer the 
remaining accumulated profit into the revenue reserves. 
The Board of Executive Directors intends to return to the 
basic dividend policy as soon as possible.

General statement on the expected 
development of the K+S Group

The revenues of the K+S Group for financial year 2014 
should be moderately below the figure of the previous 
year. To make sustainable improvements to cost and 
organisational structures, K+S is continuing to work 
on the “Fit for the Future” programme with the aim 
of increasing efficiency of production and administra-
tive and sales functions. A cost reduction of a good € 
150 million in 2014 compared with previous planning 
should be attainable. Due to the tangibly lower average 
prices in the Potash and Magnesium Products business 
unit, operating earnings EBIT I of the K+S Group should 
be significantly lower than a year ago. The anticipated 
volume of capital expenditure for 2014 is increasing as 
planned, and free cash flow should consequently be sig-
nificantly negative.
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4.16  K+S Aktienge sellschaft 
(notes based on the German  
Commercial Code – HGB)

The Management Report of K+S Aktiengesellschaft 
and the Group Management Report for financial year 
2013 are combined. The annual financial statements of 
K+S Aktiengesellschaft in accordance with the Ger-
man Commercial Code (HGB) and the combined Man-
agement Report are published simultaneously in the 
German Federal Gazette (Bundesanzeiger).

Declaration on corporate governance

The Declaration on Corporate Governance in accordance 
with Sec. 289a of the German Commercial Code (HGB) is 
shown in the ‘Corporate Governance’ section on page 25. 
It forms an integral part of the combined Management 
Report of K+S Aktiengesellschaft and the K+S Group.

Remuneration Report

The information to be disclosed in accordance with  
Sec. 289 Para. 2 No. 5 of the German Commercial Code 
(HGB) is contained in the Remuneration Report on page 34 

of the ‘Corporate Governance’ section; the Remuneration 
Report constitutes an integral part of the K+S Aktienge-
sellschaft Management Report and the Group Man-
agement Report.

Information in accordance with Sec. 
289 Para. 4 of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) and explanatory report  
of the Board of Executive Directors 

Information in accordance with Sec. 289 Para. 4 of the 
German Commercial Code (HGB) and the explanatory 
report of the Board of Executive Directors can be found 
on page 52.

Business operations, corporate  
strategy, enterprise management  
and supervision, overview of the 
course of business

Information on business operations, corporate strategy, 
enterprise management and supervision as well as an 
overview of the course of business can be found on pages 
46 – 74.

Earnings position

At € 78.4 million, revenues of K+S Aktiengesellschaft 
were moderately above the level of the previous year  

	I ncome Statement of K+S Aktiengesellschaft 1� TAB: 4.16.1

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Revenues 78.4 75.5

Cost of sales 81.3 81.5

Gross profit (2.9) (6.0)

Selling, general and administrative expenses and research costs 35.6 37.0

Other operating income and expenses (30.4) 59.2

Income from investments, net 594.0 789.7

Interest income, net (54.6) (35.1)

Depreciation on financial assets and securities held in current assets (4.0) (1.1)

Earnings before income taxes 466.5 769.6

Taxes on income 154.4 205.7

Net income 312.1 563.9

Profit carried forward 26.3 11.3

Transfer from net income to revenue reserves 156.0 281.0

Accumulated profit 182.3 294.2

1	 A detailed income statement can be found in the financial statements 2013 of K+S Aktiengesellschaft.
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(€ 75.5 million). Apart from an increase, due to volume 
factors, with the granulation of CATSAN® and THOMAS®, 
there were positive changes in the internal Group billing 
of services to Group companies.  / TAB: 4.16.1

At € 466.5 million, earnings before income taxes were 
significantly down on the figure for the previous year 
of € 769.6 million (€ (303.1) million). The decrease largely 
results from the tangibly reduced net income from 
investments of € 594.0 million (previous year: € 789.7 
million). This is due in particular to the decrease from 
the profit transfer of € 565.2 million (previous year:  
€ 763.6 million) resulting from the profit transfer agree-
ment with K+S KALI GmbH. Further investment income 
arises from the profit transfers of K+S Entsorgung 
GmbH with € 11.0 million (previous year: € 9.6 million), 
K+S Transport GmbH with € 8.0 million (previous 
year: € 9.1 million) and K+S IT-Services GmbH with  
€ 5.9 million (previous year: € 0.6 million).

Other operating income decreased significantly by € 86.1 
million to € 41.3 million. The previous year, with € 127.4 
million, benefitted from the income from the sale of the 
nitrogen business.

The decrease in net interest income from € (35.1) million 
to € (54.6) million is essentially due to increased inter-
est expenses, additional costs for the bonds issued and 
expenses for the syndicated loan as well as to lower 
income from the fund assets for pension provisions.

	B alance Sheet of K+S Aktiengesellschaft – Assets� TAB: 4.16.2

� 31.12.2013  � 31.12.2012

in € million

Intangible assets 0.1 0.1

Property, plant and equipment 39.2 18.3

Financial assets 4,101.2 3,074.2

Non-current assets 4,140.5 3,092.6

Inventories 1.4 1.4

Receivables and other assets 756.9 1,015.6

Securities 653.8 175.6

Cash on hand and balances with banks 355.4 136.3

Current assets 1,767.5 1,328.9

Prepaid expenses 15.8 3.9

Surplus from offsetting 17.9 15.4

ASSETS 5,941.6 4,440.8

	B alance Sheet of K+S Aktiengesellschaft – Equity and Liabilities� TAB: 4.16.3

� 31.12.2013  � 31.12.2012

in € million

Subscribed capital 191.4 191.4

Additional paid-in capital 701.6 701.6

Revenue reserves 889.0 733.0

Accumulated profit 182.3 294.2

Equity 1,964.3 1,920.2

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations — —

Tax provisions 21.1 21.9

Other provisions 184.3 164.8

Provisions 205.4 186.7

Liabilities 3,771.3 2,333.9

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 5,941.6 4,440.8
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Earnings after taxes of our Company decreased to € 312.1 
million and were therefore € 251.9 million below the pre-
vious year’s figure (2012: € 564.0 million).

Assets and financial position

Fixed assets increased, largely due to capital injec-
tions to affiliated companies, from € 3,092.6 million by 
€ 1,047.9 million to € 4,140.5 million and have a share of 
69 % in the balance sheet total which was up by € 1,500.8 
million (previous year: 69 %).  / TAB: 4.16.2

Receivables and other assets decreased mainly as a 
result of a lower profit transfer of K+S KALI GmbH to  
€ 756.9 million (previous year: € 1,015.6 million).

The increase in securities by € 478.3 million to € 653.8 
million and in bank deposits to € 355.4 million (previ-
ous year: € 136.3 million) is above all due to the liquidity 
from the bond issue.

As at the balance sheet date, the Company reports a dif-
ference on the asset side in the amount of € 17.9 million, 
which derives from an overfunding of assets of cover funds 
over obligations from pension commitments.  / TAB: 4.16.3

There are no liabilities to banks.

In December 2013, K+S Aktiengesellschaft issued 
two bonds with a total volume of € 1 billion and matu-

rity dates on 6 December 2018 and 6 December 2021. The 
five-year bond has a volume of € 500 million and has an 
interest coupon rate of 3.125 % p. a. The eight-year bond 
amounts to € 500 million and bears interest at 4.125 % p. a.

The proceeds from the bond issue are intended to 
finance investments in the Legacy Project, to refinance 
existing liabilities, and for general corporate purposes.

The equity ratio is 33 % (previous year: 43 %). The Company 
discloses tax provisions of € 21.1 million at the reporting 
date. Other provisions have a predominantly long-term 
character. Our Company’s financing comes to a consider-
able extent from funds available in the long term.

Dividend

K+S Aktiengesellschaft discloses an accumulated 
profit of € 182.3 million for financial year 2013.

The Board of Executive Directors intends to propose to the 
Annual General Meeting on 14 May 2014, that the accumu-
lated profit of K+S Aktiengesellschaft from financial 
year 2013 is used as presented in table 4.16.4.  / TAB: 4.16.4 

Research and Development

Detailed information concerning the research and devel-
opment activities of the K+S Group, which above all 
pertains to affiliated companies with operating activi-
ties, can be found on page 67. 

Employees

As at 31 December 2013, there were 609 employees (pre-
vious year: 610 employees) employed at K+S Aktienge-
sellschaft; of these, 19 were trainees (previous year: 
17 trainees).

	App ropriation of Profits 1� TAB: 4.16.4

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Dividend per share (€) 0.25 1.40

Total dividend payment taking into account 191,400,000 no-par value bearer shares eligible for dividend 47.9 268.0

Retained earnings 134.5 —

Profit carried forward — 26.2

Accumulated profit 182.3 294.2

1	 Amounts are rounded.
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Risks and Opportunities

The business development of K+S Aktiengesellschaft 
is basically subject to the same risks and opportunities as 
the K+S Group. K+S Aktiengesellschaft participates 
in the risks of its shareholdings and subsidiaries accord-
ing to its respective participation ratio. More information 
can be found in the ‘Risk Report’ section on page 94 and 
the ‘Opportunities Report’ section on page 109.

The description of the internal control system with 
regard to the accounting process of K+S Aktien
gesellschaft (Sec. 289 Para. 5 of the German Com-
mercial Code – HGB) can be found in the Risk Report 
on page 96.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent events concerning the K+S Group and  
K+S Aktiengesellschaft can be found on page 110.

Forecast Report

The earnings development of K+S Aktiengesell
schaft depends to a substantial degree on the devel-
opment of its subsidiaries. The business development 
forecast for the K+S Group can be found in the Forecast 
Report on page 111.

4.17  Guarantee  of the legal 
representatives of K+S Aktien
gesellschaft

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with 
the applicable principles for financial reporting, the con-
solidated financial statements and the annual financial 
statements of K+S Aktiengesellschaft give a true and 
fair view of the assets, financial and earnings position of 
the Group and K+S Aktiengesellschaft, and the com-
bined Management Report includes a fair review of the 
development and performance of the business and the 
position of the Group and K+S Aktiengesellschaft, 
together with a description of the principal opportuni-
ties and risks associated with the expected development 
of the Group and K+S Aktiengesellschaft.

Kassel, 28 February 2014

K+S Aktiengesellschaft
The Board of Executive Directors

Forward-looking Statements 
This report contains facts and forecasts that relate to 
the future development of the K+S Group and its com-
panies. The forecasts are estimates that we have made 
on the basis of all the information available to us at this 
moment in time. Should the assumptions underlying 
these forecasts prove not to be correct or should certain 
risks – such as those referred to in the Risk Report – 
materialise, actual developments and events may devi-
ate from current expectations. The Company assumes 
no obligation to update the statements contained in 
the Management Report, save for the making of such 
disclosures as are required by the provisions of statute.
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1215.1  Auditor’s Report 

Consolidated financial statements

5.1 A uditor’s Report

We have audited the consolidated financial statements, consisting of the income statement 
as well as statement of comprehensive income, cash flow statement, balance sheet, state-
ment of changes in equity and notes prepared by K+S Aktiengesellschaft, Kassel, as well 
as the Management Report combined with the Group Management Report for the financial 
year from 1 January to 31 December 2013. The preparation of the consolidated financial state-
ments and the Group Management Report in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as applied within the EU and the supplementary commer-
cial law provisions as applied in accordance with Sec. 315a, Para. 1 of the German Commercial 
Code (HGB) is the responsibility of the company’s Board of Executive Directors. Our respon-
sibility is to express an opinion of the consolidated financial statements and of the Group 
Management Report on the basis of our audit.

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Sec. 
317 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and the German generally accepted standards 
for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the German Institute of Certified Pub-
lic Accountants (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer). Those standards require that we plan and 
perform the audit in such manner that material misstatements affecting the presentation 
of the assets, financial and earnings position in the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the applicable accounting rules and in the Group Management Report are 
detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and the economic 
and legal environment of the Group as well as evaluations of possible misstatements are 
taken into account in the determination of the audit procedures. The effectiveness of the 
system of internal accounting control relating to the accounting system and the evidence 
supporting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the Group Man-
agement Report are examined primarily on a test basis within the framework of the audit. 
The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of the companies included in 
the consolidated financial statements, the determination of the scope of consolidation, the 
accounting and consolidation principles used and significant estimates made by the Board of 
Executive Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated finan-

cial statements and the Group Management Report. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

In our opinion, which is based on our audit findings, the consolidated financial statements of 
K+S Aktiengesellschaft, Kassel, comply with the IFRS as applied in the EU as well as the 
supplementary commercial law provisions as applied in accordance with Sec. 315a, Para. 1 of 
the German Commercial Code (HGB ) and give a true and fair view of the assets, financial and 
earnings position of the Group in accordance with such provisions. The Group Management 
Report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements, provides a suitable under-
standing of the position of the Group and suitably presents the risks of future development.

Hanover, 28 February 2014	

Deloitte & Touche GmbH 		  (Prof. Dr. Beine) 		  (Römgens)
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft	 Auditor			   Auditor



122 5.2 I ncome Statement

	 Income Statement 1� TAB: 5.2.1

� Notes  � 2013  � 2012

in € million

Revenues [1] 3,950.4 3,935.3

Cost of sales 2,245.8 2,158.7

Gross profit 1,704.6 1,776.6

Selling expenses 835.6 734.2

General and administrative expenses 191.7 196.8

Research and development costs 13.9 19.4

Other operating income [2] 122.1 157.9

Other operating expenses [3] 150.4 152.1

Income from investments, net 6.6 5.2

Result from operating forecast hedges [4] (16.6) 4.9

Result after operating hedges (EBIT II) 2 625.1 842.1

Interest income [5] 24.0 20.8

Interest expenses [5] (99.8) (105.6)

Other financial result [6] (0.5) 5.9

Financial result (76.3) (78.9)

Earnings before income taxes 548.8 763.2

Taxes on income [7] 133.2 197.4

– of which deferred taxes (61.1) (33.6)

Earnings after taxes from continued operations 415.6 565.8

Earnings after taxes from discontinued operations (2.3) 100.0

Net income 413.3 665.8

Minority interests in earnings 0.5 0.5

Group earnings after taxes and minority interests 412.8 665.3

– thereof continued operations 415.1 565.3

– thereof discontinued operations (2.3) 100.0

Earnings per share in € (undiluted = diluted) [10] 2.16 3.48

– thereof continued operations 2.17 2.96

– thereof discontinued operations (0.01) 0.52

Average number of shares in million 191.40 191.40

Operating earnings (EBIT I) 2 655.9 804.1
Earnings before income taxes from 
continued operations, adjusted 3 579.6 725.2

Group earnings from continued operations, adjusted 3 [10] 437.1 538.1

Earnings per share from continued operations in €, adjusted 3 [10] 2.28 2.81

Group earnings after taxes, adjusted 3, 4 [10] 434.8 637.4

Earnings per share in €, adjusted 3, 4 [10] 2.27 3.33

	 Statement of Comprehensive Income 1� TAB: 5.2.2

� Notes  � 2013  � 2012

in € million

Net income 413.3 665.8

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss (178.5) (25.8)

Financial assets available for sale (1.0) 3.0

Difference resulting from foreign currency translation (177.5) (28.8)

– thereof change in unrealised gains/losses (177.5) (29.0)

– thereof realised gains/losses — 0.2

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 36.2 (32.3)

Revaluation of net debt /defined benefit pension plan assets 36.2 (32.3)

Other comprehensive income after taxes (142.3) (58.1)

Comprehensive income of the period 271.0 607.7

Minority interests in comprehensive income 0.5 0.5
Group comprehensive income after 
taxes and minority interests 270.5 607.2

	O perating Earnings (EBIT I) 1, 5� TAB: 5.2.3

� Notes  � 2013  � 2012

in € million

Result after operating hedges (EBIT II) 2 625.1 842.1
Income (−)/expenses (+) from market value changes 
of operating forecast hedges still outstanding 15.5 (9.5)
Neutralising of market value changes of realised operat-
ing forecast hedges, recognised in earlier periods 10.3 (28.5)
Realised income (−)/expenses (+) from currency hedg-
ing of anticipated capital expenditure in Canada 5.0 —
Operating earnings (EBIT I) 2 655.9 804.1

1	 �The figures of the previous year were adjusted due to the change of IAS 19. Further information can be found in the Notes on page 143.
2	 �Management of the K+S Group is handled, amongst others, on the basis of operating earnings (EBIT I). Reconciliation of EBIT I I to  

operating earnings (EBIT I) is recorded below the income statement (see also the ‘Notes to the income statement and the statement of 
comprehensive income’ on page 146).

3	 �The adjusted key figures only include the result from operating forecast hedges of the respective reporting period reported in EBIT I (see 
also ‘Notes to the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income’ on page 146). In addition, related effects on deferred  
and cash taxes are eliminated; tax rate for 2013: 28.6 % (2012: 28.5 %).

4	 �Earnings from continued and discontinued operations.
5	 �Information on operating earnings refers to continued operations.



1235.3  Cash Flow Statement

	C ash Flow Statement 1� TAB: 5.3.1

� Notes  � 2013  � 2012

in € million

Result after operating hedges (EBIT II) 625.1 842.1
Income (−)/expenses (+) from market value changes 
of operating forecast hedges still outstanding 15.5 (9.5)
Neutralisation of market value changes of realised 
operating forecast hedges, recognised in earlier periods 10.3 (28.5)
Realised income (−)/expenses (+) of currency hedging 
of anticipated capital expenditure in Canada 5.0 —

Operating earnings (EBIT I) 655.9 804.1
Depreciation (+)/write-ups (−) on intangible assets, 
property, plant and equipment and financial assets 251.3 229.0
Increase (+)/decrease (−) in non-current provisions  
(without interest rate effects) (7.3) 3.4

Interests received and similar income 25.4 21.6
Gains (+)/ losses (−) from the realisation 
of financial assets and liabilities (5.1) (0.7)

Interest paid (−) (63.4) (43.0)

Income taxes paid (−) (189.0) (202.1)

Other non-cash expenses (+)/ income (−) (0.4) 0.7

Gross cash flow from continued operations 667.4 813.0

Gross cash flow from discontinued operations — 29.9

Gross cash flow 667.4 842.9

Gain (−)/ loss (+) on the disposal of fixed assets and securities 7.5 (2.0)

Increase (−)/decrease (+) in inventories 116.7 (42.8)
Increase (−)/decrease (+) in receivables and 
other assets from operating activities 13.5 (86.7)

Increase (+)/decrease (−) in liabilities from operating activities (14.3) (83.1)

Increase (+)/decrease (−) in current provisions (19.2) (28.3)

Out-financing of plan assets (15.9) (43.4)

Cash flow from operating activities 755.7 556.6

– thereof continued operations 755.7 607.2

– thereof discontinued operations — (50.6)

Proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets 12.8 21.3

Disbursements for intangible assets (10.8) (24.4)

Disbursements for property, plant and equipment (708.9) (399.0)

Disbursements for financial assets (0.1) (1.2)

Proceeds from the disposal of consolidated companies [37] — 75.0

Disbursements for the acquisition of consolidated companies [38] — (4.2)
Proceeds from the disposal of securities 
and other financial investments 644.9 312.3
Disbursements for the purchase of securities  
and other financial investments (747.2) (870.8)

	C ash Flow Statement 1� TAB: 5.3.1

� Notes  � 2013  � 2012

in € million

Cash flow for investing activities (809.3) (891.0)

– thereof continued operations (809.3) (966.6)

– thereof discontinued operations — 75.6

Free cash flow (53.6) (334.4)

– thereof continued operations (53.6) (359.4)

– thereof discontinued operations — 25.0

Dividends paid (268.0) (248.8)

Payments from other allocations to equity 4.1 5.2

Purchase of own shares (5.1) (6.5)

Sale of own shares — 0.2

Increase (+)/decrease (−) in liabilities from finance lease (1.6) (2.1)

Taking out (+)/repayment of (−) loans (1.0) (2.1)

Repayments (−) of bonds (3.7) —

Incoming payments (+) from the issuing of bonds 996.6 497.1

Cash flow from/for financing activities 721.3 243.0

– thereof continued operations 721.3 243.0

– thereof discontinued operations — —

Change in cash and cash equivalents affecting cash flow 667.7 (91.4)

– thereof continued operations 667.7 (116.4)

– thereof discontinued operations — 25.0
Change in cash and cash equivalents 
resulting from exchange rates (12.1) (0.9)

Changes resulting from consolidation 4.4 —

Change in cash and cash equivalents 660.0 (92.3)

Net cash and cash equivalents as of 1 January 345.0 437.3

Net cash and cash equivalents as of 31 December [39] 1,005.0 345.0

– thereof cash on hand and balances with banks 1,011.3 351.8

– thereof cash invested with affiliated companies — 0.3

– thereof cash received from affiliated companies (6.3) (7.1)

1	 �The figures of the previous year were adjusted due to the change of IAS 19. Further information can be found in the Notes on page 143.

(continued)

Consolidated financial statements



124 5.4  Balance Sheet

	 Balance Sheet 1� TAB: 5.4.1

� Notes  � 31.12.2013  � 31.12.2012  � 1.1.2012 

in € million

Intangible assets [11] 935.7 1,000.8 1,020.9

– of which goodwill from acquisitions [11] 606.3 642.3 651.4

Property, plant and equipment 2,933.2 2,527.4 2,227.0

Investment properties [12] 7.3 7.6 7.8

Financial assets [13] 13.9 15.9 15.9

Receivables and other assets [17, 18] 54.0 48.1 42.8

– of which financial assets 48.1 42.5 39.8

Securities and other financial investments [14] 179.3 499.5 58.5

Deferred taxes [15] 33.4 49.1 55.9

Reimbursement claims of income taxes 0.1 0.1 0.4

Non-current assets 4,156.9 4,148.5 3,429.2

Inventories [16] 552.6 687.9 730.0

Accounts receivable – trade [17] 737.9 770.3 928.8

Other receivables and assets [17, 18] 154.0 166.3 150.6

– of which financial assets 67.0 88.2 72.6

Reimbursement claims of income taxes 29.3 36.8 41.2

Securities and other financial investments [14] 856.2 435.0 315.0

Cash on hand and balances with banks [40] 1,011.3 351.8 442.8

Current assets 3,341.3 2,448.1 2,608.4

ASSETS 7,498.2 6,596.6 6,037.6

	 Balance Sheet 1� TAB: 5.4.1

� Notes  � 31.12.2013  � 31.12.2012  � 1.1.2012 

in € million

Subscribed capital [19] 191.4 191.4 191.4

Additional paid-in capital 646.8 647.2 648.1

Other reserves and accumulated profit [19] 2,554.3 2,551.7 2,193.2

Minority interests 4.1 3.6 3.1

Equity 3,396.6 3,393.9 3,035.8

Bank loans and overdrafts [25] 1,509.0 1,264.9 769.8

Other liabilities [18, 25] 17.5 17.8 20.1

– of which financial liabilities 13.2 9.5 13.0

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations [21] 102.6 160.1 145.4

Provisions for mining obligations [22] 743.9 706.6 580.6

Other provisions [23] 117.7 131.2 140.8

Deferred taxes [15] 196.1 274.7 326.4

Non-current debt 2,686.8 2,555.3 1,983.1

Bank loans and overdrafts [25] 746.2 0.9 0.8

Accounts payable – trade [25] 271.5 289.2 613.8

Other liabilities [18, 25] 94.6 70.6 96.2

– of which financial liabilities 65.5 49.4 70.5

Income tax liabilities 49.1 50.1 23.2

Provisions [22, 24] 253.4 236.6 284.7

Current debt 1,414.8 647.4 1,018.7

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 7,498.2 6,596.6 6,037.6

1	 �The figures of the previous year were adjusted due to the change of IAS 19. Further information can be found in the Notes on page 143.



1255.5 S tatement of Changes in Equity

	 Statement of Changes in Equity 1� TAB: 5.5.1

Subscribed 
capital [19]

Additional 
paid-in capital

Accumulated 
profit /revenue 

reserves [19]

Differences from 
foreign currency 
translation [19]

Financial assets 
available for sale

Revaluation of 
defined benefit 

pension plans

Total K+ S AG 
shareholders’ 

equity Minority interests Equity

in € million

Balances as of 1 January 2013 191.4 647.2 2,461.1 172.3 2.9 (84.6) 3,390.3 3.6 3,393.9

Net income — — 412.8 — — — 412.8 0.5 413.3
Other comprehensive 
income (after taxes) — — — (177.5) (1.0) 36.2 (142.3) — (142.3)

Comprehensive income of the period — — 412.8 (177.5) (1.0) 36.2 270.5 0.5 271.0

Dividend for the previous year — — (268.0) — — — (268.0) — (268.0)

Issuance of shares to employees — (0.4) — — — — (0.4) — (0.4)

Other changes in equity — — 0.1 — — — 0.1 — 0.1

Balances as of 31 December 2013 191.4 646.8 2,606.0 (5.2) 1.9 (48.4) 3,392.5 4.1 3,396.6

Balances as of 1 January 2012 191.4 648.1 2,044.5 201.1 (0.1) (52.3) 3,032.7 3.1 3,035.8

Net income — — 665.3 — — — 665.3 0.5 665.8
Other comprehensive 
income (after taxes) — — — (28.8) 3.0 (32.3) (58.1) — (58.1)

Comprehensive income of the period — — 665.3 (28.8) 3.0 (32.3) 607.2 0.5 607.7

Dividend for the previous year — — (248.8) — — — (248.8) — (248.8)

Issuance of shares to employees — (0.9) — — — — (0.9) — (0.9)

Other changes in equity — — 0.1 — — — 0.1 — 0.1

Balances as of 31 December 2012 191.4 647.2 2,461.1 172.3 2.9 (84.6) 3,390.3 3.6 3,393.9

1	 �	The figures of the previous year were adjusted due to the change of IAS 19. Further information can be found in the Notes on page 143.

Consolidated financial statements



126 5.6 D evelopment of Fixed Assets

	D evelopment of Fixed Assets 2013� � TAB: 5.6.1

	 Gross carrying amounts  �  	 Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs  � Net carrying amounts

Balances as of 
1.1.2013

Change in scope 
of consolidation Additions Disposals Reclassifications Currency differences

Balances as of 
31.12.2013

Balances as of 
1.1.2013

Change in scope 
of consolidation Additions scheduled

Additions 
non-scheduled Disposals Reclassifications Write-ups Currency differences

Balances as of 
31.12.2013

Balances as of 
31.12.2013

in € million
Other acquired concessions, industrial property rights, similar 
rights and assets as well as licenses for such rights and assets 61.9 — 4.9 1.6 0.8 (1.9) 64.1 32.3 — 7.1 — 1.6 — — (1.3) 36.5 27.6

Customer relations 220.9 — — — — (12.4) 208.5 58.5 — 17.2 — — — — (4.4) 71.3 137.2

Brands 112.7 — — — — (5.3) 107.4 9.7 — 1.2 — — — — — 10.9 96.5

Port concessions 31.0 — — — — (1.3) 29.7 0.6 — 0.1 — — — — — 0.7 29.0

Goodwill from acquisitions 642.3 0.2 — — — (36.2) 606.3 — — — — — — — — — 606.3

Internally generated intangible assets 4.6 — 0.5 — 0.8 — 5.9 2.3 — 0.8 — — — — — 3.1 2.8

Emission rights 15.0 — — — — — 15.0 — — — — — — — — — 15.0

Intangible assets in completion 15.8 — 7.1 0.1 (1.5) — 21.3 — — — — — — — — — 21.3

Intangible assets [11] 1,104.2 0.2 12.5 1.7 0.1 (57.1) 1,058.2 103.4 — 26.4 — 1.6 — — (5.7) 122.5 935.7
Land, rights similar to land and buildings, includ-
ing buildings on third-party land 865.1 0.1 72.9 18.2 23.4 (14.6) 928.7 309.5 — 36.6 4.4 3.0 — 0.1 (2.8) 344.6 584.1
Finance lease for land, rights similar to land and build-
ings, including buildings on third-party land — — — — 1.9 — 1.9 — — 0.2 — — 0.7 — — 0.9 1.0

Raw material deposits 727.1 — — — — (56.3) 670.8 20.0 — 4.4 — — — — (1.2) 23.2 647.6

Technical equipment and machinery 2,402.9 0.1 154.2 21.4 135.5 (23.8) 2,647.5 1,622.1 — 138.6 2.0 18.8 — — (12.4) 1,731.5 916.0

Finance lease for technical equipment and machinery — — 0.1 — 21.7 — 21.8 — — 1.6 — — 2.2 — (0.1) 3.7 18.1

Ships 76.7 — — 31.8 0.1 (3.4) 41.6 16.7 — 5.2 1.9 19.8 — — (1.0) 3.0 38.6

Finance lease for ships — — — — 1.9 — 1.9 — — 0.2 — — 0.4 — — 0.6 1.3

Other equipment, fixtures and fittings 304.3 — 27.4 8.4 4.8 (2.7) 325.4 232.8 — 28.4 — 7.8 — — (1.8) 251.6 73.8

Finance lease for other equipment, fixtures and fittings — — — — 0.7 — 0.7 — — 0.2 — — 0.2 — — 0.4 0.3

Payments on account and construction in progress 327.1 — 508.4 1.2 (163.9) (18.0) 652.4 — — — — — — — — — 652.4

Leasing and similar rights 29.4 — — 0.4 (26.2) (2.8) — 4.1 — 0.1 — 0.4 (3.5) — (0.3) — —

Property, plant and equipment 4,732.6 0.2 763.0 81.4 (0.1) (121.6) 5,292.7 2,205.2 — 215.5 8.3 49.8 — 0.1 (19.6) 2,359.5 2,933.2

Investment properties [12] 15.6 — — 1.3 — — 14.3 8.0 — — — 1.0 — — — 7.0 7.3

Investments in affiliated companies 15.4 (0.5) — 0.1 — — 14.8 1.4 — — 0.4 — — — — 1.8 13.0

Loans to affiliated companies — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

Investments 6.2 — — 6.1 — — 0.1 5.3 — — 0.8 6.1 — — — — 0.1

Loans to companies in which equity investments are held 0.2 — — 0.1 — — 0.1 — — — — — — — — — 0.1

Sundry loans and other financial assets 0.8 — 0.1 0.2 — — 0.7 — — — — — — — — — 0.7

Financial assets [13] 22.6 (0.5) 0.1 6.5 — — 15.7 6.7 — — 1.2 6.1 — — — 1.8 13.9

Fixed assets 5,875.0 (0.1) 775.6 90.9 — (178.7) 6,380.9 2,323.3 — 241.9 9.5 58.5 — 0.1 (25.3) 2,490.8 3,890.1



1275.6 D evelopment of Fixed Assets

	D evelopment of Fixed Assets 2013� � TAB: 5.6.1

	 Gross carrying amounts  �  	 Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs  � Net carrying amounts

Balances as of 
1.1.2013

Change in scope 
of consolidation Additions Disposals Reclassifications Currency differences

Balances as of 
31.12.2013

Balances as of 
1.1.2013

Change in scope 
of consolidation Additions scheduled

Additions 
non-scheduled Disposals Reclassifications Write-ups Currency differences

Balances as of 
31.12.2013

Balances as of 
31.12.2013

in € million
Other acquired concessions, industrial property rights, similar 
rights and assets as well as licenses for such rights and assets 61.9 — 4.9 1.6 0.8 (1.9) 64.1 32.3 — 7.1 — 1.6 — — (1.3) 36.5 27.6

Customer relations 220.9 — — — — (12.4) 208.5 58.5 — 17.2 — — — — (4.4) 71.3 137.2

Brands 112.7 — — — — (5.3) 107.4 9.7 — 1.2 — — — — — 10.9 96.5

Port concessions 31.0 — — — — (1.3) 29.7 0.6 — 0.1 — — — — — 0.7 29.0

Goodwill from acquisitions 642.3 0.2 — — — (36.2) 606.3 — — — — — — — — — 606.3

Internally generated intangible assets 4.6 — 0.5 — 0.8 — 5.9 2.3 — 0.8 — — — — — 3.1 2.8

Emission rights 15.0 — — — — — 15.0 — — — — — — — — — 15.0

Intangible assets in completion 15.8 — 7.1 0.1 (1.5) — 21.3 — — — — — — — — — 21.3

Intangible assets [11] 1,104.2 0.2 12.5 1.7 0.1 (57.1) 1,058.2 103.4 — 26.4 — 1.6 — — (5.7) 122.5 935.7
Land, rights similar to land and buildings, includ-
ing buildings on third-party land 865.1 0.1 72.9 18.2 23.4 (14.6) 928.7 309.5 — 36.6 4.4 3.0 — 0.1 (2.8) 344.6 584.1
Finance lease for land, rights similar to land and build-
ings, including buildings on third-party land — — — — 1.9 — 1.9 — — 0.2 — — 0.7 — — 0.9 1.0

Raw material deposits 727.1 — — — — (56.3) 670.8 20.0 — 4.4 — — — — (1.2) 23.2 647.6

Technical equipment and machinery 2,402.9 0.1 154.2 21.4 135.5 (23.8) 2,647.5 1,622.1 — 138.6 2.0 18.8 — — (12.4) 1,731.5 916.0

Finance lease for technical equipment and machinery — — 0.1 — 21.7 — 21.8 — — 1.6 — — 2.2 — (0.1) 3.7 18.1

Ships 76.7 — — 31.8 0.1 (3.4) 41.6 16.7 — 5.2 1.9 19.8 — — (1.0) 3.0 38.6

Finance lease for ships — — — — 1.9 — 1.9 — — 0.2 — — 0.4 — — 0.6 1.3

Other equipment, fixtures and fittings 304.3 — 27.4 8.4 4.8 (2.7) 325.4 232.8 — 28.4 — 7.8 — — (1.8) 251.6 73.8

Finance lease for other equipment, fixtures and fittings — — — — 0.7 — 0.7 — — 0.2 — — 0.2 — — 0.4 0.3

Payments on account and construction in progress 327.1 — 508.4 1.2 (163.9) (18.0) 652.4 — — — — — — — — — 652.4

Leasing and similar rights 29.4 — — 0.4 (26.2) (2.8) — 4.1 — 0.1 — 0.4 (3.5) — (0.3) — —

Property, plant and equipment 4,732.6 0.2 763.0 81.4 (0.1) (121.6) 5,292.7 2,205.2 — 215.5 8.3 49.8 — 0.1 (19.6) 2,359.5 2,933.2

Investment properties [12] 15.6 — — 1.3 — — 14.3 8.0 — — — 1.0 — — — 7.0 7.3

Investments in affiliated companies 15.4 (0.5) — 0.1 — — 14.8 1.4 — — 0.4 — — — — 1.8 13.0

Loans to affiliated companies — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

Investments 6.2 — — 6.1 — — 0.1 5.3 — — 0.8 6.1 — — — — 0.1

Loans to companies in which equity investments are held 0.2 — — 0.1 — — 0.1 — — — — — — — — — 0.1

Sundry loans and other financial assets 0.8 — 0.1 0.2 — — 0.7 — — — — — — — — — 0.7

Financial assets [13] 22.6 (0.5) 0.1 6.5 — — 15.7 6.7 — — 1.2 6.1 — — — 1.8 13.9

Fixed assets 5,875.0 (0.1) 775.6 90.9 — (178.7) 6,380.9 2,323.3 — 241.9 9.5 58.5 — 0.1 (25.3) 2,490.8 3,890.1

Consolidated financial statements



128 5.6 D evelopment of Fixed Assets

	D evelopment of Fixed Assets 2012� � TAB: 5.6.2

	 Gross carrying amounts  �  	 Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs  � Net carrying amounts

Balances as of 1.1.2012
Change in scope 
of consolidation Additions Disposals Reclassifcations Currency differences

Balances as of 
31.12.2012 Balances as of 1.1.2012

Change in scope 
of consolidation Additions scheduled

Additions non-
scheduled Disposals Reclassifcations Currency differences

Balances as of 
31.12.2012

Balances as of 
31.12.2012

in € million
Other acquired concessions, industrial 
property rights, similar rights and assets as 
well as licenses for such rights and assets 69.2 (17.4) 9.0 4.0 7.3 (2.2) 61.9 44.5 (12.8) 5.2 — 4.0 — (0.6) 32.3 29.6
Customer relations 224.1 — — — — (3.2) 220.9 41.5 — 17.9 — — — (0.9) 58.5 162.4

Brands 117.7 — — 3.4 — (1.6) 112.7 11.9 — 1.2 — 3.4 — — 9.7 103.0

Port concessions 31.6 — — — — (0.6) 31.0 0.5 — 0.1 — — — — 0.6 30.4

Goodwill from acquisitions 651.4 (0.5) — — — (8.6) 642.3 — — — — — — — — 642.3

Internally generated intangible assets 3.8 — 0.4 — 0.4 — 4.6 1.7 — 0.6 — — — — 2.3 2.3

Emission rights 15.0 — — — — — 15.0 — — — — — — — — 15.0

Intangible assets in completion 8.2 — 14.7 — (7.1) — 15.8 — — — — — — — — 15.8

Intangible assets [11] 1,121.0 (17.9) 24.1 7.4 0.6 (16.2) 1,104.2 100.1 (12.8) 25.0 — 7.4 — (1.5) 103.4 1,000.8
Land, rights similar to land and buildings, 
including buildings on third-party land 741.7 3.7 125.2 15.2 12.7 (3.0) 865.1 282.7 (1.1) 29.4 0.1 1.1 0.1 (0.6) 309.5 555.6

Raw material deposits 730.3 — — — — (3.2) 727.1 15.6 — 4.6 — — — (0.2) 20.0 707.1

Technical equipment and machinery 2,289.9 (3.0) 98.6 22.0 44.3 (4.9) 2,402.9 1,514.4 (1.5) 131.8 1.0 20.2 (0.1) (3.3) 1,622.1 780.8

Ships 91.7 — 22.0 35.2 — (1.8) 76.7 27.6 — 8.5 — 18.6 — (0.8) 16.7 60.0

Other equipment, fixtures and fittings 280.2 (1.8) 31.0 7.7 3.0 (0.4) 304.3 214.9 (1.1) 26.5 — 7.1 (0.1) (0.3) 232.8 71.5

Payments on account and construction in progress 143.5 — 268.7 2.6 (82.2) (0.3) 327.1 — — — — — — — — 327.1

Leasing and similar rights 7.9 — 0.7 0.7 21.6 (0.1) 29.4 3.0 — 1.8 — 0.7 0.1 (0.1) 4.1 25.3

Property, plant and equipment 4,285.2 (1.1) 546.2 83.4 (0.6) (13.7) 4,732.6 2,058.2 (3.7) 202.6 1.1 47.7 — (5.3) 2,205.2 2,527.4

Investment properties [12] 16.5 — — 0.9 — — 15.6 8.7 — 0.1 — 0.8 — — 8.0 7.6

Investments in affiliated companies 16.4 (0.4) 0.8 — (1.4) — 15.4 2.5 — — 0.3 — (1.4) — 1.4 14.0

Loans to affiliated companies — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

Investments 4.6 — — — 1.4 0.2 6.2 3.8 — — 0.1 — 1.4 — 5.3 0.9
Loans to companies in which 
equity investments are held 0.3 — — 0.1 — — 0.2 — — — — — — — — 0.2

Sundry loans and other financial assets 0.9 — 0.1 0.2 — — 0.8 — — — — — — — — 0.8

Financial assets [13] 22.2 (0.4) 0.9 0.3 — 0.2 22.6 6.3 — — 0.4 — — — 6.7 15.9

Fixed assets 5,444.9 (19.4) 571.2 92.0 — (29.7) 5,875.0 2,173.3 (16.5) 227.7 1.5 55.9 — (6.8) 2,323.3 3,551.7
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	D evelopment of Fixed Assets 2012� � TAB: 5.6.2

	 Gross carrying amounts  �  	 Depreciation, amortisation and write-downs  � Net carrying amounts

Balances as of 1.1.2012
Change in scope 
of consolidation Additions Disposals Reclassifcations Currency differences

Balances as of 
31.12.2012 Balances as of 1.1.2012

Change in scope 
of consolidation Additions scheduled

Additions non-
scheduled Disposals Reclassifcations Currency differences

Balances as of 
31.12.2012

Balances as of 
31.12.2012

in € million
Other acquired concessions, industrial 
property rights, similar rights and assets as 
well as licenses for such rights and assets 69.2 (17.4) 9.0 4.0 7.3 (2.2) 61.9 44.5 (12.8) 5.2 — 4.0 — (0.6) 32.3 29.6
Customer relations 224.1 — — — — (3.2) 220.9 41.5 — 17.9 — — — (0.9) 58.5 162.4

Brands 117.7 — — 3.4 — (1.6) 112.7 11.9 — 1.2 — 3.4 — — 9.7 103.0

Port concessions 31.6 — — — — (0.6) 31.0 0.5 — 0.1 — — — — 0.6 30.4

Goodwill from acquisitions 651.4 (0.5) — — — (8.6) 642.3 — — — — — — — — 642.3

Internally generated intangible assets 3.8 — 0.4 — 0.4 — 4.6 1.7 — 0.6 — — — — 2.3 2.3

Emission rights 15.0 — — — — — 15.0 — — — — — — — — 15.0

Intangible assets in completion 8.2 — 14.7 — (7.1) — 15.8 — — — — — — — — 15.8

Intangible assets [11] 1,121.0 (17.9) 24.1 7.4 0.6 (16.2) 1,104.2 100.1 (12.8) 25.0 — 7.4 — (1.5) 103.4 1,000.8
Land, rights similar to land and buildings, 
including buildings on third-party land 741.7 3.7 125.2 15.2 12.7 (3.0) 865.1 282.7 (1.1) 29.4 0.1 1.1 0.1 (0.6) 309.5 555.6

Raw material deposits 730.3 — — — — (3.2) 727.1 15.6 — 4.6 — — — (0.2) 20.0 707.1

Technical equipment and machinery 2,289.9 (3.0) 98.6 22.0 44.3 (4.9) 2,402.9 1,514.4 (1.5) 131.8 1.0 20.2 (0.1) (3.3) 1,622.1 780.8

Ships 91.7 — 22.0 35.2 — (1.8) 76.7 27.6 — 8.5 — 18.6 — (0.8) 16.7 60.0

Other equipment, fixtures and fittings 280.2 (1.8) 31.0 7.7 3.0 (0.4) 304.3 214.9 (1.1) 26.5 — 7.1 (0.1) (0.3) 232.8 71.5

Payments on account and construction in progress 143.5 — 268.7 2.6 (82.2) (0.3) 327.1 — — — — — — — — 327.1

Leasing and similar rights 7.9 — 0.7 0.7 21.6 (0.1) 29.4 3.0 — 1.8 — 0.7 0.1 (0.1) 4.1 25.3

Property, plant and equipment 4,285.2 (1.1) 546.2 83.4 (0.6) (13.7) 4,732.6 2,058.2 (3.7) 202.6 1.1 47.7 — (5.3) 2,205.2 2,527.4

Investment properties [12] 16.5 — — 0.9 — — 15.6 8.7 — 0.1 — 0.8 — — 8.0 7.6

Investments in affiliated companies 16.4 (0.4) 0.8 — (1.4) — 15.4 2.5 — — 0.3 — (1.4) — 1.4 14.0

Loans to affiliated companies — — — — — — — — — — — — — — — —

Investments 4.6 — — — 1.4 0.2 6.2 3.8 — — 0.1 — 1.4 — 5.3 0.9
Loans to companies in which 
equity investments are held 0.3 — — 0.1 — — 0.2 — — — — — — — — 0.2

Sundry loans and other financial assets 0.9 — 0.1 0.2 — — 0.8 — — — — — — — — 0.8

Financial assets [13] 22.2 (0.4) 0.9 0.3 — 0.2 22.6 6.3 — — 0.4 — — — 6.7 15.9

Fixed assets 5,444.9 (19.4) 571.2 92.0 — (29.7) 5,875.0 2,173.3 (16.5) 227.7 1.5 55.9 — (6.8) 2,323.3 3,551.7

Consolidated financial statements
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	D evelopment of Provisions 1� � TAB: 5.7.1

� Balances as of 1.1.2013  � Currency differences  � Change in scope of consolidation  �  � Additions  � Interest component  � Provisions used  � Provisions reversed  � Reclassifications  � Balances as of 31.12.2013

in € million

Backfilling of mines and shafts 296.8 (1.9) — 10.5 9.3 5.4 8.7 — 300.6

Maintenance of tailing piles 266.0 — — 23.7 12.1 2.5 1.1 — 298.2

Mining damage risks 54.6 — — 0.8 2.0 2.0 2.6 — 52.8

Other mining obligations 89.2 (0.9) — 5.7 2.9 1.3 3.3 — 92.3

Provisions for mining obligations [22] 706.6 (2.8) — 40.7 26.3 11.2 15.7 — 743.9

Long-term incentives 47.3 (0.6) — 7.3 0.3 18.6 3.8 — 31.9

Jubilee pay 25.9 — — 1.5 0.9 2.0 0.1 — 26.2

Partial retirement 13.6 — — 1.5 0.1 6.4 0.1 — 8.7

Other personnel obligations 3.1 (0.1) — 1.9 — 0.1 0.1 (1.9) 2.8

Personnel obligations [23] 89.9 (0.7) — 12.2 1.3 27.1 4.1 (1.9) 69.6

Other environmental obligations 0.5 — — — — — — — 0.5

Other provisions 40.8 (0.7) — 7.6 0.7 0.4 0.5 0.1 47.6

Provisions (non-current debt) 837.8 (4.2) — 60.5 28.3 38.7 20.3 (1.8) 861.6

Provisions for mining obligations [22] 6.9 — — 0.1 — 0.1 — — 6.9

Personnel obligations [24] 119.9 (1.7) — 74.7 — 115.6 1.8 — 75.5

Provisions for obligations from sale transactions [24] 47.1 (0.6) — 45.6 — 30.1 13.9 — 48.1

Provisions for obligations from purchase contracts [24] 29.5 (4.3) — 90.7 — 25.3 1.6 — 89.0

Other provisions 33.2 (0.8) — 27.0 — 23.7 1.9 0.1 33.9

Provisions (current debt) 236.6 (7.4) — 238.1 — 194.8 19.2 0.1 253.4

Provisions 1,074.4 (11.6) — 298.6 28.3 233.5 39.5 (1.7) 1,115.0

1	 �The figures of the previous year were adjusted due to the change of IAS 19. Further information can be found in the Notes on page 143.
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	D evelopment of Provisions 1� � TAB: 5.7.1

� Balances as of 1.1.2013  � Currency differences  � Change in scope of consolidation  �  � Additions  � Interest component  � Provisions used  � Provisions reversed  � Reclassifications  � Balances as of 31.12.2013

in € million

Backfilling of mines and shafts 296.8 (1.9) — 10.5 9.3 5.4 8.7 — 300.6

Maintenance of tailing piles 266.0 — — 23.7 12.1 2.5 1.1 — 298.2

Mining damage risks 54.6 — — 0.8 2.0 2.0 2.6 — 52.8

Other mining obligations 89.2 (0.9) — 5.7 2.9 1.3 3.3 — 92.3

Provisions for mining obligations [22] 706.6 (2.8) — 40.7 26.3 11.2 15.7 — 743.9

Long-term incentives 47.3 (0.6) — 7.3 0.3 18.6 3.8 — 31.9

Jubilee pay 25.9 — — 1.5 0.9 2.0 0.1 — 26.2

Partial retirement 13.6 — — 1.5 0.1 6.4 0.1 — 8.7

Other personnel obligations 3.1 (0.1) — 1.9 — 0.1 0.1 (1.9) 2.8

Personnel obligations [23] 89.9 (0.7) — 12.2 1.3 27.1 4.1 (1.9) 69.6

Other environmental obligations 0.5 — — — — — — — 0.5

Other provisions 40.8 (0.7) — 7.6 0.7 0.4 0.5 0.1 47.6

Provisions (non-current debt) 837.8 (4.2) — 60.5 28.3 38.7 20.3 (1.8) 861.6

Provisions for mining obligations [22] 6.9 — — 0.1 — 0.1 — — 6.9

Personnel obligations [24] 119.9 (1.7) — 74.7 — 115.6 1.8 — 75.5

Provisions for obligations from sale transactions [24] 47.1 (0.6) — 45.6 — 30.1 13.9 — 48.1

Provisions for obligations from purchase contracts [24] 29.5 (4.3) — 90.7 — 25.3 1.6 — 89.0

Other provisions 33.2 (0.8) — 27.0 — 23.7 1.9 0.1 33.9

Provisions (current debt) 236.6 (7.4) — 238.1 — 194.8 19.2 0.1 253.4

Provisions 1,074.4 (11.6) — 298.6 28.3 233.5 39.5 (1.7) 1,115.0

1	 �The figures of the previous year were adjusted due to the change of IAS 19. Further information can be found in the Notes on page 143.

Consolidated financial statements
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	 Segment Reporting 1� � TAB: 5.8.1

� Total revenues  � of which with third parties [35]  �  � of which intersegment revenues  � EBIT I  � EBITDA  � Gross cash flow

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

in € million

Potash and Magnesium Products business unit 2,113.8 2,359.0 2,037.6 2,290.6 76.2 68.4 552.5 770.9 667.5 867.2 659.0 862.7

Salt business unit 1,757.7 1,490.6 1,751.4 1,484.8 6.3 5.8 117.8 61.6 235.9 179.4 239.7 184.6

Complementary Activities 192.6 187.1 159.4 153.7 33.2 33.4 24.7 21.0 31.7 28.2 30.6 28.5

Reconciliation 2 [34] (113.7) (101.4) 2.0 6.2 (115.7) (107.6) (39.1) (49.4) (27.9) (41.5) (261.9) (262.8)

K+S Group (continued operations) 3,950.4 3,935.3 3,950.4 3,935.3 — — 655.9 804.1 907.2 1,033.3 667.4 813.0

Discontinued operations — 654.4 — 654.4 — — — 46.3 — 47.1 — 29.9

K+S total 3,950.4 4,589.7 3,950.4 4,589.7 — — 655.9 850.4 907.2 1,080.4 667.4 842.9

� Assets  � Liabilities  �  � Capital employed 3  � Capital expenditure 4 [37]  � Depreciation 5  � Employees as of 31 Dec. 6

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

in € million

Potash and Magnesium Products business unit 2,933.6 2,897.7 972.7 930.8 2,203.5 1,886.7 606.5 332.9 114.0 96.3 8,367 8,310

Salt business unit 2,890.4 3,009.6 464.6 515.6 2,053.4 2,218.4 107.4 111.3 110.1 116.7 5,091 5,092

Complementary Activities 132.9 137.8 79.3 84.3 96.4 96.9 3.4 6.3 7.0 6.7 293 293

Reconciliation 2 [34] 1,541.3 551.5 2,585.0 1,672.0 45.7 35.9 25.2 15.0 10.8 7.9 670 667

K+S Group (continued operations) 7,498.2 6,596.6 4,101.6 3,202.7 4,399.0 4,237.9 742.5 465.5 241.9 227.6 14,421 14,362

Discontinued operations — — — — — — — 0.2 — 0.8 — —

K+S total 7,498.2 6,596.6 4,101.6 3,202.7 4,399.0 4,237.9 742.5 465.7 241.9 228.4 14,421 14,362

1	 �The figures of the previous year were adjusted due to the change of IAS 19. Further information can be found in the Notes on page 143.
2	 �Figures for business units are shown before intersegment consolidation. Expenses and income as well as items disclosed on the balance sheet that cannot be allocated to business units  

are recorded separately. Both effects are shown under ‘Reconciliation’ and result in the Group figures.

3	 �Operating fixed assets and Working Capital.
4	 �Relates to investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
5	 �Concerns scheduled depreciation. Non-scheduled impairment charges are presented in the Notes [33].
6	�Workforce as of 31 December including temporary employees (without students and interns) measured on full-time equivalent basis.
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	 Segment Reporting 1� � TAB: 5.8.1

� Total revenues  � of which with third parties [35]  �  � of which intersegment revenues  � EBIT I  � EBITDA  � Gross cash flow

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

in € million

Potash and Magnesium Products business unit 2,113.8 2,359.0 2,037.6 2,290.6 76.2 68.4 552.5 770.9 667.5 867.2 659.0 862.7

Salt business unit 1,757.7 1,490.6 1,751.4 1,484.8 6.3 5.8 117.8 61.6 235.9 179.4 239.7 184.6

Complementary Activities 192.6 187.1 159.4 153.7 33.2 33.4 24.7 21.0 31.7 28.2 30.6 28.5

Reconciliation 2 [34] (113.7) (101.4) 2.0 6.2 (115.7) (107.6) (39.1) (49.4) (27.9) (41.5) (261.9) (262.8)

K+S Group (continued operations) 3,950.4 3,935.3 3,950.4 3,935.3 — — 655.9 804.1 907.2 1,033.3 667.4 813.0

Discontinued operations — 654.4 — 654.4 — — — 46.3 — 47.1 — 29.9

K+S total 3,950.4 4,589.7 3,950.4 4,589.7 — — 655.9 850.4 907.2 1,080.4 667.4 842.9

� Assets  � Liabilities  �  � Capital employed 3  � Capital expenditure 4 [37]  � Depreciation 5  � Employees as of 31 Dec. 6

2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

in € million

Potash and Magnesium Products business unit 2,933.6 2,897.7 972.7 930.8 2,203.5 1,886.7 606.5 332.9 114.0 96.3 8,367 8,310

Salt business unit 2,890.4 3,009.6 464.6 515.6 2,053.4 2,218.4 107.4 111.3 110.1 116.7 5,091 5,092

Complementary Activities 132.9 137.8 79.3 84.3 96.4 96.9 3.4 6.3 7.0 6.7 293 293

Reconciliation 2 [34] 1,541.3 551.5 2,585.0 1,672.0 45.7 35.9 25.2 15.0 10.8 7.9 670 667

K+S Group (continued operations) 7,498.2 6,596.6 4,101.6 3,202.7 4,399.0 4,237.9 742.5 465.5 241.9 227.6 14,421 14,362

Discontinued operations — — — — — — — 0.2 — 0.8 — —

K+S total 7,498.2 6,596.6 4,101.6 3,202.7 4,399.0 4,237.9 742.5 465.7 241.9 228.4 14,421 14,362

1	 �The figures of the previous year were adjusted due to the change of IAS 19. Further information can be found in the Notes on page 143.
2	 �Figures for business units are shown before intersegment consolidation. Expenses and income as well as items disclosed on the balance sheet that cannot be allocated to business units  

are recorded separately. Both effects are shown under ‘Reconciliation’ and result in the Group figures.

3	 �Operating fixed assets and Working Capital.
4	 �Relates to investments in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.
5	 �Concerns scheduled depreciation. Non-scheduled impairment charges are presented in the Notes [33].
6	�Workforce as of 31 December including temporary employees (without students and interns) measured on full-time equivalent basis.

Consolidated financial statements



134 5.9 N otes

5.9 N otes

General principles

The Group’s parent company, K+S Aktiengesellschaft with its registered office in Kassel, 
Germany, has prepared the consolidated financial statements of the K+S Group as of and 
for the period ended 31 December 2013 based on the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) of the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) as 
well as the interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpreta-
tions Committee in effect on the reporting date insofar as those have been recognised by 
the European Union. In the interests of clearer presentation, the individual captions in the 
consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euro (€ million).

The consolidated financial statements were prepared by the Board of Executive Directors on 
28 February 2014 and will be presented to the Supervisory Board for approval for its meet-
ing on 12 March 2014.

Scope of consolidation

The following companies were consolidated for the first time in 2013:
++ K+S North America Asset Management GmbH
++ K+S North America Salt Asset Management GmbH & Co. KG
++ K+S Perú S.A.C.
++ 1786987 Alberta Ltd.

Since the beginning of 2013, the following companies have been removed from the scope of 
consolidation as a result of merger, liquidation or decreased significance. 

++ K+S Mining Argentina S.A.
++ UBT See- und Hafen-Spedition GmbH Rostock
++ K+S KALI Atlantique S.A.S.

16 (previous year: 15) domestic and 48 (previous year: 48) foreign companies were fully 
included in the consolidated financial statements. 32 (previous year: 35) subsidiaries were 
not included in the consolidated financial statements and were stated at acquisition cost, as 

they are of minor importance for the consolidated financial statements with regard to bal-
ance sheet total, revenues and earnings. 

Joint ventures and companies over which companies of the K+S Group exercise significant 
influence (associated companies) are essentially measured using the equity method. The 
potential impact on earnings of accounting for such equity interests using the equity method 
is, however, immaterial from a Group perspective. As a result of their overall immateriality, 
all interests in joint ventures and associated companies were therefore stated at acquisition 
cost in financial year 2013. On the balance sheet date, the carrying amount of these interests 
is € 0.1 million (previous year: € 0.9 million).

A complete overview of the interests of K+S Aktiengesellschaft can be taken from the 
list of shareholdings on page 177.

Discontinued operations

The strategy of the K+S Group provides for growth in the Potash and Magnesium Products 
and Salt business units and for focussing management resources and financial means on 
this correspondingly. 

Against this background, in 2011, K+S sold the business activities of COMPO to Triton, an 
investment company, and announced, on 8 May 2012, the sale of the NITROGEN business to 
EuroChem. 

After the EU cartel authority had approved the transaction on 25 June 2012, the divestment 
of the Nitrogen business was successfully completed on 2 July 2012. 

With the concluded sales agreement, the criteria under IFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for 
sale and discontinued operations” were met and the NITROGEN business was therefore dis-
closed in the balance sheet as a disposal group held for sale and as a “discontinued operation”. 
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Earnings after taxes from discontinued operations include € (1.1) million (previous year: € (1.9) 
million) attributable to the COMPO business. 

The following table shows the assets and liabilities of the NITROGEN business disposed of 
due to the deconsolidation carried out on 2 July 2012.

	D econsolidation of assets and liabilities disposed of –  
	N ITROGEN business� TAB: 5.9.2

� 2013

in € million

Financial assets and other non-current assets 12.9

Inventories 81.3

Accounts receivable – trade 235.3

Other current assets 148.7

Cash on hand and balances with banks 11.0

Assets held for sale 489.2

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 3.5

Other non-current provisions 3.2

Accounts payable – trade 295.2

Other liabilities 50.0

Current provisions 19.3

Liabilities in connection with assets held for sale 371.2

Acquisition SMO

On 3 January 2012, esco – European Salt Company GmbH & Co. KG, a 100 % subsidiary of 
K+S Aktiengesellschaft, acquired through its subsidiary esco International GmbH 
the Czech salt processing company, Solné MlÝny, a.s. (SMO), a leading supplier of salt prod-
ucts in the Czech Republic. 

The purchase price was € 4.4 million. 

All assets and liabilities of the NITROGEN business were therefore reclassified in 2012 and, 
until it had been disposed of, respectively disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet as a 
separate item “Assets held for sale” and “Liabilities in connection with assets held for sale”. 
The balance sheet of the preceding periods was not adjusted in accordance with IFRS 5.

All income and expenses of the NITROGEN business, classified as a discontinued operation, 
were reclassified and disclosed in a separate item “Earnings after taxes from a discontinued 
operation”.

The cash flows of the discontinued operations are stated separately in the cash flow state-
ment for the previous year pursuant to IFRS 5.

The composition of the earnings after taxes from discontinued operations is as presented 
in the following table:

	Dis continued operations – total� TAB: 5.9.1

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Revenues — 654.4

Other income and expenses — (607.2)

EBIT II — 47.2

Financial result — 0.1

Earnings before taxes — 47.3

Taxes on income — 14.6

Earnings after income taxes for the period — 32.7

Earnings from the divestment (before taxes) — 77.2

Taxes on income 2.3 9.9

Earnings from the divestment (after taxes) (2.3) 67.3

Earnings after taxes from discontinued operations (2.3) 100.0

Consolidated financial statements
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The fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed from SMO, recognised at the date 
of acquisition (3 January 2012), are presented in the following table:

	F air values as of the Date of acquisition of SMO� TAB: 5.9.3

Fair values as 
of the date of 

acquisition

in € million

Non-current assets 6.1

Inventories 1.9

Other current assets 1.7

Cash on hand and balances with banks 0.2

Assets 9.9

 

Non-current debt 0.8

Bank loans and overdrafts 1.2

Other current debt 1.2

Equity and liabilities 3.2

 

Net assets 6.7

Liabilities in connection with assets held for sale 2.3

Purchase price 4.4

A comparison of the acquisition costs and the revalued proportional net assets resulted in a 
negative difference amount (bargain purchase) of € 2.3 million, which was released and rec-
ognised in profit or loss in the previous year under other operating income.

Consolidation methods

The financial statements of the consolidated companies are prepared as of the balance sheet 
date for the consolidated financial statements. The assets and liabilities of the consolidated 
companies are recognised and measured uniformly in accordance with the policies described 
here and in the following notes. 

Revenues, expenses and income between consolidated companies that arise while the com-
panies affected are members of the K+S Group are fully eliminated. Similarly, receivables and 
liabilities between consolidated companies and inter-company profits resulting from deliver-
ies and services between consolidated companies are eliminated, unless they are immaterial.

In the capital consolidation, the acquisition costs of the investments are set off against the 
share of the remeasured equity attributable to them as of the date of acquisition. Asset-side 
balances that remain after allocation to the assets and liabilities are carried as goodwill. Lia-
bility-side balances from capital consolidation are released directly affecting profit or loss.

Accounting and valuation principles 

Recording of income and expenses
Revenues comprise sales of products and services net of sales deductions. Revenues deriving 
from the sale of products are reported as of the time when the associated risks of ownership 
have passed. Services are reported as revenues after having been performed. In addition, pay-
ment must be sufficiently probable. 

Revenues from customer-specific construction contracts are recognised using the percentage 
of completion method insofar as the outcome can be estimated reliably. The stage of com-
pletion is determined on the basis of the costs incurred in relation to anticipated total costs. 
Insofar as the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenues 
should only be recognised to the extent of the costs incurred. While a project is in progress, 
contractual amendments introduced by customers with respect to the range of services to 
be rendered can increase or reduce contract revenues. An expected loss on a construction 
contract is immediately recognised as an expense.

Other income, such as interest or dividends, is recorded for the relevant period as of the time 
when a respective contractual or legal claim arises. 

Operating expenses are charged to profit or loss on the date of performance or at the time 
they are incurred.
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Income from investments, net
This item contains earnings from non-consolidated subsidiaries stated at acquisition cost, 
joint ventures, associated companies and other investments. Distributions, profit transfers, 
impairments and profits and losses from the disposal of these companies are included in the 
income from investments. In the financial year, income of € 7.8 million (previous year: € 5.7 
million) was set off against impairment charges of € 1.2 million (previous year: € 0.5 million).

Intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired are stated at acquisition cost. Internally generated intangible 
assets are capitalised at their development cost provided that they are likely to yield a future 
economic benefit and the costs of such assets can be measured reliably. 

Insofar as their useful lives can be determined, intangible assets are amortised on a sched-
uled straight-line basis; in the event that an indefinite useful life is anticipated, no scheduled 
amortisation is applied. An indefinite useful life is assumed in the case of goodwill. The fol-
lowing useful lives are applied in the case of scheduled amortisation:

	Us eful lives for intangible assets 
	 with a finite useful life� TAB: 5.9.4

Years

Port concessions 250

Brands 0 – 20

Customer relations 5 – 20

Other intangible assets 2 – 10

Non-scheduled amortisation is recorded in the event of impairment. If the reasons giving 
rise to the non-scheduled amortisation no longer exist, a corresponding write-up is recog-
nised that may not exceed the amortised carrying amount. Impairment charges to goodwill 
are not reversed.

The value of goodwill is tested at regular intervals. Appropriate impairment charges are rec-
ognised when necessary. Any need for recognition of an impairment charge is determined 
in accordance with IAS 36 by making a comparison with the discounted future cash flows 

that are expected for the cash-generating units to which the corresponding amounts of 
goodwill have been allocated. 

CO2 emission rights are measured for the first time at acquisition cost. Thus, rights granted 
free of charge are capitalised with a value of zero and those acquired for a consideration are 
capitalised at acquisition cost. If the value on the reporting date falls below the acquisition 
cost, the carrying amount of the cash-generating unit holding the emission rights is com-
pared with the value in use of that unit within the framework of an impairment test.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at acquisition or production cost less scheduled, 
use-related depreciation. The acquisition or production costs also include future restoration 
expenses. Non-scheduled depreciation charges are recognised for any impairment losses 
that exceed the use-related depreciation already recorded; they are reported under other 
operating expenses. Such impairment losses are determined in accordance with IAS 36 by 
making a comparison with the discounted future cash flows that are expected for the assets 
affected. If no independent cash flows can be allocated to the assets affected, the cash flows 
for the corresponding cash-generating unit are used instead for comparative reasons. Should 
the reasons giving rise to the non-scheduled depreciation charges cease to apply, appropri-
ate write-ups are recognised.

The raw material deposits acquired are recognised as property, plant and equipment. The 
scheduled depreciation starts from the time of the first-time extraction of raw materials. Gal-
lery and excavation work are also shown as property, plant and equipment. 

If property, plant and equipment are sold or shut down, the gain or loss represented by the 
difference between sales proceeds and the residual carrying amount is recorded under other 
operating income or expenses. 
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Property, plant and equipment are depreciated using the straight-line method and the depre-
ciation charges are based on customary useful lives. Scheduled depreciation is based on the 
following useful lives that apply across the Group:

	Us eful lives for property, plant and equipment� TAB: 5.9.5

Years

Raw material deposits 19 – 250

Gallery and excavation work 5 – 125

Buildings 33 ⅓

Technical equipment and machinery 4 – 25

Other equipment, factory and office equipment 3 – 10

Capitalisation of borrowing costs
Borrowing costs, which may be allocated directly to the acquisition, construction or manu-
facture of a qualifying asset, are to be capitalised as part of the acquisition or manufactur-
ing costs of that asset. A qualifying asset exists if a period of at least one year is necessary to 
make it ready for its intended use or sale. If the qualifying asset is demonstrably not financed 
from outside funds, there are no borrowing costs to be capitalised.

Finance leases
A lease relationship is an agreement under which the lessor transfers to the lessee the right 
to use an asset for a particular period of time in exchange for a single payment or a series of 
payments. A finance lease arises if substantially all the risks and rewards incident to owner-
ship of an asset are transferred to the lessee. If that is the case, the lessee capitalises the asset 
at its present value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. A corre-
sponding amount is recognised as a liability arising from the lease. The asset is depreciated 
in a manner that essentially does not differ from the treatment applied to comparable assets. 

Government assistance
Government assistance (e. g., investment premiums and grants) for the purchase or produc-
tion of property, plant and equipment reduce the acquisition or production costs of the assets 
to which they relate.

Investment properties
Investment properties are mainly leased objects. They are stated at amortised cost less 
straight-line, scheduled, use-related depreciation. The underlying useful lives are 50 years. 
Income from the disposal of investment properties is recorded in the financial result.

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale as well as dis-
continued operations
A non-current asset (or a disposal group) is classified as held for sale if the related carrying 
amount is principally recovered through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 
use. This is the case if the asset (or the disposal group) is available for sale in its present con-
dition and if such sale is highly probable. Non-current assets (or disposal groups) which are 
classified as held for sale are stated at the lower of the carrying amount and the fair value 
less costs to sell. A scheduled depreciation of these assets no longer takes place.

An operation is disclosed as a discontinued operation if it was sold or is classified as held for 
sale and which

++ represents a separate major line of business or a geographical area of operations,
++ is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geo-

graphical area of operations, or
++ represents a subsidiary exclusively acquired with a view to resale.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are contracts that give rise to a financial asset for one of the parties 
to such contract and to a financial liability or equity instrument for the other party. Essen-
tially, financial assets and financial liabilities are disclosed separately from each other (no 
offsetting). Financial assets mainly comprise cash on hand and balances with banks, trade 
receivables, receivables from customer-specific construction contracts, securities, financial 
investments as well as derivative financial instruments with a positive market value. Finan-
cial liabilities include, in particular, trade payables, liabilities from customer-specific construc-
tion contracts, financial liabilities as well as derivative financial instruments with a negative 
market value. Financial instruments are initially recognised at their fair value as soon as the 
reporting enterprise becomes a contractual party for the financial instrument. Transaction 
costs that are to be allocated directly to the acquisition are then taken into account in deter-
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mining the carrying amount when the financial instruments are not subsequently measured 
at fair value with recognition in profit or loss. 

The classification of financial instruments to one of the following categories defined in IAS 
39 determines subsequent measurement:

Loans and receivables 
This category comprises non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, 
which are not listed on an active market. These include trade receivables, loans, fixed- or var-
iable-rate securities (without an active market) as well as bank deposits. 

After being recognised for the first time, the financial assets belonging to this category are 
measured at amortised cost applying the effective interest method less impairments. Non-
interest-bearing or low-interest receivables due in more than three months are discounted. 
If there are objective indications, impairments are recognised in profit or loss through sepa-
rate adjustment accounts. Objective indications pointing to an impairment are, for example, 
known payment difficulties or the insolvency of the debtor. Receivables are derecognised 
when settled or when they become uncollectible. Other assets are derecognised on disposal 
or in the absence of value.

Financial assets stated at fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises securities “held for trading”, which have been acquired with the 
intention to be sold over the short term. Derivatives with positive market values are also 
classified as “held for trading” unless they form part of a hedging relationship in accordance 
with IAS 39. They are stated at fair value. Changes in value are recognised in profit or loss. 
Securities are derecognised after disposal on the settlement date.

Financial assets available for sale 
This category comprises non-derivative financial assets which have been determined to be 
available for sale or are not classified into any of the categories mentioned above. They are 
initially measured at fair value. This category includes, for example, equity instruments such 
as investments in (non-consolidated) affiliated companies. 

Basically, financial instruments belonging to this category are subsequently measured at fair 
value. Changes in fair value arising on subsequent measurement are recorded in the revalua-
tion reserve and not recognized in profit or loss. Only at the time of disposal are the realized 
gains or losses recorded in profit or loss. If there are objective indications of an impairment 
on the balance sheet date, a non-scheduled depreciation to the fair value is to be recognised. 
The amount recorded in the revaluation reserve is derecognised affecting profit or loss. Sub-
sequent impairment reversals with equity instruments measured at fair value are not rec-
ognised in profit or loss.

In the case of financial instruments for which there are no active markets which provide fair 
values to be determined reliably, such financial instruments are stated at acquisition cost. 
This applies to investments in (non-consolidated) affiliated companies and investments. 
Impairments are accounted for by non-scheduled depreciation to lower values with recog-
nition in profit or loss. Such a depreciation may not be reversed. Shares and investments are 
derecognised upon disposal to a party outside the Group. Securities are derecognised after 
disposal on the settlement date.

Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost 
All financial liabilities with the exception of derivative financial instruments are stated at 
amortised cost applying the effective interest method. Liabilities are derecognised on settle-
ment or if the reasons for recognizing a liability no longer apply.
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Financial liabilities stated at fair value through profit or loss 
This category comprises derivative financial instruments with negative market values which 
are essentially classified as “held for trading”. This rule does not apply to derivatives which 
are part of a hedging relationship in accordance with IAS 39.

Derivatives
Derivatives are stated at their market value. Changes in market value are recognised in profit 
or loss. Derivatives are derecognised on the settlement date.

Customer-specific construction contracts
Customer-specific construction contracts are recognised according to the percentage of com-
pletion method. Services rendered, including the pro rata result, are disclosed in revenues in 
accordance with the stage of completion. Contracts are disclosed under receivables or liabili-
ties from percentage of completion. If, in the individual case, cumulative work (contract costs 
and contract result) exceeds the advance payments received, the construction contracts are 
capitalised under receivables from customer-specific construction contracts. If the balance 
after deduction of advance payments received is negative, this obligation from construction 
contracts is recognized as a liability from customer-specific construction contracts. 

Inventories
In accordance with IAS 2, assets that are designated for sale in the normal course of busi-
ness (finished goods and merchandise), are in the process of being produced for sale (work 
in progress) or are used in production or the rendering of services (raw materials and sup-
plies) are recorded under inventories. 

Inventories are valued at average cost or at the lower net realisable value. In addition to direct 
costs, production costs also include reasonable proportions of fixed and variable material and 
manufacturing overheads as long as they occur in connection with the production process. 
The same applies to general administrative expenses, pension and support expenses as well 
as other social expenses. Variable overheads are computed on the basis of actual capacity 
and fixed overheads on the basis of normal capacity. Borrowing costs are not included. The 
net realisable value corresponds to the estimated selling price less the costs that are yet to 
be incurred until completion as well as the necessary selling expenses.

Cash on hand and balances with banks
This item includes cheques, cash on hand and balances with banks. It also includes finan-
cial investments with a maturity of generally not more than three months counting from 
the time of acquisition.

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
The provisions for pensions and similar obligations are computed in accordance with actu-
arial principles applying the projected unit credit method. The discount factor is computed 
on the basis of the yields for first-rank corporate bonds available on the reporting date. First-
rank corporate bonds are those bonds that have an AA rating. Essentially, the corporate bonds 
to be applied here are those which correspond to the anticipated maturity and currency of 
the pension obligations. As the availability of correspondingly long-term corporate bonds 
at the balance sheet date was insufficient, the term-congruent interest rate in such cases 
was determined by means of extrapolation. Moreover, future expected salary and pension 
increases as well as cost increases regarding health care benefit commitments are taken into 
account. Insofar as plan assets exist, such assets are offset against the related obligations.

The net interest for a reporting period is determined by multiplying the net indebtedness 
from the defined benefit pension plans (asset) by the discount factor given above. Both fac-
tors are determined at the beginning of the reporting period after taking into account antici-
pated allocations/disbursements.

Revaluations of the net indebtedness from defined benefit pension plans are recorded in 
other comprehensive income. They include 

++ actuarial gains/losses, 
++ income from plan assets without amounts included in the net interest attributable to the 

net indebtedness from defined benefit pension plans (asset) and
++ changes in the effects of the assets’ upper limit without amounts included in the net 

interest attributable to the net indebtedness from defined benefit pension plans (asset).
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Mining and other provisions
Provisions are recognised in an amount corresponding to the extent to which they are 
expected to be used for discharging present obligations in relation to third parties arising 
from a past event. Such utilisation must be more probable than improbable and it must be 
possible to reliably estimate the amount of the obligations. Non-current provisions with a 
residual maturity of more than one year are discounted applying a term-congruent capital 
market taking into account future cost increases insofar as the interest rate effect is material.

Deferred taxes
In accordance with IAS 12, deferred taxes are determined using the balance sheet liability 
method that is commonly accepted internationally. This results in the recognition of deferred 
tax items for all temporary differences between the tax values and the values in the con-
solidated balance sheet as well as for tax loss carryforwards. However, deferred tax assets 
are only recognised to the extent that it is sufficiently probable that they will be realised. 
Deferred taxes are measured applying the tax rates that, under current legislation, would 
apply in the future when the temporary differences will probably be reversed. The effects 
of changes in tax legislation on deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit 
or loss in such period in which the material conditions causing such amendment to enter 
into force arise. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted applying the rules con-
tained in IAS 12. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset within individual companies 
according to timing.

Acquisitions
Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method. In connection with 
the revaluation of a company that has been acquired, all the hidden reserves and hidden 
liabilities of the acquired company are identified and assets, liabilities and contingent lia-
bilities are stated at their fair value (taking into account the exceptions regulated in IFRS 3). 
Any resulting positive difference in relation to the costs of acquiring the company is capi-
talised as goodwill. 

Discretionary assumptions and estimates

Discretionary assumptions concerning the application of account-
ing and valuation methods
Non-current intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investment properties are 
stated in the balance sheet at amortised cost. The under certain circumstances also allowed 
alternative treatment of reporting them at fair value is not utilised.

Estimates and premises concerning the application of accounting 
and valuation methods
In terms of reason and amount, the values stated in the IFRS financial statements are in part 
based on estimates as well as on the determination of certain premises. This is particularly 
necessary in the case of

++ determining the useful lives of depreciable fixed assets,
++ determining measurement premises and future earnings in connection with impairment 

tests, especially for capitalised goodwill,
++ determining the net realisable value of inventories,
++ determining the premises necessary for the valuation of pension provisions (discount fac-

tor, future development of wages/salaries and pensions, anticipated yield of plan assets),
++ determining amounts, performance due dates and discount factors for the valuation of 

provisions for mining obligations,
++ selecting parameters in connection with the model-based valuation of derivatives (e. g. 

assumptions regarding volatility and interest rate), 
++ determining the result of customer-specific construction contracts according to the per-

centage of completion method (estimate of contract progress, total contract costs, cost to 
be incurred until completion, total contract revenues and contract risks),

++ determining the usability of tax loss carryforwards as well as
++ determining the fair value of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment as well as 

liabilities acquired in connection with a business combination, and determining the use-
ful lives of the intangible assets and property, plant and equipment acquired.

Despite taking great care in producing such estimates, actual developments may differ from 
the assumptions made.
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Foreign currency translation

In the single-entity financial statements of Group companies, all receivables and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are measured at the exchange rate applicable on the bal-
ance sheet date. 

The annual financial statements of foreign Group companies are converted to euros in 
accordance with the functional currency concept set forth in IAS 21. All companies conduct 
their operations independently in financial, economic and organisational terms. The func-
tional currency generally corresponds to the local currency. Assets and liabilities are trans-
lated at the exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expenses are 
translated applying the average exchange rates for the quarter. The resulting currency trans-
lation differences are recorded in equity without recognition in profit or loss. If Group com-
panies are no longer consolidated, the currency translation difference concerned is released 
and recognised in profit or loss.

In the case of 13 companies, the US dollar, in deviation from the local currency, is used as the 
functional currency, as these companies generate the majority of their cash inflows and cash 
outflows in this currency. The US dollar is used in the case of the following companies: Com-
pania Minera Punta de Lobos Ltda., Empresa de Servicios Ltda., Empresa Maritima 
S.A., Inagua General Store Ltd., Inagua Transports Inc., Inversiones Columbus 
Ltda., Inversiones Empremar Ltda., K+S Finance Belgium BVBA, Morton Bahamas 
Ltd., Servicios Maritimos Patillos S.A., Servicios Portuarios Patillos S.A., K+S Chile 
S.A. and Transporte por Containers S.A.

The translation of currencies important for the Group was based on the following euro 
exchange rates:

	E xchange rates� TAB: 5.9.6

� 2013  � 2012

Rate on 
report- 

ing date

Average 
rate for 

Q1

Average 
rate for 

Q2

Average 
rate for 

Q3

Average 
rate for 

Q4

Average  
rate 

for the 
year

Rate on 
report- 

ing date

Average  
rate 

for the 
year

Exchange rate in 
relation to € 1

US dollar (USD) 1.379 1.321 1.306 1.324 1.361 1.328 1.319 1.285

Canadian dollar (CAD) 1.467 1.331 1.337 1.376 1.427 1.368 1.314 1.284

Czech koruna (CZK) 27.427 25.565 25.831 25.853 26.658 25.980 25.151 25.149

Brazilian real (BRL) 3.258 2.637 2.699 3.030 3.093 2.869 2.704 2.508

Chilean peso (CLP) 724.648 623.661 633.218 671.359 703.206 658.044 632.256 624.840

Great Britain pound (GBP) 0.834 0.851 0.851 0.855 0.841 0.850 0.816 0.811

In the year under review, translation differences of € (12.9) million on balance (previous year: 
€ (12.9) million) were recorded in the income statement (e. g. measurement/realisation of 
receivables and liabilities in a foreign currency), which were mainly shown in other operat-
ing income or expenses.

Effects of new accounting standards and interpretations

	N ew accounting standards and interpretations� TAB: 5.9.7

To be applied 1

Endorsement 2 
(until 

31.12.2013)

Standard/Interpretation

Amendment IFRS 1
Severe hyperinflation and removal of 
fixed dates for first-time adopters 1.7.2011 yes

Amendment IAS 12
Deferred Tax – Recovery of 
Underlying Assets 1.1.2012 yes

Amendment IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements 1.7.2012 yes

Amendment IAS 19 Employee Benefits 1.1.2013 yes

Amendment IFRS 1 Government loans 1.1.2013 yes

1	 To be first applied according to IASB in the first reporting period of a financial year beginning on or after this date.
2	Adoption of the IFRS standards and interpretations by the EU Commission.
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	N ew accounting standards and interpretations� TAB: 5.9.7

To be applied 1

Endorsement 2 
(until 

31.12.2013)

Standard/Interpretation

Amendment IFRS 7
Disclosures – offsetting 
financial instruments 1.1.2013 yes

New IFRS 13 Fair value measurement 1.1.2013 yes

New IFRIC 20
Stripping costs in the production 
phase of a surface mine 1.1.2013 yes

New

Annual improve-
ments in IFRSs: 
2009 – 2011

Collective standard for the 
amendment of several IFRSs 1.1.2013 yes

1	 To be first applied according to IASB in the first reporting period of a financial year beginning on or after this date.
2	Adoption of the IFRS standards and interpretations by the EU Commission.

IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”
The amendment basically involves a formal restructuring of the statement of comprehen-
sive income as well as a separation of other comprehensive income not recognised in profit 
or loss into elements which will be or will not be in future reclassified into the income state-
ment. The statement of comprehensive income is presented on page 122.

IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”
IAS 19 “Employee Benefits”, which was approved by the IASB in June 2011 and endorsed by 
the EU in June 2012, is to be applied for the first time to financial years beginning on or after 
1 January 2013. The changes are to be implemented with retroactive effect to the beginning of 
the comparative period, i. e. as of 1 January 2012. This essentially means the following for K+S:

++ Abolition of the corridor method: As a result, actuarial gains and losses are to be recorded 
in other comprehensive income (equity) and have a direct impact on the consolidated bal-
ance sheet. It is no longer necessary to extinguish actuarial gains and losses with recog-
nition in profit or loss when the corridor is exceeded. The income statement will thus in 
future remain free of effects from actuarial gains and losses. 

++ Computing planned interest on plan assets: This is no longer based on the anticipated yield 
but corresponds to the discount rate applied to determine the defined benefit obligation.

++ Revised definition of termination benefits: Under the revised definition, step-up contri-
butions for partial retirement obligations are now treated as other non-current employee 
benefits which are to be accrued on a pro-rata basis over the period of vesting. After step-
up contributions were recognised as liabilities in the full amount of their present value, a 
provision in the amount of € 4.7 million was reversed against revenue reserves as of 1 Jan-
uary 2012 which will again be recognised in profit or loss in subsequent periods. 

Taking into account tax effects, the following changes occurred with respect to the previ-
ous year:

	A mendments IAS 19 – Balance Sheet� TAB: 5.9.8

1.1.2012 
(old)

1.1.2012 
(change)

1.1.2012 
(new)

31.12.2012 
(old)

31.12.2012 
(change)

31.12.2012 
(new)

in € million

Receivables and other assets 62.7 (19.9) 42.8 91.3 (43.2) 48.1

Deferred taxes 55.3 0.6 55.9 48.3 0.8 49.1

Non-current assets 3,448.5 (19.3) 3,429.2 4,190.9 (42.4) 4,148.5

Current assets 2,608.4 — 2,608.4 2,448.1 — 2,448.1

ASSETS 6,056.9 (19.3) 6,037.6 6,639.0 (42.4) 6,596.6

Other reserves and 
accumulated profit 2,242.0 (48.8) 2,193.2 2,635.1 (83.4) 2,551.7

Equity 3,084.6 (48.8) 3,035.8 3,477.3 (83.4) 3,393.9
Provisions for pensions 
and similar obligations 95.3 50.1 145.4 88.8 71.3 160.1

Other provisions 145.5 (4.7) 140.8 131.5 (0.3) 131.2

Deferred taxes 342.3 (15.9) 326.4 304.7 (30.0) 274.7

Non-current debt 1,953.6 29.5 1,983.1 2,514.3 41.0 2,555.3

Current debt 1,018.7 — 1,018.7 647.4 — 647.4

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 6,056.9 (19.3) 6,037.6 6,639.0 (42.4) 6,596.6

 (continued)
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	A mendments IAS 19 – Income Statement and Statement  
	 of Comprehensive Income� TAB: 5.9.9

2012 (old)
2012 

(change) 2012 (new)

in € million

Other operating expenses (147.7) (4.4) (152.1)

Result after operating hedges (EBIT II) 846.5 (4.4) 842.1

Interest income 21.2 (0.4) 20.8

Interest expenses (106.7) 1.1 (105.6)

Earnings before income taxes 766.9 (3.7) 763.2

Taxes on income (198.4) 1.0 (197.4)

Earnings after taxes from continued operations 568.5 (2.7) 565.8

Earnings after taxes from discontinued operations 99.6 0.4 100.0

Net income 668.1 (2.3) 665.8

Operating earnings (EBIT I) 808.5 (4.4) 804.1

Revaluation of net debt /defined benefit pension plan assets — (32.3) (32.3)

Other comprehensive income after taxes (25.8) (32.3) (58.1)

Comprehensive income of the period 642.3 (34.6) 607.7

In the cash flow statement, the changes in the base values for EBIT II and EBIT I in the 
amount of € (4.4) million are neutralised by countervailing changes in the item “Increase/
decrease in non-current provisions”. The other items in the cash flow statement remain 
unchanged.

As a result of the changes in IAS 19, undiluted and diluted earnings per share fell by € 0.01 
in financial year 2012. 

If the old version of IAS 19 had continued to be applied in 2013, this would have resulted in 
the following changes for financial year 2013:

++ Increase in net income of € 2.3 million
++ Increase in other non-current assets and decrease in provisions for pensions and similar 

obligations by a total of € 67.9 million
++ Increase in other reserves of € 46.2 million

++ Decrease in deferred tax assets and increase in deferred tax liabilities by a total of € 19.4 
million

++ Increase in the undiluted and diluted earnings per share of € 0.01

IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”
IFRS 13 introduces uniform provisions for determining fair value as well as notes thereto. 
However, IFRS 13 does not lay down any requirements as to whether an item is to be assessed 
at fair value or disclosed. The standard is to be applied prospectively. The initial application 
of IFRIC 13 had no significant influence on the consolidated financial statements of the K+S 
Group.

IFRIC 20 “Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine”
IFRIC 20 presents the conditions under which stripping costs of a surface mine are an asset 
and how the asset is to be measured for the first time and subsequently. The initial appli-
cation of IFRIC 20 had no significant influence on the consolidated financial statements of 
the K+S Group.

The other new accounting standards are of minor importance to the 2013 consolidated finan-
cial statements of the K+S Group.

New accounting standards and interpretations yet to be 
applied

The following accounting standards and interpretations were published by the IASB up to 
the balance sheet date, but their application by the K+S Group will only become manda-
tory at a later date.
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	N ew accounting standards and  
	i nterpretations yet to be applied� TAB: 5.9.10

To be applied 1

Endorsement 2
(until 

31.12.2013)

Standard/Interpretation

Amendment IAS 27 Separate financial statements 1.1.2013 yes

Amendment IAS 28 Investments in associates 1.1.2013 yes

Amendment IAS 32 Offsetting financial assets and liabilities 1.1.2014 yes

Amendment IAS 36
Recoverable amount disclosures 
for non-financial assets 1.1.2014 yes

Amendment IAS 39 and IFRS 9
Novations of derivatives and 
continuation of hedge accounting 1.1.2014 yes

New IFRS 9 Financial instruments
not yet 

concluded no

New IFRS 10 Consolidated financial statements 1.1.2013 yes

New IFRS 11 Joint arrangements 1.1.2013 yes

New IFRS 12 Disclosures of interests in other entities 1.1.2013 yes

Amendment IFRS 10, 11, 12 Transition guidance 1.1.2013 yes

Amendment
IFRS 9/ IFRS 7/ 
IAS 39 Amendments in IFRS 9/ IFRS 7/ IAS 39

not yet 
concluded no

Amendment
IFRS 10, 12 
and IAS 27 Investment entities 1.1.2014 yes

New IFRIC 21 Levies 1.1.2014 no

Amendment IAS 19
Defined benefit plans: 
employee contributions 1.7.2014 no

Amendment

Annual improve-
ments in IFRSs: 
2010 – 2012

Collective standard for the 
amendment of several IFRSs 1.7.2014 no

Amendment

Annual improve-
ments in IFRSs: 
2011 – 2013

Collective standard for the 
amendment of several IFRSs 1.7.2014 no

New IFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts 1.1.2016 no

1	 To be first applied according to IASB in the first reporting period of a financial year beginning on or after this date.
2	 �Adoption of the IFRS standards and interpretations by the EU Commission. The newly established standards IAS 27, 28 and IFRS 10, 11, 12 

along with changes of the transition guidance are only compulsory for companies located within the EU as of 1 January 2014.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” 
IFRS 9 has the objective of completely replacing the current standard for the accounting of 
financial instruments, IAS 39 “Financial instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. The 
project is split into three phases. Phase 1 deals with the classification and measurement of 
financial assets and liabilities. Phase 2 is concerned with the impairment of financial assets 
and liabilities as well as amortised cost. In Phase 3, the accounting treatment of hedging rela-
tionships is being revised. The date of initial application is scheduled for 1 January 2017 at the 
earliest. The impact of IFRS 9 on the consolidated financial statements of the K+S Group is 
currently being examined.

IAS 27, IAS 28, IFRS 10, IFRS 11, IFRS 12 – “Consolidation”
As part of the revision of the relevant provisions on consolidation, three new standards were 
published: IFRS 10 “Consolidated financial statements”, IFRS 11 “Joint arrangements” and 
IFRS 12 “Disclosure of interests in other entities”. At the same time, follow-up amendments 
to IAS 27 “Separate financial statements” and IAS 28 “Investments in associates” were made.

IFRS 10 contains a new definition of the concept of “control”, which is to be taken into account 
in determining the companies to be included in the consolidated financial statements.

In IFRS 11, the accounting of arrangements under joint control is regulated. In IFRS 12, the 
disclosure obligations for investments in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associated com-
panies and non-consolidated structured companies are summarised in a single standard. 
From today’s perspective, no significant effects of the changes on the consolidated financial 
statements of the K+S Group are expected.

The other accounting standards and interpretations do not, from today’s perspective, have 
any impact on the consolidated financial statements of the K+S Group. 
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Notes to the income statement and the statement of compre-
hensive income

The income statement and the statement of comprehensive income are presented on page 122. 

Unless stated otherwise, the notes to the income statement refer to the continued operations 
of the K+S Group. In accordance with IFRS 5, due to its divestment in the previous year, the 
NITROGEN business is stated as a “discontinued operation”.

The K+S Group uses derivatives to hedge risks arising from changes in market prices. The 
hedging strategy is described in greater detail in Note (18). No hedging relationship in accord-
ance with IAS 39 is established between the derivatives and the underlying transactions 
described with the result that market value fluctuations of outstanding derivatives have to 
be recognised in profit or loss on each balance sheet date. Effects on earnings also derive from 
the exercise/settlement, sale or expiry of derivatives used for hedging purposes. 

In the income statement, the effects from hedging transactions are shown, depending on the 
purpose of the hedge, in the following items:

A) Result from operating forecast hedges
All effects on earnings arising from the forecast hedging of transactions which will be rec-
ognised in profit or loss in future periods are combined in this earnings line item. “Forecast” 
relates to underlying transactions which are expected with high probability, but have not yet 
been recognised in the balance sheet or income statement. The word “operating” relates to 
underlying transactions which will have effects on EBIT. Significant cases of application are 

++ the hedging of expected USD revenues
++ the hedging of anticipated investments in the Canadian dollar for the Legacy Project

B) Other operating income/expenses
In these items the effects on earnings arising from the hedging of already existing foreign 
currency receivables are reported (e. g. the hedging of USD receivables against foreign cur-
rency fluctuations by means of a EUR/USD forward transaction). 

C) Financial result
Effects on earnings from the hedging of underlying transactions relating to financing, whose 
effects do not influence EBIT either in the current financial year or in future financial years, 
are shown in the financial result.

The internal management of the K+S Group is based, among other things, on operating 
earnings EBIT I. This differs from EBIT II shown in the income statement in that no account 
is taken of market value fluctuations from operating forecast hedges which arise during the 
life of the hedging instrument on the basis of the market valuation prescribed in accordance 
with IAS 39. Consequently, the following effects are to be eliminated from the “Result from 
operating forecast hedges” shown in the income statement:

Income/expense from market value fluctuations of operating forecast 
hedges still outstanding
Until maturity, hedges are valued at market value as of every balance sheet date. A deviation 
from the carrying amount is recognised as income or expense.

Neutralisation of market value fluctuations of realised operating 
forecast hedges, recognised in earlier periods
At the time of realisation, the carrying amount of the hedge is to be derecognised. Realisa-
tion occurs through the exercise/settlement, expiry or sale of the hedging instrument. The 
difference between the realised amount and the carrying amount results in the income or 
expense of the current period. Since EBIT I is to show earnings free of influences from market 
valuation in accordance with IAS 39, market value fluctuations from earlier periods included 
in the carrying amount are to be eliminated. 



1475.9 N otes 

In the case of exchange rate hedging of anticipated capital expenditure in the Canadian dol-
lar, not only the aforementioned positions but all the earnings effects are to be eliminated 
when determining EBIT I. As the hedged underlying transactions (capital expenditure in the 
Canadian dollar) are only recognised in EBIT I with a delay by means of depreciation, the 
disclosure – as a result of the absence of the earnings effects from the underlying transac-
tion – of the earnings effects of these hedging transactions arising upon maturity on EBIT I 
would not result in the appropriate determination of earnings for the relevant period of time. 

	R econciliation of result from  
	 operating forecast hedges in EBIT I� TAB: 5.9.11

� Notes  � 2013  � 2012

in € million

Result from operating forecast hedges [4] (16.6) 4.9
Income (−)/expenses (+) from market value changes 
of operating forecast hedges still outstanding 15.5 (9.5)
Neutralising of market value changes of realised 
operating forecast hedges recognised in earlier periods 10.3 (28.5)
Realised income (−)/expenses (+) of currency hedging 
of anticipated capital expenditure in Canada 5.0 —

Result from operating forecast hedges included in EBIT I 14.2 (33.1)

The result from operating forecast hedges included in EBIT I corresponds – due to the elim-
ination of all market value fluctuations during the term – to the value of the hedge at the 
time of realisation (the difference between the spot rate and hedging rate), and, in the case 
of option transactions, less the premiums paid or plus the premiums received. Essentially, 
the effects of the exchange rate hedging of anticipated capital expenditure in the Canadian 
dollar are not recognised in EBIT I (see above).

The reconciliation of EBIT II to operating earnings EBIT I by eliminating the aforementioned 
effects is presented in a separate calculation below the statement of comprehensive income. 

(1) Revenues
The revenues generated by the K+S Group amounted to € 3,950.4 million (previous year: 
€ 3,935.3 million), with € 3,779.7 million (previous year: € 3,776.5 million) resulting from the 
sale of goods, € 165.7 million (previous year: € 151.9 million) resulting from the rendering of 
services and € 4.9 million (previous year: € 6.9 million) from accruals for customer-specific 
construction contracts. The breakdown of the revenues by business unit as well as interseg-
ment revenues are presented in the segment information on page 132. The regional break-
down of the revenues is disclosed in the Notes to the segment reporting under Note (35).

(2) Other operating income
Other operating income includes the following material items:

	O ther operating income� TAB: 5.9.12

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Gains from exchange rate differences/hedging transactions 44.7 63.1

Reversals of provisions 27.4 37.6

Compensation and refunds received 17.2 11.2

Reversals of allowances for receivables 2.8 10.3

Income from disposal of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 5.0 9.4

Income from rental and leasing 3.9 3.1

– of which investment properties 0.8 0.2

Sundry income 21.1 23.2

Other operating income 122.1 157.9

Consolidated financial statements
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(3) Other operating expenses
Other operating expenses include the following material items:

	O ther operating expenses� TAB: 5.9.13

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Losses from exchange rate differences/hedging transactions 49.0 65.1

Expenses unrelated to the period 14.8 9.0

Losses from disposal of fixed assets 13.5 12.5

Depreciation 11.5 4.1

Ancillary capital expenditure costs 10.7 16.8

Expenses for maintenance of Frisia Zout 6.7 —

Expenses for approval procedures 5.0 1.0

Damages 4.9 2.4

Expenses for restructuring 3.4 —

Partial retirement expenses 3.3 9.3

Expenses related to leased investment properties 2.8 2.1

Consultancy, expert opinion and lawyer’s fees 2.8 0.6

Write-downs on trade receivables 1.6 4.7

Expenses/refunds for disused plants and maintenance of Merkers 1.2 11.9

Allocations/utilisation of other provisions (3.9) (6.1)

Sundry expenses 23.1 18.7

Other operating expenses 150.4 152.1

(4) Result from operating forecast hedges

	 result from operating forecast hedges� TAB: 5.9.14

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Result from the realisation of currency hedging transactions 3.5 (4.1)

– of which positive earnings contributions 12.5 21.4

– of which negative earnings contributions (9.0) (25.5)

Results from currency hedging of anticipated capital expenditure in Canada (5.0) —

– of which positive earnings contributions 2.3 —

– of which negative earnings contributions (7.3) —

Result from the realisation of freight rate hedging transactions 0.4 (0.5)

Result from realised hedging transactions (1.1) (4.6)
Market value changes from hedging transactions yet to reach 
maturity (related to anticipated revenues in USD) 9.1 12.9

– of which positive market value changes 9.2 17.2

– of which negative market value changes (0.1) (4.3)
Market value changes from hedging transactions yet to 
reach maturity (related to anticipated capex in CAD) (24.6) (2.7)

– of which positive market value changes — 1.8

– of which negative market value changes (24.6) (4.5)

Market value changes for freight rate hedging transactions yet to reach maturity — (0.7)
Result from market value changes for hedging  
transactions yet to reach maturity (15.5) 9.5

Result from operating forecast hedges (16.6) 4.9

/ More inform ation on ‘Result from oper ating forecast hedges’ can be found in the ‘Notes 
to the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income’ on page 146.
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(5) Net interest income

	N et interest income� TAB: 5.9.15

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Interest and similar income from securities 18.3 12.7

Interest from credit institutions 2.9 4.7

Interest income pension provisions 0.2 0.4

Interest and similar income 2.6 3.0

Interest income 24.0 20.8

Interest expenses bonds (56.9) (47.1)

Interest component from measurement of provisions for mining obligations (26.3) (38.9)

Interest expenses pension provisions (5.9) (6.4)

Interest expenses partial retirement provisions/provisions for jubilee bonuses (0.9) (5.7)

Sundry interest and similar expenses (9.8) (7.5)

Interest expenses (99.8) (105.6)

Interest income, net (75.8) (84.8)

The ‘Interest component from measurement of provisions for mining obligations’ consists 
of the balance of the following items:

	 Interest component of provisions for mining obligations� TAB: 5.9.16

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Interest effect from the change in the discount factor for mining provisions 0.1 (14.2)

Increase in mining provisions due to expiry (“accumulation”) (29.3) (27.1)

Interest effect from the reversal of mining provisions 2.9 2.4

Interest component from measurement of provisions for mining obligations (26.3) (38.9)

(6) Other financial result

	O ther financial result� TAB: 5.9.17

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Result from realisation of financial assets/liabilities — (0.7)

Result from valuation of financial assets/liabilities (0.5) 6.6

Other financial result (0.5) 5.9

(7) Taxes on income

	T axes on income� TAB: 5.9.18

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Current taxes 194.3 231.0

– Germany 166.0 202.9

– outside Germany 28.3 28.1

Deferred taxes (61.1) (33.6)

– Germany (21.3) (0.1)

– outside Germany (39.8) (33.5)

– of which from loss carryforwards (33.3) (7.8)

Taxes on income 133.2 197.4

Deferred taxes in Germany were calculated using a tax rate of 28.6 % (previous year: 28.5 %). 
In addition to the corporate income tax rate of 15.0 % and the solidarity surcharge of 5. 5 %, 
an average trade tax rate of 12.8 % (previous year: 12.7 %) was taken into account. Deferred 
taxes in other countries are computed applying the respective national income tax rates for 
profit retention.

The following table reconciles the anticipated to the actual tax expense. The anticipated 
income tax expense was calculated based on a domestic Group income tax rate of 28.6 % 
(previous year: 28.5 %).
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	R econciliation of taxes on income� TAB: 5.9.19

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Earnings before income taxes 548.8 763.2

Anticipated income tax expense (Group tax rate: 28.6 %; previous year: 28.5 %) 157.0 218.6

Changes in anticipated tax expense:

Reduction in tax resulting from tax-exempt income and other items

– Tax-exempt income from investments and profits on disposals (2.7) (3.8)

– Other tax-exempt income (20.5) (23.4)

Trade tax additions/reductions 2.0 2.0

Increase in tax resulting from non-tax-deductible expenses and other items 9.2 4.7

Allowances on/non-recognition of deferred tax assets (1.1) 1.1

Effects from tax rate differences (7.3) (10.5)

Effects from tax rate changes (0.9) 5.4

Taxes for preceding years (3.6) 2.7

Other effects 1.1 0.6

Actual tax expense 133.2 197.4

Tax rate 24.3 % 25.9 %

(8) Cost of materials

	C ost of materials� TAB: 5.9.20

� 2013  � 2012
in € million
Raw materials, supplies and purchased merchandise 522.9 373.9
Purchased services 509.2 453.3
Energy costs 295.0 314.1
Cost of materials 1,327.1 1,141.3

(9) Personnel expenses/Employees 

	P ersonnel expenses� TAB: 5.9.21

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Wages and salaries 738.6 752.1

Social security contributions 200.3 204.9

Pension expenses 29.3 29.2

Personnel expenses 968.2 986.2

/ More inform ation on personnel expenses  can be found in the ‘Employees’ section in the Manage-
ment Report. Information on the “Long-term Incentive Programme” can be found in the Remuneration Report on 
page 35.

In 2010, the K+S Group introduced a “Long-term Incentive (LTI) Programme” based on key 
figures. It is based on a multi-annual assessment base in accordance with the value contri-
butions achieved. In 2013, personnel expenses totalling € 7.3 million were recorded for the LTI 
Programme as an allocation to provisions (previous year: € 17.1 million).

Under the employee share ownership programme, K+S Group employees have the possibility 
of acquiring K+S shares at a discount. A one-year vesting period applies to employee shares. 
They are stated at fair value. Expenses totalling € 1.0 million (previous year: € 1.2 million) were 
incurred in connection with the employee share ownership programme enacted in 2013.

The pension expenses do not include the interest component in the allocations to pen-
sion provisions. This is reported as an interest expense or an interest income in net inter-
est income.

Personnel expenses include amounts totalling € 5.6 million that are unrelated to the report-
ing period (previous year: € 0.4 million).
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	E mployees including temporary employees � TAB: 5.9.22

� 2013  � 2012

Average number

Germany 10,088 10,024

Outside Germany 4,260 4,312

Total 14,348 14,336

– of which trainees 534 538

(10) Earnings per share

	E arnings per share� TAB: 5.9.23

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Group earnings after taxes and minority interests 412.8 665.3

– thereof continued operations 415.1 565.3

– thereof discontinued operations (2.3) 100.0

Average number of shares (million) 191.4 191.4

Earnings per share in € (undiluted = diluted) 2.16 3.48

– thereof continued operations (€) 2.17 2.96

– thereof discontinued operations (€) (0.01) 0.52

Group earnings, adjusted 1 434.8 637.4

Earnings per share in €, adjusted 1 2.27 3.33

Group earnings from continued operations, adjusted 1 437.1 538.1

Earnings per share from continued operations, adjusted (€) 1 2.28 2.81

1	 �The adjusted key figures only include the result from operating forecast hedges of the respective reporting period reported in EBIT I (see 
also ‘Notes to the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income’ on page 146). In addition, related effects on deferred and 
cash taxes are eliminated; tax rate for 2013: 28.6 % (2012: 28.5 %).

In accordance with IAS 33, earnings per share are to be determined on the basis of Group 
earnings. Given the limited economic meaningfulness of unadjusted Group earnings, we 
additionally report adjusted Group earnings, which only contain the result from operating 
forecast hedges of the respective reporting period included in EBIT I. 

Undiluted, adjusted earnings per share are computed by dividing adjusted Group earnings 
after taxes and minority interests by the weighted average number of shares outstanding. 
As none of the conditions resulting in the dilution of earnings per share exist in the case of 
K+S at the present time, undiluted earnings per share correspond to diluted earnings per 
share. In previous year all income and expenses of the NITROGEN business, which is classi-
fied as a discontinued operation, were reclassified and taken into account in earnings per 
share from discontinued operations. 

Notes to the balance sheet

The balance sheet is presented on page 124. The development of the gross carrying amounts 
and the depreciation/amortisation of the individual fixed asset items is shown separately 
on page 126.

(11) Intangible assets
The amortisation charges for the financial year are disclosed in the income statement in line 
with the use of the assets concerned under the following items:

++ Cost of sales
++ Selling expenses 
++ General and administrative expenses 
++ Research and development costs
++ Other operating expenses

The goodwill from acquisitions disclosed in the consolidated balance sheet is allocated to 
the following cash-generating units (CGUs):

Consolidated financial statements
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	 Breakdown of goodwill by cash-generating unit� TAB: 5.9.24

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

CGU Salt America 576.3 610.3

CGU Potash and Magnesium Products 16.7 18.7

CGU Salt Europe 13.3 13.3

Total goodwill 606.3 642.3

The Salt business unit is divided into the cash-generating units Salt America and Salt Europe. 
The decrease in the goodwill items allocated to the Salt America CGU is based predominantly 
on effects of the foreign currency translation on the balance sheet date.

In connection with the testing of goodwill for impairment, the residual carrying amounts 
for the respective cash-generating units were compared with their value in use. The deter-
mination of the values in use was based on the present value of the future cash flows of 
the business units assuming continued use. The cash flow forecast is based on the current 
medium-term plans of the K+S Group or the respective business units. The key premises 
underlying the medium-term plans are largely based on own experience figures. The forecast 
period covers the years 2014 to 2016 for CGU Salt America and CGU Salt Europe as well as 2014 
to 2023 for CGU Potash and Magnesium Products. Moreover, a growth rate of 2.0 % (previous 
year: 2.0 %) for nominal cash flows from the year 2017 or 2024 was assumed to compensate 
for inflation with respect to costs and revenues after the end of the detailed planning period. 
The forecast period of CGU Potash and Magnesium Products till 2023 contains the successive 
expansion of production capacity due to the Legacy Project in Canada.

The following discount factors were applied as at the end of the financial year: 

	Dis count factors Impairment test� TAB: 5.9.25

� 2013  � 2012

before taxes after taxes before taxes after taxes

Interest rates in %

CGU Salt America 8.2 6.2 8.7 6.4

CGU Potash and Magnesium Products 8.2 6.2 8.7 6.4

CGU Salt Europe 8.2 6.2 8.7 6.4

The rates of interest for the cash-generating units correspond to the weighted cost of capital 
for the K+S Group before and after taxes.
/ A computation of the cost of capital  can be found in the Management Report on page 81.

The impairment tests conducted at the end of financial year 2013 confirmed that the goodwill 
items were not impaired. According to our estimate, realistic changes in the fundamental 
assumptions on which determining the values in use is based would not result in the carry-
ing amount of the particular cash-generating unit exceeding its value in use. 

Brand rights totalling € 94.5 million (previous year: € 99.7 million) are, in view of their level 
of awareness in the relevant sales markets as well as their strategic relevance, classified as 
assets with indefinite useful lives. These brand rights are fully allocated to the Salt America 
CGU.

The impairment test of the brand rights with indefinite useful lives, which must be conducted 
on an annual basis, was carried out by comparing the values in use of the brands with the 
carrying amounts. The value in use was determined using the relief-from-royalty method, 
which derives the brand value from the licence costs saved. The brand-specific revenues for 
the years 2014 – 2017 were determined on the basis of the corporate planning, and an annual 
growth rate of 2.0 % (previous year: 2.0 %) was assumed for the period from 2018. The appli-
cable licence prices for the brands were derived from third-party comparisons. The value in 
use was then determined by discounting the licence costs saved with a risk-adjusted after-
tax interest rate of 9.2 % (previous year: 9.4 %). The impairment test on the brands carried out 
on this basis at the end of the 2013 financial year did not result in any impairment charges.
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The customer relationships deriving from the acquisition of the Morton Group are a sig-
nificant intangible asset. As of 31 December 2013, the carrying amount amounted to € 136.2 
million (previous year: € 161.2 million), the remaining useful life as of the balance sheet date 
was about 13 years.

(12) Investment properties
As of 31 December 2013, the fair values of investment properties amounted to € 21.2 million 
(previous year: € 22.0 million). The fair values were estimated by internal specialist depart-
ments on the basis of local market conditions. In determining the values, particular account 
was taken of local property valuation records and, in part, of external valuation reports. The 
valuation methods correspond to level 3 of the three-tier valuation hierarchy set out in IFRS 13. 

(13) Financial assets
An amount of € 13.1 million (previous year: € 14.9 million) is accounted for by investments in 
affiliated companies as well as equity interests. Of this amount, € 0.8 million (previous year: 
€ 1.0 million) relates to other loans (mainly to employees) and other financial assets. The 
effective annual rates of interest range between 0 and 5.0 % and the remaining fixed inter-
est period range between one year and 20 years.

The maximum default risk as of the balance sheet date corresponds to the amount stated in 
the balance sheet. There are no specific grounds that would suggest the occurrence of events 
of default. There are no significant concentrations of default risk.

(14) Securities and other financial investments

	 Securities and other financial investments� TAB: 5.9.26

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Securities and other financial investments (non-current) 179.3 499.5

Securities and other financial investments (current) 856.2 435.0

Securities and other financial investments 1,035.5 934.5

This item comprises various investments (e. g. commercial papers, bonds, term deposits 
with credit institutions, promissory notes, investment funds, credit-linked notes), which, in 
accordance with IAS 39, are classified as “Loans and receivables” or “Available-for-sale finan-
cial assets”.

(15) Deferred taxes
The following capitalised deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to recognition and meas-
urement differences for individual balance sheet line items and tax loss carry-forwards:

	D eferred taxes� TAB: 5.9.27

� Deferred tax assets  � Deferred tax liabilities

2013 2012 2013 2012

in € million

Intangible assets 6.3 6.0 99.4 111.0

Property, plant and equipment 39.0 23.2 377.0 369.7

Financial assets — — — —

Inventories 1.9 4.5 3.8 6.4

Receivables and other assets 18.0 15.2 11.1 15.7

– of which derivative financial instruments — — 4.0 5.5

Provisions 151.2 157.8 0.2 0.9

Liabilities 7.8 12.2 5.4 5.8

Gross amount 224.2 218.9 496.9 509.5

– of which non-current 196.2 188.3 489.3 492.7

Tax loss carryforwards 106.0 47.1 — —

Consolidations 7.0 13.6 3.0 (4.3)

Balances (303.8) (230.5) (303.8) (230.5)

Balance sheet carrying amount (net) 33.4 49.1 196.1 274.7

Deferred taxes totalling € 8.8 million (previous year: € 14.6 million) were not capitalised 
because the utilisation of the underlying loss carryforwards or the realisation of taxable 
income appears unlikely. The underlying loss carryforwards amount to € 41.2 million (previ-
ous year: € 141.8 million). The utilisation of tax credits totalling € 7.1 million (€ 6.4 million) is 
considered unlikely and therefore not assessed with deferred taxes. 

Consolidated financial statements
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In the year under review, deferred taxes of € (12.0) million (previous year: € 13.8 million) were 
recorded in other comprehensive income. 

The balance sheet value of the deferred taxes changed by € (62.9) million as of 31 December 
2013 (previous year: € (44.9) million), which contains a decrease in deferred tax assets: € 15.7 
million (previous year: € 6.8 million) and a decrease in deferred tax liabilities: € (78.6) million 
(previous year: € (51.7) million). 

Taking into account the deferred taxes of € (12.0) million recorded in other comprehensive 
income in the year under review (previous year: € 13.8 million) and currency-related effects 
of € 13.8 million (previous year: € 1.8 million), this gives rise to deferred tax income of € 61.1 
million disclosed in the income statement (previous year: € 33.6 million). In the previous 
year, deferred taxes in the discontinued sector from the de-recognition of deferred taxes rec-
ognised in profit or loss due to the divestment of the NITROGEN business in the amount of 
€ (4.3) million must also be taken into account.

Temporary differences of € 380.6 million (previous year: € 249.5 million) are related to shares 
in subsidiaries for which no deferred tax liabilities are accrued in accordance with IAS 12.39.

(16) Inventories

	 Inventories� TAB: 5.9.28

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Raw materials and supplies 179.2 176.1

Work in progress 12.8 17.0

Finished products and merchandise 360.6 494.8

Inventories 552.6 687.9

Inventories of € 35.5 million (previous year: € 43.2 million) were stated at net realisable value. 
The reporting of net realisable value resulted in write-downs of € 1.3 million (previous year: 
€ 2.2 million) during the period under review.

(17) Receivables and other assets

	R eceivables and other assets� TAB: 5.9.29

2013

of which 
residual term 

> 1 year 2012

of which 
residual term 

> 1 year

in € million

Accounts receivable – trade 737.9 — 770.3 —

Receivables from affiliated companies 4.5 — 11.9 —

Other assets 203.5 54.0 202.5 48.1

– of which derivative financial instruments 22.9 — 28.7 2.5
– �of which claim for reimbursement  

bond Morton Salt 18.0 17.9 19.0 18.9

Receivables and other assets 945.9 54.0 984.7 48.1

The allowances for trade receivables, other receivables and other assets have developed as 
follows:

	A llowances� TAB: 5.9.30

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Balance as of 1 January 16.6 28.2

Change in scope of consolidation (1.0) (4.3)

Addition 1.5 4.7

Reversal 2.8 10.3

Utilisation 1.8 1.7

Balance as of 31 December 12.5 16.6

Allowances of € 12.3 million (previous year: € 14.8 million) were disclosed for the trade receiva-
bles portfolio as of 31 December 2013. Of this, € 0.2 million (previous year: € 1.8 million) result 
from allowances for other receivables and other assets. The allowances are based on the antic-
ipated risk of default. If receivables have a residual term of more than three months, they are 
discounted applying money market rates as of the balance sheet date. 
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As of 31 December 2013, no non-interest-bearing and low-interest receivables were discounted 
(previous year: € 0.2 million).

The following table provides information about the extent of the risks of default contained 
in the items “Accounts receivable – trade” as well as “Other receivables and non-derivative 
financial instruments”.

	D efault risks� TAB: 5.9.31

Carrying 
amount

of which 
neither 

overdue 
nor 

adjusted 
as of the 

reporting 
date

of which unadjusted but overdue as 
of the reporting date since

< 30 days
> 31 and 

< 90 days
> 91 and  

< 180 days > 180 days

in € million

2013

Accounts receivable – trade 737.9 674.3 24.0 15.0 11.4 4.4
Other receivables and 
non-derivative financial 
instruments 92.2 61.6 0.5 2.7 0.2 3.9

2012

Accounts receivable – trade 770.3 700.9 28.6 10.3 1.7 0.1
Other receivables and 
non-derivative financial 
instruments 102.0 70.1 1.7 3.3 3.4 8.3

The risk of default is the risk of a contractual partner failing to discharge its contractual pay-
ment obligations. Customer receivables are to the largest extent secured against a default 
risk by means of appropriate insurance coverage and other hedging instruments. Across the 
Group, 70 % of all insurable receivables are hedged against default. This ensures that only a 
low partial loss is incurred in the event of default. An internal credit check is conducted in 
the case of customers for whom such cover cannot be obtained. There is no significant con-
centration of risk with respect to receivables.

Receivables management is geared towards collecting all outstanding accounts punctually 
and in full as well as to avoid the loss of receivables. Invoices are issued on a daily basis and 
invoice data is transferred to debtor accounts online. Accounts outstanding are monitored 
on an ongoing basis with system support and in line with the payment terms agreed with 
the customers. Payment terms generally range from 10 to 180 days, with longer terms being 
customary in some markets. In the case of late payment, reminders are issued at regular 
two-week intervals.

The maximum risk of default with respect to receivables and other assets is reflected in 
the carrying amount disclosed in the balance sheet. As of 31 December 2013, the maximum 
default amount in the very unlikely event of a simultaneous default on all unsecured receiv-
ables was € 210.1 million (previous year: € 163.1 million).

The receivables arising from the accounting treatment of customer-specific construction 
contracts comprise the following:

	C ustomer-specific construction contracts� TAB: 5.9.32

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Contract costs incurred and contract gains recognised 11.8 6.9

less advance payments received 11.3 4.7

Receivables from customer-specific construction contracts 0.5 2.2

(18) Derivative financial instruments 
Currency and interest rate management is performed centrally for all Group companies. This 
also applies to the use of derivative financial instruments, e. g. those aimed at limiting certain 
costs. The use of derivative financial instruments is regulated by guidelines and procedure 
instructions. A strict segregation of functions is ensured between trading, settlement and 
control. Derivative financial instruments are only traded with banks that have a good credit 
standing, which is monitored continually by means of appropriate instruments. In princi-
ple, the entire portfolio of derivative financial instruments is spread across several banks to 
reduce the risk of default. The level of risk of default is limited to the amount of the deriva-
tives capitalised on the balance sheet.

Consolidated financial statements
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The goal of interest rate management is to curb the risks arising from an increasing inter-
est burden for financial liabilities as well as the risks arising from declining interest income 
from financial assets as a result of changes in the general level of interest rates. No counter-
measures are currently necessary in respect of the financial liabilities, as the financial liabili-
ties existing on the balance sheet date carry a fixed interest rate. In the case of the financial 
assets, no need for action is currently identified as the interest rate level is low, which means 
that the risk of declining interest is slight.

Derivatives are used to hedge exchange rate risks in order to limit the risks to which oper-
ating business activities can be exposed as a result of changes in exchange rates. Exchange 
rate risks exist mainly with respect to the US dollar and the Canadian dollar, and, to a lesser 
extent, the British pound sterling and the Chilean peso. Hedging transactions are executed 
in relation to billed receivables and anticipated net positions on the basis of projected reve-
nues. In this regard, the net positions are determined on the basis of revenue and cost plan-
ning using safety margins and updated on an ongoing basis to avoid excess hedging or 
hedging shortfalls. 

The hedging transactions used can have terms of up to three years for the hedging of antic-
ipated positions. The main objective is the hedging of a worst-case scenario. Here, futures 
and plain vanilla options are used, whereby the participation in a favourable market devel-
opment is generally limited by the sale of simple options. This also serves to reduce premium 
expenses. Basically, it is also possible to use compound options consisting of an option on a 
simple option, which can be acquired at a later date for a fixed amount. 

The terms of hedging transactions in respect of billed receivables are, in keeping with the 
agreed payment terms, less than one year. 

The hedging transactions in respect of anticipated net positions as described above are used 
in the Potash and Magnesium Products business unit for US dollar positions as well as for 
Canadian dollar positions connected with the Legacy Project. Hedging transactions in respect 
of billed receivables are concluded in the Potash and Magnesium Products business unit.

Trading in all the aforementioned derivatives is solely OTC. Because of market transparency, 
forward exchange transactions are concluded directly with a bank after a comparison with 

interbank terms has been made by means of a reference system. There is no such transpar-
ent market for trading in options. That is why quotations are obtained from several banks 
for all substantial option transactions, so that a transaction can then be executed with the 
bank providing the best quotation.

In the case of forward exchange transactions, there is a market value risk on the respective 
reporting date. However, there are countervailing effects stemming from the currency-based 
measurement of receivables when derivatives are used in order to hedge foreign currency 
receivables.

The market values computed correspond to the value upon hypothetical early transfer on the 
balance sheet date. The values are computed using recognised mathematical models gener-
ally used by market players. These computations were particularly based on the following 
parameters that applied on the balance sheet date:

++ the spot exchange and forward exchange rates of the currencies concerned,
++ the agreed hedging rates or exercise prices,
++ the traded volatilities, i. e. the anticipated range of fluctuation for the exchange rates con-

cerned, and
++ the interest rate level applicable to the currencies concerned.

IAS 39 permits hedging relationships to be established between underlying business trans-
actions and derivative financial instruments. However, this is principally not applied (see 
‘Notes to the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income’ on page 146). 
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The following derivative foreign exchange financial transactions existed as at 31 December 
2013:

	DER IVATIVE FOREIGN EXCHANGE FINANCIAL TRANSACTIONS� TAB: 5.9.33

� 2013  � 2012

Notional
amounts 1 Fair values

Notional
amounts 1 Fair values

in € million

GBP forward exchange transactions

– of which maturing in 2013 — — 7.5 0.1

– of which maturing in 2014 8.7 — — —

CAD forward exchange transactions

– of which maturing in 2013 — — 62.6 0.1

– of which maturing in 2014 387.8 (16.9) — —

– of which maturing in 2015 142.0 (7.7) — —

USD forward exchange transactions

– of which maturing in 2013 — — 599.1 17.5

– of which maturing in 2014 394.5 10.8 — —

USD/CLP forward exchange transactions

– of which maturing in 2013 — — 21.7 1.7

– of which maturing in 2014 29.8 — — —

Purchased simple currency options (USD)

– of which maturing in 2013 — — 302.2 5.7

– of which maturing in 2014 268.0 10.4 — —

Sold simple currency options (USD)

– of which maturing in 2013 — — 306.0 (0.3)

– of which maturing in 2014 264.4 (0.6) — —

Foreign currency transactions in total 1,495.3 (3.9) 1,299.1 24.7

1	 Translated into euros using weighted hedging rates.

How the aforementioned market values would have changed assuming a change of ± 10 % 
in spot rates on the balance sheet date is shown below:

	 Sensitivity of derivative foreign exchange 
	 financial transactions 2013� TAB: 5.9.34

Base value
Base value

+ 10 %
Base value

(10)%

Fair value 
changes 

+ 10 %

Fair value 
changes 

(10)%

EUR/USD 1.379 1.517 1.241 56.2 (55.5)

EUR/CAD 1.467 1.614 1.320 (45.6) 55.7

EUR/GBP 0.834 0.917 0.750 0.4 (0.5)

USD/CLP 525.450 577.995 472.905 (2.7) 3.2

Total 8.3 2.9

The following values arose on the balance sheet date of the previous year:

	 Sensitivity of derivative foreign exchange  
	 financial transactions 2012� TAB: 5.9.35

Base value
Base value

+ 10 %
Base value

(10)%

Fair value 
changes 

+ 10 %

Fair value 
changes 

(10)%

EUR/USD 1.319 1.451 1.187 59.0 (63.0)

EUR/CAD 1.314 1.445 1.182 (4.7) 12.6

EUR/GBP 0.816 0.898 0.734 (0.1) 0.1

USD/CLP 479.200 527.120 431.280 (2.1) 2.5

Total 52.1 (47.8)

The aforementioned market value changes would have resulted in a corresponding increase 
or reduction in unadjusted Group earnings before taxes and in equity. 
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(19) Equity
The development of individual equity items is shown separately on page 125.

Subscribed capital
The subscribed capital of K+S Aktiengesellschaft amounts to € 191.4 million and is divided 
into 191.4 million no-par value bearer shares. In financial year 2013, there was an average of 
191.4 million (previous year: 191.4 million) no-par value shares in circulation. 

On the basis of the resolution passed by the Annual General Meeting on 11 May 2010, the 
Board of Executive Directors was authorised to acquire own shares up to 10 % of the share 
capital by 10 May 2015. Purchases may be made on a stock exchange or by means of a pub-
lic purchase offer directed to all shareholders. In the case of a purchase effected on a stock 
exchange or a public purchase offer addressed to all shareholders, the purchase price per share 
(exclusive of ancillary purchase costs) paid by the Company may not exceed or undercut the 
relevant exchange price by more than 10 %. In financial year 2013, K+S Aktiengesellschaft 
did not make use of the authorisation.

	 Subscribed capital� TAB: 5.9.36

Shares 
outstanding Subscribed capital

in € million

31.12.2011 191.4 191.4

31.12.2012 191.4 191.4

31.12.2013 191.4 191.4

Capital reserve
The capital reserve mainly consists of the share premium received as part of share issues of 
K+S Aktiengesellschaft.

Other reserves and accumulated profit
This item summarises the revenue reserves, the accumulated profit, the differences from cur-
rency translation, fair valuation reserve of securities which are classified as financial assets 
available for sale and actuarial gains/losses from pensions and similar obligations.

The revenue reserves mainly consist of the earnings the consolidated companies achieved 
in the past, less dividends paid to shareholders. The item “Differences from foreign currency 
translation” comprises mainly differences from the translation of the functional currency of 
foreign business operations into the reporting currency of the Group (the euro). 

	O ther comprehensive income� TAB: 5.9.37

2013  
Before 

taxes
2013 Tax 

effect
2013 

Net

2012  
Before 

taxes
2012 Tax 

effect
2012 

Net

in € million
Items that may be reclassified 
subsequently to profit or loss (180.1) 1.6 (178.5) (26.3) 0.5 (25.8)
Financial assets 
available for sale (1.0) — (1.0) 3.0 — 3.0
Difference resulting from 
foreign currency translation (179.1) 1.6 (177.5) (29.3) 0.5 (28.8)

– �thereof change in 
unrealised gains/losses (179.1) 1.6 (177.5) (29.5) 0.5 (29.0)

– �thereof realised 
gains/losses — — — 0.2 — 0.2

Items that will not be 
reclassified to profit or loss 49.8 (13.6) 36.2 (45.6) 13.3 (32.3)
Revaluation of net 
debt /defined benefit 
pension plan assets 49.8 (13.6) 36.2 (45.6) 13.3 (32.3)
Other comprehensive 
income after taxes (130.3) (12.0) (142.3) (71.9) 13.8 (58.1)
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Accumulated profit of the individual financial statements of K+S 
Aktiengesellschaft (German Commercial Code – HGB)
For dividend distribution, the annual financial statements of K+S Aktiengesellschaft as 
prepared in accordance with the German Commercial Code (HGB) are decisive. It is intended 
to propose to the Annual General Meeting that a dividend of € 0.25 per share (previous year: 
€ 1.40), i. e. € 47.9 million in total (previous year: € 268.0 million), be distributed to the share-
holders. As of the balance sheet date, the following accumulated profit was disclosed in the 
individual financial statements of K+S Aktiengesellschaft:

	A ccumulated profit of K+S Aktiengesellschaft  
	 (German Commercial Code – HGB)� TAB: 5.9.38

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Accumulated profit of K+S Aktiengesellschaft as of 1 January 294.2 260.1

Dividend payment for previous year (268.0) (248.8)

Net income of K+S Aktiengesellschaft 312.1 563.9

Transfer from net income to other revenue reserves (156.0) (281.0)

Accumulated profit of K+S Aktiengesellschaft as of 31 December 182.3 294.2

(20) Information about capital management

	C apital management� TAB: 5.9.39

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Equity 3,396.6 3,393.9

Non-current debt 2,686.8 2,555.3

Current debt 1,414.8 647.4

Balance sheet total 7,498.2 6,596.6

Equity ratio 45.3 % 51.4 %

Borrowed capital ratio 54.7 % 48.6 %

Equity rose by € 2.7 million compared with the previous year. The increase in equity is based 
mainly on the positive Group earnings of financial year 2013 (after taxes and minority inter-
ests) amounting to € 412.8 million; in contrast to this is the dividend distribution of € 268.0 
million effected in May 2013. Moreover, changes in equity without recognition in profit or loss 
had to be accounted for, largely resulting from foreign currency translation of subsidiaries in 
functional foreign currency (mainly the US dollar and the Canadian dollar). 

Non-current debt has increased by € 131.5 million. This is principally attributable to the issu-
ing of two bonds totalling € 1 billion and the related increase in non-current financial liabili-
ties. The disclosure of the bond in the amount of € 750 million due in 2014 under current debt 
had the opposite effect, essentially resulting in an increase in current debt of € 767.4 million.

(21) Provisions for pensions and similar obligations
K+S has assumed a number of defined benefit pension commitments. Most of the commit-
ments relate to Germany and Canada.

Germany
A significant pension plan in Germany is the K+S pension scheme, which essentially consists 
of a basic pension, a supplementary pension II as well as rules governing vesting rights. The 
basic pension is based on a modular system, under which hypothetical contributions corre-
sponding to a certain percentage of pensionable income are collected annually. The pension 
entitlement is computed by applying a fixed percentage to total hypothetical contributions. 
Supplementary pension II is a final salary plan, with the corresponding entitlement based on 
certain percentages for salary components above statutory and miners’ insurance multiplied 
by the number of pensionable years of service. Fixed euro amounts or vested rights to final 
salary percentages were granted in the case of periods of service before the introduction of 
the basic pension and supplementary pension II. This pension plan has been discontinued 
in the meantime, so that no more employees can acquire claims under it. 

Consolidated financial statements
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Alongside the K+S pension scheme, numerous individual commitments were made, espe-
cially in relation to members of the Board of Executive Directors and senior management. 
They are generally based on a modular system, under which a certain percentage of pen-
sionable annual income is converted into a lifelong pension applying an age-related factor. 
The total entitlement corresponds to the sum of the individual year-based modules. In this 
context, a certain defined pension level may not be exceeded. 

In addition, there are further company-specific pension commitments in Germany that were 
already discontinued some years ago. Most of the beneficiaries are already drawing pensions.

All pension obligations in Germany are essentially out-financed by means of a contractual 
trust arrangement (CTA). The vehicle used for this is the K+S Vermögenstreuhänder e.V., 
which was established in 2005 and manages the assets dedicated to the servicing of pension 
obligations on a fiduciary basis. The pension payments continue to be made by the respec-
tive company but the payments are generally reimbursed by the CTA as they arise. There are 
no minimum funding requirements.

Canada
In Canada, alongside defined benefit pension commitments, there are pension-like plans 
which entail commitments to, for example, provide medical benefits to those eligible under 
them upon retirement. 

The pension plans essentially provide for benefits that are computed as a percentage of the 
average five highest annual salaries while taking into account length of service. In this con-
text, certain upper limits have to be observed. With effect from 1 January 2013, the plan was 
converted into a defined contribution plan for some of those eligible under it. The conver-
sion was prospective, which means that claims acquired up to that point in time remain 
unchanged. Pension plans in Canada are regulated by law, e. g., by the “Financial Services 
Commission” in Ontario. There are minimum funding requirements under the “Pension 
Benefits Act (Ontario)”. To satisfy them, an independent actuarial valuation is generally per-
formed in the middle of the year. The aim is to determine the funded status of the pension 
plan in accordance with legal requirements. If the plan is underfunded, the shortfall essen-
tially has to be made up within five years. The valuation differs from an IFRS valuation in 
that, for example, a different discount factor is applied. 

The Canadian pension plans are managed by an external company. It is responsible for the 
payment of pensions to pensioners as well as the fiduciary management of plan assets. The 
trustee is selected by the “Canadian Salt Pension Committee”, which comprises company 
representatives and external advisors. It is also responsible for determining the investment 
strategy.

The pension-like commitments cover payments for life, dental and medical insurance. The 
level of payments for the dental and medical insurance depends on the average claims ratio 
of the pensioners, whereas life insurance essentially involves a fixed-sum commitment. No 
plan assets were established for the pension-like commitments and there are no minimum 
funding requirements.

Other countries
The other pension commitments largely relate to pension-like plans in the United States 
and the Bahamas which provide for payments towards medical and life insurances. No plan 
assets were established for these commitments and there are no minimum funding require-
ments. In addition, there are pension commitments of minor significance in other countries.

The plans described above are subject to a number of risks, especially: 
++ Investment risks: The provisions for pensions and similar obligations are calculated using a 

discount factor based on corporate bonds with an AA rating. If the yield for the plan assets 
is below this interest rate, there is a corresponding coverage shortfall. The investments are 
spread widely, mainly in bonds and shares, with the latter being particularly exposed to 
significant market value fluctuations. 

++ Inflationary risks: In Germany, pension levels essentially need to be reviewed every three 
years in accordance with the German Act on Improving Company Retirement Pension 
Plans (Gesetz zur Verbesserung der betrieblichen Altersvorsorge – BetrAVG), which gen-
erally results in pensions being adjusted for inflation. The pension commitments in Can-
ada are also regularly adjusted for inflation during the course of collective bargaining. 
Thus, an increase in the respective rates of inflation essentially leads to a corresponding 
increase in the respective obligations. 

++ Interest rate risks: A decrease in yields for corporate bonds and, consequently, in the dis-
count rate leads to an increase in obligations, which is only partially offset by a correspond-
ing change in the value of plan assets.
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++ Health care cost trend (North America, especially Canada): As payments connected with 
medical benefit commitments are essentially adjusted for the cost trend in health care, 
an increase in medicine prices, hospital costs etc. in the respective country leads to an 
increase of the obligations.

++ Longevity risks: Life expectancy is taken into account in calculating obligation levels by 
using mortality tables. An increase in life expectancy results in a corresponding increase 
of the obligations.

++ Salary risks: If the actual trend in salaries exceeds the anticipated trend, this results in an 
increase in obligation levels.

K+S strives to reduce the risks by, for example, changing over from defined benefit plans to 
defined contribution plans. Thus, most of the workforce in Germany has received exclusively 
defined contribution commitments in the meantime. In North America too, benefit commit-
ments were either compensated or frozen and transferred to a defined contribution system. 

The following assumptions have been made in calculating provisions for pensions and simi-
lar obligations on the balance sheet date:

	A ctuarial assumptions  
	 measurement pension commitments� TAB: 5.9.40

� 2013  � 2012

Germany
Outside 

Germany Germany
Outside 

Germany

in % (weighted average)

Pension commitments

Actuarial interest rate 3.5 4.7 3.5 4.0

Anticipated annual increase in salaries and wages 1.8 3.5 1.8 3.5

Anticipated annual pension increase 1.6 1.1 1.6 1.1

Other benefit commitments similar to pensions

Actuarial interest rate — 4.8 — 4.0

To determine the pension expenses for 2013, the following actuarial assumptions – stipulated 
at the end of financial year 2012 – were used:

	A ctuarial assumptions  
	 expenses pension commitments� TAB: 5.9.41

� 2013  � 2012

Germany
Outside 

Germany Germany
Outside 

Germany

in % (weighted average)

Pension commitments

Actuarial interest rate 3.5 4.0 4.9 4.7

Anticipated annual increase in salaries and wages 1.8 3.5 1.8 3.5

Anticipated annual pension increase 1.6 1.1 1.5 1.3

Other benefit commitments similar to pensions     

Actuarial interest rate — 4.0 — 4.7

As of 31 December 2013, the following mortality tables were applied:
++ Germany: Heubeck Richttafeln 2005 G 
++ Canada: CIA Private, loading 4.1 % 
++ USA/Bahamas: RP 2000 Scale AA

In the previous year, the “UP 1994 Scale AA” mortality table was still used in Canada. The 
effect from the use of the new mortality table is reported as an actuarial loss arising from a 
change in demographic assumptions. 

In the case of commitments similar to pensions for health care benefits, the following annual 
cost increases – declining over time – were assumed:

++ Canada: 7.5 %/5.0 % as of 2019 (previous year: 7.5 %/5.0 % as of 2019)
++ USA: 7.5 %/5.0 % as of 2023 (previous year: 7.75 %/5.0 % as of 2023)
++ Bahamas: 4.5 % (previous year: 4.5 %)

The following tables show the development of the defined benefit obligation and the plan 
assets:
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	D evelopment defined benefit obligation� TAB: 5.9.42

� 2013  � 2012

Total Germany Outside Germany Outside Germany Total Germany Outside Germany Outside Germany

pensions pensions similar obligations pensions pensions similar obligations

in € million

Defined benefit obligation as of 1 January 540.9 218.2 219.2 103.5 461.6 187.1 189.5 85.0

Changes in scope of consolidation — — — — (4.0) (3.9) (0.1) —

Service costs 12.0 5.8 3.0 3.2 12.6 4.1 5.9 2.6

Past service costs — — — — 1.8 1.8 — —

Interest expenses 19.7 7.4 8.3 4.0 21.6 8.7 8.9 4.0

Revaluation (19.3) — (11.2) (8.1) 71.3 34.8 22.6 13.9

Actuarial gains (−)/losses (+) 
– �Actuarial gains (−)/and losses (+) from 

change in demographic assumptions 12.0 — 7.0 5.0 6.4 — 2.8 3.6
– �Actuarial gains (−)/and losses (+) from 

change in financial assumptions (29.7) — (17.5) (12.2) 60.5 31.2 19.6 9.7
– �Actuarial gains (−)/and losses (+) based 

on experience-based adjustments (1.6) — (0.7) (0.9) 4.4 3.6 0.2 0.6

Pension payments (25.3) (14.1) (9.5) (1.7) (24.8) (14.4) (8.5) (1.9)

Plan adjustments/plan settlements 3.9 2.5 1.4 — — — — —

Exchange rate fluctuations (32.5) — (22.6) (9.9) 0.8 — 0.9 (0.1)

Defined benefit obligation as of 31 December 499.4 219.8 188.6 91.0 540.9 218.2 219.2 103.5

	D evelopment plan assets� TAB: 5.9.43

� 2013  � 2012

Total Germany
Outside 

Germany Total Germany
Outside 

Germany

pensions pensions pensions pensions

in € million

Plan assets as of 1 January 388.2 224.6 163.6 325.5 184.2 141.3

Interest income 14.0 7.6 6.4 15.6 8.7 6.9

Employer contributions 15.9 1.5 14.4 43.5 28.2 15.3
Gains (+)/ losses (−) from revaluation 
of plan assets (without amounts 
recognised in interest income) 30.5 10.8 19.7 25.7 17.7 8.0

Pension payments (22.9) (14.2) (8.7) (22.7) (14.2) (8.5)

Exchange rate fluctuations (16.9) — (16.9) 0.6 — 0.6

Plan assets as of 31 December 408.8 230.3 178.5 388.2 224.6 163.6
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For reconciliation to the balance sheet carrying amounts, the defined benefit obligation has 
to be offset against the plan assets.

	R econciliation balance sheet values pensions and similar obligations� TAB: 5.9.44

� 2013  � 2012

Total Germany Outside Germany Outside Germany Total Germany Outside Germany Outside Germany

pensions pensions similar obligations pensions pensions similar obligations

in € million

Defined benefit obligation as of 31 December 499.4 219.8 188.6 91 540.9 218.2 219.2 103.5

Plan assets as of 31 December 408.8 230.3 178.5 — 388.2 224.6 163.6 —

Balance sheet values as of 31 December 90.6 (10.5) 10.1 91.0 152.7 (6.4) 55.6 103.5

– of which pension provisions and similar obligations (+) 102.6 1.5 10.1 91.0 160.1 1.0 55.6 103.5

– of which assets (−) (12.0) (12.0) — — 7.4 7.4 — —

The following amounts were recorded in the statement of comprehensive income:

	E ffects statement of comprehensive income� TAB: 5.9.45

� 2013  � 2012

Total Germany Outside Germany Outside Germany Total Germany Outside Germany Outside Germany

pensions pensions similar obligations pensions pensions similar obligations

in € million

Service costs 12.0 5.8 3.0 3.2 12.6 4.1 5.9 2.6

Past service costs — — — — 1.8 1.8 — —

Net interest expenses (+)/ income (−) 5.7 (0.2) 1.9 4.0 6.0 — 2.0 4.0

Expenses (+)/ income (−) plan adjustments 2.4 2.5 (0.1) — — — — —

Amounts recognised in the income statement 20.1 8.1 4.8 7.2 20.4 5.9 7.9 6.6
Gains (−)/ losses (+) from revaluation of plan assets 
(without amounts recognised in interest income) (30.5) (10.8) (19.7) — (25.7) (17.7) (8.0) —
Actuarial gains (−)/ losses (+) from changes 
in demographic assumptions 12.0 — 7.0 5.0 6.4 — 2.8 3.6
Actuarial gains (−)/ losses (+) from 
changes in financial assumptions (29.7) — (17.5) (12.2) 60.5 31.2 19.6 9.7
Actuarial gains (−)/ losses (+) based on 
experience-based adjustments (1.6) — (0.7) (0.9) 4.4 3.6 0.2 0.6

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income (49.8) (10.8) (30.9) (8.1) 45.6 17.1 14.6 13.9
Total (Amounts recognised in statement of  
comprehensive income) (29.7) (2.7) (26.1) (0.9) 66.0 23.0 22.5 20.5
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The service costs (including past service costs) are reported in accordance with the alloca-
tion of employees in the respective EBIT functional area. The net interest expense or income 
is reported in net interest income. 

 The fair value of plan assets is distributed across the following investment classes:

	Dis tribution of plan assets by investment class� TAB: 5.9.46

� 2013  � 2012

Total Germany
Outside 

Germany Total Germany
Outside 

Germany

pensions pensions pensions pensions

in € million

Bonds 158.6 106.9 51.7 143.0 93.9 49.1

– Government bonds 27.4 0.8 26.6 27.2 1.6 25.6

– Corporate bonds 131.2 106.1 25.1 115.8 92.3 23.5

Shares 206.7 89.9 116.8 179.6 81.4 98.2

– Consumer 47.8 21.0 26.8 41.3 18.9 22.4

– Finance 43.8 16.3 27.5 36.2 16.5 19.7

– Industry 31.0 19.5 11.5 27.2 18.0 9.2

– Energy 24.0 7.0 17.0 21.6 5.6 16.0

– Commodities 22.6 15.9 6.7 21.6 16.0 5.6

– Other 37.5 10.2 27.3 31.7 6.4 25.3
Cash on hand and balances  
with banks 27.4 18.2 9.2 49.7 34.1 15.6

Reinsurance arrangements 9.5 9.5 — 7.9 7.9 —

Other 6.6 5.8 0.8 8.0 7.3 0.7

Plan assets as of 31 December 408.8 230.3 178.5 388.2 224.6 163.6

Investments held through investment funds were assigned to the individual investment 
classes in the list above. Most of the bonds have an investment grade rating. The shares are 
regularly traded on an active market. The same essentially applies to the bonds, but the item 
includes promissory notes with a book value of € 16.4 million (previous year: € 15.7 million) 
that are not traded on an active market. There is no active market for reinsurance arrange-
ments.

The following sensitivity analysis as of 31 December 2013 shows how the present value of 
the obligation would change in the event of a change in actuarial assumptions. No corre-
lation between individual assumptions was taken into account, which means that in the 
event of one assumption being changed, the remaining assumptions were kept constant. 
The projected unit credit method used to determine the carrying amounts was also used in 
the sensitivity analysis.

	 Sensitivity analysis� TAB: 5.9.47

� Impact on obligation

Amount Increase Reduction

Change in 
assumption Assumption Assumption

in € million

Actuarial interest rate
+ /−  100 

basis points (60.2) 75.6

Anticipated annual increase in salaries and wages
+ /−  50  

basis points 3.4 (3.4)

Anticipated annual pension increase
+ /−  50  

basis points 20.8 (17.8)

Medical cost trend
+ /−  50  

basis points 9.4 (7.3)

Life expectancy + /−  1 year 17.5 (17.5)

Undiscounted payments for pensions and similar obligations are expected to fall due as fol-
lows in subsequent years:

	A nticipated payments for pensions and  
	 pension-similar obligations� TAB: 5.9.48

� 31.12.2013

in € million

< 1 year 26.6

Between 1 and 5 years 110.1

Between 5 and 10 years 147.5

> 10 years 1,024.1

Total 1,308.3
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the pension fund as a whole and not for those shares in it attributable to the K+S Group, no 
sufficient information is available for reporting the plan on the balance sheet. That is why 
the plan is treated as a defined contribution plan in accordance with IAS 19.34.

Overall, for the period under review, pension expenses are as follows:

	P ension expenses� TAB: 5.9.49

� 2013  � 2012

Total Germany
Outside 

Germany Total Germany
Outside 

Germany

in € million

Expenses defined contribution plans 17.3 2.7 14.6 14.8 2.2 12.6
Service costs defined benefit com-
mitments (incl. past service costs) 12.0 5.8 6.2 14.4 5.9 8.5

Pension expenses 29.3 8.5 20.8 29.2 8.1 21.1

In addition, contributions of € 83.3 million (previous year: € 85.0 million) were paid to state 
pension insurance funds.

(22) Provisions for mining obligations

	P rovisions for mining obligations� TAB: 5.9.50

� 2013  � 2012

� Total of which current Total of which current

in € million

Mine and shaft backfilling 307.5 6.9 303.7 6.9

Maintenance of tailing piles 298.2 — 266.0 —

Mine damages 52.8 — 54.6 —

Restoration 78.1 — 77.1 —

Other 14.2 — 12.1 —
Provisions for mining 
obligations 750.8 6.9 713.5 6.9

The weighted average duration of the obligation as of 31 December 2013 is 13.6 years (previ-
ous year: 14.3 years). The duration and maturity profile of the obligations in part differ sig-
nificantly between individual companies. In terms of asset allocation, this fact is essentially 
taken into account, especially in Germany. The aim is to service the pension payments from 
current plan asset income. 

In financial year 2014, an outflow of funds of € 7.1 million from pension commitments and 
commitments similar to pensions is to be expected. This outflow encompasses allocations 
to plan assets and pension payments which are not covered by corresponding reimburse-
ments from plan assets. 

In addition, there are further retirement pension plans for which no provisions have to be 
recognised, as there are no further obligations apart from the payment of the contributions 
(defined contribution plans). These comprise both solely employer-financed benefits and pre-
miums for converting employees’ remuneration into pensions.

Employers and employees made contributions under the supplementary pension plan that 
has been closed in the meantime and is operated through the BASF pension fund. In 2011, 
the BASF pension fund terminated the regular memberships for K+S employees, so that as 
of 31 December 2013, only extraordinary memberships applied in the case of the employees 
concerned and those memberships are continued as vested pension rights. In addition, the 
BASF pension fund makes regular pension scheme payments to (former) K+S employees. K+S 
Group company employees with vested pension rights and pensioners account for less than 
10 % of the total BASF pension fund.

As a result of the termination of the ordinary memberships, the payment of further contri-
butions into the BASF pension fund is essentially no longer required. However, the second-
ary liability imposed by the German Act on Improving Company Retirement Pension Plans 
(BetrAVG) means that an obligation to assume liabilities could arise for K+S, especially with 
regard to the adjustment of current pension payments. No contribution payments to the 
BASF pension fund are expected for 2014. 

The provision of such pensions through the BASF pension fund is to be classified as a multi-
employer plan within the meaning of IAS 19.32 et seq. The plan is essentially a defined ben-
efit plan. As reliable information regarding plan assets and obligations are only available for 
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Provisions for mining obligations are recognised as a result of statutory and contractual 
requirements as well as conditions imposed by public agencies and are given concrete form 
in plant plans and water law permit decisions above all. These obligations, which are mainly 
of a public law type, require surface securing and recultivation measures. Mining damage can 
result from underground extraction and the related possible lowering of the land at surface 
level or as a result of damage in the production process in the form of dust or salinisation. 
The obligations that might arise are covered by provisions. 
/ You can find a sensitivit y analysis for the discount r ate applied to mining  
provisions  in the Management Report on page 84.

The amount of the provisions to be recognised is based on expected expenditures or esti-
mated compensation. Provisions for mining obligations mainly have a long-term character 
and, on the basis of future anticipated expenditure, are carried at the discounted amount 
required to settle the obligation as of the balance sheet date. In this connection, a future 
price increase of 1.5 % is assumed. The discount factor for mining obligations in EU countries 
amounts to 4.3 % (previous year: 4.3 %). As a discount factor for mining obligations in North 
America, an interest rate of 5.6 % (USA, previous year: 4.9 %) and 5.0 % (Canada, previous year: 
4.5 %) is used. An adjustment of discount factors in financial year 2013 resulted in a reduction 
in mining provisions of € 3.8 million. The anticipated timing of the settlement of such obli-
gations largely depends on the remaining economic useful life of the sites. The obligations 
in part extend well beyond 2050.

The addition to provisions for mining obligations for the year under review of € 67.1 million 
(previous year: € 155.1 million) mainly consists in the annual accumulation of provisions, the 
recognition of additional provisions for mining risks and the revaluation of existing provi-
sions. 

Mining provisions in the amount of € 11.3 million (previous year: € 11.1 million) were used to 
discharge the maintenance obligation. It also includes expenditure connected with mining 
damage risks. 

Reversals of provisions amounting to € 15.7 million (previous year: € 17.8 million) mainly result 
from a reduction in individual obligations.

(23) Non-current obligations to employees

	N on-current obligations to employees� TAB: 5.9.51

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Provisions for long-term incentives 31.9 47.3

Provisions for jubilee bonuses 26.2 25.9

Provisions for partial retirement 8.7 13.6

Other non-current obligations to employees 2.8 3.1

Total non-current obligations to employees 69.6 89.9

The accounting treatment of the provision for the indicator-based “Long-term Incentive Pro-
gramme” is performed applying the projected unit credit method. Actuarial gains and losses 
are recorded in profit or loss. In determining them, an actuarial interest rate of 0.7 % (previ-
ous year: 0.7 %) is applied. 
/ More inform ation on the “Long-term Incentive Progr a mme” can be found in the Remunera-
tion Report on page 34.

The provisions for partial retirement take into account obligations arising from partial retire-
ment agreements that have been concluded. Measurement encompasses both fulfilment 
shortfalls (difference between the value of full-time employment and partial retirement 
remuneration plus related employer contributions to social insurance) as well as step-up con-
tributions to partial retirement remuneration and contributions to statutory pension insur-
ance. They are stated at present value applying an actuarial interest rate of 0.7 % (previous 
year: 0.7 %) with an anticipated annual increase in salaries and wages of 1.8 % (previous year: 
1.8 %). The partial retirement obligations of € 25.6 million (previous year: € 40.9 million) as of 
the balance sheet date were offset against plan assets of € 16.9 million (previous year: € 27.3 
million). The plan assets take the form of a contractual trust arrangement (CTA) and serve to 
secure the benefits due to employees under partial retirement agreements.

Provisions for jubilee bonuses are recognised for future payments in connection with 25-, 
40- and 50-year length of service anniversaries. They are valued applying the projected unit 
credit method. They are stated applying an actuarial interest rate of 3.5 % (previous year: 
3.5 %) with an anticipated annual increase in salaries and wages of 1.8 % (previous year: 1.8 %).
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(24) Current provisions
The obligations under sales transactions relate in particular to rebates and price concessions; 
the provisions for outstanding invoices result from purchase contracts. Current obligations 
for personnel mainly include provisions for the performance-related remuneration as well 
as provisions for outstanding vacation leave and non-working shifts.

(25) Financial liabilities
The following table shows the liquidity analysis of the financial liabilities in the form of con-
tractually agreed undiscounted cash flows:

	Li quidity analysis of non-derivative financial liabilities 2013� TAB: 5.9.52

�  � Cash flows

2013  
Carrying 
amount 2013 Total

Residual term
< 1 year

Residual term
> 1 year and 

< 5 years
Residual term

> 5 years

in € million

Bank loans and overdrafts 2,255.2 2,695.7 841.3 713.8 1,140.6

– �of which bonds 2,251.8 2,692.1 840.3 711.2 1,140.6
– �of which liabilities 

towards banks 3.4 3.6 1.0 2.6 —

Accounts payable – trade 271.5 271.5 271.4 0.1 —

Liabilities from leasing 3.2 3.2 0.6 2.6 —

Other financial liabilities 50.3 50.3 47.4 — 2.9
Non-derivative 
financial liabilities 2,580.2 3,020.7 1,160.7 716.5 1,143.5

 

	Li quidity analysis of non-derivative financial liabilities 2012� TAB: 5.9.53

�  � Cash flows

2012  
Carrying 
amount 2012 Total

Residual term
< 1 year

Residual term
> 1 year and 

< 5 years
Residual term

> 5 years

in € million

Bank loans and overdrafts 1,265.8 1,509.3 55.2 857.8 596.3

– �of which bonds 1,261.7 1,504.8 54.2 854.3 596.3
– �of which liabilities 

towards banks 4.1 4.5 1.0 3.5 —

Accounts payable – trade 289.2 289.2 289.2 — —

Liabilities from leasing 4.5 4.5 0.2 4.3 —

Other financial liabilities 50.1 50.1 44.9 — 5.2
Non-derivative 
financial liabilities 1,609.6 1,853.1 389.5 862.1 601.5

The financial liabilities as of the reporting date mainly concern K+S Aktiengesellschaft. 
They result from the bond issued in September 2009 with a volume of € 750.0 million, which 
carries a fixed interest rate of 5.0 % and has a maturity of five years, the bond issued in June 
2012 with a volume of € 500.0 million, which carries a fixed interest rate of 3.0 % and has a 
maturity of ten years, as well as the bond issued in December 2013 with a volume of € 500.0 
million, a fixed interest rate of 3.125 % and a maturity of five years, and the bond issued in 
December 2013 with a volume of € 500.0 million, a fixed interest rate of 4.125 % and a matu-
rity of eight years.
/ More inform ation on the bonds  can be found in the section ‘K+S on the capital market’ in the Man-
agement Report.

In addition, there is a USD bond taken over in 2009 as part of the acquisition of Morton 
Salt with an nominal value of US$ 22.6 million and maturing in 2020. Interest and repay-
ment amounts resulting from this bond are to be paid by Rohm & Haas and are contrac-
tually covered by a bank guarantee. The reimbursement claims for interest and repayment 
amounts resulting from this contractual construction are shown under the item “Receivables 
and other assets” in the non-current and current areas. 
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Liquidity is managed by means of a groupwide cash pool system by the central treasury 
department. The liquidity requirement is basically determined by liquidity planning and is 
covered by cash on hand and balances with banks as well as committed credit facilities. The 
existing syndicated credit line of € 800 million, set to run until July 2015, was renewed early 
and increased on attractive terms. The previous credit line, which was unused, was replaced 
by a new credit line in the amount of € 1 billion with a term of five years until 2018 and with 
two extension options of one year in each case.
/ More inform ation on liquidit y risks  can be found in the Risk Report on page 94.

The following table shows the Group’s liquidity analysis for derivative financial instruments. 
The table is based on undiscounted net cash flows for derivative financial instruments which 
are offset net, and undiscounted gross cash flows for derivative financial instruments which 
are offset gross.

	Li quidity analysis of derivative financial instruments 2013� TAB: 5.9.54

2013  
Carrying 
amount

2013  
Total

Residual term
< 1 year

Residual term
> 1 year and 

< 5 years
Residual term

> 5 years

in € million

Net fulfilment

Freight derivatives — — — — —

Gross fulfilment

Foreign currency derivatives 1 (13.8) (9.1) (14.8) 5.7 —

Payment obligation 2 (952.0) (815.7) (136.3) —

Payment claim 2 942.9 800.9 142.0 —

1	 �On the reporting date, the simple currency options sold have no intrinsic value and cause no cash flow on this basis.
2	 �Translation of payment transactions in foreign currency at spot rate.

	Li quidity analysis of derivative financial instruments 2012� TAB: 5.9.55

2012  
Carrying 
amount

2012 
Total

Residual term
< 1 year

Residual term
> 1 year and 

< 5 years
Residual term

> 5 years

in € million

Net fulfilment

Freight derivatives (2.8) (2.8) (2.8) — —

Gross fulfilment

Foreign currency derivatives 1 19.3 19.3 19.3 — —

Payment obligation 2 (673.4) (673.4) — —

Payment claim 2 692.7 692.7 — —

1	 �On the reporting date, the simple currency options sold have no intrinsic value and cause no cash flow on this basis.
2	 Translation of payment transactions in foreign currency at spot rate.

(26) Further information on financial instruments 
The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of Group financial instru- 
ments:

	F urther information on financial instruments� TAB: 5.9.56

 

Measurement  
category under 

IAS 39

2013 2012
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

in € million
Investments in affiliated 
companies and equity interests Available for sale 13.1 13.1 14.9 14.9

Loans Loans and receivables 0.8 0.8 1.0 1.0

Financial assets 13.9 13.9 15.9 15.9

Accounts receivable – trade
Loans and 

receivables 737.9 737.9 770.3 770.3
Remaining receivables and 
non-derivative financial assets Loans and receivables 92.2 92.2 102.0 102.0

Derivatives Held for trade 22.9 22.9 28.7 28.7

Other assets not IFRS 7 92.9 92.9 83.7 83.7

Other receivables and assets 208.0 208.0 214.4 214.4
Securities and other 
financial investments

Loans and 
receivables 722.7 723.4 715.1 716.2
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	F urther information on financial instruments� TAB: 5.9.56

 

Measurement  
category under 

IAS 39

2013 2012
Carrying 
amount Fair value

Carrying 
amount Fair value

in € million
Securities and other 
financial investments Available for sale 312.8 312.8 219.4 219.4
Cash on hand and balances 
with banks

Loans and 
receivables 996.3 996.3 351.8 351.8

Cash on hand and balances 
with banks Available for sale 15.0 15.0 — —

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities 

at amortised cost 2,255.2 2,304.2 1,265.8 1,348.1

Accounts payable – trade
Financial liabilities 

at amortised cost 271.5 271.5 289.2 289.2
Other non-derivative 
financial liabilities

Financial liabilities 
at amortised cost 50.3 50.3 50.1 50.1

Derivatives Held for trade 25.2 25.2 4.3 4.3

Liabilities from finance leases IFRS 7 3.2 3.2 4.5 4.5

Other liabilities not IFRS 7 33.4 33.4 29.5 29.5

Remaining and other liabilities 112.1 112.1 88.4 88.4

The carrying amounts of the financial instruments, aggregated according to the measure-
ment categories of IAS 39, are as follows:

	C arrying amounts of financial instruments  
	 aggregated according to measurement categories� TAB: 5.9.57

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Financial assets available for sale 340.9 234.3

Loans and receivables 2,549.9 1,940.2

Financial assets held for trade 22.9 28.7

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 2,577.0 1,605.1

Financial liabilities held for trade 25.2 4.3

The fair values of the financial instruments were mainly determined on the basis of the 
market information available on the balance sheet date and are to be allocated to one of the 
three levels of the fair value hierarchy in accordance with IFRS 7.

Level 1 financial instruments are calculated on the basis of prices quoted on active markets 
for identical assets and liabilities. In Level 2, financial instruments are calculated on the basis 
of input factors which are derivable from observable market data or on the basis of market 
prices for similar instruments. Level 3 financial instruments are calculated on the basis of 
input factors which are not derivable from observable market data.

 (continued)
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The following table shows the assets and liabilities measured at fair value:

	Ass ets and liabilities measured at fair value� TAB: 5.9.58

� 2013  � 2012

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

in € million

Assets 350.7 327.8 22.9 — 248.1 219.4 28.7 —
Derivative financial 
instruments not part of 
a hedge under IAS 39 22.9 — 22.9 — 28.7 — 28.7 —
Financial assets 
available for sale 327.8 327.8 — — 219.4 219.4 — —

Liabilities 25.2 — 25.2 — 4.3 — 4.3 —
Derivative financial 
instruments not part of 
a hedge under IAS 39 25.2 — 25.2 — 4.3 — 4.3 —

The derivative financial instruments mainly comprise currency derivatives. In the case of for-
ward exchange transactions, fair value is calculated on the basis of forward exchange rates, 
and in the case of currency options, option pricing models are used. In addition, the risk of 
counter-party default is also taken into account in performing the calculations.

Fair values for financial assets available for sale are based on the prices quoted on active 
markets.

In the case of equity instruments measured at acquisition cost, it is not possible to determine 
fair values reliably because of the absence of active markets. This applies to shares in (non-
consolidated) subsidiaries, joint ventures, associated companies and to equity interests. It is 
assumed that the carrying amounts correspond to the fair values as at the balance sheet date. 

In the case of trade accounts receivable, other receivables and non-derivative assets as well 
as liquid assets, the carrying amounts correspond to the fair values for these instruments 
because their maturities are largely short term.

The fair values of securities and other financial investments belonging to the “Loans and 
receivables” category correspond to the present values of the payments associated with 
these balance sheet items (Level 2).

In the case of financial liabilities, fair value is based on market prices if active markets exist 
(Level 1), if not, the present value of future payment streams (Level 2) is used. Market interest 
rates, based on the corresponding maturity, are used for discounting purposes.

In the case of trade accounts payable as well as other non-derivative and other liabilities, it 
is assumed that the carrying amounts correspond to the fair values for these instruments 
because their maturities are largely short term. 

For loans and liabilities from finance leases, it is assumed that the carrying amounts cor-
respond to the fair values because of insignificant deviations in market and computational 
interest rates.

The net results from financial instruments are shown in the following table:

	N et results from financial instruments� TAB: 5.9.59

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Financial assets available for sale 6.6 5.3

Loans and receivables (16.0) 3.5

Financial assets and liabilities held for trading (10.4) 12.6

Financial liabilities at amortised cost 5.2 (7.8)

The net result from financial assets available for sale mainly comprises gains or losses on 
equity investments.

The net result from loans and receivables mainly includes the effects of currency translation 
and changes in allowances.
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The net result from financial assets and liabilities held for trading predominantly com-
prises effects arising from the fair value measurement and realisation of derivative finan-
cial instruments.

The net result from liabilities measured at amortised cost mainly comprises the effects of 
foreign currency translation.

Total interest income and expenses for financial assets and liabilities that are measured at 
fair value without recognition in profit or loss were as follows:

	N et interest income from financial instruments� TAB: 5.9.60

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Interest income 23.6 20.2

Interest expenses (65.6) (51.7)

Interest risks arise from a change of market interest rates, which may have an impact on 
interest to be received or paid and the market value of the financial instrument. This can 
cause corresponding effects on earnings or equity. In accordance with IFRS 7, risks of change 
in interest rates must be described in a sensitivity analysis. It is based on the following 
assumptions:

The effect on earnings or equity established by means of the sensitivity analysis refers to the 
total on the balance sheet date and shows the hypothetical effect for one year.

Changes in market interest rates of primary financial instruments with variable interest 
rates have an impact on net interest income and are taken into account in the earnings-ori-
entated sensitivity analysis.

Changes in market interest rates of primary financial instruments with fixed interest rates, 
stated at amortised cost, do not have an impact on earnings or equity and are therefore not 
taken into account in the sensitivity analysis. In the event of reinvestment, they are subject 
to interest risk, which, however, is not to be taken into account in the sensitivity analysis as 
of the balance sheet date.

Furthermore, on the balance sheet date, there were no interest rate derivatives which pos-
sibly might have to be included in a sensitivity analysis. 

Consequently, the increase of the interest rate level by one percentage point on the balance 
sheet date would lead to an improvement in net interest income of € 5.5 million (previous 
year: € 4.4 million). A decrease in the interest rate level by one percentage point on the bal-
ance sheet date would lead to the deterioration of net interest income by € 3.2 million (pre-
vious year: € 3.4 million). 

For cash investment purposes, there are securities and other financial investments with a 
fair value of € 327.8 million as of 31 December 2013 (previous year: € 219.4 million) and which 
are classified as available for sale. An increase (decrease) in the interest rate level by one per-
centage point on the balance sheet date would lead to a decrease (increase) in market value 
of € 0.5 million (previous year: € 1.7 million).

In addition to receivables and liabilities in the Group currency, the euro, there are also items 
in foreign currencies. Had the euro appreciated or depreciated against foreign currencies 
(mainly the US dollar) by 10 %, the change in the fair value recognised in profit or loss of the 
net balance of foreign currency receivables and liabilities would have amounted to ± € 23.8 
million (previous year: ± € 29.7 million).

There were also investments for which the contracting parties – usually banks – provided 
collateral. These are so-called tri-party repo transactions which are secured investments in 
nature and are cleared in a clearing house. This clearing house is responsible for the deposit/
delivery of the collaterals to/from the K+S depot there and the daily market evaluation of 
the particular agreed collateral. The collaterals which cannot be used otherwise are agreed 
with the contracting party through a so-called basket, which is defined mainly according to 
investment classes, ratings, countries and currencies. The aforementioned criteria determine 
up to what mortgage lending value the respective collateral is taken into account. In other 
words, when the rating decreases or the transferability of the respective collateral is reduced, 
the mortgage lending value is also reduced and additional collateral must be provided. The 
given framework of the potential collateral depends on our internal monitoring, which essen-
tially takes the rating and the amount of the particular credit default swaps into account. 
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Additionally, there are also fixed-term deposits on repurchase agreements, for which we hold 
CO2 certificates (EUA certificates) as collateral. These CO2 certificates are principally trans-
ferable without any restrictions. As of 31 December 2013, the fair value of these certificates 
amounted to € 80.4 million (previous year: € 55.7 million).

(27) Contingent liabilities
In the K+S Group, general business is bound up with various risks for which provisions have 
been recognised, provided that the conditions are fulfilled. Furthermore, there are no further 
risks which would lead to the disclosure of contingent liabilities.

(28) Other financial obligations

	O ther financial obligations� TAB: 5.9.61

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Commitments from uncompleted capital expenditure projects 382.4 223.1

Obligations from operating leases (nominal value)

– due in following year 31.4 20.9

– due in 2nd to 5th year 89.2 42.0

– due after 5 years 92.7 13.2

Other financial obligations 595.7 299.2

Operating lease contracts exist which relate, for example, to factory and office equipment 
and vehicles. Given the relevant contractual arrangements, these assets are not to be carried 
under fixed assets. Expenditure arising from operating leasing in 2013 came to € 53.6 million 
(previous year: € 38.4 million). Liabilities and other financial obligations from finance leases 
existing as of 31 December 2013 are considered immaterial from a Group perspective. 

Notes to the segment reporting

The segment reporting is presented on page 132.

(29) Definition of segments
Segments are defined according to products. This corresponds to the internal organisation 
and reporting structure of the K+S Group. 

The Potash and Magnesium Products segment combines the production and marketing of 
potash fertilizers and fertilizer specialities as well as potash and magnesium compounds for 
technical, industrial and pharmaceutical applications.

The figures reported in the previous year for “discontinued operations” in the segment report-
ing resulted from the NITROGEN business. On 8 May 2012, the sale of the NITROGEN business 
to Eurochem was announced and it was completed successfully on 2 July 2012. 

The Salt segment encompasses the production and marketing of food grade salt, industrial 
salt and salt for chemical use, de-icing salt and sodium chloride brine. 

The Complementary Activities segment bundles together not only recycling activities 
and waste disposal or reutilisation in potash and rock salt mines as well as CATSAN® and 
THOMAS® granulation, but also other activities important for the K+S Group. With K+S 
Transport GmbH and its subsidiaries, the K+S Group possesses its own logistics service 
provider. Chemische Fabrik Kalk GmbH trades in different basic chemicals.

The accounting and valuation procedures applied in determining segment information are 
essentially in compliance with the accounting and valuation principles of the K+S Group. 
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(30) Principles of segment asset and debt allocation
Assets, provisions and liabilities are allocated to the segments in accordance with their uti-
lisation or origin. If they are utilised by or originate in more than one segment, they are allo-
cated on the basis of appropriate keys.

Financial assets (except for equity interests) and non-current financial liabilities are not allo-
cated to the segments.

(31) Principles of segment earnings allocation
The data for the determination of segment earnings is produced by internal accounting on 
the basis of income statements in accordance with the nature of costs method (internal 
reporting structure of the K+S Group). The income statements of the companies included 
are allocated to the segments under profit centre accounting. 

Operating earnings (EBIT I) is treated by K+S Group as the most important internal earn-
ings figure and as an indicator of earnings capacity. In addition to disregarding net interest 
income and the tax expense, other income and expenses affecting the financial result are 
not taken into account. Taking into account tax effects, certain effects of operating forecast 
hedges are eliminated additionally (see also ‘Notes to the income statement and the state-
ment of comprehensive income’ on page 146).

The earnings of the business units are presented on a consolidated basis. Intra-segment deliv-
eries and services are consolidated.

(32) Principles for transfer prices between segments
Transfer prices are defined for deliveries and services between segments, which would have 
to be paid in the respective specific situation and under the same circumstances by a non-
related third party. The methods of determining the transfer prices are documented on a 
timely basis and retained without interruption. The price comparison method, the resale 
price method, the cost plus method or a combination of these methods can be applied in 
determining the transfer prices for deliveries. Thereby, the method is chosen that is closest 
to that under which arm’s length prices are determined in comparable markets.

(33) Additional segment information
Potash and Magnesium Products business unit
Provisions amounting to € 20.0 million (previous year: € 26.7 million) were released for obli-
gations from 2012 not claimed. 

Salt business unit
During the period under review, provisions amounting to € 4.7 million (previous year: € 5.2 
million) were released for obligations not claimed. During the year under review, the disposal 
of fixed assets resulted in income of € 4.6 million (previous year: € 0.9 million) and a loss of 
€ 10.9 million (previous year: € 11.5 million). In the year under review, non-scheduled depre-
ciation on property amounted to € 8.1 million (previous year: € 1.1 million) and is disclosed 
in other operating expenses.

(34) Notes to the reconciliation items
The reconciliation from the segment figures to the corresponding items in the consolidated 
financial statements of the K+S Group comprises items allocated to central functions as well 
as consolidation-related effects. The main items are:

	R econciliation segment figures� TAB: 5.9.62

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Reconciliation of segment results (EBIT I)

Consolidation-related effects — 0.1

Result for the central functions (39.1) (49.5)

(39.1) (49.4)

Reconciliation of segment assets

Fixed assets 78.8 62.6

Deferred tax assets 33.4 49.0

Market values of derivatives 10.4 7.8

Tax refund claims from income taxes 29.4 36.9

Other receivables 87.4 102.6

Cash and cash equivalents 1,792.9 1,101.5

Consolidation-related effects (491.0) (808.9)

1,541.3 551.5

Continued on page 174
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	R econciliation segment figures� TAB: 5.9.62

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Reconciliation of segment liabilities

Provisions for pensions and similar obligations 0.2 1.2

Other provisions 50.6 58.8

Deferred tax liabilities 196.1 274.7

Market values of derivatives 23.3 0.8

Financial liabilities 2,255.1 1,265.8

Other liabilities 60.4 70.9

Income tax liabilities 49.1 50.1

Consolidation-related effects (49.8) (50.3)

2,585.0 1,672.0

(35) Revenues by region
The breakdown of revenues of the K+S Group by geographical region is as follows:

	R evenues by region� TAB: 5.9.63

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Europe 1,744.7 1,647.9

– of which Germany 629.9 580.6

North America 1,196.8 1,017.9

– of which USA 911.6 758.9

South America 547.7 678.1

– of which Brazil 425.1 562.4

Asia 362.7 474.4

Africa, Oceania 98.5 117.0

Total revenues 3,950.4 3,935.3

The allocation is performed according to the registered seats of the customers. In financial 
years 2012 and 2013, no single customer accounted for more than 10 % of total revenues.

(36) Non-current assets by region
The non-current assets of the K+S Group comprise intangible assets, property, plant and 
equipment as well as investment properties and break down into geographical regions as 
follows:

	N on-current Assets by region� TAB: 5.9.64

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Europe 1,367.3 1,193.2

– of which Germany 1,312.6 1,144.6

North America 2,065.9 1,863.9

– of which USA 893.3 942.4

– of which Canada 1,154.7 902.3

South America 443.0 478.7

– of which Chile 437.3 472.1

Total assets 3,876.2 3,535.8

The allocation is performed according to the location of the assets concerned.

Notes to the cash flow statement

The cash flow statement is presented on page 123.
/ Further information on the cash flow statement can be found in the Management Report on page 86.

(37) Proceeds from the divestment of consolidated companies

	P roceeds from the divestment of consolidated companies� TAB: 5.9.65

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Sale price — 195.7

– of which to non-consolidated companies of the K+S Group — (0.7)

Disposed cash on hand and balances with banks — (11.0)

Repayment of cash pool credit balance — (109.0)

Proceeds from the sale of consolidated companies — 75.0

 (continued)
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(38) Disbursements for the acquisition of consolidated companies

	Disb ursements for the acquisition of consolidated companies� TAB: 5.9.66

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Acquisition price — 4.4

Acquired cash on hand and balances with banks — (0.2)

Disbursements for the acquisition of consolidated companies — 4.2

(39) Net cash and cash equivalents

	N et cash and cash equivalents� TAB: 5.9.67

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Cash on hand and balances with banks (according to balance sheet) 1,011.3 351.8

Cash invested with affiliated companies — 0.3

Cash received from affiliated companies (6.3) (7.1)

Net cash and cash equivalents 1,005.0 345.0

Cash and cash equivalents include checks, cash on hand and balances with banks, as well as 
financial investments with a term normally not exceeding three months from the time of 
acquisition. The financial investments mainly include fixed-term deposits at credit institu-
tions and other cash-equivalent investments.

Cash invested with affiliated companies are stated in the item “Other receivables and assets”, 
and cash received from affiliated companies in the item “Other liabilities”. 

Other information

	A uditor’s fees� TAB: 5.9.68

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Audit fees 0.7 0.7

Other assurance services — —

Tax advisory services — —

Other performances 0.2 0.2

Auditor’s fees 0.9 0.9

Auditing performances encompass the auditing of the consolidated financial statements and 
the annual financial statements of the included German companies.

	G overnment assistance� TAB: 5.9.69

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Investment grants/premiums 1.2 0.3

Performance-related assistance 7.5 4.7

Government assistance 8.7 5.0

The investment grants/premiums recorded relate to sums for the Development Area of the 
Federal Republic of Germany, the United States and Canada. Investment grants and premi-
ums are deducted from the carrying amounts of the assets to which they relate.

Performance-related assistance concerns support that is provided by the Federal Labour 
Office (Bundesagentur für Arbeit) in accordance with the German Partial Retirement Act 
(Altersteilzeitgesetz).
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Related parties
In addition to the subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements, the K+S 
Group has relationships to further related party companies; these include non-consolidated 
subsidiaries, joint ventures as well as companies on which the K+S Group can exercise deci-
sive influence (associated companies). A complete overview of all related companies can be 
taken from the list of all shareholdings on page 177. 

The following table shows the transactions of the K+S Group with non-consolidated sub-
sidiaries that occurred in the period under review. The business was transacted on custom-
ary market terms. 

	T ransactions with non-consolidated subsidiaries� TAB: 5.9.70

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Trade revenues 48.8 36.5

Deliveries and services received 26.9 25.4

Income from dividend payments and profit transfers 7.3 5.7

Other income 0.6 0.6

Other expenses 2.6 1.5

The trade revenues mainly result from the sale of goods by consolidated companies to for-
eign distribution companies. Deliveries and services received mainly concern deliveries of 
explosives from a German subsidiary as well as commissions, which were billed by foreign 
distribution companies. 

On 31 December 2013, the following outstanding balances with non-consolidated subsidiaries 
were disclosed:

	 Balances with non-consolidated subsidiaries� TAB: 5.9.71

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Receivables from affiliated companies 4.5 11.9

– of which from bank transactions — 0.3

Liabilities to affiliated companies 11.2 12.6

– of which from bank transactions 6.3 7.1

On the balance sheet date, there were no allowances on receivables from affiliated companies 
as was the case in the previous year. Failure insurances for receivables from subsidiaries do 
not exist. The receivables and liabilities from bank transactions result from the centralised 
taking-out and investment of cash at K+S Aktiengesellschaft (cash pooling). On the bal-
ance sheet date, there were no loans to non-consolidated subsidiaries.

Transactions of the K+S Group with joint ventures and associated companies are immate-
rial from a Group perspective.

Related party persons are defined as persons, who are responsible for the planning, manage-
ment and monitoring of a company. They include the Board of Executive Directors and the 
Supervisory Board. The remuneration of related party persons is presented in the following 
section as well as in the Remuneration Report. There were no other material transactions 
with related parties.

Total remuneration of the Supervisory Board and the Board  
of Executive Directors

	T otal remuneration of the Supervisory Board  
	 and the Board of Executive Directors� TAB: 5.9.72

� 2013  � 2012

in € million

Total remuneration of the Supervisory Board 2.0 2.0

– of which fixed 2.0 2.0

Total remuneration of the Board of Executive Directors 8.8 9.3

– of which fixed 2.6 2.2

– of which performance-related 3.7 3.9

– of which LTI programmes 2.5 3.2
Total remuneration of former members of the Board of 
Executive Directors and their surviving dependents 1.5 1.1
Pension provisions for former members of the Board of 
Executive Directors and their surviving dependents 17.4 14.8

The total remuneration of the Board of Executive Directors in the year under review related 
to six board members, five of whom were in office for twelve months and one of whom was 
in office for four months. In the previous year, the Board of Executive Directors had six mem-
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bers, three of whom were in office for twelve months, with the remaining members of the 
Board of Executive Directors in office for nine, seven and three months.

The remuneration system for the Board of Executive Directors consists of the following  
elements:

++ regular monthly payments (fixed salary) to which in-kind benefits are added;
++ performance-related non-recurrent remuneration, with bonuses based on the return on 

total investment and on an individual performance-related component and paid in the 
following financial year; 

++ the long-term incentive (LTI) programme.

The emoluments received by the individual members of the Board of Executive Directors for 
financial year 2013 are set forth in the Remuneration Report included in the Corporate Gov-
ernance Report on page 25; the Remuneration Report also constitutes an integral part of the 
Management Report.

Shareholdings in K+S Aktiengesellschaft
Meritus Trust Company Limited, Bermuda, owns just under 10 % of the shares via Euro-
Chem Group SE and its attributable subsidiaries. Meritus manages the industrial share-
holdings of Andrey Melnichenko on a fiduciary basis. On 11 May 2012, BlackRock Inc., New 
York (USA), notified us that its share of voting rights had exceeded the 5 % threshold and that 
it held 5.08 % of the Company. 

Declaration of conformity concerning the German Corporate  
Governance Code
The declaration of conformity pursuant to Sec. 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act 
concerning the recommendations made by the “Government Commission on the German 
Corporate Governance Code” has been made by the Board of Executive Directors and the 
Supervisory Board of K+S Aktiengesellschaft for 2013/14 and is available to sharehold-
ers on the K+S Group website (www.k-plus-s.com) as well as published on page 25 of the 
2013 Financial Report.

List of shareholdings in accordance with Sec. 313  
of the German Commercial Code (HGB)

	Lis t of shareholdings in accordance with Sec. 313  
	 of the German Commercial Code (HGB)� TAB: 5.9.73

Company’s registered office
Interests 
in capital

Share of 
voting rights

in %; as of 31.12.2013

Fully consolidated German subsidiaries (16 companies)

K+S Aktiengesellschaft Kassel Germany — —

Chemische Fabrik Kalk GmbH Cologne Germany 100.00 100.00

Deutscher Straßen-Dienst GmbH Hanover Germany 100.00 100.00
esco – european salt company 
GmbH & Co. KG 1, 2 Hanover Germany 100.00 100.00

esco international GmbH 2 Hanover Germany 100.00 100.00

German Bulk Chartering GmbH 3 Hamburg Germany 100.00 100.00

K+S Baustoffrecycling GmbH 3 Sehnde Germany 100.00 100.00

K+S Beteiligungs GmbH 2, 3 Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

K+S Entsorgung GmbH 2, 3 Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

K+S IT-Services GmbH 3 Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

K+S KALI GmbH 2, 3 Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

K+S North America Asset Management GmbH  Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00
K+S North America Salt Asset 
Management GmbH & Co. KG 1 Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

K+S Salz GmbH 2, 3 Hanover Germany 100.00 100.00

K+S Transport GmbH 2, 3 Hamburg Germany 100.00 100.00

Kali-Union Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH 2, 3 Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

Fully consolidated foreign subsidiaries (48 companies)

1786987 Alberta Ltd. Calgary Canada 100.00 100.00

Canadian Brine, Ltd. Pointe Claire Canada 100.00 100.00

Canadian Salt Finance Company (ULC)  Vancouver Canada 100.00 100.00

Canadian Salt Holding Company (ULC)  Vancouver Canada 100.00 100.00

Compania Minera Punta de Lobos Ltda.
Santiago 
de Chile Chile 99.64 100.00

Empresa de Servicios Ltda.
Santiago 
de Chile Chile 99.64 100.00

Empresa Maritima S.A.
Santiago 
de Chile Chile 48.67 99.59

Continued on page 178
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	Lis t of shareholdings in accordance with Sec. 313  
	 of the German Commercial Code (HGB)� TAB: 5.9.73

Company’s registered office
Interests 
in capital

Share of 
voting rights

in %; as of 31.12.2013

esco benelux N.V. Diegem Belgium 100.00 100.00

esco france S.A.S.
Levallois-

Perret France 100.00 100.00

esco Holding France S.A.S.
Dombasle-

sur-Meurthe France 100.00 100.00

esco Spain S.L. Barcelona Spain 100.00 100.00

Frisia Zout B.V. Harlingen Netherlands 100.00 100.00

Glendale Salt Development, LLC Chicago USA 100.00 100.00

Inagua General Store, Ltd. Chicago USA 100.00 100.00

Inagua Transports, Inc. Chicago USA 100.00 100.00

International Salt Company, LLC Clarks Summit USA 100.00 100.00

Inversiones Columbus Ltda.
Santiago 
de Chile Chile 2.00 100.00

Inversiones Empremar Ltda.
Santiago 
de Chile Chile 48.87 100.00

Inversiones K+S Sal de Chile Ltda.
Santiago 
de Chile Chile 100.00 100.00

K+S Canada Holdings (ULC) Vancouver Canada 100.00 100.00

K+S Chile S.A.
Santiago 
de Chile Chile 99.64 99.64

K+S Czech Republic a.s. Prague
Czech 

Republic 100.00 100.00

K+S Finance Belgium BVBA Diegem Belgium 100.00 100.00

K+S Finance Ltd. St. Julians Malta 100.00 100.00

K+S Holding France S.A.S. Reims France 100.00 100.00

K+S Investments Ltd. St. Julians Malta 100.00 100.00

K+S KALI Du Roure S.A.S. Le Teil France 100.00 100.00

K+S KALI France S.A.S. Reims France 100.00 100.00

K+S KALI Rodez S.A.S.
Sainte 

Radegonde France 97.45 97.45

K+S KALI Wittenheim S.A.S. Wittenheim France 100.00 100.00

K+S Montana Holdings, LLC Chicago USA 100.00 100.00

K+S Netherlands Holding B.V. Harlingen Netherlands 100.00 100.00

K+S North America Corporation New York USA 100.00 100.00

K+S North America Salt Holdings LLC Chicago USA 100.00 100.00

K+S Perú S.A.C. Lima Peru 100.00 100.00

	Lis t of shareholdings in accordance with Sec. 313  
	 of the German Commercial Code (HGB)� TAB: 5.9.73

Company’s registered office
Interests 
in capital

Share of 
voting rights

in %; as of 31.12.2013

K+S Potash Canada General Partnership Vancouver Canada 100.00 100.00

Montana US Parent Inc. Chicago USA 100.00 100.00

Morton Bahamas Ltd. Chicago USA 100.00 100.00

Morton Salt, Inc. Chicago USA 100.00 100.00

S.P.L.-USA, LLC Clarks Summit USA 100.00 100.00

Salina Diamante Branco Ltda. Rio de Janeiro Brazil 100.00 100.00

Salines Cérébos S.A.S.
Levallois-

Perret France 100.00 100.00

Servicios Maritimos Patillos S.A. 4
Santiago 
de Chile Chile 49.82 50.00

Servicios Portuarios Patillos S.A.
Santiago 
de Chile Chile 99.53 99.89

The Canadian Salt Company Limited Calgary Canada 100.00 100.00

Transporte por Containers S.A.
Santiago 
de Chile Chile 48.04 98.71

VATEL Companhia de Produtos 
Alimentares S.A. Alverca Portugal 100.00 100.00

Weeks Island Landowner, LLC Chicago USA 100.00 100.00

Non-consolidated German subsidiaries (13 companies) 5

1. K+S Verwaltungs GmbH Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

1. K+S Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. Erwerbs KG Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

3. K+S Verwaltungs GmbH & Co. Erwerbs KG Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

4. K+S Verwaltungs GmbH Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

Beienrode Bergwerks-GmbH Kassel Germany 89.80 89.80

esco Verwaltungs GmbH Hanover Germany 100.00 100.00

Ickenroth GmbH Staudt Germany 100.00 100.00

K+S An-Instituts Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

K+S Consulting GmbH Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

K+S Versicherungsvermittlungs GmbH Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

MSW-Chemie GmbH Langelsheim Germany 68.50 68.50

Verlagsgesellschaft für Ackerbau mbH Kassel Germany 100.00 100.00

Wohnbau Salzdetfurth GmbH
Bad 

Salzdetfurth Germany 100.00 100.00

 (continued)  (continued)
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	Lis t of shareholdings in accordance with Sec. 313  
	 of the German Commercial Code (HGB)� TAB: 5.9.73

Company’s registered office
Interests 
in capital

Share of 
voting rights

in %; as of 31.12.2013

Non-consolidated foreign subsidiaries (19 companies) 5

esco Nordic AB Gothenburg Sweden 100.00 100.00

Imperial Thermal Products, Inc. Chicago USA 100.00 100.00

ISX Oil & Gas Inc. Calgary Canada 100.00 100.00

K+S Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore 100.00 100.00

K+S Benelux B.V. Breda Netherlands 100.00 100.00
K+S Brasileira Fertilizantes e 
Produtos Industriais Ltda. São Paulo Brazil 100.00 100.00

K+S Denmark Holding ApS Hellerup Denmark 100.00 100.00

K+S Entsorgung (Schweiz) AG Delémont Switzerland 100.00 100.00

K+S Fertilizers (India) Private Limited New Delhi India 100.00 100.00

K+S Italia S.r.L. Verona Italy 100.00 100.00

K+S Legacy GP Inc. Vancouver Canada 100.00 100.00

K+S Mining Argentina S.A. Buenos Aires Argentinia 100.00 100.00

K+S Polska Sp. z o.o. Poznan Poland 100.00 100.00

K+S UK & Eire Ltd. Hertford Great Britain 100.00 100.00

Kali (U.K.) Ltd. Hertford Great Britain 100.00 100.00

Kali AG
Frauen-

kappelen Switzerland 100.00 100.00

OOO K+S Rus Moscow
Russian 

Federation 100.00 100.00

Potash S.A. (Pty) Ltd. Johannesburg South Africa 100.00 100.00

Shenzhen K+S Trading Co. Ltd. Shenzhen China 100.00 100.00

Associated companies and joint ventures (3 companies) 6

Börde Container Feeder GmbH Haldensleben Germany 33.30 33.30
Morton China National Salt 
(Shanghai) Salt Co., Ltd. Shanghai China 45.00 45.00
Werra Kombi Terminal 
Betriebsgesellschaft mbH Philippsthal Germany 50.00 50.00

Other interests (6 companies) 7
Fachschule f. Wirtschaft und 
Technik Gem. GmbH Clausthal Germany 9.40 9.40

	Lis t of shareholdings in accordance with Sec. 313  
	 of the German Commercial Code (HGB)� TAB: 5.9.73

Company’s registered office
Interests 
in capital

Share of 
voting rights

in %; as of 31.12.2013

Hubwoo.com S.A. Paris France 0.04 0.04

Lehrter Wohnungsbau GmbH Lehrte Germany 6.70 6.70
Nieders. Gesellschaft zur Endablagerung 
von Sonderabfall mbH Hanover Germany 0.10 0.10

Poldergemeinschaft Hohe Schaar Hamburg Germany 8.66 8.66

Zoll Pool Hamburg AG Hamburg Germany 1.96 1.96

1	 Exemption rule according to Sec. 264b of the German Commercial Code (HGB) employed.
2	By utilization of the exemption provision of Art. 291 of the German Commercial Code (HGB).
3	 Exemption rule according to Sec. 264 Para. 3 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) employed.
4	Fully consolidated due to dominant influence (e. g. majority of the members of the management body).
5	 No consolidation due to minor importance.
6	Equity method dispensed due to minor importance.
7	 Stating of amount of equity and earnings of the last financial year dispensed due to minor importance.

Members of the Supervisory Board
A list of members of the Supervisory Board and its committees can be found in the Corpo-
rate Governance section on page 31; this list is also an integral part of the Consolidated Notes.

Members of the Board of Executive Directors
A list of members of the Board of Executive Directors and their responsibilities can be found 
in the Corporate Governance section on page 30; this list is also an integral part of the Con-
solidated Notes.

Kassel, 28 February 2014

K+S Aktiengesellschaft 
The Board of Executive Directors

 (continued)  (continued)
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FURTHER INFORMATION

Definitions of Key Financial Indicators

Book value per share =
Equity
Total number of shares as of 31 Dec.

Enterprise value = Market capitalisation + net indebtedness

Equity/assets ratio I =
Equity
Operating assets

Equity/assets ratio II =
Equity + non-current debt
Operating assets

Indebtedness I =
Bank loans and overdrafts
Equity

Indebtedness II =
Net indebtedness
Equity

Liquidity ratio I =
Cash on hand and balances with banks + current 
securities and other financial investments
Current debt

Liquidity ratio II =
Cash on hand and balances with banks + current securities 
and other financial investments + current receivables
Current debt

Liquidity ratio III =
Current assets
Current debt

Net financial liabilities = Financial liabilities – cash on hand and balances with 
banks – securities and other financial investments 

Net indebtedness =
Financial liabilities + provisions for pensions and similar obligations 
+ non-current provisions for mining obligations – cash on hand and 
balances with banks – securities and other financial investments

Operating assets = Intangible assets + property, plant and equipment 
+ shares in affiliated companies + participating interests

Return on Capital  
Employed (ROCE)

=
Operating earnings (EBIT I)
Operating assets 1 + working capital 1, 2

Return on equity =
Adjusted Group earnings after taxes 3
Adjusted equity 1, 3

Return on revenues =
Adjusted Group earnings 3
Revenues

Return on total 
investment

=
Adjusted earnings before taxes 3, 4 + interest expenses
Adjusted balance sheet total 1, 2, 3

Value added = (ROCE – weighted average cost of capital before 
taxes) x (operating assets 1) + working capital 1)

Working Capital = Inventories + receivables and other assets 5 – current 
provisions – accounts payable trade – other payables 5

1	 �Annual average.
2	Adjusted for reimbursement claims and corresponding obligations.
3	 �Adjusted for the effects of market value changes of operating forecast hedges still outstanding; for adjusted Group earnings,  

the resulting tax effects were also eliminated. 
4	 �Including earnings before taxes of discontinued operations.
5	 �Without the market values of operating forecast hedges still outstanding as well as derivatives no longer in operation,  

but including premiums paid for derivatives used for operating purposes; without receivables and liabilities from financial  
investments; adjusted for reimbursement claims as well as the surplus of the CTA plan assets.
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Glossary

Brine Aqueous rock salt solution. Natural brine is obtained through drilling 
underground deposits of brine or through the controlled drill-hole 
solution mining procedure and also produced through the dissolu-
tion of mined rock salt.

Bulk Blenders Operators of bulk fertilizer equipment, in which various nutrients are 
combined.

Cash flow Net balance of incoming and outgoing payments during a report-
ing period. 

Cavern In mining, a cavern is a large, artificially created underground cavity.

Chlorine- 
Alkaline 
Electrolysis 

In chlorine-alkaline electrolysis, chlorine, caustic soda solution and 
hydrogen are produced as a result of the decomposition of the basic 
substance sodium chloride with the aid of electricity. Alternatively, 
potassium hydroxide solution is produced by the application of potas-
sium chloride. The important basic chemicals of chlorine, caustic soda 
solution, hydrogen and potassium hydroxide solution form the basis 
of numerous chemical products.

Complex 
Fertilizers

contain more than one nutrient, as a rule nitrogen, phosphorus and 
potassium as well as – depending on need and application – mag-
nesium, sulphur or trace elements. As a result of the combination of 
raw materials in the production process and subsequent granulation, 
every single grain of the fertilizer contains precisely the same com-
bination of nutrients; this allows for even spreading of the nutrients 
on the field.

Compliance Compliance (conforming with regulations) denotes adherence to laws, 
internal corporate regulations and guidelines as well as regulatory 
standards recognised by the Company. A compliance system is intended 
to avoid risks of liability, penalties and fines as well as other financial 
disadvantages for the Company and to ensure a positive reputation in 
the public. 

Cost of Capital also WACC (weighted average cost of capital); denotes the opportunity 
costs arising for equity providers and / or lenders through capital made 
available to the Company. The weighted average cost of capital rate is 
derived from the aggregate of the interest claim to which a contribu-
tor of equity would be entitled in respect of his equity share as well 
as the interest on debt in respect of the share of interest-bearing debt 
in total capital. As this is considered from an after-tax perspective, the 
average interest on debt is reduced by the corporate tax rate.

Crystallised  
Salt

In contrast to liquid brine, crystallised salt is salt that exists in solid 
form, such as food grade salt and de-icing salt.

Discontinued 
operations

The divestment of the nitrogen business to Eurochem occurred on 
2 July 2012. Consequently, since the second quarter of 2012, the nitro-
gen business is reported as a discontinued operation in accordance 
with IFRS.

Due Diligence denotes the “necessary care” engaged in ahead of an acquisition and 
encompasses the performance of a detailed analysis of an acquisition 
target, particularly its geological, technical, (environmental) legal, fis-
cal and financial framework conditions. In the process, analysis results 
from the corporate data made available by the target company are 
employed. The aim is to expose or limit risks related to the acquisition. 
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EBIT I The internal control of the K+S Group is carried out partly on the basis 
of the operating earnings EBIT I. The result from operating forecast 
hedges included in EBIT I corresponds, due to the elimination of all 
fluctuations in market value during the term, to the value of the hedge 
at the time of realisation (difference between spot rate and hedged 
rate), less the premiums paid or plus the premiums received in the 
case of option transactions.

EBIT II Under IFRSs, fluctuations in market value from hedging transactions 
are reported in the income statement. EBIT II includes all earnings 
arising from operating hedging transactions, i. e. both valuation effects 
as at the reporting date and earnings from realised operating hedging 
derivatives. Earnings effects arising from the hedging of basic trans-
actions with a financing character, whose earnings effects impact 
on EBIT I neither in the current financial year nor in future financial 
years, are stated in the financial result.

Electrostatic  
preparation  
process (ESTA®) 

The ESTA® process is a dry processing method for potash crude salts, 
patented by K+S. With this process, the individual crude salt elements 
are charged differently, to ultimately be separated into the components 
sodium chloride and potassium chloride with the aid of an electric 
field. In comparison with classical, wet processing methods, energy 
input and production residues are significantly reduced.

Enterprise Value is an indicator of the value of a company frequently used by finan-
cial analysts. Enterprise value is often related to other key figures (e. g.  
revenues, EBITDA, EBIT), so that so-called enterprise value multiples 
are produced.

Evaporated Salt is produced by evaporating saturated brine, whereby sodium chlo-
ride crystallises.

Flotation In production, the flotation process separates rock salt and potash 
or kieserite from the crude salt without heat supply. During the pro-
cess, the minerals are separated into their components in a saturated 
saline solution as air is supplied. With the addition of flotation agents, 
the reusable substances adhere to the air bubbles and can thus be 
skimmed off after floating to the surface.

Free Float The number of shares not held by major shareholders owning more 
than 5 % of the shares of a company (with the exception of shares held 
by investment companies and asset managers).

GRI – Global 
Reporting 
Initiative

The Global Reporting Initiative is a nonprofit foundation that devel-
ops cooperatively a framework for global sustainability reporting. The 
GRI reporting guideline specifies principles and indicators for organi-
zations to measure their economic, environmental and social perfor-
mance. The purpose is to promote transparency and comparability 
for sustainability reports.

Hot dissolution  
process

The hot dissolution process is a production process applied in potash 
production, which is based on the temperature-dependent dissolv-
ing behaviour of minerals. The different components are separated, 
because the solubility of rock salt is uniformly good irrespective of 
the water temperature, and that of potassium chloride increases with 
the temperature.

K2O Potassium oxide (K20) is a chemical measuring unit used to provide 
information on the potassium content of fertilizers. 

Liquidity ratios provide information about the extent to which current payment obli-
gations are covered by cash and cash equivalents, current receivables 
and current assets.

FURTHER INFORMATION
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Operating  
forecast hedges

To hedge future currency positions (mainly in US dollars), we use  
operating derivatives in the form of options and futures (see also 
transaction risks).

Plate dolomite  
(Leine carbonate)

The plate dolomite (Leine carbonate) is above the salt deposits at a 
depth of approx. 400 to 500 metres and is covered by clay layers on 
both sides. It is approx. 10 metres thick and consists of limestone and 
dolomite rock, which already contains naturally mineralised water.

Potassium 
Chloride

Potassium chloride (KCl) is a potassium salt used as fertilizer. In addi-
tion, it is the basic raw material for all inorganic and organic potas-
sium compounds.

Production of 
Granulates

denotes the production of dispersible fertilizer grains which can be 
spread with an agricultural fertilizer spreader.

Rating describes the assessment of a company’s ability to meet its interest 
and repayment obligations in a timely manner in the future. It is given 
by a rating agency, e. g. Moody’s or Standard & Poor’s, in the form 
of standardised categories.

Sodium Chloride Sodium chloride (NaCl) or table salt is a crystalline mineral extracted 
from rock salt and sea salt. As food grade salt, sodium chloride is an 
indispensable mineral supplier to the human body. Sodium chloride 
is also used to maintain road safety and as an important element in 
the production of glass, paper and plastic.

Solution Mining In solution mining, freshwater is brought into solvent (salt) rock 
through a drill hole, thus creating chambers filled with a water-salt 
solution, so-called caverns. In a subsequent step, the saturated brine 
is brought to surface level along a further pipeline.

Stakeholder Stakeholders are stakeholder groups in the environment or within an 
organisation, who are, directly or indirectly, affected by the corporate 
activities at present or in future and are therefore interrelated. They 
include employees, customers, investors, suppliers, residents or the 
political world.

Supply Chain 
Management

denotes groupwide planning, management and coordination of the 
entire value chain (procurement, production and logistics).

Transaction  
risk

arises from a transaction in a foreign currency which is to be con-
verted into the Group currency and is therefore a cash risk.

Translation risk arises from converting income, cash flow or balance sheet items at dif-
ferent periods or reporting dates, which occur in a different currency 
than the Group currency. This is thus a non-cash risk.

Value Added This key figure is based on the assumption that a company creates 
added value for the investor when the return on the average capital 
employed exceeds the underlying cost of capital. This excess return is 
multiplied by the average capital employed (annual average for oper-
ating assets and working capital) to give the company’s added value 
for the year under review.

Water-softening 
salts

remove hardeners such as calcium and magnesium from the water 
through an ion exchange process. Soft water is necessary or advan-
tageous for numerous industrial processes, but also in private house-
holds.

FURTHER INFORMATION
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FINANCIAL CALENDAR

	D ates � TAB: 6.0.1

� 2014/2015
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